NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

COUNCIL

Monday, 9 December 2013

YOU ARE SUMMONED TO ATTEND A MEETING OF NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH
COUNCIL, WHICH WILL BE HELD AT THE GUILDHALL NORTHAMPTON ON
MONDAY, 9 DECEMBER 2013 AT 6:30 PM WHEN THE FOLLOWING BUSINESS IS
PROPOSED TO BE TRANSACTED

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2.  MINUTES.
To approve the minutes of the proceedings of the Meeting of the Council held on 28"
October and the Special Council Meeting on the 28" November 2013.
(Copies herewith)

3. APOLOGIES.

4. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.

S. PUBLIC COMMENTS AND PETITIONS

6. MEMBER AND PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
(Copy herewith)

7. CABINET MEMBER PRESENTATIONS
(Copy herewith)

8.  OPPOSITION GROUP BUSINESS



10.

11.

Councillor Stone to make a statement on “Public Sector Employment”.

HOUSING OPTIONS REVIEW

(Copy herewith)

TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT 2013-2014
(Copy herewith)

NOTICES OF MOTION

i) Councillor Stone to propose and Councillor Palethorpe to second that:

“This Council notes that this Conservative Cabinet wants to open up the top section of
Abington Street to road traffic next year.

This Council believes sufficient public consultation has yet to be carried out whether this is
actually what the general public want for the town centre. Nor have the Conservative
Cabinet provided a proper rationale for this decision.

This Council further believes opening up the top section of Abington Street would be a
retrograde step for the town centre and puts the interests of the car and associated traffic
problems ahead of pedestrians. This Council opposes the opening up of the top end of
Abington Street until proper consultation has taken place”.

ii) Councillor Mason to propose and Councillor Palethorpe to second that:

“This Council notes that the Conservative Cabinet carried out low key consultation on the
Council Tax Reduction Scheme.

Northampton Borough Council is proposing to reduce the maximum amount of discount a
person can receive each year. In 2014/15 the proposal is to reduce the maximum amount of
discount a person can receive to 85% of their Council Tax bill, which may then be reduced
to 64% in 2015/16.

This Council believes these proposals are iniquitous as they harm the most disadvantaged
and vulnerable in Northampton. In order to fill any shortfall this Council should look
seriously at revenue raising measures”.

iii) Councillor Eales to propose and Councillor Subbaryan to second that:

“This council recognises that local government workers’ earnings have fallen by 18% since
2010 and that over 500,000 across the country now earn less than the Living Wage outside
of London of £7.65 pence an hour. We recognise that this has placed many of our
employees in financial hardship.

This council notes and supports calls by Government, Shadow Cabinet Ministers and MP’s
from all parties for action on low pay, for a significant increase in the National Minimum
Wage and for the Living Wage.

This council therefore resolves to:
* support the 2014-15 NJC pay claim by UNISON, GMB and Unite
* call upon the LGA to support the claim and lobby government for funding for it.



12.

This council further resolves to call upon the Chancellor and Secretary of State for the
Department for Communities and Local Government to ensure that funding is made
available for councils to meet the NJC pay claim for a minimum increase of £1 an hour to:

* achieve the Living Wage for the lowest paid and
* begin to restore the earnings of the rest of the workforce”.

iv) Councillor Beardsworth to propose and Councillor Meredith to second:
“This Council recognises that:

e It, and its members, are here to serve the people of Northampton, not be served by
them.

e That often, service users and local residents have a far better understanding of local
services and the needs of their local communities than Council officers, or even
Councillors — particularly as not all Councillors are as engaged as they should be
with their wards, as the current fiasco at Blackthorn Workshops shows.

e With these facts in mind, the Council has procedures for consultation laid out in
consultation documents.

¢ Unfortunately, these procedures have been, at times, ignored.

This Council therefore resolves that:

o (Cabinet decisions should demonstrate Consultation in line with the Council’s own
consultation document at all times.

v) Councillor Glynane to propose and Councillor Conroy to second:

“The Delapre tea rooms are a beloved institution in the local area. The tea rooms, run by
the Friends of Delapre Abbey, have been established for a number of years, and run by
people who have a passion for the abbey and community, often volunteering substantial
amounts of time with no expectation of return.That it has become a social and community
hub, where many people from across the town meet

This Council therefore resolves that:

During the works at Delapre Abbey, there will be proper provision in place to ensure an
uninterrupted service, protecting the tea rooms customer base, and allowing what has
become an essential community facility to keep serving the town”.

MATTERS OF URGENCY WHICH BY REASON OF SPECIAL
CIRCUMSTANCES THE MAYOR IS OF THE OPINION SHOULD BE
CONSIDERED.



The Guildhall
Northampton
D. Kennedy Chief Executive

Public Participation

1. Comments and Petitions

1.1 A member of the public (or an accredited representative of a business ratepayer of the
Borough) may make a comment or present a petition on any matter in relation to which the
Council has powers. A comment or presentation of a petition shall be for no more than three
minutes. No notice of the nature of the comment to be made or of the petition is required
except for the need to register to speak by 12 noon on the day of the meeting.

(Public comments and petitions will not be taken and the Annual Council Meeting or other civic or
ceremonial meetings.)

NOTES

I Comments may be on one or more subjects but each person has no longer than three
minutes to have their say.

Ii. The same person may make a comment and present a petition on different subjects.

In such instances that person will have three minutes to make their comment and a separate three
minutes to present a petition.

2. Member and Public Questions

2.1 A member of the public (or business ratepayer of the Borough) may ask a maximum of two
written questions at each meeting, each limited to a maximum of 50 words, on any matter in
relation to which the Council has powers. Each question shall:

e Dbe submitted in writing and delivered, faxed or e-mailed to Democratic Services
no later than 10.00am seven calendar days before the day of the meeting; and

¢ include the name and address of the questioner and the name of the Cabinet
member/Committee Chair to whom the question is put.

2.2 At the meeting, copies of all questions and the responses to them from the public and
Members will be made available to the public and press. The Mayor may allow one
supplementary question, without notice, that arises directly from the original question or
response.

(Questions will not be taken at the Annual Council Meeting or at civic or ceremonial meetings or
meetings called to deal with specific items of business.)

NOTES

In respect of paragraph 2.1 above, questions may be rejected on certain grounds that are set out on
page 4-12 of the Council’s Constitution and which may be viewed at
www.northampton.gov.uk/site/scripts/download_info.php?fileID=1919 or by seeking advice using
the contact details below.

3. Motions



3.1 A member of the public may register to speak to a motion under the ‘Notices of Motion’
item on the agenda. Registration to speak must be made to Democratic Services by 12 noon
on the day to the meeting. Speaking to a motion is restricted to three minutes per person.

(The “Notices of Motion’ item will not be taken at the Annual Council meeting or meetings called
for civic or ceremonial purposes.)

4. General

A member of the public may make a comment, present a petition, ask a question or speak to a
motion at the same meeting subject to the restrictions set out above.

5. Contacts

Democratic Services: e-mail democraticservices(@northampton.gov.uk

Tel 01604 837722

Mail Democratic Services
Northampton Borough Council
The Guildhall
St Giles Square
Northampton NN1 1DE



Agenda ltem 2

MINUTES

OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF A MEETING OF NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH
COUNCIL HELD AT THE GUILDHALL, NORTHAMPTON, ON Monday, 28 October
2013 AT SIXTHIRTY O’'CLOCK IN THE EVENING

PRESENT: HIS WORSHIP THE MAYOR Councillor Marriott (in the Chair).

COUNCILLORS: Caswell, Ansell, Aziz, Begum, Bottwood, | Choudary, N
Choudary, Duncan, Eldred, Flavell, Ford, Glynane, Hadland,
Hallam, Hibbert, Lane, Larratt, Mackintosh, Malpas, Markham,
Mason, Mennell, Nunn, Oldham, Palethorpe, Parekh, Patel,
Sargeant, Stone, Wire DL and Yates.

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

2. MINUTES.

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2013 were agreed and signed by
the Mayor.

3. APOLOGIES.

Apologies were received from Councillors Capstick, Eales, Lynch, Meredith and
Strachan.

4. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.

The Mayor announced that the Poppy Ball had had to be cancelled and asked people
to wear poppies and to give generously to the poppy appeal.

The Mayor then announced that tickets were selling well for the Charity Gala Dinner
on 29 November 2013, although there were still some tickets available.

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS AND PETITIONS

Mr Leach addressed Council about changes to legal aid which he said would impact
on dignity and fairness locally and nationally. He referred to a post card campaign
being sent to Government about the changes.

Mr De Rosario addressed Council regarding the reduction in the number of rubbish
sacks to two per household when some families used three or more.

Mr Adams addressed Council stating that the decision on the Council’s housing stock
should be based on a ballot of all tenants, not on the views of the Tenants Panel.

Mr Brooks addressed Council stating that it was one of the few councils to use zero
hour contracts. These contracts were currently under review by the government. They
made working arrangements difficult for people it and he asked that their use be re-



considered.

Mr Seamark had registered to address the Council but withdrew.

6. MEMBER AND PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

The Mayor advised that four questions had been received from Councillors and that
they, and the answers, had been tabled in accordance with the Constitution.

Questions asked and answers given were as tabled (included in an updated agenda
on the website).

In response to a supplementary question asked relating to Question 1. Councillor
Markham stated that she was reviewing the arrangements to bring more void
properties back into use more quickly.

In response to a supplementary question asked relating to Question 2. Councillor
Markham stated that the situation regarding emergency accommodation was not
ideal. Families were only placed outside the Borough when there was an on-going
case of domestic violence or if the property was insufficiently large. A report last year
had stated that the Council was one of the best local authorities in the country
regarding this issue.

In response to a supplementary question asked relating to Question 3, Councillor
Mackintosh stated that he had previously had correspondence on this matter and
would take up the matter with the Member outside the meeting.

In response to a supplementary question asked relating to Question 4, Councillor
Mackintosh stated that the Council would be working with partners, including
Northamptonshire County Council, and committing £40,000 over a three year period.

7. CABINET MEMBER PRESENTATIONS

Each Cabinet Member gave a presentation of their respective portfolios, which had
been circulated in the agenda.

Councillor Mackintosh submitted his Cabinet Member report and elaborated thereon.
He commented on the progress of the regeneration projects, particularly the bus
interchange, the refurbishment of the Grosvenor Centre starting in November 2013
and the demolition of the Greyfriars complex to begin in March 2014. He also
referred to the recent visit by the Prime Minister to Northampton and the new home to
be found for Northampton Athletics Club when development commences at Sixfields.

In response to questions from Members Councillor Mackintosh stated that:

e Companies should be encouraged to come to and invest in the Borough. Any
questions regarding their employment practices such as zero hour contracts
should be addressed to those companies and not to the Council.

e The Enterprise Zone was bringing investment and job growth into
Northampton. There had been 122 jobs created in Q1 & Q2 this year. Many
companies had told him it was refreshing to have an administration they could



work with.

e He had publicly thanked officers and Members for their work at a recent
regeneration event and was happy to do so again at this meeting.

¢ He agreed to respond by email to Councillor Davies’ enquiry about the number
of new businesses setting up in the Enterprise Zone.

Councillor Markham submitted her Cabinet Member report and elaborated thereon.
She referred to the recent visit by the HRH the Duke of Gloucester to Oasis House,
the relocation of Call Care, the success of the Estate Services apprentice scheme
and seeking residents’ opinions and ideas on SCATE (Safe, Clean and Tidy Estates).
She also referred to the Tenants Panel’'s preference for an Arms Length Management
Organisation (ALMO) to manage the housing stock, which would be considered by
the Housing Options Panel and then Cabinet and full Council.

In answer to questions Councillor Markham stated that:

e |t would not be appropriate to make any statement or decision on the housing
stock options at this stage. The views of the Tenants Panel reflected the
scoring of the options. A report would be presented to a special meeting of the
Cabinet on 4 December and a decision made at full Council on 9 December
2013.

e There was currently no decent homes work underway in Kingsley Ward. Any
queries by tenants regarding works or contractors should be raised with Ward
Councillors or the Council direct.

The Supporting People funding was currently under review, with the aim of
continued funding after April 2014.

Councillor Hallam submitted his Cabinet Member report and elaborated thereon. He
referred to the new refuse and recycling rounds introduced in September which had
favourably changed the views of many residents, the request from residents for 7,000
new recycling containers, and the Northamptonshire Waste Partnership’s visit to
schools with a collection vehicle.

In answer to questions Councillor Hallam stated that:

e Packaging was an issue for companies rather than the Council but he would
encourage a reduction in the amount of packaging.

e The detail of the refuse and recycling contract was agreed at the Tender
Acceptance stage by the previous administration.

e There had been 7,000 requests for recycling containers since the introduction
of the new refuse and recycling rounds. Requests had previously been at
under ten per week.

Councillor Eldred submitted his Cabinet Member report and elaborated thereon. He
referred to the various events held or being held in Northampton, the switch on off the
Christmas lights scheduled for 21 November, the forthcoming “Strictly Shoes” event,
the “my Favourite Shoe” coming up in January 2014, the Leisure trust awards and
grants made under the Councillor Community Fund.



In answer to questions Councillor Eldred stated that:

e He was aware of the significance of Richard Ill to Northampton and that a
replica of the king’s head was currently on display in Northampton Museum
until January 2014.

e He had agreed to answer 10 written questions supplied direct by Councillor
Glynane.

Councillor Bottwood submitted his Cabinet Member report and elaborated thereon.
He stated that it was proposed not to increase the Council Tax for 2014/15 and work
was underway on the budget setting process which would involve some difficult
decisions. He referred to the Revenues and Benefits team achieving accuracy
figures of 97% and 99% in areas of their work, which was excellent, particularly in
view of the changes made and transfer to LGSS.

In answer to a question Councillor Bottwood stated that decisions to be taken by
Northamptonshire County Council would impact on the level of Council Tax charged,
but he could only respond regarding the levels proposed by the Borough.

Councillor Hadland submitted his Cabinet Member report and elaborated thereon. He
referred to the selection of three artists commissioned to provide displays in the North
Gate Bus Station and the Council supporting the transfer of land at Midsummer
Meadow to create an access route to the University’s proposed new campus.

In answer to questions Councillor Hadland stated that:

o Refurbishment of the existing Grosvenor Centre facilities would begin in
October 2013 at a cost of £3m.

e The redevelopment of the Grosvenor Centre and Greyfriars was a complicated
issue, but work with the owners continued.

e Additional cars were coming into the town, but the existing cameras were not
capturing all of the footfall in the town centre. A camera would be installed to
capture the footfall before and after the opening of the North Gate Bus Station.

8. OPPOSITION GROUP BUSINESS

Councillor Mason stated that she was deeply concerned regarding the cost of living
and the benefit changes, especially the benefit cap. She stated that 25% of children
were living in poverty in Britain and rickets was now on the rise once more in
malnourished children. The Chief Medical Officer had called this situation shameful.
Councillor Mason stated that the welfare reforms were stalled and not working and
that this was negatively affecting family life, particularly with rising fuel costs. The
bedroom tax in particular was affecting vulnerable people and families, particularly
disabled people, and leading to rent arrears. Working people were being affected by
the welfare reforms and not just those on benefits. She stated that the Labour party
would challenge fuel companies on prices and abolish the bedroom tax.

Councillor Mackintosh responded, stating that the welfare system had trapped
families on benefits and it was helpful to fix welfare limits to encourage people into
work. He considered that there should be a safety net to support those who needed



help and referred to working tax credits to help those who were in work and needed
support.

9. CHANGES TO COMMITTEE PLACES AND CONSULTATION APPOINTMENTS

Councillor Wire DL submitted a report asking Council to confirm the appointment of
Councillor Mason as Deputy Leader of the Labour Group, following the resignation of
Councillor Davies as Deputy Leader, and the appointment of Councillor Mason to the
Police and Crime Panel and the Appointments and Appeals Committee to replace
Councillor Davies in each case.

Councillor Mason seconded adoption of the report.
RESOLVED:

That the appointments to Committees and Consultation Appointments, as set out in
the report, be confirmed.

10.NOMINATION TO NORTHAMPTON HOPE CENTRE

Councillor Mackintosh submitted a report asking the Council to nominate the
appointment of Councillor Markham to the Northampton Hope Centre Charity as a
trustee.

Councillor Hadland seconded adoption of the report.
RESOLVED:

That Councillor Markham be nominated to be appointed to the Northampton Hope
centre Charity as a trustee for a period of three years.

11.PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT AT NORTHAMPTON NORTH
SUE, LAND OFF A43 KETTERING ROAD

Councillor Mackintosh submitted a report seeking authority from Council to devolve
this Council’'s decision making authority as local planning authority to Daventry
District Council (DDC) in respect of the cross-boundary outline planning application
for the development at Northampton North SUE, A43 Kettering Road.

Council debated the appropriateness of devolving the whole application to DDC, or
whether to maintain planning consideration for the small parcel of land to the south of
the site.

Councillor Mackintosh moved adoption of the report.
Councillor Hadland seconded adoption of the report.

Upon a requisition for a recorded vote:
There voted for the proposal: Councillors Ansell, Bottwood, Caswell, | Choudary,

Duncan, Eldred, Flavell, Ford, Golby, Hadland, Hibbert, Hill, King, Mackintosh,
Malpas, Markham, Oldham, Parekh, Patel and Sargeant.



There voted against the proposal: Councillors Aziz, Beardsworth, Begum, N
Choudary, Conroy, Davies, Glynane, Gowen, Mason, Mennell, Palethorpe, Stone,
Subbarayan and Wire DL.

There abstained: the Mayor and Councillors Larratt and Yates.
RESOLVED:

That agreement be given to devolve this Council’s decision making authority as local
planning authority to Daventry District Council as set out in the report.

12.NOTICES OF MOTION
i) Councillor Mackintosh proposed and Councillor Hadland seconded:

“Council welcomes the announcement that Cosworth Engineering is planning to build
a new Centre of Excellence in Northampton, creating around 70 new jobs and up to
200 additional jobs for their suppliers.

The announcement is further evidence that, through the Northampton Alive
programme, an increasing number of firms see Northampton as the perfect place to
invest and do business.

Next year will mark Cosworth’s 50th anniversary in the Borough, and this Council
notes the positive contribution this prestigious company has made to our local
economy, and its commitment to our towns future.”
Council debated the motion.
Upon a vote the motion was carried.

ii) Councillor Glynane proposed and Councillor Conroy seconded:
“Council notes that:

e The recent commitment by the Government to maintain the existing post office
network and to invest £1.34m in the service will mean that none of the current
offices across Northampton will face programs of closure.

e Government is now looking at rolling out the trial scheme championed by
Sheffield City Council and the National Federation of Sub Postmasters. This
scheme established the scope to deliver a wide range of Public Services
through local Post Offices thus underpinning their viability as a key community
resource.

Council therefore resolves:

e To confirm its support for local Post Offices and to recognise the key part they
play in communities across the district and



e To ask the Chief Executive to examine the Sheffield trial scheme and report
back to Council on how our services could be delivered through the Post Office
network across the district thus improving their viability and bringing our
services closer to local communities.”

Council debated the motion.
Upon a vote the motion was .carried.

iii) Mr Adams addressed Council and stated that more homes were needed in the

right places. He stated that the reason people objected to new homes was the
percentage of affordable housing and that people did not want social housing near
their homes.
Mr Huffadine-Smith addressed Council and stated that speculative builders had
pushed up house prices to unsustainable levels, where they were well beyond the
income of local people. He asked the Council to think outside the box and consider
schemes like park homes, which were a quarter the price of a traditional house.

Councillor Beardsworth proposed and Councillor Glynane seconded:

“Council notes that:
¢ We are not building enough homes in England.

¢ Rising house prices mean the dream of home ownership is beyond the reach
of millions and the size of a mortgage deposit alone stops many would-be first-
time buyers from getting on the housing ladder.

e More and more people are therefore being pushed into the private rented
sector and as demand rises there, so too do the rents.

e One in 12 families in England is now on a social housing waiting list.

e The average house price in the East Midlands is over £161,000 — over 8 times
the average household income in the region.

Council believes that:

e We need to build more of the right homes, in the right place, at the right price.

e Too often private developers try and force high density housing on huge sites
that will cripple local infrastructure, causing vast public opposition to the idea of
increasing the housing supply.

e All too often the people who actually need homes are missing from local
debates.



Councils need to take an active role in making the case for building more
homes locally in a sensible, sustainable manner that is beneficial for
communities as well as individuals.

Council resolves to:

Support the Yes to Homes campaign and commits to increasing the delivery of
the right homes, in the right place, at the right price in Northampton.

Organise Housing Hearings to help local people, community groups and
businesses to give evidence on the need for more homes, and will report the
finding of these hearing to this council meeting.

Work with Yes to Homes supporters, local groups and organisations to actively
make the case for new homes and explain the benefits of new homes for the
whole community.

Investigate the reasons why people object to new homes and will produce a
strategy for removing or mitigating these concerns.

Further resolves to:

Inform local people through local media of this decision.

Write to local MPs, informing them of this decision.”

Councillor Markham proposed and Councillor Oldham seconded an amendment to
the motion:

“Delete:

Council resolves to:

Support the Yes to Homes campaign and commits to increasing the delivery of
the right homes, in the right place, at the right price in Northampton.

Organise Housing Hearings to help local people, community groups and
businesses to give evidence on the need for more homes, and will report the
finding of these hearing to this council meeting.

Work with Yes to Homes supporters, local groups and organisations to actively
make the case for new homes and explain the benefits of new homes for the
whole community.

Investigate the reasons why people object to new homes and will produce a
strategy for removing or mitigating these concerns.



Further resolves to:

¢ Inform local people through local media of this decision.

e Write to local MPs, informing them of this decision.”

Replace with:

Council resolves to:

Continue to work with tenants, developers and communities to make sure that the
right types of housing are built in the right place, and to increase the amount of
affordable housing in the borough.”

Amended motion to read:

“Council notes that:

We are not building enough homes in England.
Rising house prices mean the dream of home ownership is beyond the reach
of millions and the size of a mortgage deposit alone stops many would-be first-
time buyers from getting on the housing ladder.

More and more people are therefore being pushed into the private rented
sector and as demand rises there, so too do the rents.

One in 12 families in England is now on a social housing waiting list.

The average house price in the East Midlands is over £161,000 — over 8 times
the average household income in the region.

Council believes that:

We need to build more of the right homes, in the right place, at the right price.

Too often private developers try and force high density housing on huge sites
that will cripple local infrastructure, causing vast public opposition to the idea of
increasing the housing supply.

All too often the people who actually need homes are missing from local
debates.

Councils need to take an active role in making the case for building more
homes locally in a sensible, sustainable manner that is beneficial for
communities as well as individuals.

Council resolves to:



Continue to work with tenants, developers and communities to make sure that the
right types of housing are built in the right place, and to increase the amount of
affordable housing in the borough.”

Council debated the amended motion.
Upon a vote the amended motion was carried.
iv) Councillor Stone proposed and Councillor Wire DL seconded:
“This Council welcomes the UK-wide campaign to end ‘legal loan sharking’.

This Council believes that the lack of access to affordable credit is socially and
economically damaging. Unaffordable credit is causing a myriad of unwanted effects
such as poorer diets, colder homes, rent, council tax and utility arrears, depression
(which impacts on job seeking behaviour) and poor health.

This Council further believes that unaffordable credit is extracting wealth from the
most deprived communities.

This Council notes it is the responsibility of all levels of government to try to ensure
affordable credit for all, and therefore pledges to use best practice to promote
financial literacy and affordable lending in Northampton. This will help to ensure that
wealth stays in the local economy. This Council also pledges to promote based
community organisations offering access to affordable credit, like Northampton Credit
Union, and promoting saving in our town.

This Council asks the Chief Executive to write to the relevant Secretary of State
saying this Council calls on the government to introduce caps on the total lending
rates that can be charged for providing credit. In addition, this council calls on central
government to give local authorities the power to veto licences for high street credit
agencies where they could have negative economic or social impacts on
communities.”

Councillor Eldred proposed and councillor King seconded an amendment to the
motion:

“Delete:

This Council asks the Chief Executive to write to the relevant Secretary of State
saying this Council calls on the government to introduce caps on the total lending
rates that can be charged for providing credit. In addition, this council calls on central
government to give local authorities the power to veto licences for high street credit
agencies where they could have negative economic or social impacts on
communities.

Amended motion to read:

“This Council welcomes the UK-wide campaign to end “legal loan sharking".

10



This Council believes that the lack of access to affordable credit is socially and
economically damaging. Unaffordable credit is causing a myriad of unwanted effects
such as poorer diets, colder homes, rent, council tax and utility arrears, depression
(which impacts on job seeking behaviour) and poor health.

This Council further believes that unaffordable credit is extracting wealth from the
most deprived communities.

This Council notes it is the responsibility of all levels of government to try to ensure
affordable credit for all, and therefore pledges to use best practice to promote
financial literacy and affordable lending in Northampton. This will help to ensure that
wealth stays in the local economy. This Council also pledges to promote based
community organisations offering access to affordable credit, like Northampton Credit
Union, and promoting saving in our town.”

Council debated the amended motion.
Upon a vote the amended motion was carried.

V) Mr Adams addressed Council and congratulated the Council on the
decision to remove Council tax reductions on empty properties. He asked
the Council to let properties out for a number of years and to recycle the
money.

Councillor Gowen proposed and Councillor Mason seconded:
“This council believes that empty properties that could be made habitable for housing
should be logged with a property street doctor. There is a national empty property

doctor.

This Council proposes to set up a local one on line to encourage people t log empty
properties near them.

This Council will plan for bringing a percentage back into use every year either
through negotiations with landlords or by CPOs.”

Council debated the motion.
Upon a vote the motion was carried.
vi) Mr Adams who had registered to address Council withdrew.
It was proposed by Councillor Mason and seconded by Councillor Palethorpe:
“This Council believes it is unacceptable to have families living in emergency
accommodation for longer than 6 weeks. This council also believes that all

emergency accommodation needs to be registered, risk assessed and visited on a
regular basis to ensure basic standards are met and maintained.

11



This Council will ensure, wherever possible, families are placed in emergency
accommodation near to their wider family, friends and the children’s schools to
ensure the best outcomes for all.”

Council debated the motion.

Upon a vote the motion was carried.

13.MATTERS OF URGENCY WHICH BY REASON OF SPECIAL

CIRCUMSTANCES THE MAYOR IS OF THE OPINION SHOULD BE
CONSIDERED.

None.

The meeting concluded at 8:35 pm

12



MINUTES

OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF NORTHAMPTON
BOROUGH COUNCIL HELD AT THE GUILDHALL, NORTHAMPTON, ON Thursday,
28 November 2013 AT SIX THIRTY O’CLOCK IN THE EVENING

PRESENT: HIS WORSHIP THE MAYOR Councillor Marriott (in the Chair).

COUNCILLORS: Caswell, Ansell, Aziz, Beardsworth, Begum, Bottwood, I.
Choudary, N Choudary, Flavell, Golby, Gowen, Hadland, Hallam,
Hibbert, Hill, King, Lane, Larratt, Lynch, Mackintosh, Malpas,
Markham, Mason, Nunn, Oldham, Palethorpe, Parekh, Patel,
Strachan, Subbarayan, Wire DL and Yates

1. WELCOME BY THE MAYOR

The Mayor welcomed everyone to the meeting and thanked invitees for attending the
ceremony.

2. APOLOGIES.

Apologies were received from Councillors Eldred, Yates, Ford, Mennell, Conroy,
Stone, Capstick, Duncan, Sargeant and Glynane.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were none.

4. CONFERRAL OF TITLE OF HONORARY ALDERMAN

The Mayor referred to the motion set out on the agenda paper that had been agreed
by Council at its meeting on the 23™ May 2013 to confer the title of Honorary
Alderman to former Councillors Michael Boss, Tony Clarke, Keith Davies, Ulric
Gravesande, Colin Lill, Judith Lill, Malcolm Lloyd, Richard Matthews and Marianne
Taylor.

It was noted that Colin and Judith Lill were unable to attend the special Council
meeting. Therefore, a presentation would be arranged for them at a later date.

The Mayor then invited Councillors Mackintosh, Wire DL and Beardsworth to endorse
the motion.

RESOLVED:

That in accordance with Section 249 of the Local Government Act 1972 former
Councillors Michael Boss, Tony Clarke, Keith Davies, Ulrich Gravesande,
Colin Lill, Judith Lill, Malcolm Lloyd, Richard Matthews and Marianne Taylor.be
awarded the title of Honorary Alderman of the Borough of Northampton.

The meeting concluded at 7.16pm

13



Agenda Item 6

Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 1

Question to Councillor Bottwood from Norman Adams

With media coverage that £37.5 million is now known to have been taken from
council housing budgets during September before the legal ‘loophole’
pinpointed by Capita was sealed by the government on 1 October.

Could you assure me that Northampton Borough Council have not been
shifting any from a ‘ring-fenced’ housing budget to its general fund.

Response

NBC did not make any changes in September as a result of the “loophole”
pinpointed by Capita. The Government have written to the Council asking
them to confirm this. | attach a copy of a letter from Government and our
response.

Clir Bottwood
Cabinet Nlember for Finance

14




it g
Uiud of FRy e O3S
| fraiefEinenze ¥y

Degartiment for Gorinitnitiea awicd Losa!l Govarnniehl
102 Eland Houge

Béogsendon Plago

Loncon

SWiE 6D

Daar Sirladam

. The: Gutdadl
i 43kt Lguecs
s hrepkya K 2 DE

 Teb d200236 100
fdintapus lOMpeesA:

r Ref; GHfcap
Yeir figk
Flowsn Goalosk  Glann Hamavsng

Exphovtig (07004} 230347
ity 4" Deseriibar 2013
Enil gz nrnsiEdcdhnatanzlim gy

Ro: Transfor of funds from tho Ho_u_s-_ing Roveljugs Account to the Gongral Fund

Further to your lefter dated ?B"' November 2013 -expressing your conosms that
authotities mey heve sought to use the provislon in Scheduls 4, Part 8 (2) of the Local
Governmont and Housing Act 1089 to transfor funds fo tho Goucml Fund, Ploase sod

betow nnsiwers to your guestions.

I Whether funds have been transferred fo the Genersl Fund from the Hotsing
Revantre Acoount and, if so, the amounts that have boan hansfarred?

Aviswer, NBC hos not nsed the

Govenment and Houslig Act 1989 16 fransfer funde fo the Geners

rvision in Sehorduks 4, Part 3 ;2) of tht:- Logad

Fund .

I Whether any (ranisfer of fuidls has besn 1electet in your augited uowunfs- for

2012-137
Answer: Nat appifcable

i, Wit powers the sulhorly hay refied wpon for sny tansfer of Junids from the
I pusing Revenue Account to the Genstal Fund and the reasons for the rransfaf

Anawat: Naf applizahle

Vours faithfully

Heaﬁ of Finance LGSS
Chiof Finance Offlcer

{’”" INVESTORS
IN PEQPLE

15

wyrar.narthamplion, goy, ok

At

“M H \6

8y,




Debartment for

Communities and
Local Government

To; Chiot Cihance Offlcer 26 November 2013

Doar SiMadam

TRANSFER OF FUNDS FROM THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TO THE
GENERAL FUND

It has been braught to the Dapartment's attenilen that a number of authorities may
havs sought to tranefer funda frorn their ring-fenvad Heusing Revenue Account to tho
General Fund using the power In Schadule 4, Part 3 (2) of the | .acal Govarniment and
Housing Act 1989, ahead of the repeal of that power {in relation o England) on 4
Octoher 2043, Thls lefter secks to remind local authorities of the purpuse of the
Housing Revente Account fing-fency and requests informalidn from authorlties abavt
the possible lransler of funds.

As you are avara the Houglng Revenue Accoun Is B ring-fanced uccount wilhin the
authority’s Genaral Fund, which ménns that losul authorittas have no genaral disarction
l transfer sums inlo or ol of it. Tha items 1o ba credited and debitad to your Housing
Revenus Acoaunt are prescrihad by statute. These Include expenditura and Income
ralating to proparty llsted In saction 74 of the Local Government and Houslng Act 1960
and Schodula 4 to the 1988 At (as amended) which specifies the gelilt and cradit
items o be tecerded in the 1lolising Révenus Account,. Parmissibia debli taims Include
axpanditure on repalrs, maintenanca and managoniont, capltal expendifure and rents,
ratos, taxes and othor charges. Pomissible credit Rems Includy rants, charges for
sarvices pnd faciities nnd contributions towads expendliuce, The Secretaly of Stata
hag powsrs to delerming or direct thal ather [tems may ba rraditad and debliod to tho
Hotising Revenue Account,

One of the muin purposss of the ring-fence conlinttes to be 1o ensure that rente paid by
local authority tenante accuralely and realistically reflact the cost of providing the
houeing service, Funds hald within tha Housing Revenue Account ghould not be used
1o covar (he cosls of ather counall slvices, )

The Departiment Is therefors concermea that authorilles may hava sought te usa the
provislon in Schadule 4 Parl 3 {2} of tho 1080 Act to transfer funds to the Genafal
Fund, The RDapartiment ks censidering whather it would ba appropriate, where funds
htve baan transferred, to deteriving of diract that such funcis should be returned to the
Hausing Revenis Account, The Depaitment recagnlsss that an authority may have
bed legitineale reasons for lhe ransler of such fuhds and therefare requests the
followlng Informaltion in order ta ascortaln what, If any, further action should be taken:

Dapanmer; for Cormanlliez and Local Govemnts Tol: (303 44 42607
X2 Fleind Haviee,

Btaaednderi Plsce,

l.ordon,

SWIE 6N

16




I. Whether funds have been transfemed to the Génoral Fund from the Housing
Revenys Atbount alid, it 5o, tha amnounts-that huve besn trunsferred;

il. Whithor-any transfer of furili has beurreaviad h your auditad actounts for
204 2-138 ang

. Wiat powers the authorily has rélied upon forany.frans’er of funds fointhe
Honslng Revente Account io the General Fund and-the reasons tor the tiahefer.

I'would be gratefyl If you could_respand-to this letter by the 49%.of Necembiir, In view of
the Dapartment's dunskdsralivh 6f ransfars of funds troin tha Housling Revenue Accoyit
{o tha Gensral Funt oh rcliarice of Sahedule 4. Port 3 [2) of tha Lotel Govornriont ppd
Houeing fiot 7988, suthorities iney vidsh to congiilor Wb pproprateness of tistng suah
funds until the Pepaitment's ronalderntions ara complets.

Yuurs fallhfuly,

Jane Tadorevia

vepar-mant fot ComrLntles end ~ocl Governmient G044 42607
L2 Cied Hagse, ’

Brassarcer Ploch,

-L£reon,

3= BOL,

17




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 2

Question to Councillor Hadland from Councillor Beardsworth

What consuitation has taken place with regards to the new bus station and
was this in line with the consultation policy of the Council?

Response

The relocation of the bus operation from Greyfriars Bus Station to a new
location has been implemented by NBC and NCC. The selection of the Bus
Interchange site followed extensive consultations and the form of presentation
meetings, workshops and questionnaires to key stakeholders including:

All the bus operators

Mobility Impaired, Disabled and OAP Groups
Town Centre Partners and Businesses
University of Northampton

Northampton Bus User Forum

[ ] L] L) * *

The planning applications N/2012/0314 & 0315 included the following
- statutory consultees:

Anglian Water

English Heritage

Natural England

Environment Agency

Highways Agency

NCC Archaeology

NCC Highways

Northamptenshire Wildlife Trust
Northampton Police

Western Power

Town centre BCAAC

Twentieth Century Society
Georgian Society

Victorian Society

Spring Boroughs Residents Association
National market Traders Federation

The construction phase has seen the main contractor Kier, hold open events
for local businesses, retailers and residents. A named contact is employed by
the contractor to consult with the local retailers during the public realm works

18




on the Drapery. The contractor has also issued newsletters to inform
businesses and residents of the works programme.

Clir Hadland
Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning

19




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013
Question 3
Question to Councillor Markham from Councillor Beardsworth

Are there sufficient funds this year for the Disabled Facilities Grant?

Response

Yes, the Finance & Performance Monitoring Report to be considered by
Cabinet on 11th Dec states the latest position with regards to DFGs.

Clir Markham
Cabinet Member for Housing

20




Question for Full Council Monday 9™ December 2013
Question 4

Question to Councillor Eldred from Councillor Glynane

Could the Cabinet Member please confirm, in relation to the proposed sale of
the Sekhemka how much this council has spent on legal
investigations/opinions and other professional advice, including minor
ancillary expenses since May 2011.

Response

£18,782

Clir Eldred
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

21




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 5

Question to Councillor Eldred from Councillor Glynane

What additional security conditions did the insurance company impose in
regard to the Sekhemka Statue?

Response
Either place the statue in a secure vault or, if it is to be displayed in public, in

a secure, alarmed cabinet, in an appropriately alarmed room, monitored by
CCTV.

Clir Eldred
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

22




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 6

Question to Councillor Eldred from Councillor Glynane

Which auction house has been appointed to handle the sale on behalf of the
Council?

Response

The Council has not yet appointed an auction house to handle the sale. The
Council has held discussions with several auction houses and identified one
that it is its preferred supplier for the provision of auction services but they
have not been appointed. Contract discussions are underway and it will not
be possible to reveal the name of this organisation until they are completed
and a contractual relationship exists.

Clir Eldred
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

23




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 7

Question to Councillor Eldred from Councitlor Conroy

The corporation deed of covenant with the Marquis assigns “at all time for
ever hereafter to exhibit the same collection freely to the public and at no time
to dispose if any part if the collections”. Why is this council not complying with
this agreement with the people of Northampton and the Marquis of
Northampton?

Response

| believe that Councillor Conroy is referring to a Deed of Gift dated 9 August
1880 between the Marquis of Northampton and the Borough of Northampton.
This deed gifted a Geological Collection to the Borough with various
conditions attached. The Council is observing the conditions of this
agreement. The statue of Sekhemka did not form part of the Geological
collection and is therefore not covered by the terms of the Deed.

The Council has always held the view that the Deed dated 9 August 1880

does not cover the statue of Sekhemka and examination by independent legal
advisors has confirmed this view.

Clir Eldred
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

24




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 8

Question to Councillor Eldred from Councillor Conroy

What is the position of the other Egyptian objects gifted with the Sekhemka
Statue?

Response

The Marquis lent a number of Egyptian items to the museum in 1866 and the
museum records show that they were returned to him in five tranches in 1867,
1869, 1870, 1874 and 1878. The Geological Collection gifted on 9 August
1880 is still in the museum’s possession. The vast majority of it is in secure
storage as the museum can only display a small part of its collection at any
one time.

Clir Eldred
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

25




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 9

Question to Councillor Eldred from Councillor Conroy

Can you let me know who at the Borough do | need to contact to arrange for
me and my colleagues to inspect the Sekhemka Statue?

Response

At present the statue is in secure storage outside Northampton and it is not
possible to view it.

Clir Eldred
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

26




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 10

Question to Councillor Hallam from Councillor Meredith

ls there adequate provision for cutting back trees in the Eastern District, many
of which are very overgrown?

Response
Tree Maintenance

All trees that are covered by the Environmental Services Contract with
Enterprise, irrespective of where they are located within the borough are
maintained to the same standards. The standards/policies and inspection
regimes relating to the trees are those which were in place prior to Enterprise
taking over the services..

Enterprise has internally allocated the same level of budgets to tree
maintenance as those allocated when NBC managed the trees.

The Partnership Unit have not seen any reduction in the standard of tree
maintenance since the contract with Enterprise commenced, and work directly
with the tree department at Enterprise to ensure that these standards are
maintained. The provisions of the contract with Enterprise will continue to
deliver the standards we expect. The Partnership Unit will continue to monitor
the contract with Enterprise, to ensure that the requirements of the contract
are met.

Resources are adequate to achieve:
Tree maintenance - NBC trees

. All arboriculture works is carried out in accordance with recognised
good arboricuiture practice including BS 3998: Recommendations for Tree
Work.

. A programme of inspections and surveys to identify any maintenance
issues with trees and develop work programmes.

. Provide for an Enterprise tree officer on call 24 hours to deal with
emergencies such as frees brought down during high winds.

. Complaints from residents about individual trees to be investigated by
the tree officers and the resident informed of their findings.

Time restrictions on when maintenance work can be carried out is in place for
nesting birds and protected species.

27




Tree maintenance - NCC trees (Highways)

. Highways trees on strategic and main distributor roads are inspected
and work undertaken on safety grounds and to ensure visibility and prevent
obstruction. (Only reactive and emergency work will be carried out on trees on
other roads).

Shrub maintenance

. All shrubs are maintained to the same specification.

. Shrub beds are visited on an annual basis as part of the winter works
programme and receive full containment pruning operations. The main period
of shrub and shrub bed maintenance takes place between October and
November and March and April each year, and this year's programme is well
underway.

. Shrub bed maintenance will include the removal of litter and weeds.
Weed control will include a combination of chemical treatment and manual
removal.

. Shrub maintenance will also include the removal of self-set trees and
shrubs from grassed areas and around the curtilage of NBC owned
properties.

. During the growing season, shrubs will be. maintained to ensure that
they do not cause obstruction or damage, or present health and safety
implications.

Clir Hallam
Cabinet Member for Environment

28




Question for Full Council Monday 9" December 2013

Question 11

Question to Councillor Hadland from Councillor Palethorpe

Would the Cabinet Member provide the Council with an update on the number
of empty retail properties in Northampton please?

Response

We do not hold figures for the whole of the Borough area in terms of the
vacancy of retail units.

However, for the Town Centre BID area, the rates figures for 1 December
2013 show that there is a 12% vacancy rate.

Clir Hadland
Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning

29




Agenda ltem 7

Report of the Leader of the Council
Northampton Borough Council

9'" December 2013

After many years of delays, on 26th November the Planning Committee approved the
application for the proposed development at Sixfields. Supporting The Cobblers in their
plans to expand their facilities was a key manifesto priority for this Administration. | am
pleased that this manifesto pledge has been met, and that Northampton Town Football
Club are now free to pursue the expansion they have been denied for many years.

There has also been progress with The Saints planning application to expand Franklins
Gardens. Supporting this project is another of this Administration’s key policies, which |
am delighted to say is moving ahead quickly. The stadium plans are currently available
to view online, and we expect the Planning Committee to meet to consider them early in
the new year.

On 13th November Cabinet approved the demolition of the old Greyfriars Bus Station.
This is yet another project that has been long overdue and could only be delivered by
this Administration. Demolition will begin at the end of March 2014 and will free up a
prime development site within the heart of our town.

Christmas festivities in the Town Centre began on 21st November with the lights switch
on. There was a fantastic turnout from the public and the Town Centre has a real
festive feel to help attract shoppers and enhance their experience.

To help support local businesses during the Christmas period we have once again
introduced free parking in all Borough Council owned car parks from 3pm on Thursdays
and all day on Saturdays in our pay on foot car parks until Christmas.

On Sunday 10th November councillors and dignitaries processed from The Guildhall to
All Saints' Church as part of this year's Remembrance Day Parade and Service. In
addition to our commitment to help support existing and ex-service personnel through
schemes such as the Community Covenant, it is just as important that we never forget
those who have served our country and made the ultimate sacrifice.

During November the Borough Council teamed up with the charity, Support Our
Soldiers, to encourage the public to support members of the Armed Forces by taking
part in their Christmas Parcel Appeal. People were asked to drop into the One Stop
Shop and donate items including sweets, toiletries and Christmas gifts. All donated
items will be sent over to our Armed Forces Personnel serving in Afghanistan.

Earlier this year it was agreed that any former Borough Councillor who had served on
the Council for 12 years would be considered as a possible candidate for becoming an
Honorary Alderman. The title recognises the time and dedication each individual has
given to their community and the people of our town. On Thursday 28th November the

30



title of Honorary Alderman was awarded to former Borough Councillors Michael Boss,
Tony Clarke, Keith Davies, Ulric Gravesande, Colin Lill, Judith Lill Malcolm Lloyd,
Richard Matthews and Marianne Taylor.

Community Safety

Crime and Violence continue to fall below the annual Community Safety Partnership
(CSP) targets. To date there has been a 7.7% reduction in overall crime (1528 less
crimes) and a 10.9% reduction in violence (384 less crimes).

Serious Acquisitive Crime is on a downward trend, showing an 8.9% reduction (363 less
crimes) and is on track to meet the target. Police recorded Anti-Social Behaviour has
increased by 2.1% to date, this is primarily nuisance behaviour, across all sectors of
Northampton. Criminal damage however, has reduced by 8%, again exceeding the
annual target.

The first Community Safety Partnership Weeks of Action have taken place in
Blackthorn/Goldings and The Mounts/Wellingborough Road. There has been good
engagement with the community through the Crime Prevention House established on
each area with a high level of support provided by a variety of agencies. Some
excellent environmental work has been undertaken by Enterprise and Community
Payback, providing a visible improvement to the areas. The next Week of Action will
take place in the Town Centre with a focus on street drinking and begging, linking in
with pre-Christmas operations run by the Police.

Councillor David Mackintosh
Leader of the Council

31



Cabinet Member Report for Housing
Northampton Borough Council

9'" December 2013

Improvement Programme

The Administration has initiated a programme to identify areas for improvement and to
ensure we are ready to respond to the many opportunities and challenges the Housing
Department will need to deal with in the coming months and years. This includes making
sure the department is run properly and staff are fully supported while we implement more
effective senior management. On 15th and 19" November the Leader and | attended
meetings with Housing staff to discuss the restructure of the department and how we will be
providing housing services to tenants in future.

Housing Stocks Options Review — Tenants Conference

The latest stage in the Housing Stock Options process was outlined and explained to
tenants and leaseholders at the Tenants’ Conference on the 5th and 6th November.
There were two sessions with presentations from the Programme Manager and the
Independent Tenant Advisor. The sessions were very well attended and gave us an
opportunity to update tenants and leaseholders

Homelessness

| am proud of the work being done by the Homelessness Team and we compare very well
to other similar sized authorities in the East Midlands on how we deal with the issue. Our
aim is always to get people into permanent accommodation as quickly as possible although
individual circumstances often mean there can be delays. For example, we have two
households that have been in bed and breakfast for more than six weeks. One of these
was found to be intentionally homeless and required further investigation. They have
subsequently found privately rented accommodation. The other has had and accepted an
offer of council accommodation and, as the property was being renovated, the person
chose to wait.

Disabled Facilities Grants

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) is a priority for this Administration and a legal
requirement for this authority. There has been huge demand this year, which officers have
responded to promptly, resulting in significant pressure on the funds allocated to DFGs. It
has become clear to me, through the monitoring activity | undertake as the responsible
Cabinet Member for this service area, that | need to review the budget available to meet the
high level of demand we are experiencing. | have also asked officers to review policies,
processes and procedures around DFGs to ensure an efficient, effective and proportionate
response to the needs of our customers.

32



Allocation Policy

Earlier in the year | requested that the housing allocations policy to be reviewed to enable
people working in Northampton to be rehoused without the need to be in a reasonable
preference group, to take into account some of the impact the new size criteria has had on
the allocation of larger accommodation and to ensure an appropriate response to the
Armed Forces Community Covenant. The refreshed policy came into effect on 1st
December 2013.

Councillor Mary Markham
Cabinet Member for Housing

33



Cabinet Member Report for Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning
Northampton Borough Council

9'" December 2013

Town Centre

This year's decorations include a 50ft tree in the Market Square, a 40ft tree at All Saints
and seven 30ft trees situated on Abington Street, outside The Guildhall, outside the Royal
and Derngate, St Peters Way and Wood Hill plus light displays along the main shopping
streets. The Town Centre BID in partnership with the Borough Council and local Town
Centre businesses have installed around 180 Christmas trees.

Free parking in all Borough Council car parks from 3pm on Thursdays and all day on
Saturdays in pay on foot car parks, Mayorhold, Grosvenor, St Michael's and St John’s
began on 21st November until Christmas, and the Black Lion Hill roadworks are due to be
suspended to ease traffic congestion during the Christmas period.

Regeneration

The Borough Council’s Planning Committee, at its meeting on 26th November, approved
plans to develop Sixfields Stadium. The application, submitted by Northampton Town
Football Club, will see the East Stand remodelled and extended to provide additional
seating that increases capacity from 7,653 to 10,000. Other alterations include a new
conference suite with banqueting hall, gymnasium, office space and food kiosks. There are
also provisions for additional parking, improved access for people with disabilities,
landscaping and a new access road off Edgar Mobbs Way. The expansion is the first stage
of a multi-million pound redevelopment of the area which will support growth in the
Enterprise Zone and bring forward more revenue streams for the football club. Additional
planning applications for housing, local retail facilities and a hotel are expected to be
submitted soon.

The Cabinet approved arrangements for the demolition of the Greyfriars building at its
meeting on 13th November. The demolition will begin on 31st March 2014 after the
opening of the new North Gate Bus Station. Detailed plans are now being put together for
bringing the building down. The demolition project will be complex and lengthy, since
Greyfriars is a six-storey building that includes office accommodation and a car park as well
as the bus station. Once Greyfriars is demolished, this prime site in the centre of the town
can be brought forward rapidly for redevelopment.

The refurbishment of Delapre Abbey can now go ahead, following the granting of planning
permission. The project involves refurbishing parts of the main abbey building, including
rebuilding the conservatory and opening the south wing for events and public access. The
18th century stable block will be turned into a new visitor and education centre, shop and
exhibition space, and restoration and conversion of the Billiard Room into a restaurant and
café for use by the general public and for special events.

34



The skyline is changing again as the Gasholders on St Peter's Way are demolished to
make way for the development of the Waterside site.

On 17th October we were hosts to a team of business leaders and experts from SCET, a
network of 250 French local developers. Ubifrance, the French Agency for international
business development sent the SCET (Services Conseil Expertises Territoires) delegation
to Northampton to find out more about what is happening in our town. The visit was
organised by the Trade Commission of the French Embassy with Northampton Borough
Council. Following a meeting at The Guildhall, the group were given a tour of Upton. The
Upton development started over ten years ago and has been praised for using the highest
standards in design. This can be seen in the layout of the streets, the materials used in the
construction of the homes, awareness of environmental issues and considerations about
creating a community within a historic county town.

Planning

The planning application for the redevelopment of Franklin’s Gardens is now available
online for anyone to view and comment on. The Planning Committee will meet in the new
year to make a decision on the proposals. The proposals show how the stadium’s North
Stand would be redeveloped to bring the total capacity of Franklin’s Gardens up to over
15,500.

Northampton Borough Council will take over a number of WNDC assets within the borough
when WNDC closes on 31st March 2014. The Borough Council will lead on a number of
major projects including St Peter's Waterside, development on the land owned by National
Grid and the further phases of regeneration at Northampton Railway Station. The transfer
demonstrates the Government’s confidence in the Borough Council, to achieve the
completion of all the outstanding regeneration projects. and will bring local projects back
into the hands of local politicians, who are accountable to local people.

Councillor Tim Hadland
Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning

35



Cabinet Member Report for the Environment
Northampton Borough Council

9'" December 2013

Environmental Services

A communal bin scheme to help residents in flats recycle more and keep their
neighbourhoods tidier is now being rolled out across the town. Over the past year
Northampton Borough Council housing and environment divisions have been identifying
blocks of flats that can accommodate communal bins to contain their recycling and
household waste. So far around 40 blocks of flats have been identified as being suitable.
Communal bins have been delivered to help keep areas tidy by bringing an end to
problems associated with split rubbish sacks and help reduce the issue of rubbish put out
on the wrong day or fly tipped, as residents can now place their rubbish sacks in the
communal bins throughout the week for crews to collect. The projects have been made
possible thanks to funding set aside by the Department for Communities and Local
Government in 2012 to help local authorities improve weekly waste and recycling
collections. The Northamptonshire Waste Partnership was awarded £196,212 to improve
collections in Northampton.

Up until the 11th November, areas that had been placing out high volumes of black sacks,
instead of the two green sacks provided have been issued with Section 46 Notices. These
notices give the householder a legal instruction that they can only put out their residual
waste in the green sacks. Failure to comply with this notice can result in the householder
being fined. The Neighbourhood Wardens are continuing to work within the areas
concerned to ensure they understand the new green sack scheme and assist wherever
possible. The Wardens will then start to issue fines to those that fail to comply without good
reason.

The green-fingered winners of Northampton in Bloom’s annual awards were announced at
a special ceremony at The Guildhall on 6th November. The awards celebrated and
showcase the horticultural achievement and hard work of Northampton’'s keen gardeners
who helped the town scoop Silver at this year's East Midlands in Bloom competition.
Community groups, schools, businesses, residents’ associations and individual residents
were among those who took part in the Northampton in Bloom 2013 award. A record
number of entries were received this year for the school garden category and there were
also a number of new entrants in the community and commercial premises categories

Year 5 pupils from Ecton Brook Primary School graduated as Junior Community Wardens
in a formal ceremony at their school on 7th November. The nine and ten year olds have
been taking part in a six-week course that aimed to get them involved in community safety
issues and help shape them as good citizens of the future. The course, run jointly by
Northampton Borough Council and Northamptonshire Police, has seen the children get
involved in activities to start them thinking about anti-social behaviour, fly-tipping and litter,
health and well-being and personal safety. During the course they have learned about a
range of safety issues on a trip to Hazard Alley Safety Centre in Milton Keynes, been out
and about

36



with council neighbourhood wardens and learned about personal safety from their local
Police Safer Community Teams.

Environmental Health

The Borough Council took part in the Chewing Gum Action Group’s “Bin It Your Way”
campaign during October. Wrappers for chewing gum were handed out to members of the
public.

Licensing

The Licensing service has started the newly qualified Hackney Driver Guidance Course,
and has had 13 attendees on the first course.

Legal action by the service this month has seen two premises licences revoked after
investigations proved they were conducting illicit alcohol sales and one Hackney Driver
Licence has also been revoked for involvement in unsuitable activities.

Carbon Management
The recent meeting of the Carbon Management Board considered the progress that is
being made with various energy efficiency measures and agreed that further upgrades to

car park lighting and improvements to the draft proofing at The Guildhall would be
progressed in the near future.

Councillor Mike Hallam
Cabinet Member for the Environment

37



Cabinet Member Report for Community Engagement
Northampton Borough Council

9'" December 2013

Councillor Community Fund

To date during 2013/14 a total of 78 applications have been received amounting to
£57,603 (43% of a potential annual total of £135,000). The funding is being allocated by
elected members with the community, focusing on projects that are delivering positive
outcomes in their wards.

Events

The countdown to Christmas in Northampton began on 21st November with the annual
Christmas lights switch on. Heart Breakfast presenters Stuart and Natalie started the
countdown to Christmas along with Royal & Derngate panto stars Linda Lusardi and
Sam Kane.

The annual Diwali celebrations, in association with the Indian Hindu Welfare
Organisation were held the Town Centre on the 27th October. The celebrations
included large illuminated structures, stilt walking birds, fire jugglers and giant puppets
parade through the town centre to tell the story of Diwali. The event was organised by
the Indian Hindu Welfare Organisation (IHWO) and supported by Northampton Borough
Council.

During October half term the town centre hosted the three day St Crispins Street Fair.
This attracted hundreds of families into the town centre and market area and feedback
from traders and businesses suggest this was very welcome.

Culture & Heritage

The display of the facial reconstruction of King Richard Ill, together with related
artefacts, has proved to be very popular with the public, and we are pleased to have
been able to secure the display until the beginning of January 2014 in the museum.

The Cinderella Symposium took place on 21st October at the Museum and Art Gallery,
with over 40 academics, curators and students from across the UK, to discuss issues
around how shoes are displayed in museums and galleries. People attending included
the architects from Selfridges’ Shoe Halls and delegates from the Royal Academy,
London College of Fashion and The V&A.

Whilst the “Strictly Shoes” exhibition continues on the ground floor of the Museum and
Art Gallery, we have opened two other contrasting and complimentary exhibitions. “Last

38



Man Standing “is an exhibition by Northampton based Springline Lasts which has
opened in the shoe lounge, and the “Northampton Town and County Art Society 100th
Annual Show” is currently on the first floor.

Customer Services

The Contact Centre has now relocated from the first floor of The Guildhall to more
suitable accommodation on the third floor.

Customer Services hosted a successful National Customer Service Week of activities

including a tenants participation coffee morning, where the opportunity was taken to
network about channel shift, and the Citizen’s Account.

Councillor Brandon Eldred
Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

39



Cabinet Member Report for Finance
Northampton Borough Council

9" December 2013

The primary focus in Finance at this time is the development of draft budget proposals for
consideration by Cabinet at its meeting on 18th December. The draft budget is being prepared
at a time when local government is facing reductions in funding from Government, increasing
pressure on its costs as demand for services increases and high expectations from the public.
Cabinet will consult on its budget proposals throughout January and early February 2014.

The loan to Northampton Town Football Club that will facilitate the development at Sixfields has
now been finalised. The loan to The Saints that will allow for the expansion of Franklins
Gardens is now in the final stages of agreement.

The Borough Council, in partnership SEMLEP, has also secured a government backed loan of
£46m at preferential rates for the University of Northampton's proposed £300m campus in the
Enterprise Zone.

We are in the process of consulting on options for the 2014 and 2015 local Council Tax
scheme. These schemes are heavily constrained due to the budgetary pressures we face and
the future pressures on the collection of Council Tax. The schemes proposed aim to retain
enhanced support for vulnerable members of our community particularly in relation to those on
disability benefits and war pensions. The scheme retains support for people going back into
work.

The Revenue and Benefits service has been nominated for two national IRRV awards (Institute
of Revenues Rating and Valuation) for the Revenues Team of the Year and the Excellence in
Staff Development. | am pleased to announce that LGSS / Northampton Borough Council have
won the Gold medal for the Revenues Team of the Year and Silver in the Excellence in Staff
Development award. These awards reflect the services achievements over the last few years in
meeting the on-going demands across the collection of income and debt, alongside the
investment we have made in making our staff the best they can be in supporting our service
users.

Councillor Alan Bottwood
Cabinet Member for Finance

40



Agenda Item 9

Appendices = t_“ =
| §03

NORTHAMPTON
BOROUGH COUNCIL

COUNCIL
9 DECEMBER 2013

Agenda Status: Public Directorate: Housing

Report HOUSING STOCK OPTIONS APPRAISAL FINAL REPORT
Title

1. Purpose

1.1 That Council decides to establish an Arms-Length Management Organisation
(ALMO) to manage the Council’s housing stock following consideration of the
recommendations of the Cabinet, informed by the views of the Tenants’ Panel,
the Employee Focus Group, the Housing Options Panel and the conclusions
and recommendations detailed in the attached final report.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Council endorse the recommendations contained in the Cabinet report
attached.

3. Issues and Choices

31 Report Background
3.1.1 See Cabinet report attached

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy
4.1.1 See Cabinet report attached
4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 See Cabinet report attached

41



4.3 Legal

4.3.1 See Cabinet report attached

4.4 Equality

4.4.1 See Cabinet report attached

4.5 Other Implications

4.5.1 See Cabinet report attached

5. Background Papers

5.1See Cabinet Report attached

42

Dale Robertson
Programme Director
Housing Options Review



Appendices R‘“‘EF“’
& o

NORTHAMPTON
BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET REPORT

Report Title HOUSING STOCK OPTIONS APPRAISAL FINAL REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date: 4™ December 2013

Key Decision: Yes

Within Policy: Yes

Policy Document: No

Directorate: Housing Directorate

Accountable Cabinet Member: Councillor Mary Markham

Ward(s) All Wards

1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to recommend to Council the establishment of an
ALMO following consideration of the recommendations of the Tenants’ Panel,
the Employee Focus Group, the Housing Options Panel and the conclusions
and recommendations in the attached final report.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet recommend to Council that:

a) The Arm’s Length Management Organisation (ALMO) Option is approved
for implementation;

b) Following the creation of the ALMO, any future significant change to the
delivery vehicle for housing services should be preceded by a robust
Options Appraisal Process (except in the event of a risk of serious
detriment to tenants and / or tenant services);

c) The ALMO should be created as a true arm’s length managed
organisation, ensuring that the ALMO has sufficient autonomy to make
decisions for the benefit of tenant services and improvement;

43




2.2

2.3

2.4

d)

b)

The implementation phase for the options chosen should continue to
include a comprehensive programme of consultation and engagement with
key stakeholders to ensure that they are well informed and remain at the
heart of the process. This should specifically include the continued
involvement of the Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group structures,
working separately and as a joint panel;

The Council considers adopting the Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus
Group consultation and engagement approach used within this review
across other service areas within the Council;

The Council considers adopting a process for employees from all services
to be actively involved in further continuous improvement activity to
improve internal processes and systems.

Subject to Council deciding to approve recommendation 2.1a above, the
following recommendations relating to next steps and arrangements for the
implementation of the ALMO option, detailed further in 3.4 below, be
considered and agreed;

Project Oversight:

i. That the Housing Options Panel be retained in format but with a
changed title — the ALMO Joint Panel,

Project Governance and Advice:

i. That the project is to continue to be led by the Housing Options
Programme Director as Programme Director (ALMO Implementation)

ii. That the Council appoint an interim ALMO Managing Director to advise
and work with the ALMO Shadow Board and also to be the lead adviser
for developing the necessary detailed governance, management and
other arrangements required for the ALMO to establish itself and set
itself up ready to lead the management of the Council’s housing stock in
an effective manner.

Resources:

i. The residual budget allocated to carry out the Stock Options Review be
used to implement the ALMO option

Authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the
Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Housing to make
decisions necessary to facilitate the implementation of the chosen option.

Tenants and officers involved in the process should be thanked for their
commitment and contribution to the Review.

44



3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.1.4

Northampton Borough Council’'s Corporate Plan 2012-15 included a
commitment to look at the potential options for the future ownership, funding
and management of its Housing Stock, to examine which option would best
deliver long term improvements needed to both homes and estates as well as
improve the quality of services provided to its tenants.

There were several key drivers for initiating the Housing Options Review.
These were focused on;

e Delivering improvements to the quality of housing services to customers
e Meeting rising expectations of customers

e Ensuring that the necessary investment can be provided to improve
homes and the local environment on estates, and

e Meeting the increasing demand for social housing

Before the Council could make fundamental changes to the way in which the
Council’s housing stock is owned and managed, the Government requires an
options appraisal to be undertaken.

The Council therefore initiated a full Options Review process in April 2012 by
appointing a lead officer and setting aside the budget necessary to fund a
major consultation exercise, to include all key stakeholders.

3.2 Issues

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

The Housing Stock

Based on data obtained at the start of the review, fifty one per cent (51%) of
the Council’s housing stock failed the Government’s minimum standard for
property condition called the Decent Homes Standard.(DHS)

In January 2011, the Council successfully bid for a £49.3 million allocation of
funding from government to help achieve decency. Current reported non-
decency figures are twenty-eight (28%), following a substantial programme of
work. In addition to the dwellings, the Council also owns 66 shops (many of
which have connected dwellings), storage unit(s), Community room(s),
pumping station(s), depot(s), garages and other housing assets.

HRA 30 year business plan

Following the introduction of self-financing, in line with best practice, the
Council produced a 30 year business plan which was approved by Cabinet on
24th January 2012. This first business plan, developed under the new self-
financing rules was used as the starting point for the financial analysis
undertaken during the Housing Stock Options Review.

45



324

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

3.2.9

The review process identified the costs associated with improving and
maintaining these assets over the 30 year Business Plan period and then used
this information to assess each of the options considered in terms of their
ability to meet such costs.

Approach to the review

The Council recognised the significance of this project and its far reaching
implications. It therefore allocated £2 million from the HRA reserves in order to
ensure that the process would be robust, have access to up-to-date
information and would comprehensively engage with all the key stakeholders.
To manage the programme, a Programme Director was appointed and a team
of experienced and specialist advisers on the process, financial modelling and
technical aspects was brought together as well as some internal resources.

A Tenants Survey to gain an understanding of tenant views and satisfaction
levels and identify priorities for improvement was conducted. The survey
achieved a 27% response rate, which was considered by Ipsos MORI as
excellent and remarkable in the light of their experience elsewhere.

In order to ensure that key stakeholders remained fully informed throughout
the process, the Review employed a number of engagement platforms and
developed a comprehensive Communication and Consultation Strategy.
Governance involved the formation of three key groups, who met at least
monthly throughout the review; a Programme Team, a Programme Board, and
a Member Board. The engagement structure consisted of a Tenants’ Panel
(TP), an Employee Focus Group (EFG), and a Housing Options Panel (HOP).
The HOP met monthly, however due to the nature of the work undertaken, the
TP and EFG groups met more frequently.

The TP was supported to appoint its own Independent Tenants’ Adviser (ITA)
and all tenants were invited to join the Panel throughout the process until
August 2013, when tenants on the TP felt that it would be unfair for new
members to be expected to fully understand the issues sufficiently well to take
part in the scoring process, which took place in September 2013.

3.2.10 All tenants were kept informed of the process and were able to attend a

number of events held throughout the process. Tenants were actively
encouraged to participate by joining the TP, attend Area meetings, a tenant
open day in July 2012 and Tenant Conferences held in December 2012, May
2013 and November 2013. Newsletters published by the Council and the ITA
were also sent to all tenants periodically throughout the Review.

3.2.11 The HOP was made up of 5 tenants who were on the TP, 5 employees from

the EFG and 5 Councillors with representation from the three main political
parties. The tenants and employees who sat on the HOP were elected by
members of their respective groups. The HOP examined the key issues in the
Review and functioned in a decision making capacity

46



Identifying the options

3.2.12 An initial list of ten possible options was drawn up for consideration. Following
discussions within the EFG, TP and HOP regarding the nature and
implications of each of the options, a decision was made by the HOP, with the
agreement of the TP and EFG, to reduce the options to be considered by the
review process, down to six and then to five:

Option 1 Retention with service review

Option 2 Retention by creating an ALMO

Option 3 Transfer to a stand-alone registered provider
Option 4 Transfer to a mutual registered provider

Option 5 Transfer to a separate registered provider within an existing
group structure

3.2.13 Following the selection of the options to be assessed, the review process
required significant supporting evidence covering various issues. The
evidence required included a baseline analysis of the Councils current
Housing Business Plan, service costs and performance levels, a Tenant
Survey, Stock Condition Survey and Asset Analysis information.

Housing Business Plan, service costs and performance levels Baseline
analysis

3.2.14 An assessment of the Council’'s expenditure plans, based on a comparison
with other similar local authorities, was undertaken by Savills as an essential
part of the review. Alongside this, an assessment of the performance of the
housing service was undertaken, again making comparisons with other similar
local authorities, and where possible, with those authorities where financial
comparison, as well as performance information, was available.

3.2.15 The HRA business plan (year one 2012/13) showed that the cash flow would
largely break even in years 4 to 7 when there was a planned peak in capital
investment and then return a steady year on year surplus. The business plan
demonstrated that even with prudent assumptions, the Council should have
the resources to repay all of its housing debt by year 30 of the Plan.

3.2.16 The key findings from the baseline analysis were as follows:

e The analysis of overall costs showed that the Council’'s was potentially
underinvesting in the revenue management and maintenance of the
housing stock when assessed against the comparator councils, by over
£2m per year.

e A comparison of measures relating directly to the housing service
performance with other housing providers subscribing to Housemark in
2010/11 showed that Northampton was in the lower or lower middle
quartile.

47



¢ When comparing the baseline analysis with the outputs of the Tenant
Survey and the Housemark benchmarking, it appeared that the lack of
investment in service provision could have contributed to the low levels of
performance and tenant satisfaction. The findings from this analysis were
used as a key part of the review evidence, leading to the EFG and TP
undertaking several workshops specifying improved draft service
standards. The resources to finance this additional expenditure were also
built in to subsequent financial analyses and the appraisal of all of the
options.

Tenant Survey

3.2.17 The main findings of the survey identified that there were significantly lower
levels of tenant satisfaction in Northampton compared to other housing
providers previously surveyed by MORI. Some key areas of concern were:

¢ Repairs and maintenance
e Overall quality of home
e How much views are taken into account

e Anti-social behaviour

3.2.18 Comparing the results to surveys previously carried out in Northampton, there
was evidence of a decline in service quality over the two years leading up to
the survey and a decline in tenants feeling that their views had been taken into
consideration, since 2006.

Stock Condition Survey

3.2.19 Sawvills surveyors carried out a stock condition survey of the Council’'s housing
stock, in the autumn of 2012, with a view to assessing the current and future
repairs and maintenance liability. In addition to assessing the costs to meet
the Decent Homes Standard, Savills were asked to model the costs to
maintain the properties at a higher Northampton Standard, developed by the
EFG and TP, over a 30 year period. Properties were carefully selected from a
representative 25% sample (1 property in every 4) based on property type,
age and location.

3.2.20 Savills’ report, provided summaries of 30 year costs based on both the DHS
and the Northampton Standard.

3.2.21 Findings showed that significant investment was required to improve and
maintain properties over the 30 year period.

48



Asset analysis

3.2.22 An asset analysis based on data from the Business Plan and the Stock
Condition Survey was undertaken to assess the performance of council stock
to identify those properties where investment exceeded income over the 30
year period. This work was not key to the decision making aspects of the
Review process, however it will form a key part of the Councils’ Housing Asset
Management Strategy going forward and will be incorporated into the
implementation plans for the chosen option.

Analysis and Assessment of the Options

3.2.23 Following the gathering of key evidence, the EFG, TP and HOP members
were supported to assess each of the five options to see which one(s) could
best meet the Mission Statement goals for the Review. The Mission Statement
aimed to seek to identify the most tenant focussed option for the future
management and ownership of the Council’s housing which:

e Secured tenants’ rights,
e Minimised tenants’ costs,

e \Would meets the quality of standards of home and environmental
improvement which tenants wished to see,

e Was sustainable in the long-term,

e Appraised the potential contribution the various landlord options could
have towards meeting the need for additional affordable homes and the
regeneration of estates,

e Took into account the impact on the Council

e Took into account the impact on employees

3.2.24 This was mainly undertaken by holding three types of regular meetings: ITA-
led development sessions, Council-led sessions and Joint discussion
sessions.

3.2.25 The sessions supported understanding of the implications and issues
surrounding key areas such as:

e The development of the Northampton Standard;
e Financial issues

e Tenancy Rights & Tenancy Agreements

e Governance issues in retention and transfer

¢ [nformal and formal consultation: Overview of an Offer document and the
ballot in housing stock transfer

e How to Compare the Options- development of a framework for
comparison;

e Characteristics of the ALMO Model in detail

e The development of the options criteria framework to assess each
¢ The development of the weighting process for each of the criteria;
e The development of the scoring process;

49



3.2.26 The financial assessment considered both the retention and the transfer
options. All scenarios included major investment costs based on the
Northampton Standard, although the timing of some investments formed part
of the scenario testing.

Options Analysis

3.2.27 The EFG and TP assessed all options against 46 criteria which had been
selected during the process. This assured that the assessment was
undertaken on a basis that would select an option that would most clearly
meet the desired outcomes of the Review.

3.2.28 The result of this was that both the EFG and the TP selected the ALMO option
as being the option that most closely met the desired outcomes of the review.

Conclusion

3.2.29 The baseline analysis identified that the Council was underinvesting in the
Housing Service, based on Government assessment of investment need
informed by the characteristics of the Council's housing stock. Through
analysis of the revenue costs within Northampton’s HRA budget and the
measures of tenant satisfaction, it was identified that the HRA could
reasonably afford an additional £2m towards improvements in day to day
service delivery.

3.2.30 There was a significant amount of costs categorised as ‘special services’ for
which service charges were not being raised (£2.4m). It was recommended
that this should be investigated further, to identify whether there was scope for
additional income to the housing service, through additional charging, thereby
supplementing the additional investment specified above.

3.2.31 Following this, tenants and employees developed a new local standard of
investment, the Northampton Standard. This standard addressed many of the
concerns tenants raised through the Tenant Survey and Tenant Conferences,
relating to the standards of service and the quality of their homes and
neighbourhoods.

3.2.32 The new service standards specified within the Northampton Standard were
capable of being delivered by any of the options assessed, as the investment
required was included within the base costs for each of the financial scenarios
tested.

Asset Management Strategy
3.2.33 The evaluation of asset performance identified a number of properties that
needed further analysis to assess their overall viability and provided a basis

for the development of an informed comprehensive asset management
strategy to support the future business’s 30 year business plan.

50



Assessment of the Retention Options

3.2.34 Both retention options offered opportunities to deliver the Northampton
Standard of investment, although the constraints of the debt cap meant that
choices would need to be made around the timing of some works, in addition
to any new build provision.

3.2.35 The retention options could achieve the Northampton Standard and stay within
the debt cap. Tenants and employees decided to re-profile the Northampton
Standard to allow delivery of the Retention with review or ALMO options,
within the constraints of the debt cap.

3.2.36 The Business Plan would have some capacity to deliver new additional
affordable housing under the retention options, but choices would need to be
made between the timing of new homes, and the level and timing of
investment in existing homes. Tenants and employees indicated that priority
should be given to improving existing homes and estates and that new
housing provision should be delivered outside of the HRA.

3.2.37 These decisions resulted in the retention, scenario 3: Northampton standard
investment, without new build and with early years expenditure re-profiling,
being chosen by tenants and employees, to measure against the three
transfer options.

3.2.38 When assessing the two retention options against the 46 criteria, retention as
an ALMO scored the highest and was ranked first against all of the options
due to it scoring strongly, or very strongly, across all eight categories.

Assessment of the Transfer Options

3.2.39 All stock transfer options could provide an opportunity to deliver improvements
to existing homes and to build new homes sooner than under retention,
however stock transfer would require a significant level of debt write off and
this would need to be justified by savings and benefits to central government.

3.2.40 The economic case for these benefits may be difficult to justify given that the
additionality delivered through stock transfer related more to timing of works
and new homes, rather than absolute levels of activity.

3.2.41 There were significant barriers to pursuing any of the transfer options arising
from the new transfer guidance, in addition to the significant challenges that
would need to be faced in obtaining funding for a transfer organisation to be
able to finance its commitments due to the reduction in funding availability
from the market following the economic downturn from 2007/08 onwards.

3.2.42 There were also significant barriers to transfer due to the new rules from CLG
relating to the need to provide an economic case based on costs and benefits
to central government, the restriction of standard able to be delivered, and the
high level of risk involved in considering transfer within the timescales required
for completion, namely March 2015.

51



3.2.43 In addition to the above barriers, the new transfer guidance restricts the ability
of councils to mitigate, through debt write off calculations, against the
additional costs that would impact on general funds, thus reducing the appetite
for transfer.

3.2.44 The assessment of the options carried by tenants and employees resulted in
the Mutual Transfer model scoring highly, and ranked second overall, due to
its ability to meet significant elements of the 46 criteria developed by Tenants
and employees to compare and assess the different options.

3.2.45The tenants viewed the transfer options favourably due to their ability to
deliver an accelerated investment programme and more opportunities for
increased tenant and employee empowerment. However, they did not support
an option that minimised the local focus (option 5- Transfer as part of a
subsidiary) of the housing service, or long-term council influence on it.

3.2.46 The above issues together with the restrictions detailed within the transfer
guidance rendered the stock transfer options unachievable.

3.3 Choices (Options)

3.3.1 The options criteria was developed and agreed by the Tenants’ Panel and the
Employee Focus Group, working both singly and in conjunction with each
other. At the outset, there was a list of 176 criteria which was later condensed
to a more succinct and measurable list of 46 criteria split across eight themes
that each option would be scored against. The themes were agreed as:

e Accountability, Influence, Participation and Power (12 criteria)
e Tenants’ Rights and Involvement (7 criteria)
e Employee Issues (4 criteria)
e Financial Implications including Rents (12 criteria)
e Quality of Homes (1 criterion)
e Impact on local Community and Economy (2 criteria)
e Legal framework and Equality (4 criteria)
e Implications for the Council (4 criteria)
3.3.2 The scoring system allowed each criterion to be awarded a score of between
zero and three as follows:
0 fails to meet objective
1 partially meets the objective
2 largely meets the objective
3 fully meets the objective
3.3.3 The scoring was based on factual information; therefore where an answer to
criteria involved a matter of fact, a score of zero or three was awarded as

applicable. Where a judgement of opinion was required, criteria were able to
be awarded either a one or two.

52



3.3.4 Finally, weighting was applied to establish and acknowledge the relative
importance of each criteria, the scale of weighting was as follows:

3.35

3.3.6

3.3.7

the criteria was not essential

N -~

the criteria was desirable
3 the criteria was important
4 the criteria was essential

An initial list of ten possible options was drawn up for consideration. Following

discussions within the EFG, TP and HOP regarding the nature and

implications of each of the options, a decision was made by the HOP, with the
agreement of the TP and EFG, to reduce the options to be considered by the
review process, down to six and then down to five.

31 members from the Tenant Panel and 11 members from the Employee
Focus Group took part in the formal scoring exercise of the following five

options:

Option 1 Retention with service review

Option 2 Retention by creating an ALMO

Option 3 Transfer to a stand-alone registered provider

Option 4 Transfer to a mutual registered provider

Option 5 Transfer to a separate registered provider within an existing

group structure

The outcome of the scoring was as follows:

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option4  Option 5
Tenants 10,294 13,159 12,491 12,779 11,173
Employees 3,116 3,905 3,582 3,681 3,202
Total Score 13,410 17,064 16,073 16,460 14,375
Ranking 5th 1st 3rd 2nd 4th

53



3.3.8 Both the Tenant Panel and Employee Focus Group ranked each option in
exactly the same order. Below is a table of analysis on the rationale for the
scoring of each option by each group using the 8 criteria themes :

Tenant Panel Scoring

Employee Focus Group Scoring

Ranked 1st - ALMO

Scored strongly on each of the 8 criteria
groups and most especially on Tenants
Rights, Employee Issues, Financial
Implications, Legal Framework and
Implications for the Council.

Scored very strongly across all 8 criteria
groups and most especially on Tenants
Rights & Involvement, Employee Issues,
Financial Implications, Legal Framework
& Equality and Implications for the
Council.

Ranked 2" - Transfer to a Mutual

Did well across the board, particularly on
Accountability, Participation & Power,
Tenants Rights, Financial Implications
and Employee Issues.

Did well across the board, particularly on
Accountability, Influence, Participation &
Power, Tenants Rights & Involvement,
Employee Issues and Impact on Local
Economy.

Ranked 3™ - Transfer to a stand alone

Scored lower than a Mutual because of
its scores on Accountability, Influence,
Participation & Power.

Scored lower than a Mutual because of
its scores on Accountability, Influence,
Participation & Power.

Ranked 4" Transfer to a group structure

Scored lower on Accountability,
Influence, Participation & Power than
other transfer options and scored lower
than the ALMO on all other criteria (with
the exception of Quality of Homes where
all options scored equally).

Scored lower on Accountability,
Influence, Participation & Power than the
other transfer options and scored lower
than the ALMO on all other criteria (with
the exception of Quality of Homes where
all options scored equally).

Ranked 5" Retention with a service review

Scored highest or joint highest on 4
criteria but lowest overall because of
very low scores on Accountability,
Influence, Participation & Power,
Employee Issues and the lowest score
on Tenants Rights.

Scored highest or joint highest on 3
criteria, but lowest overall because of
very low scores on Accountability,
Influence, Participation & Power and
Employee Issues.

3.3.9 It was clear from this process that the preferred option was the creation of an
ALMO to manage the Council’s housing services in relation to the provision of

council housing.

54




3.4

3.4.1

3.4.2

343

3.4.4

345

Next Steps

If the recommendation of this report, to create an ALMO, is accepted a
number of issues will need to be considered and addressed when
commencing the implementation of the option.

The Housing Options Review process has been characterised by excellent
organisation, realistic timescales, good governance and thorough resource
planning. The same aspects will be critically important in implementing the
proposed option.

It is intended that the process of establishing the ALMO, if supported by
Cabinet and Council as the preferred option, should be well thought out and
should build upon the successes that this Review has created. Detailed
planning will be required in a number of areas;

Project Oversight

Project Governance and Advice

Development of the detailed proposals
Resources

Timescales including key stages

Tenant and Employee Involvement

Future reports to Cabinet

Communications

Delegations

Interim Management Arrangements
Involvement with the Homes and Communities Agency and the
Government

e Implications for the HRA and the General Fund

Project Oversight

The project oversight arrangements for the Housing Options Review were
extremely effective and it is considered that this joint working format for
engagement of key stakeholders should be replicated during the development
phase of the ALMO.

It is therefore recommended:

e That the Housing Options Panel be retained in format but with a changed
title — the ALMO Joint Panel;

e That its role should be to:

> keep under general review and monitor the progress of the
implementation process;

» to act as a sounding board for the development of ALMO based issues
in conjunction with a Shadow Board for the ALMO, to be established as
soon as possible;

» to consider issues in relation to the establishment of the ALMO and
related housing matters, which the Council will need to address prior to
such matters going forward to the Cabinet for approval;

55



346

3.4.7

3.4.8

349

That its membership should continue to be 5 tenants, 5 employees and 5
cross party Councillors but that each of the nominating groups (the TP,
the EFG; and the Council) be afforded the opportunity to re-nominate so
as to reflect the change in function of the Panel; and

That members of this Panel should not also be members of the ALMO
Shadow Board, as this would create an inherent conflict of interest.

Project Governance and Advice

The governance arrangements for the project also worked effectively
throughout the Review and it is considered that these should also be
replicated.

It is therefore proposed:

a)

b)

c)

d)

That the project should continue to be led by the Housing Options
Programme Director as Programme Director (ALMO Implementation)

That the supporting resources be determined by the Chief Executive in
conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Housing

That the Council should appoint an interim ALMO Managing Director to
advise and work with the ALMO shadow board and also to be the lead
person for the creation of the detailed arrangements for the ALMO to be
able to function successfully.

That the Programme Director be authorised to ensure that the necessary
financial, legal, technical and tenants’ advice is obtained in consultation
with the Chief Executive and the Cabinet Member for Housing.

Development of the detailed proposals for the ALMO

The Programme Director, in consultation with the Interim ALMO Managing
Director will lead the development of the detailed aspects of this proposal and
consult on these with the EFG and the NTP before the consideration by these
by the ALMO Joint Panel.

It should be noted that once the Shadow Board of the ALMO has been created
it will be for that body to determine, in consultation with the Council as
necessary, the way in which the ALMO will address their operational issues.

56



Resources

3.4.10 At the outset of the Review a budget of £2 million was identified within the
HRA. Upon the completion of this first phase there remains £1m.

3.4.11 It is therefore proposed that this sum be utilised as the budget for this pre-
inception phase. Whilst this budget is considered sufficient, should there be
additional needs to support the programme, then resources from funds
identified for service improvement within the HRA will be used to augment this
budget.

Timescales

3.4.12 Undertaking such a major change within a large and complex service requires
significant time and this must take account of the need to ensure that
involvement of the key stakeholders is continued.

3.4.13 It is therefore proposed:

e That the date of inception of the new ALMO organisation should be 5
January 2015;

e That a project plan that incorporates this timescale is approved by and
kept under review by the new ALMO Joint Panel.

Tenant and Employee Involvement

3.4.14 Extensive, effective engagement and involvement processes have been at the
centre of the process of Review and these are considered to be key to its
success in delivering a single option recommendation, supported all three
engagement groups. The establishment of the EFG and the TP has shown the
considerable benefits of bringing together both customers and providers to
develop policy through projects. The TP and EFG groups have stated that
they would like to see their ability to contribute being maintained into the
implementation phase.

3.4.15 It is therefore proposed:

e That the TP be enabled to continue under an expanded terms of reference
to encompass all aspects of the landlord/tenant relationship and that its
role is seen as being central to tenant involvement and participation in the
future

e That the EFG should continue and play a central role in employee
consultation on the issues that affect employees

e That a Leaseholders Liaison Group (LLG) be also set up to ensure that the
issues which affect this stakeholder group are fully addressed

57



e That once the ALMO Shadow Board is in place it will examine these
arrangements and through the ALMO Joint Panel, make proposals to the
Council relating to involvement and engagement activities which will
recognise the different roles the Council and the ALMO will have, following
the inception date.

Future Reports to Cabinet

3.4.16 A number of key reports will need to be developed and approved by the
Council, in conjunction with the ALMO Shadow Board when created, in order
for the ALMO option to be implemented. These are:

e Governance structures of and with the ALMO - including the agreement of
the Memorandum and Avrticles for incorporation at Companies House and
the composition and appointment/election/nomination of the ALMO Board
of Management;

e The Management Agreement — this will set out the legal relationship
between the Council and the ALMO and will include a scheme of
delegation of functions from the Council to the ALMO;

e The first Annual Delivery Plan — this will cover what the Council’s
expectations of the ALMO are including performance delivery targets;

¢ The financial arrangements within the HRA;

e The proposed staffing arrangements including those under the TUPE;
regulations — the staffing structures within the ALMO will be for its Board to
determine;

e Accommodation and other land management issues;

e Contract management — this will deal with any live contracts already in
existence and how they will be dealt with in the future.

Communications

3.4.17 The Review process has included extensive activities to raise awareness of
tenants, employees and other stakeholders regarding the implications of the
review and progress made. The Conferences held in November 2013
highlighted that tenants wanted to know more about how an ALMO option
would operate and how services would be divided between the Council and
the ALMO in the future. It is therefore vital that the interest created is built
upon and not lost.

3.4.18 It is therefore proposed:
o That key stakeholder groups are kept informed and encouraged to come

forward to actively participate in the implementation of the option taken
forward.

58



e The budget requirement to undertake a comprehensive communications
and engagement programme will need to be identified and factored into
the overall project cost requirements to ensure that sufficient budget
provision is made.

Delegations

3.4.19 In order to ensure that the project could proceed efficiently, timely decision
making would be necessary. It is therefore proposed:

e That to ensure that momentum is maintained, a general delegation be
given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council
and the Cabinet Member for Housing, to take decisions which are directly
related to the implementation of this proposal, subject to the consideration
of the reports to Cabinet itemised above.

Future Management Arrangements of Other Housing Services

3.4.20 If the option to create the ALMO is approved, the Council would need to
ensure that operational management arrangements which seek to ensure that
the services to tenant, leaseholders, housing applicants and other associated
service users such as homeless persons are maintained and improved. The
Chief Executive will bring forward proposals, in due course, to address this.

The Government and the HCA

3.4.21 Until relatively recently, there was a requirement for councils to submit their
housing options review outcomes to the regional government office. These
offices no longer exist and the Homes and Communities Agency has, in the
majority of areas inherited their housing functions.

3.4.22 The Council has had informal discussions on the Review with the HCA,
particularly in relation to the possibility of the Council pursuing a housing
transfer option. In order to advise the HCA of the outcome of the Review, it is
proposed that a copy of this report should be provided, following the Council’'s
decision.

Implications for the HRA and the General Fund

3.4.23 The HRA will continue to be the Council’s statutory account for the housing
landlord service; however, it will operate in a fundamentally different way to
how it does currently. The Council will pay the ALMO a management fee per
property. To ensure that this fee is robustly calculated, a thorough review of
the HRA will be required.

3.4.24 This and other changes, relating to the Housing Service may have implications
for the Council’'s General Fund as any costs currently incurred by the HRA for
corporately provided services will require investigation and appropriate
allocation. Implications for the HRA and General Fund, arising from TUPE
transfer of employees will also need to be considered. It is therefore proposed
that:

59



e The financial position of the HRA and General Fund should be reviewed
with the overall aim of creating a clear and appropriate delineation of
responsibilities and accountabilities with the proper alignment of
resources.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1

The proposed implementation of an ALMO to manage the Council’s housing
services in relation to the provision of council housing has implications for all
policies relating to the provision of housing services to the public. All of these
policies will be reviewed and, where necessary, changes will be proposed to
those policies in line with the service delivery change. This review will form
part of the overall programme for the implementation of the proposed option.

4.2 Resources and Risk

421

422

423

The budget allocated for the Review was £2m. The Review process has
incurred the total cost of approximately £1m over the 18 month review period.
The remaining £1m will be available for the implementation of the chosen
option. Initial forecasts show the additional costs relating to setting up an
ALMO structure can be accommodated within this budget. The costs included
work which the Council would have had to incur irrespective of the Review,
due to the work being required for the effective management of the housing
service. These costs were:

o £256k for the Stock Condition Survey
o £55k for the Tenant Survey

e £100k for the Legal work incurred for the Voluntary Registration of all HRA
assets

The HRA Business Plan, developed through the Review process, included an
additional allowance of over £2m to deliver service improvements for the day
to day running of services. This allocation can also be used to accommodate
additional set up costs for the ALMO, not met by the £1m project budget
detailed in 4.2.1 above.

The corporate impact of setting up an ALMO is mitigated by the Housing
Revenue Account remaining open. Assuming a stand still position regarding
the delivery of services, where HRA services are transferred to the ALMO; the
fees for providing those services will be transferred as well and the costs
charged to the HRA. Where HRA services or associated overheads are
retained by the corporate body, those costs can also be charged on to the
HRA. If the ALMO option is chosen, the project will need to ensure that the
ALMO and agreements around the ALMO structure, deal with such
considerations as pensions costs and ensure that costs that remain are
appropriately charged to the HRA.

60



424

425

426

427

428

Subject to due process, it is intended that TUPE transfer will apply to any
employees involved in delivering services transferred into the ALMO. The
budget related to such employees would need to be taken into account when
agreeing the management fee to be paid to the ALMO by the Council. Pension
implications for the Council, arising from the TUPE transfer will also need to be
assessed.

If the Council were to change the methodology of service delivery, such as
changing use of buildings, this could have a corporate impact. However,
these changes would have to be assessed on their own merit and would not
specifically be additional costs relating to an ALMO setup but to a decision to
change service delivery methods.

There are additional costs relating to the Transfer Options including some
significant corporate impacts; these are detailed in the report at Appendix 1 to
this report and the supporting documents.

A high level risk assessment of the preferred option is shown at Appendix 2
to this report.

Any significant change in the delivery methodology of the Council’s services
will be subject to careful and detailed management to avoid or minimise
adverse implications for the Council’'s General Fund.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1

432

There are legal implications relating to any major change such as the one
proposed. The Review has been undertaken to ensure that it fully complies
with Government Guidance and legislation relating to Options Appraisals, and
particularly those relating to requirements to consult with tenants on major
changes proposed in the delivery of Housing services. The key documents
relating to the requirements to consult and carry out Options Appraisals are:

e The Housing Act 1985, (Section 105)

e ODPM Guidance 2003- Delivering Decent Homes Option Appraisal
Guidance for Local Authorities

e HCA Regulatory Framework for Social Housing 2012
The management of the implications and any risks arising from the proposed

change will be managed through the implementation stage using specialist
external advisors as and when appropriate.

4.4 Equality and Health

441

A Community Impact Assessment has been carried out on the recommended
option and for the approach taken by the Review process. The full assessment
is attached at Appendix 3

61



4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Employees, tenants, and councillors have been extensively consulted and
briefed throughout the entire process. Details of the governance structures
and the comprehensive consultation programme are included in the report and
associated appendices attached at Appendix 1.

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 The implementation of the preferred option will help deliver against the
following Corporate Plan priorities and outcomes;

e Priority 2- Invest in Safer Cleaner Neighbourhoods: The Review has
identified additional funding to improve day to day service delivery for
housing services, which also includes the implementation of a new local
investment standard, the Northampton Standard. This standard includes
plans for significant investment in improvements to estates and
neighbourhoods, including additional security measures.

e Priority 4- Making every £ go further: An asset analysis has been
carried out identifying properties where investment requirements exceed
rental income. This information will be used to create a new Asset
Management Strategy which will ensure that value for money
considerations will be at the forefront of future investment decisions.

e Priority 5- Better Homes for the Future: The focus and mission
statement for the Review has been to improve homes, neighbourhoods
and services for council tenants. The development of the new
Northampton Standard includes new standards for improvements to
homes and improved service standards. The Review has incorporated the
commitment within this priority to ensure that any future changes have
been informed by the views of local people. There has been extensive
engagement and involvement of tenants, employees and Councillors and
they have fundamentally shaped the Review and been directly and
principally involved in reaching the decision to recommend the ALMO
option.

e Priority 6- Creating Empowered Communities: One of the key reasons
why the recommended option to create an ALMO was reached, was due
to its ability to provide increased opportunities for involvement and
decision making for both tenants and employees.

e Priority 8- Responding to your needs: The Review has involved
collecting and assessing evidence from a number of sources. The Tenant
Survey was a key piece of evidence, as it identified tenants’ priorities for
improvements. This information directly influenced the development of the
new Northampton Standard, ensuring that issues relating to the quality of
homes and estates were addressed. Tenant Conferences also provided
the Review with essential feedback from tenants. This feedback was
considered as part of the decision making process by the Tenants’ Panel,
Employee Focus Group and the Housing Options Panel prior to making
their recommendation.

62



4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 Other implications may arise in relation to the implementation of the proposed
option and these will be managed through the programme governance
structures as appropriate

5. Background Papers

5.1 The documents below were used in the preparation of this report and its
appendices. Copies of the documents are either attached to this report as
shown below, or are available for viewing on the Council’s website at;
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/housing-options-key-documents
Documents are also available on CD upon request.

Document Reference and Title Attached or Web- Linked
ﬁgﬁzrndg;xslc::ktg:tﬁerl‘)sozppraisal Report Attached
Housing Stock Options Appraisal Report Appendices
Appendix 1 - DCLG Final Guidance Web-link
Appendix 2 - Risk Assessment Attached
Appendix 3 - Community Impact Assessment Attached
Appendix 4 - Financial Assessment Alternative Options Web link
Appendix 5 - Treasury Management Report Web link

63



Other Documents

Key Doc 1 - TP Final Report Attached
Key Doc 2 - EFG Final Report Attached
Key Doc 3 - ITA Final Report Attached
Key Doc 4 - HOP Final Report Attached
Key Doc 5 - TP TOR Web- link
Key Doc 6 — EFG TOR Web- link
Key Doc 7 — HOP TOR Web- link
Key Doc 8 — Programme Team TOR Web- link
Key Doc 9 — Programme Board TOR Web- link
Key Doc 10 — Member Board TOR Web- link
Key Doc 11 — HRA Baseline Position Web- link
Key Doc 12 — Re-Profiled Northampton Standard Expenditure Web- link
Key Doc 13 — Communication & Consultation Strategy Web- link
Key Doc 14 — Stock Condition Survey Web- link
Key Doc 15 — Initial Options Criteria Web- link
Key Doc 16 — Scoring Framework Web- link
Key Doc 17 — TP Weighting Web- link
Key Doc 18 — EFG Weighting Web- link
Key Doc 19 — Options Comparison Document Web- link
Key Doc 20 — Individual Scoring Sheet Web- link
Key Doc 21 — Nov 13 Conference Feedback Web- link
Key Doc 22 — Financial Analysis Presentation Web- link
Key Doc 23 — Consultation on the Housing Transfer Manual Web- link
Key Doc 24 — Draft Northampton Standard Web- link
Background Doc 1 - Tenant Survey Web- link
Background Doc 2 - Asset Evaluation Web- link
Background Doc 3 - Corporate Plan 2012-2015 Web- link
Background Doc 4 - The Housing Act 1985, (Section 105) Web- link

Dale Robertson, Programme Director- Housing Options Review (LGSS)

Extension 7110

64




YOUR Reviewing the future
of Northampton's housing

Northampton Borough Council

Housing Stock Options Appraisal Report

December 2013

Author: Dale Robertson
Housing Options Review Programme Director

V.6.5
65 ]



Forward

Key Documents are documents that will be referenced throughout a series of reports related to
the Review. This series comprises, this report, the Tenants’ Panel Report, Employee Focus
Group Report, Housing Options Panel Report, ITA Report and Community Impact Assessment.

All Key Documents, appendices and background documents, not published with this report,
associated with the review are available for viewing on the Council's website or by contacting the
Housing Options Review Team tel: 0300 330 7004. The List of Key documents related to this
report are listed on page 95.

66



Contents

T EXECULIVE SUMMAIY ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e eeraaaans 7
1.1 0] (o o 11 o (o o S 7
1.2 OPONS ANAIYSIS .ovuiiiii et 8
1.3 Scoring the OPLIONS ... e e 10
(IR S @7 Tox [V = o o PSPPSR 11
LI T (= TeTo ] 41 0 4 1=T o o F=1 1o o < PP 13

b [ o1 o Yo 18 o i o o [PPSR 14

I == el (e [ (o T0 g o I 00 o1 (=) S 14
3.1 CUITENE POSILION <.ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e ae e e e e e e e e eenaans 14
3.2 Drivers for ChanQe........ccoo oo ittt a e 15
3.3 HRA Self FINANCING .evttiiiiiieeeeee et e e e e e e e eaaaes 15
3.4  HRA 30 Year BUSINESS Plan ... 17
3.5 Government Guidance on Housing Stock Transfer..............oovvviiiiiiiiiiiceceeeeeeeee 18

4 ApProach t0 the REVIEW ... 19
4.1 Appointment of Key Resources, Specialists and Evidence Gathering..............ccccoeo.. 19
4.2 Programme DIr€CHON .........oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ettt n s nnnne 19
4.3  AppointmMeENt Of AQVISEIS ....cuuuuiiii it e e e e e e e 20
4.4  Process and Technical AQVICE ........ooooiiiiiiiii e 20
A5 TENANE SUIVEY ..ottt et e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e eeaaanaas 20
4.6 FINANCIAI AGQVICE.....coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee ettt senes e nennnnnnnnne 21
4.7  Independent Tenants’ AdVICe (ITA) .. .o i it eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeennnnnnnnnnnnnnnes 22
4.8  GOVErnancCe APPrOACH ........uuuii i 22
e B e (oo [r=T a1 =T 1= o P 22
g L O T oo [ =T 2T =N = o T= T o 23
L I B Y 1Y g oY= =TT T o 23
4.12 Governance STruCtUre LINKS...........ouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeiieieieeeeeeeeeeaeeeeseeseeseneennnssnnensnnnnnnne 23
413 RISK MANAGEMENT.....coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiei e 23

5 Communication & Engagement APProach ............oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiieeneneees 24
S0t B = 7= Vo (o | {01 U o T USRS 24
5.2 TeNaNtS Panel... ... 24
5.3  EMPIOYEE FOCUS GIOUP .....ceiiiiiiiiiieie ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e eaaeeeenes 25
5.4  Housing OptioNS PAne€l ..........ooomiiiiiiii et 25
5.5 Links between the engagement GroUPS..........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e e 26
5.6  G0oal Of the REVIEW ... 26
5.7 Independent Tenants’ AdVISEr ........o oo 27
5.8  Joint Communication and Consultation Strategy...........ccceeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceece e 28

6 Framework for Engagement................... 67 ......................................................................... 29



6.1 Engagement MethOdS.........ccooiiiiiiiiiee e 29
6.2  INVOIVING TENANTS. ... e e e e e e e e e e eeeeannn 29
6.3  INVOIVING EMPIOYEES ...t e e e e e e e e e e e aa e eaans 31
6.4  InvoIVINg LEASENOIAEIS .......unceie e 31
6.5  INVOIVING COUNCIIIOIS ... ..o e e e e e e e e eeaaaas 31
6.6  CommuUNIty IMPACE.... oo 32
7 Identifying the OPLIONS .....oooviii e 32
8 Evidence Gathering for the ReVIEW ..............oiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 35
8.1 SUPPOItING EVIAENCE ... 35
8.2 Baseline Analysis of NBC Financial and Performance ............ccccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeenn 35
8.2.1 = o (o | o 18] o U 35
8.2.2 /=Y 4 TeTe [o] (oo Y2 36
8.2.3  CompariSON Of COSES ...uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiec e e 37
8.2.4 30 Year Business Plan Baseline Analysis...........ccccoooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeiecee e, 38
8.2.5  Correlation with Satisfaction Data ...............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee 38
8.2.6  Correlation with Housemark Data ...............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiicee e 39
8.2.7 Baseline AnalysisS CONCIUSIONS .........uuuuuuiiiiii e 39
8.3 TeNaNt SUIVEY ..o 40
8.3.1 = Tod (o | {0 18] o [N 40
8.3.2 MELNOAOIOY ... 40
8.3.3  FINAINGS ..ttt s 41
8.3.4  Trend RESUILS ... 42
8.3.5  Future of Housing Services and the Housing Options Review ..........cccccccevvvvveneeee. 43
8.4  Stock ConditioN SUIVEY.....ccoiiiiiii e e e e eeaaaas 44
8.4.1 = o (o | o 11 ] o [ 44
8.4.2  Approach tothe SUIVEY .....ccccoiiiiii et 45
8.4.3  KeY FINAINGS ...uiiiiiiiiiii e e 46
8.4.4  CoStiNG the WOIKS ......eeiiiiiiiiiiii et a e e 48
8.4.5  Using the INformation...........oooiiiiiiiiii e 48
8.5 ASSEL ANAIYSIS ... e e e a e aaaaaeanaa 49
8.5.1 = o (o | o 11 o U 49
8.5.2  Asset Performance Evaluation...............ooouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeenees 49
8.5.3 Non-Financial Sustainability ANalysis............ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 50
8.5.4 Future Asset Management Approach...........cccooooiiiiiiiiiiii e 50

9  Analysis and Assessment of the OptioNS .........oovviiiiiiiii e 50
9.1 BaCKgroUnd ... 50
9.2  Approach to Analysis and Evaluation ... 51
9.3 Development of the Northampton Standard ..................oooiiiii e, 52
9.4  Evaluating the OptioNS.........uiiii e 53

68



9.5 Development of the options criteria framework .............cccooiiiiiiiiiii e, 53

9.6  Development of the scoring framework and how to compare the options...................... 54
9.7 Development of the criteria weighting framework.............cccoooooiiiiiii e, 55
9.8  Financial Analysis of the OptioNS ...........oooiiiiiii e 56
9.8.1 = o (o | {0 18] o [ 56
9.8.2 Financial Assessment of Retention Options.............coviiiiiiiiiiicie 57
9.8.3 Impact of the Northampton Standard on the HRA Business Plan........................... 57
9.8.4  Re-profiling of the Northampton Standard...............coooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie 61
9.8.5  Corporate Impacts for the Retention options............ccccoevviiiiii i, 61
9.8.6 Financial Assessment of the Stock Transfer Options ............ccccvveeeiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee, 62
9.8.7 Financial consequences of transfer on the Council..............cccccoeieiiiiiiiicee, 67
9.8.8  Treasury Management IMmplications ...........ccouiiiiiiii i 69
9.9.9  Other Potential Corporate Impacts for Transfer ............ccccovvveeiiiiiiiiiiiiceee e, 71
9.9.10 Financial AnalySiS SUMMAIY ........couuuuiiiiieiii e e e e 71
9.9.11 Visits from Transfer and Retention Housing Organisations .............cccccceeeeiiieeniinn, 72
10 SCOMNG the OPLIONS ... 72
10.1  Outcome of SCOMMNG PrOCESS ......ceviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiieeeeeeee et eeaeees 72
10.2 The Results of the Tenant Panel Scoring EXercise ...........ccccccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee 73
10.3 Summary of the Tenants’ Panel Scoring EXercise ...........cooouvveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e, 75
10.4 Results of the Employee Focus Group Scoring EXercise .........ccooooevvvviiiiceiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnn. 75
10.5 Summary of the Employee Focus Group Scoring EXercise...............coeuvevvevviiiiiiiinennnnnns 76
11 Reporting to the Housing Options Panel................oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeees 76
11.1  Reporting of Recommendations..............ooooiiiiiiiiiieeee e 76
11.2 Tenant Panel Recommendations and Views on the Review Process......................o.... 77
11.2.1  Key ReCOmMmENdation:........cccoviiiiiiiii et e et e e e 77
11.2.2 Other TP Recommendations and Issues for Further Consideration by the Council 77
11.2.3 Tenants’ Panel Views on the Review ProCess ..........ccccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeen 78
11.3 Employee Focus Group Recommendations and Views on the Review Process............ 78
11.3.1  Key ReCOMMENAALION:...... .. 78
11.3.2 Other Employee Focus Group Recommendations and Issues for Further
Consideration by the COUNCIl ..........ccooiiiiiiiii e 79
11.3.3 Employee Focus Group Views on the Review Process..........cccccccvceieiiiiiiiiiinnnnnn.. 79
11.4 ITA Report to the Housing Options Panel ...............oueiiiiiiiiiiiie e, 79
It I O V=T /=R 79
T1.4.2  BaAlANCE ... 80
11.4.3  COMPIrENENSIVENESS .....uiiiiiiiiieee e e e e e e e 81
L O 4 o T=Y (=Y o SRR 81
11.4.5 Therole allotted to the ITA. ... e 83
12 Housing Options Panel Recommendations .............cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 83
69



L2 PrOC S S . . et 83

12.2  HOP PANEl VOIE ...ttt eeeennnnnnnes 84
12.3 Housing Options Panel Recommendations..............ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 84
13 N[y S (=Y o TSP UPPRR 85
1S T I = o ]V 85
13.2  Project OVErsight ... ..o e 86
13.3  Project Governance and AQVICE..........cuuuuiiiiii i 87
13.4 Development of the detailed proposals for the ALMO ... 87
135 RESOUICES ...ttt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e et st aa e e e e e e e e eesaann s 87
G T T T4 =T o= 88
13.7 Tenant and Employee INVOIVEMENT.........ccooiiiiiii e 88
13.8 Future Reports 10 Cabinetl.........coooiiiiiiiii e 89
RS IS B @7 oo 4] 018 g1 o= 111 1 PP 89
13,10 DeIEQALIONS ...cceiiiie e 90
13.11  Future Management Arrangements of Other Housing Services..........ccccccceeeiiiinniinnn, 90
13.12 The Government and the HCA ..o i 90
13.13  Implications for the HRA and the General Fund ..o, 90
14 (7] o o] 811 o] 1< PP 91
L0 T O T (1 [ o 1 91
14.2 Improving Housing Services and Quality of Homes ... 91
14.3  Asset Management Strategy..........ueeeiiiiiiiiii e 92
14.4 Assessment of the Retention OptioNS ........cccooiiiiiiiiiii i, 92
14.5 Assessment of the Transfer OPLioNS .........cooeiiiiiiiiiiiii e 93
15 =T eTe] oo a 1= gL F=1 1o o R SPPPSUT 94
16 Supporting INfOrMaAatioN .........uve e 95
16.1  Key DOCUMENTS LiSt.....ccooiiiiiii e 95
16.2  APPENICES LISt ..oveeiiiiiiiiieee e 95
16.3 Background Document List..........oooooiiiiiiiiii 95
17 EXPIanation Of TEIMS .....uii i e et e e e e e e eeaaaes 96
70



1 Executive Summary

11 Introduction

1.1.2 Northampton Borough Council’s Corporate Plan included a commitment to look at the

potential options for the future ownership, funding and management of its Housing Stock.

In April 2012 a lead officer was appointed to undertake an options appraisal to include a

major consultation exercise including all key stakeholders.

1.1.3 The Council recognised that it needed experience and advice so procured it the following:

Process and Technical Advice Appointed Gerald Davies Consulting Ltd
Stock Condition Surveys Appointed Savills

Tenant Survey Appointed Ipsos MORI

Financial Advice Appointed Savills

Independent Tenants’ Advice Appointed PS Consultants

1.1.4 To ensure key stakeholders remained fully informed, governance consisted of three key

groups;

Programme Team
Working group recruited from a number of NBC departments responsible for the

production of all programme products and activities

Programme Board
Senior NBC management team who owned the programme and set the overall

strategic direction

Member Board
NBC management and Cabinet members responsible for communicating progress

and updates to Cabinet Members

1.1.5 Engagement also consisted of three key stakeholder groups;

Tenants’ Panel (TP)
A group of self-nominated tenants who worked with the Council and relevant
advisers to ensure the Review considered all the things that mattered most to

tenants

71



1.2

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

o Employee Focus Group (EFG)
A group of self-nominated employees across the Housing Service who worked with
the Council to ensure the Review considered all the things that mattered most to

employees

o Housing Options Panel (HOP)
Made up of tenants, employees and councillors who examined the key issues in

the Review and functioned in a decision making capacity

The Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) provided guidance and support to tenants to
ensure the Review process was delivered without bias. The ITA provided independent
and impartial advice and information to all tenants and leaseholders, and gathered the

views of wider tenants through their outreach work across Northampton.

Throughout the Review process, the Council ensured that any decisions made have used
all available evidence and information to consider the impact of such decisions on the

Council, individuals, groups and the wider community.

Options Analysis

The Review needed to identify the costs associated with improving and maintaining the
Council’s housing assets over the 30 year Business Plan period and assess each option
in terms of their ability to meet such costs. In January 2011, the Council secured £49
million in backlog funding to bring all Council properties up to the Decent Homes
Standard, however, significant investment was still required to maintain homes and make

environmental improvements to estates.

Initially, ten possible options were identified for consideration, which later reduced to six

and then to five which were examined in more depth:

o Retention with a Major Service Review

. Retention with the creation of an ALMO

o Transfer to a stand-alone Housing Association
o Transfer to a Mutual Housing Association

o Transfer to an existing Housing Association

The supporting evidence required and sourced was as follows:

o A baseline analysis of the Council’s current Housing Business Plan
8



1.2.4

1.2.5

o A Tenant Survey to identify satisfaction levels and identify priorities for

improvement

o A Stock Condition Survey to ensure the review had up to date information on the
condition of the Housing Stock and the costs required for improving and

maintaining homes over a 30 year period

o Asset Analysis information to compare the level and timing of expenditure on the

properties with the income stream from rents

The TP and EFG considered the outcomes of the above and their implications and

continued to identify and explore the following:

o The development of the draft Northampton Standard (contained in key document
14), which included development of new service standards and property standards

in excess of the Decent Homes Standard

o Evaluation of the options criteria framework to assess each option, the weighting

process for each criteria and the scoring process and how to compare the options

o Financial issues to include an overview of the Council’s existing Housing Revenue
Account, how stock transfer worked, an analysis on the affordability of the draft
Northampton Standard and the potential for delivery of new homes, consideration
of the options for the provision of new homes, Government Guidance on Housing
Stock Transfer

o Visits from transfer and retention organisations

In addition, the following areas were also presented, challenged, discussed and taken into

consideration when assessing the options:

o Tenancy Rights & Tenancy Agreements

o Employee Rights

o Recap on the Decent Homes Standard

o Financial issues presented by Savills

. Governance issues in retention and transfer

. Characteristics of the ALMO Model in detail
73

9



1.2.6

1.2.7

1.2.8

1.3

1.3.1

o Informal and formal consultation: Overview of an Offer document and the ballot in
Housing Stock transfer

o Revisions sessions across all key subject areas

Financial assessment analysis and presentations focused on retention and transfer
options. The financial position for the ALMO option was reflected within the retention
scenarios. For the retention options, five different versions of the Business Plan were
modelled with the aims of testing the maximum debt required and how quickly it could be
repaid. All scenarios included major investments costs based on the Northampton

Standard and the timing of some investments formed a key part in scenario testing.

The retention options offered opportunities to deliver the standard of investment, although
the constraints of the debt cap meant that choices would need to be made around the

timing of the implementation.

Stock transfer provided an opportunity to deliver improvements; however, it would require
a significant level of debt write-off and this would need to be justified by savings and
benefits to central government. Homes and Communities Agency guidance issued in
November 2013 set out how local authorities would need to justify the case for transfer
and debt write-off and also stated that new transfers would need to be completed by
March 2015. This guidance and the ability to meet its conditions were critical in

considering the viability of the three transfer options.

Scoring the Options

The evaluation process was developed jointly by the TP and EFG and had three
elements:
e The development of the options criteria framework; including the issues that
tenants and employees felt were important for any of the options to deliver against.

There was a set of 46 criteria across eight policy categories;

Accountability, Influence, Participation and Power
Tenants’ Rights and Involvement

Employee Issues

Financial Implications

Quality of Homes

Impact on Local Community and Economy

Legal Framework and Equality

Y V V V V V V V

Implications for the Council

7410



e The development of a scoring framework; to provide an objective approach scoring

each of the options against each criteria element. Options were scored as follows;

the option failed to meet the objective
the option partially met the objective

the option largely met the objective

Y V VYV VY

the option fully met the objective

e The development of a scoring weighting framework; identifying the criteria most
and least important to the TP and EFG members. The weighting system was

agreed as follows;

criteria was not essential in the chosen option
criteria was desirable in the chosen option

criteria was important in the chosen option

YV V VYV V

criteria was essential in the chosen option

1.3.2 In addition, an Options Comparison Document was developed for use as a comparison

tool to support the final scoring process.

1.4 Conclusion

1.4.1 The options analysis process that the TP and EFG went through enabled them to carry
out an independent and individual scoring of the options and present reports to include

their outcomes, scoring rationale and their recommended option to the HOP.

1.4.2 31 TP members participated in the scoring exercise with the following results;

. 13! Retention (ALMO)

. 2" Transfer (Mutual)

. 3 Transfer (Stand-alone)

. 4t Transfer (Group Structure)
. 50 Retention (Service Review)

1.4.3 20 TP members scored the Retention as an ALMO as the preferred option and 11 scored
the Transfer as a Mutual as the preferred option. The ALMO option scored highest
because it scored strongly or very strongly across all eight categories. The ALMO scored

7511



1.4.4

1.4.5

1.4.6

1.4.7

1.4.8

1.4.9

most strongly on: Tenants’ Rights; Employee Issues; Financial Implications; the Legal

Framework; and Implications for the Council.

11 EFG members participated in the scoring exercise and their ranking mirrored that of
the TP. The EFG were unanimous in scoring the ALMO option as the most preferred. It
scored highest overall because it scored very strongly across all 8 criteria groups and
most especially on: Tenants Rights and Involvement, Employee Issues, Financial

Implications, Legal Framework and Equality and Implications for the Council.

The TP and EFG delivered presentations to the HOP in October 2013 stating their
preferred option of an ALMO with reasons and made further recommendations for the

implementation phase.

The ITA also delivered a report to the HOP giving its views on how the Review was
conducted. They confirmed that the evaluation system, which was the best the ITA had
seen in their 50 jobs across the UK, had evolved throughout the course of the Review, as
a result of intensive consultation and discussion and the decision-making framework had

also been effective and appropriate.

Before the HOP reached its decision on which option it wished to recommend to Cabinet,
it confirmed that it had;
o Taken into account the evidence and many other aspects raised within the HOP

sessions delivered throughout the Review

° Fully considered the views, recommendations and the reasons for them contained
within the TP and EFG reports
° Considered the feedback received from the Tenants’ Conferences, particularly

those held in November 2013, held to present the EFG and TP preferred option

The HOP supports the EFG and TP recommendations to select the ALMO Option.

The HOP believe the ALMO option most appropriately meets all of the requirements set
out in the Review Mission Statement, based on the evidence presented throughout the
Review. The TP report recommended a tenant ballot; however, this was not a condition
of their recommendation. HOP members debated this issue and voted 12 to 13 members
against recommending that the Council should hold a ballot. It was felt that money could
be better spent on improving service and homes and a ballot would delay the

implementation of the improvements the tenants and employees had identified.

7612



1.5

1.5.1

Recommendations

The HOP recommends to cabinet that;

The ALMO Option should be approved for implementation

That any further substantial change to the future of the delivery/management and
ownership of Housing Services should be preceded by a robust Options Appraisal
process (except in the event of a risk of serious detriment to tenants and/or tenant
services)

The ALMO should be created as a true Arms Length managed organisation to
ensure the ALMO has sufficient autonomy to make decisions for the benefit of

tenant services and improvement

The implementation phase for the option chosen should continue to include a
comprehensive programme of consultation and engagement with the key
stakeholders to ensure that they are well informed and remain at the heart of the
process. This should specifically include the continued involvement of the
Northampton Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group, working both separately

and jointly

The Council should consider adopting the consultation and engagement approach

used within this review across other service areas within the Council

The Council should consider adopting a process for employees from all services to
be actively involved in further policy development and continuous improvement

activity to improve internal processes and systems

If 2.3 a) is agreed, the next steps (outlined in section 3.4) be considered and
agreed;

Authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the
Council and the Cabinet Member for Housing to make decisions necessary to

facilitate the implementation of the chosen option.

7713



2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

3.1.1

Introduction

Northampton Borough Council’s (the Council) Corporate Plan 2012-15 (background
document 3) included a commitment to look at the potential options for the future
ownership, funding and management of its Housing Stock, to examine which option would
best deliver long term improvements needed to both homes and estates as well as

improve the quality of services provided to its tenants.

Before the Council could make fundamental changes to the way in which the Council’s
Housing Stock is owned and managed, the Government requires an options appraisal to

be undertaken.

The Council therefore initiated a full Options Review process in April 2012 by appointing a
lead officer and setting aside the budget necessary to fund a major consultation exercise

to include all key stakeholders.

Background & Context

Current position

In order to carry out the Review, it was essential to understand the nature and extent of
the Council’s housing assets. The Review process needed to identify the costs associated
with improving and maintaining these assets over the 30 year Business Plan period and
then use that information to assess each of the options considered in terms of their ability

to meet such costs.

At the start of the Review process in April 2012, Northampton Borough Council owned
12,144 dwellings, fifty eight percent (58%) of which were houses and bungalows and forty
two percent (42%) of which were flats, mostly medium and low rise. There are two high-
rise blocks, plus approximately 760 blocks of low to medium rise flats, in the stock and a

number of houses of non-traditional construction.

Based on data obtained at the start of the Review, fifty one percent (51%) of the Council’s
Housing Stock failed the Government’s basic minimum standard for property condition
called the Decent Homes Standard (DHS). This was a reflection of the fact that until 2012,
the Council had insufficient funds to achieve Decent Homes. However, in January 2011
the Council successfully bid for a £49.3 million allocation of funding from Government to

help achieve decency, and this combined with Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

8,



resources has changed that position. Current reported housing property non-decency
figures are twenty-eight percent (28%), following a substantial programme of works. In
addition to the residential dwellings, the Council owns 66 shops (many of which have
connected dwellings), storage unit(s), community room(s), pumping station(s), depot(s),

garages and other housing assets, which also sit within the HRA.

3.2 Drivers for Change

3.2.1 There were several key drivers for initiating the Housing Options Review. These focused

on:

o Delivering improvements to the quality of housing services to customers

o Meeting rising expectations of customers

o Ensuring that the necessary investment can be provided to improve homes and
the local environment on estates and,;

o Meeting the increasing demand for social housing

3.2.2 Service performance measures and tenant satisfaction levels are historically low when
comparing Northampton Borough Council’s performance with others within the sector.
Tenant expectations are also rising reflected in the demand for more modern facilities to
be fitted as standard within homes, such as showers, greater security and energy

efficiency measures and increased space for appliances.

3.2.3 Although the Council was successful in securing the £49 million in backlog funding to
bring Council properties up to the DHS, significant investment was still required to
maintain homes and make environmental improvements to estates, which cannot be

funded through decency works.

3.2.3 Demand for social housing has historically been high and is likely to increase further.
Northampton is a growing town, with a population of 212,069 (March 2011). This
population is expected to increase by 30,000 people by 2021 (ONS projected figures)

through household growth and in-migration.

3.3 HRA Self Financing

3.3.1  Prior to 1st April 2012, all English local authority HRA’s were subject to a national Housing
Subsidy system. A new local system of HRA ‘Self Financing’ was introduced from 2012/13

which involved all stock retaining authorities taking on a proportion of the National HRA

7915



3.3.2

3.3.3

3.34

3.3.5

3.3.6

debt, allocated to them by Government. In addition to this, individual authorities were

provided with a limit to the amount they could borrow, known as the ‘debt cap’.

Northampton’s need to borrow as at 1st April 2012 would have been -£6.1m if Self
Financing had not been implemented. This means that the Council’'s HRA was, at that
time, effectively debt free. However, the calculation under the subsidy system meant that

Northampton Borough Council paid £11.9m to central government in 2011/12.

The Self Financing calculation indicated that the Council’s stock could support £208.4m
debt. The Council’s subsidy calculation included a level of notional debt of £15.48m; this
is the notional debt that, under the central calculations, Northampton’s HRA was deemed
to hold. This amount of notional debt was taken off the total amount of debt the stock
could support, resulting in a debt settlement of £192.92m to be paid by the Council to
central government. Northampton’s debt cap is therefore set at £208.4m; this is the
maximum amount that the Council can borrow to fund expenditure relating to its HRA.
This debt cap is fixed and at present there is no method whereby the debt cap can ever

be increased from this fixed level.

The debt cap means that no matter how much borrowing the HRA Business Plan could
afford, the Council would be restricted to only being able to borrow a maximum of

£208.4m in aggregate in any one year.

The difference between the amount of actual housing debt and the debt cap is known as
headroom. This is the amount that the Council can borrow over and above the debt it
currently holds. As at 1st April 2012, this headroom could be calculated as the difference
between the amount paid to Government of £192.92m and the debt cap of £208.4m. The
Council has not entered into any further borrowing for HRA purposes since that time and

therefore the Council still has this headroom of £15.48m available.

The Council took out borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at the
preferential rate offered at the time, resulting in an annual interest charge of £6.35m.
Compared to the previous subsidy payment made to Government in excess of £12m each
year, this is a more favourable position for the HRA; however in order to demonstrate long
term financial viability the Business Plan has to demonstrate the potential to repay debt.
In the production of a financially robust Business Plan it is best practice to demonstrate

that debt can be repaid over the 30 year period of the Business Plan.

8016



3.4

3.4.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

3.4.4

HRA 30 Year Business Plan

Following the introduction of Self Financing, in line with best practice, the Council
produced a 30 year Business Plan which was approved by Cabinet on 24 January 2012.
The Business Plan was based on the latest available budgets and assumptions around
interest rates, Right to Buy disposals, inflation rates, and a projected 30 year capital

programme.

The HRA is an asset based Business Plan which relies on its assets for the generation of
rental income. The rental income is used to finance day to day expenditure such as
housing management and repairs. It also has to finance the costs of the Council’s debt
and contribute towards the financing of capital expenditure. As the HRA is an asset
based business, capital expenditure is one the most significant expenditure items, being
necessary to keep the assets in good condition and help ensure the receipt of rental
income into the future. Capital expenditure fluctuates on an annual basis, rising and
falling as components parts (such as bathrooms and kitchens) need renewing. Managing
the level of capital expenditure and ensuring that resources are available to finance that

expenditure is therefore crucial to the financial management of the HRA.

As mentioned briefly above, at the time of the Review, the Council had a backlog of work
that was needed to bring the properties up to the DHS. The Council bid for and won a
significant capital grant of £49.3m provided through the Homes and Communities Agency
(HCA) to contribute towards the funding of the backlog of works needed to attain the DHS.

The capital expenditure plus the HCA funding was built in to the Business Plan.

The DHS, defined in more detail in section 8.4, was intended by Government to be the
minimum basic standard that social landlords were expected to maintain their housing
stock to. The standard does not include all elements of work necessary to fulfil all
landlords’ legal obligations. The capital expenditure built into the Business Plan, at the
time, was based on the Council’'s most recent Stock Condition Survey, which was
undertaken in 2004. The cost of the works included was on the basis of the DHS. In
addition to this there was an allowance of £566m over the 30 years for estate regeneration
and environmental works and an allowance for the provision of 40 new properties every
year from 2014/15. The Business Plan showed that the HRA debt could be repaid over
the 30 year period. The soundness of this Business Plan, including the assumptions used
to build it and based on the existing Stock Condition Survey was externally verified by
Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) and the Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH).

8117



3.4.5

3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

This first Business Plan, developed under the new Self Financing rules was used as the

starting point for the financial analysis undertaken during the Housing Options Review.

Government Guidance on Housing Stock Transfer

A much revised Housing Transfer Manual, providing guidance on Housing Stock Transfer,
was expected to be released by the Government in 2011. The Government had made a
commitment to replace the previous guidance contained in the Housing Transfer Manual
(2005) and the supplement to this produced in 2006. The Review process needed to take

into account any revised requirements detailed within the new guidance.

The Council was advised by the HCA to progress its Review using the existing guidance
while awaiting the release of the draft revised guidance. The draft guidance was released
for consultation in July 2013. The HCA invited five councils who were in the process of
undertaking Housing Options Review processes to have discussions with them on the
implications and issues surrounding whole stock transfers following from the revised
proposed guidance. The councils involved were Durham, Gloucester, Lewisham, Salford
and Northampton. At this event the councils were promised that the final guidance would
be published at the end of September 2013. The final guidance was published in

November 2013, with no material changes from the draft provisions. (Appendix 1)

The guidance contains key provisions which are particularly key to the potential for this

authority to be able to proceed down the housing stock transfer route;

o Timescales: The Government would not support any transfer financially, by way of
debt write-off, if the transfer has not been completed by the end of March 2015.
After allowing for the time necessary to prepare the Council’s offer to tenants
followed by three months necessary to carry out the statutory consultation and the
ballot, this would leave just 5 — 6 months post ballot to complete a stock transfer. It
would be during the post ballot period when: the permanent management team
would need to be recruited; the funding necessary would be sought and,

significantly, the new organisation would seek registration from the HCA.

The work involved between agreeing the options decision and meeting the Governments’
March 2015 is too extensive and the deadline provides insufficient time to undertake these
tasks. The Council would be at high risk financially and in terms of reputation if it

were to try to meet this and then fail.

8218



3.54

41

411

4.2

4.21

o Debt write-off: The only realistic tangible benefit of the authority proceeding with
the housing stock transfer option would be that the new organisation would no
longer be subject to the debt-cap and that a substantial portion of the Council’s
HRA debt would be written off by the Government. In order to achieve this, the
Council would have to show that it would be unable to afford to maintain its
Housing Stock at the level of the DHS.

As mentioned above, the Council has received ‘back-log’ funding from
Government to address Decent Homes work requirements. The Council has since
identified and allocated additional resources within the HRA, to undertake work to
a slightly higher standard than the DHS. The Review process has led to the
development of a proposal to implement a new ‘Northampton Standard’, which is
a higher standard than the DHS. The guidance indicates strongly that Government

would not accept this higher standard as justifying the need for debt write-off.

The implications of the above guidance terms have been used to inform the comparison
and assessment of the options and their ability to meet the Review Mission Statement

detailed in section 5.6.2 below.

Approach to the Review

Appointment of Key Resources, Specialists and Evidence Gathering

The Council recognised the significance of this project and it's far reaching implications,
therefore it allocated £2 million from the HRA reserves in order to ensure that the process
would be robust, have access to up-to-date information and would comprehensively
engage with all the key stakeholders. To do this would involve significant financial

investment.

Programme Direction

As the quality of the Review would be significantly determined by the quality and
robustness of the process, the authority appointed an experienced service head, to take
overall responsibility for programme management and direction. This appointed
Programme director has been responsible for leading a small team and for procuring and

utilising specialist professional advice, as set out below.

8319



4.3

4.3.1

4.3.2

4.4

441

442

4.5

4.5.1

Appointment of Advisers

The Council recognised that it needed experienced, competent advice in the following

areas:

o Process and Technical Advice
o Stock Condition Surveys

o Tenants’ Survey

. Financial advice

o Independent Tenants’ Advice

After a competitive process, the following appointments were made:

° Gerald Davies Consulting Ltd. for Process and Technical Advice
o Ipsos MORI for Tenant Survey

o Savills for Financial Advice and Stock Condition Survey

° PS Consultants for Independent Tenants’ Advice

Process and Technical Advice

The Council was mindful that a Review of this nature was complex, covered a variety of
sensitive issues and involved a number of key stakeholders. As previous historical
Options Reviews undertaken by the Council had ended with unsatisfactory results, it was
essential that robust planning and risk management processes were adopted. The
appointment of an experienced Technical Adviser, who had handled similar reviews

elsewhere, was considered essential.

To undertake this role the Council appointed Gerald Davies Consulting Ltd. who had
extensive experience of very similar projects involving a wide variety of borough,

metropolitan and unitary councils.

Tenant Survey

It was considered essential to gain an understanding of tenant views and satisfaction
levels and compare the survey outcomes with other comparable councils, Arms Length
Management Organisations (ALMOs), and other providers of social housing. The Tenant
Survey was a key piece of evidence within the Review process and it asked all tenants to
respond to questions concerning:

o Views on the quality of the current service;

8420



452

4.6

4.6.1

46.2

4.6.3

o Improvements tenants wanted to see carried out within their homes,
neighbourhoods and environment;
° Priorities for services and investment and;

o Identified those wishing to take part in the Review.

To ensure that the results were considered independent of the Council and trusted by
stakeholders, the Council appointed Ipsos MORI, who have an international standing for
carrying out social surveys of this nature. The survey achieved a 26.55% response rate.

The findings of the survey are included within section 8.3.3 below.

Financial Advice

In order to fully assess the options being considered, the Review process needed to
include evaluation of the various options in terms of affordability and financial risk. The
Council therefore sought to appoint advisers who would be capable of providing a
comprehensive financial appraisal. Savills were appointed by the Council due to their
considerable knowledge and experience of having successfully undertaken similar
exercises across the country. Their appointment ensured that this vital aspect of the
Review was well informed, thorough and up-to-date. Savills have provided analysis and

key evidence across four areas.

These were:

o Assessment of the Council’s baseline financial position

o Financial assessment of the alternative options considered

o Treasury management; the ability to obtain funding for potential options
o Evaluation of the performance of Council’s Housing assets

One of the first elements of the financial work stream within the Review was to carry out
an assessment and comparison of the Council’s expenditure plans against data from
other similar local authorities. This was necessary to allow the Review to assess whether
the underlying financial provisions built in to the Council’s HRA budgets were likely to be
at the right level, to achieve the Council’s objectives and to ensure value for money.
Alongside this it was also necessary to assess the performance of the housing function
using external benchmarking data. This work was then used to inform the development of
service standards and a revised 30 year Business Plan, building on the Councils’ existing
HRA Business Plan. The detailed findings arising from the financial analysis are detailed

in Section 9.8.

852 ]



4.7 Independent Tenants’ Advice (ITA)

4.7.1 The appointment of the ITA was different to other advisers in that, although the Council
was paying for the work to be undertaken, the appointment was made by a panel of
tenant volunteers who received training and support from the Housing Options Review
Team and the Lead Technical Adviser. The tenants drafted their own specification,
evaluation process and identified the shortlist of companies. The tenants were supported
to evaluate the submissions received and, after interviewing two companies, they
unanimously agreed to appoint PS Consultants as their ITA who had worked in this field

for over 20 years and had worked with over 50 different local authorities.

4.8 Governance Approach

4.8.1 In order to ensure that key stakeholders remained fully informed throughout the process,
the Housing Options Review employed a number of engagement platforms. This robust
framework incorporated two strands; governance and engagement. Governance involved
the formation of three key groups, who met at least monthly throughout the Review; a
Programme Team, a Programme Board, and a Member Board. The engagement structure
consisted of a Tenants’ Panel (TP), an Employee Focus Group (EFG), and a Housing
Options Panel (HOP). The HOP met monthly, however due to the nature of the work
undertaken, the TP and EFG groups met more frequently. The structure diagram below

details the governance structure implemented at the start of the Review.

Housing
Options Review
Member Board

Housing Options
Review

Programme Board

Housing Options
Review
Programme Team

49 Programme Team

4.9.1 The Programme Team was a working group made up of key management personnel from

a number of departments within the NBC Housing Service. The Programme Team was

862 5



4.10

4.10.1

4.1

4.11.1

412

4.12.1

413

4.13.1

responsible for the delivery of all programme activities, with the aim of achieving the
programme outcomes. Full Programme Team terms of reference are detailed in
Key Doc 8.

Programme Board

The Programme Board was chaired by the Chief Executive of NBC along with key officers
from legal and finance services. The Programme Board owned the Programme and set
the overall strategic direction. It ensured the Programme remained viable, managed any
risks, and managed stakeholder communication. Full Programme Board terms of

reference are detailed in Key Doc 9.

Member Board

The Member Board was Chaired by the Leader of the Council and included; Cabinet
Member for Housing and the assistant Cabinet Member for Housing, the Chief Executive
of NBC and other key officers. The Member Board was responsible for communicating
progress and updates to Cabinet Members and directing the communication and
engagement strategy for the Programme. Full Member Board terms of reference can be

viewed in Key Doc 10.

Governance Structure Links

The Programme Team was a working group where all information was considered.
Relevant information was escalated to Programme Board if it needed further discussion or
required a decision to be made in regard to the Programme. These discussions or
decisions would then go on to be ratified or challenged at Member Board. There were
clear links between the governance structures and engagement structures, demonstrating

the transparency of the process for all stakeholders.

Risk Management

Risk has been assessed and managed throughout the Programme and all risks have

been reviewed regularly as an integral part of the governance structure monthly meetings.

An assessment of risk for implementing the ALMO option can be found in Appendix 2.

8723



5.1

5.1.1

5.2

5.2.2

Communication & Engagement Approach

Background

Government guidance on undertaking housing stock options appraisals sets out the
importance of constructively involving the key stakeholder groups from the outset and
specifically refers to tenants being kept at the heart of the process. The key groups

identified within the guidance are:

° Members of the Council
° Tenants
o Directly affected employees

Experience elsewhere has demonstrated that working with these groups in an
interconnected way leads to a sense of common purpose; understanding of the issues;
and avoidance of mistrust. An engagement structure was built to include these key
groups, resulting in the formation of a Tenants’ Panel (TP), an Employee Focus Group
(EFG), and a Housing Options Panel (HOP).

Tenants’
Panel

Housing
Options
Panel

Employees
Focus Group

Tenants’ Panel

The TP was formed at the beginning of the Review, with the first meeting taking place on

11 September 2012. The TP played a key role in providing an open tenant involvement

opportunity. Any tenant could take part in the Review and tenants were actively

encouraged to participate.

o All tenants were sent a letter inviting them to join the TP

o Area meetings were attended by the Housing Options Review Team across
Northampton highlighting the Housing Options Review to tenants

. A tenant open day held to advertise the formation of the TP in July 2012.

88



5.2.3

524

5.3

5.3.1

5.4

5.4.1

o Newsletters published by the Council and the ITA were sent to all tenants
periodically throughout the Review including reminders regarding the ability for any
tenant to participate in the TP.

° Tenant Conferences were held in December 2102, May 2013 and November 2013

and tenants were invited to join the panel at each of these events.

The Panel membership remained an open borough-wide throughout the Review until
August 2013, when tenants on the TP felt that it would be unfair for new members to fully
understand the issues sufficiently well to take part in the scoring process which took place
in September 2013. All new participants were supported to join the process by being
provided with briefings on areas already covered from both the Council’s Review Team
and the ITA.

The purpose of the Tenants’ Panel was to work with the Council and relevant advisers to
ensure the Review considered all the things that mattered most to tenants. A further
purpose of the Panel was to ensure that the HOP was aware of the tenants’ views. A core
group of 30-40 tenants attended the TP meetings over the course of the Review. Full

terms of reference for the Panel can be viewed in Key Doc 5.
Employee Focus Group

The EFG was formed after an open invitation was sent to all Housing employees to join.
All employees that expressed an interest in being involved were invited to join the EFG,
subject to line manager approval. Twelve members formed the group, with this number
falling to eleven, midway through the Review. The Employees were drawn from both
Housing sectors within NBC; Landlord Services and Strategic Housing and included four
operatives from the DLO. The purpose of the EFG was to work with the Council and
relevant advisers to ensure the Review considered the things that mattered most to
employees and that the HOP were aware of the employees’ views. Full terms of reference

can be viewed in Key Doc 6.
Housing Options Panel

The HOP was made up of five tenants who were on the TP, five employees from the EFG
and five Councillors with representation from the three main political parties. The tenants
and employees who sat on the HOP were elected by members of their respective groups.
The HOP examined the key issues in the Review and functioned in a decision making
capacity in relation to progressing the Review. Its ultimate role was to make a

recommendation to the Council’s Cabinet on which option the Panel wished the Council to

892 5



5.5

5.5.1

5.6

5.6.1

5.6.2

5.6.3

implement. It received the same presentations and key evidence delivered to the TP and

EFG. Full terms of reference can be viewed in Key Doc 7.

Links between the engagement Groups

Over the course of the Review, NBC have held 11 joint sessions with the TP and EFG
where the groups worked through key issues together. This joined up and innovative
approach has seen the development of key pieces of work and enabled each group to
gain an insight into each other’s priorities and views. The five representatives from the TP
and EFG sitting on the HOP ensured that views from the engagement groups were
reflected and considered within the HOP and the views and decisions of the HOP were

subsequently reported back to the individual groups, ensuring effective two way feedback.

Goal of the Review

One of the first activities undertaken by the engagement groups was to develop a mission
statement for the Review, specifying what the groups wanted the Review to deliver. A
draft mission statement was presented to both the TP and the EFG at the beginning of the
Review. This was further developed by both groups and presented back to the HOP for
review and approval. The final mission statement was endorsed by the HOP on 23
November 2012.

The mission statement of the Review was:
To seek to identify the most tenant focused option for the future management and

ownership of the Council’s housing which:

o Secures tenants’ rights,
o Minimizes tenants’ costs,
o Meets the quality of standards of home and environmental improvement which

tenants wish to see,
o Is sustainable in the long-term,
o Appraises the potential contribution the various landlord options could have

towards meeting the need for additional affordable homes and the regeneration of

estates,
o Takes into account the impact on the Council
o Takes into account the impact on employees

The HOP set out its intention to assess whether the mission statement had been

successfully delivered at the end of the Review process.

902 5



5.7

5.7.1

5.7.2

5.7.3

5.7.4

5.7.5

Independent Tenants’ Adviser

The role of an ITA was to provide guidance and support to tenants, to ensure that the
Review process was delivered without bias and to strengthen tenant engagement. The
ITA was funded by NBC but acted as an adviser for tenants, independent from the

Council.

As mentioned above, an ITA Selection Panel was created comprising seven tenants to
select an Independent Tenant Adviser for the Northampton TP. The selection panel sent
an invitation to tender to five companies with previous experience of such work, resulting
in two being selected for interview. PS Consultants were appointed as the ITA for
Northampton. Their role was to work with the Tenants’ Panel, to give independent and
impartial advice and information to all tenants and leaseholders and encourage them to
have their say, help ensure that information provided by the Council for distribution to all
tenants was comprehensive and fair in its treatment of the issues, and feed back to the TP

and HOP the views of tenants gathered from the ITA outreach work across Northampton.

The ITA outreach work has taken place in four phases. The aim of this was to ensure
information regarding the options was disseminated to as many tenants as possible and
invited tenants to express their views and concern, feeding these back to the TP and to
the Council. Meetings were held in community rooms across the Borough and home visits
were offered to vulnerable tenants who could not attend these meetings. The outreach
work has taken place throughout the Review to enable the wider tenant community to

understand all key stages of the Review process and to be aware of the next steps.

The ITA provided a website specifically set up for Northampton tenants. The website
provided information regarding the Review; including; key pieces of work that have been
completed and descriptions of the Tenants’ Panel and the HOP, past copies of the ITA
newsletter, and a forum in which any tenant could ask questions. Questions have either
been answered directly by PS Consultants or by directing the person to an appropriate
source as necessary. The ITA also provided a Freephone number throughout the Review

to enable any tenant to contact them.

The ITA held ITA Development Sessions regularly with the TP. These sessions were
designed to provide members of the Panel with information in order to help them prepare
for upcoming TP meetings, delivered by the Council’s review team. The ITA also attended
all TP and HOP meetings to ensure that the facts delivered were accurate and impartial.

The ITA has provided the HOP and the Council with a report giving its view on the way the

9127



5.8

5.8.1

5.8.2

5.8.3

5.8.4

Council has conducted the Housing Options Review. The detailed findings from the ITA

report are described in section 11.4 and in Key Doc 3.

Joint Communication and Consultation Strategy

In order to ensure that key stakeholders were identified and all communication and
consultation activity was appropriately managed, a Communication and Consultation
Strategy (Key Doc 13) was drafted by NBC and the ITA at the beginning of the Review.
The draft strategy was then considered by the EFG and the TP and finally approved by
the HOP on 23 November 2012.

The Strategy covered:

o Why the Housing Options Review was being undertaken

o The importance of good communications

o The key stakeholders to be involved in the Review

o What messages the Review would deliver

o How those messages would be delivered in a way that reaches all stakeholders
o How communications would be monitored throughout the process to ensure they

achieve their aims

A key aim of the Strategy was to ensure there was the possibility for key stakeholders to

be involved from the outset of the Review in, defining objectives and priorities for the

future improvements of the Housing Stock, further improvements in service delivery, and

the development of the involvement and empowerment of tenants. As detailed in the

Strategy, this would be delivered through:

o Providing real opportunities to explore the implications of the DHS (including the
possibility of achieving an enhanced Northampton Standard)

o Access to training, advice, and support programmes which would develop
stakeholder’s capacities to engage satisfactorily in the process

o Providing information both verbally, and in writing as required, to inform
stakeholders of the available options

o Appropriate opportunities to ask questions and comments and receive appropriate

responses within reasonable timescales.

The Strategy identified a number of stakeholders who would be communicated with,
together with the methods for this communication. The stakeholders detailed were:
o Tenants

° Leaseholders

9228



5.8.5

6.1

6.1.1

6.2

6.2.1

o NBC Housing employees

. Councillors

o MP’s

o Northamptonshire Councils

o Wider NBC employees

o Contractors and Sub-Contractors

o The Community and Voluntary Sectors
o Media Organisations

J Trade Unions

As a result of the activity detailed in the Strategy, the communication and consultation
undertaken through the Review has been extensive and robust. It has engaged with all
relevant stakeholders. Views of wider tenants have been incorporated via the evidence
gathering process including the Tenant Survey, alongside feedback gathered at the three

Tenants’ Conferences that have taken place in the last 12 months.

Framework for Engagement

Engagement Methods

In addition to the outreach work undertaken by the ITA, the Council adopted a framework

of activity in order to engage effectively with key stakeholder groups. This included;

o Open meetings

o Information provision- Newsletter/Online/Telephone/Pocket Guide
o Workshops

. Conferences

o Tenant Survey

Involving Tenants

Tenants were the principle stakeholders in the Housing Options Review process as they
are the customers of the service and pay for its delivery. Numerous communication
methods have been implemented throughout the process to engage the wider tenant
community. Over 26% of tenants responded to the Ipsos MORI Tenant Survey and this
identified areas of focus for the Review that reflected the views of tenants beyond those
sitting on the TP. The formation of the TP created a cohesive group that was

communicated with at least weekly via post, phone or in person. Invites, agendas and

932 9



6.2.2

6.2.3

6.2.4

6.2.5

documentation for forthcoming meetings were posted to Panel members and transport
arranged as required. Key information was delivered at Panel meetings, at ITA
Development Sessions and at Joint workshop Sessions with the EFG. The Programme
was structured to be relevant and impartial, allowing the TP and EFG to form their own
conclusions covering numerous topics such as government guidance, financial issues and

governance arrangements for each of the options.

The wider tenant community has been regularly kept informed by both the Council and the
ITA. The Council has published four newsletters which were sent to all tenants. These
were sent periodically throughout the Review, at key stages, to inform tenants about
progress, detail of the next steps, as well as publicising ways for tenants to be involved in
the Review. All documentation from TP and HOP meetings has been published on the
NBC website, and an online forum has allowed questions relating to the Review to be
asked of the Council. A dedicated 0300 phone line and email address linked to the
Housing Options Review Team was set up and these details were published on all
newsletters to ensure any tenant could contact the team with questions or queries in a

cost effective way. All tenants have also received three newsletters from the ITA.

Three rounds of Tenants’ Conferences have been held, December 2012, May 2013 and
November 2013. All tenants were invited to the Conferences held on two separate days;

one daytime and one evening, thus maximising the number of tenants who could attend.

The December 2012 Conferences focused on the condition of homes, improvements that
tenants felt needed to be undertaken to ensure homes and estates meet the aspirations of
tenants, tenants’ views of the housing service and their priorities for the future. The
outcomes of the Conference enabled the TP to be publicised further and resulted in an
increase in membership. It also allowed for the views of tenants gathered at the
Conference to be incorporated into key pieces of work throughout the Review. The
feedback obtained was considered by the TP and EFG and used to ensure wider views

were incorporated in the drafting of the new Northampton Standard.

The Conferences in May focused on the standards of service delivered to tenants by the
Housing service. An update on the Review process was delivered to those tenants in
attendance and tenants were once again, encouraged to participate in the TP. The
Conferences in November 2013 shared the results of the scoring exercise undertaken by
the TP and EFG. This enabled further information to be shared on the selected option and
the next steps in the process, alongside the future of the TP. Approximately 240 tenants

attended each of these Conferences and their feedback on the option will be used to build

9430



6.3

6.3.1

6.3.2

6.4

6.4.1

6.5

6.5.1

the plan for the implementation phase (Key Doc 21). The HOP also used the feedback to

support them in their recommendation to the Council’s Cabinet on its preferred option.

Involving Employees

Employees of the Housing Service deliver both the strategic and local management
service and have a professional interest in the nature and quality of the service as well as
a personal interest in the terms and conditions it provides. Information was published
throughout the Review on the intranet to regularly update all employees. At key stages, all
staff briefings were delivered to Housing employees, alongside updates in the Housing
Service newsletters. Union representatives received monthly updates and were given the

opportunity to raise issues directly with the Council’s Review Team.

Employees in the EFG were engaged with directly and received the same information as
that delivered to the TP. This facilitated the use of joint workshop sessions, enabling
employees and tenants to work together in a unified manner and produce numerous
significant outcomes, including an evaluation and scoring framework that incorporated
both group’s priorities. The autonomy of each group was preserved, demonstrated by the
fact that the weighting of the option comparison criteria was undertaken by the TP and

EFG separately.

Involving Leaseholders

Leaseholders are stakeholders within the Review and have been kept informed via letters
through the process. Copies of the newsletters sent to tenants have been sent to
leaseholders for their information and their attendance at the Conferences was not
prevented. Leaseholders have a statutory right to be consulted in respect of major repair
and improvement programmes affecting their homes and neighbourhoods and in relation
to service charges but otherwise their rights are unaffected regardless of which option is

eventually chosen and implemented.

Involving Councillors

The governance and engagement structures enabled some Councillors to be engaged
with directly, through both the HOP and Member Board. All Councillors were provided with
copies of newsletters and ITA outreach information throughout the Review and group

briefings were provided to ensure Councillors were informed of progress.

953 ]



6.6

6.6.1

6.6.2

6.6.3

6.6.4

6.6.5

6.6.6

7.1

Community Impact

Throughout the Review process the Council has ensured that any decisions made have
used all available evidence and information to consider the impact of such decisions on

the Council, individuals, groups and the wider community.
A Community Impact Assessment has been carried out and can be found in Appendix 3.

This document assesses the impact of the Review on the wider community in order to
ensure equalities legislation was complied with and that all stakeholders have been
appropriately consulted with. It sets out what the Council has done to ensure accessibility

of information and equality of opportunity to become involved.

Some key decisions have been made throughout the process that have impacted on the
community of Northampton as a whole; including property standards, service standards,
and new build provision. The engagement structures in place have enabled all of these
decisions to be influenced by tenants. All outcomes of the Review are positive and there
is no visible negative impact on any resident of Northampton. Residents can expect to see
additional provision for environmental improvements following the drafting of the
Northampton Standard and tenants can expect to see an increase in the quality and
standard of their homes. All tenants have been given opportunities to take an active part
in the Review, either directly through being part of the TP, or indirectly through being kept
informed via post, attending Tenants’ Conferences or accessing on-line or telephone

support services.

The Council has ensured that an experienced ITA was appointed to support tenants,
particularly vulnerable tenants, by delivering over 160 outreach meetings and offering

home or telephone appointments to those tenants unable to attend meetings.

No group has been marginalised by the process itself or by the results of the process. The
result of the process does not affect tenants’ rights or employees’ rights, but does provide

additional engagement opportunities for both groups of key stakeholders.

Identifying the Options

Historically, when council housing stock transfer was first made possible, within the terms
of the Housing Act 1985, a Council could either transfer its homes to an existing Housing
Association (subject to a positive tenant ballot), or it retain its homes and continue to

manage them in the current manner.

963 )



7.2

7.3

7.4

As the transfer programme developed over the years, new options began to develop and

Councils could;

Establish a new ‘stand-alone’ and locally based housing association to whom
homes could be transferred.

Form a housing association which would then become part of the group structure
of an existing association (or even to form a new group with an existing stand-
alone organisation).

In the cases where retention was considered the best option; Transfer the
management of their homes and still maintain ownership by creating a new ‘arms-
length’ (and council-owned organisation) called an Arms Length Management
Organisation (ALMO).

Continue to be the landlord but sign a long term contract with a private contractor
to provide the investment capital needed to repair and improve homes, with the
contractor physically doing that work, and the housing management services for
those homes transferred for the life of the contract to the private contractor’s
housing association partner (i.e. what was known as the ‘Private Finance Initiative’
- PFI).

Create a mutual housing association where tenants, as members of the
organisation, had a major role in its governance.

Contract out housing management to a private contractor whilst retaining

ownership of the homes.

The TP, EFG and HOP were advised of the above options and an initial list of ten possible

options was drawn up for consideration. The list included;

Contracting-out the housing service

Retention (with no change to the operation of the service)
Retention (with a major service review)

Retention (with an ALMO)

Transfer (to a stand-alone association)

Transfer (to a mutual association)

Transfer (to become a subsidiary of an existing association)
Transfer (i.e. absorption by an existing association)
Transfer (to a Community Gateway organisation)

PFI (Private Finance Initiative)

Following discussions within the EFG, TP and HOP regarding the nature and implications

of each of the options, a decision was made by the HOP, with the agreement of the TP

9733



7.5

7.6

7.7

and EFG, to reduce the options to be considered by the Review process, down to six. The

following four options were discounted;

Contracting out

>
>

Reason for removal;
Contracting out the management service would have removed direct
council control over the housing management service and would have

marginalised tenant involvement in it.

Transfer via absorption

Reason for removal;
Transfer by being absorbed by an existing housing association was judged

as never likely to be supported by a ballot of tenants

Reason for removal;

PFI was very unlikely to attract significant investment funding, due to
Central Government financial support ceasing to be available for housing
PFI, and due to the lack of support of tenants to the proposed PFI scheme
in Eastfield

Transfer to a Community Gateway

>
>

Reason for removal;
Community gateway was ruled out because the broader mutual model
adopted by Rochdale Boroughwide Housing seemed to offer much more in

terms of tenant involvement in governance and mutual ownership.

The reduction in options left the Council with six options: three retention options; and

three transfer options.

The options were reduced further by one, Option 1 (retention with no change in the

operation of the service) in early summer 2013 due to the TP and EFG jointly agreeing

that it was no longer possible to continue assessing it as a viable option.

The reasoning was as follows:

The Tenant Survey responses clearly identified significant weaknesses in current
service delivery. The Tenants’ Panel felt that the survey results showed that any
form of ‘status quo’ option would be unacceptable to tenants.

The development of tenant-led Service Improvement Groups (SIPs) which had been
running in parallel to the Housing Options Review process was, in effect, the first

step in a major service review.

98,



8.1

8.1

8.2

8.21

8.2.11

Evidence Gathering for the Review

Supporting Evidence

Following the selection of the options to be assessed, the Review process required a
significant amount of robust and up to date supporting evidence covering various issues.

The evidence required included;

° A baseline analysis of the Councils current Housing Business Plan, service costs
and performance levels;- to assess whether the underlying financial provisions
built into any new Council HRA Business Plans were likely to be at the right level
to achieve the Council’s objectives and to ensure value for money

o The Tenant Survey:- to identify tenant satisfaction levels with council housing
services and identify priorities for improvement

o A Stock Condition Survey:- to enable the Review to have access to up to date
information on the condition of the Housing stock, how much it would cost to bring
homes up to government minimum standards and maintain homes at this level for
30 years, as well as providing costs for improving and maintaining homes to a
higher, Northampton Standard

o Asset Analysis information:- to compare the level and timing of expenditure on the
properties with the income stream from rents and therefore support appropriate

investment and management decisions and planning to be made.

An overview of the findings from each of the above evidence gathering exercises is
detailed below. A full report for each is available as detailed below as either a key

document to this report or accessible as a background paper.

Baseline Analysis of NBC Financial and Performance
Background

An assessment of the Council’'s expenditure plans, based on a comparison with other
similar local authorities, was undertaken by Savills as an essential part of the Review.
(Full assessment findings contained in Key Doc 11) Alongside this, an assessment of the
performance of the housing service was undertaken, again making comparisons with
other similar local authorities, and where possible, with those authorities where financial

comparison, as well as performance information, was available.

993 5



8.2.1.2

8.2.1.3

8.2.2

8.2.21

8.2.2.2

8.2.2.3

It was felt that this approach was essential in order to assess whether the underlying
financial provisions built into any new Council HRA Business Plans were likely to be at the
right level to achieve the Council’s objectives and to ensure value for money. It was
fundamental to the Review that the budgets being used as the baseline were accurate
and at the correct level, prior to the work being extended to model the costs for the
various options, to ensure that the options analysis was built on a sound base. A key part
of the assessment was to identify whether the cost for the current service provided for

housing was reasonable.

A proper assessment of value for money could not be made without analysing the
performance of the Housing service. The most appropriate method of comparison could
be made by drawing on data submitted to a key housing sector benchmarking data club,
Housemark. Analysis also included cross-checking the results with those obtained by the
Tenant Survey, to ensure consistency. The benchmarking analysis was then compared

to the financial analysis to identify any key trends or indicators.

Methodology

The starting point for the assessment of the existing position was a review of the cost of
delivering the housing landlord service to see whether costs were reasonable, and
whether the Council and residents received value for money for the level of costs. Costs
were compared with other similar authorities, based on published financial statements of
HRAs and budgets. A comparison was also made between Northampton and other
similar authorities with what central government assessed as a reasonable level of
expenditure under the former HRA subsidy system and in the calculation of debt for HRA
self-financing. The baseline was assessed using the statement of accounts for 2011/12
and the budget for 2012/13.

The comparator councils were chosen based on those with similar council house stock
holdings (between 15,700 and 8,100 homes) and similar organisational arrangements
(e.g. District councils rather than Unitary authorities). The councils selected, with their

respective housing stocks, are set out in The Baseline Analysis Key Doc 11 .
The quality of the Housing Service was assessed using Housemark data from 2010/11

and 2011/12 and from the Council’'s Tenant Survey undertaken by Ipsos MORI. This

provided a correlation between costs and comparative performance.

100



8.2.3

8.2.3.1

8.2.3.2

8.2.3.3

8.2.3.4

Comparison of Costs

The debt allocation made by the Government at the start of HRA Self Financing, used
assumptions relating to the reasonable spending needs of each council and the level of
rents chargeable, which are governed by national rent policy. These assumptions took
into account elements such as; the number, age and condition of properties, void turn-
over rates, and deprivation levels. The levels of debt allocated to Northampton and the

comparator authorities correlated largely in line with the level of rent charged.

The analysis used the most up to date audited accounts available at the time. The
accounts used were for the year 2011/12. The expenditure shown in the published
statement of accounts for each council in the comparator group was compared with the
allowances made available in the housing subsidy system. Northampton had both the
highest expenditure needs per dwelling as assessed by the Government and also had the
highest recorded expenditure per dwelling. Northampton recorded £3,777 million
expenditure for special services but only raised service charges of £1.320 million. The
analysis therefore identified that the Council should investigate the process of service re-
charging to ascertain whether there was an option for additional fee income to be raised
to minimise the gap in costs with the income levels received through current recharge
policy. The detailed assessment of this, covering areas such as caretaking and cleaning,

communal areas, and supporting people, was outside the scope of this project.

In 2012/13 the subsidy system was replaced with HRA Self Financing. The calculation of
the debt relating to this included increases to management and maintenance allowances
at higher than inflation. Some authorities used this as a basis for increasing their
expenditure budgets. Of the comparator authorities, Northampton had the highest
assumed expenditure needs, based on the elements such as those detailed above, but
only the second highest expenditure; all but one of the comparator councils had increased
their expenditure by more than inflation, an increase that was mostly targeted at

management costs.

Analysis of more detailed expenditure areas for the Council’s housing service showed the

following:

e The proportion of expenditure on employees, after adjusting for Direct Labour
Organisation (DLO) costs, was broadly in line with the comparator councils

e The proportion of expenditure on support services (i.e. recharges from other council

departments) is approximately one fifth of expenditure which is in line with information

1O§7

collected from the comparators



8.2.3.5

8.24

8.2.41

8.2.4.2

8.2.5

8.2.5.1

e The budget for stock options appraisal is within the overall costs for 2012/13
e The costs of the “Major Works and Estate Renewal Team” are shown within the
revenue budget and although this is acceptable accounting practice, these costs would

normally be shown as capital costs.
The analysis of overall costs showed;

e That the Council's costs were in line with those of the comparator councils, when
taking into account the number, types of property and the levels of deprivation in the
area.

e After factoring in the issues raised within the 3rd and 4th bullet points above, there
were indications that the Council was potentially underinvesting in the revenue
management and maintenance of the Housing Stock when assessed against the

comparator councils, by over £2m per year.

30 Year Business Plan Baseline Analysis

The Business Plan is based on three year detailed estimates and a projection of income

and expenditure for the remaining years. The key assumptions included within the plan

include: -

e General Inflation at 2%

e Rent rises from year 4 at RPI only not RPI + 72 %

e Void rent loss at 2.5%

¢ Interest charges at 3.29% for existing loan portfolio, 5.5% for further borrowing, and
1% for investments

e New housing provision of 40 units per year from 2014/15

e Estate regeneration of £26m over the first 7 years of the plan and subsequent

investment later in the plan

The HRA Business Plan accounting year one was 2012/13. The plan showed that the
cash flow largely breaks even in years 4 to 7 when there was a planned peak in capital
investment and then returned a steady year on year surplus. The Business Plan
demonstrated that even with the prudent assumptions, the Council could have the

resources to repay all of its housing debt by year 30 of the plan.
Correlation with Satisfaction Data

Detailed analysis of the Tenant Survey responses are considered in more detail in section

8.3.3 below, however, the high level findings have relevance when benchmarking the

10;8



8.2.5.2

8.2.6

8.2.6.1

8.2.6.2

8.2.7

8.2.71

service performance. The survey was carried out independently on behalf of the Council
by Ipsos MORI in October 2012 and received a response rate of 26.55%. The main
findings of the Survey were that there were significantly lower levels of tenant satisfaction
in Northampton compared to other housing providers previously surveyed by MORI.
Some key areas of concern were: -

e Repairs and maintenance

e Overall quality of home

e How much views are taken into account

e Anti-social behaviour

Comparing the results to surveys previously carried out in Northampton, there was

evidence of a decline in service quality over the two years leading up to the survey.

Correlation with Housemark Data

Data sets used from Housemark for comparison purposes included: -

e Measures of “corporate health” included staff turnover and working days lost to staff
sickness

e Repair performance as measured by cost, completion times, appointments made and
kept, and resident satisfaction with the service

e Key indicators necessary for financial strength including minimising rent lost from
empty properties and rent arrears

e Satisfaction with housing management services and wider neighbourhood quality

A comparison of all of these measures relating directly to the housing service
performance with other housing providers subscribing to Housemark in 2010/11 showed
that Northampton was in the lower or lower middle quartile. There had been some
movement in performance between 2010/11 and 2011/12, although all indicators

remained in the lower or lower middle quartile.

Baseline Analysis Conclusions

The key findings from the baseline analysis were as follows;

¢ Although on first analysis, the revenue costs within Northampton’s HRA appeared
reasonable, when one-off expenditure was removed and major repairs costs allocated
to capital, it appeared that the revenue expenditure was under resourced by over
£2m

10339



8.3

8.3.1

8.3.1.1

8.3.1.2

8.3.2

8.3.2.1

e The Council recorded £3,777 million expenditure for special services but only raised
service charges from tenants and leaseholders for £1.320 million of this amount. The
analysis highlighted that this situation should be investigated further to ascertain

whether there was the potential for additional income to be raised to minimise this gap

¢ When comparing the baseline analysis with the outputs of the Tenant Survey and the
Housemark benchmarking, it appeared that the lack of investment in service provision
could have contributed to the low levels of performance and tenant satisfaction. The
findings from this analysis were used as a key part of the review evidence, leading to
the EFG and TP undertaking several workshops specifying improved draft service
standards. The resources to finance additional expenditure were also built in to

subsequent financial analyses and the appraisal of the options.

Tenant Survey

Background

At the start of the Review, Ipsos MORI were commissioned to carry out a tenant survey.
The survey was designed to provide up-to-date, robust and independent information
concerning levels of tenant satisfaction with various aspects of the Council’s housing
service. The survey was also needed to test tenant awareness of, and desire to be
involved in, the Housing Options Review and identify their priorities for the housing

service going forward.

The results of the survey were a key piece of evidence for the review. The EFG and TP
needed this information to assess where improvements were needed and to support
development of new service and property standards to ensure that the widest possible
tenant views were incorporated into any new proposals developed as part of the Review

process.

Methodology

The survey was designed to give all tenants the opportunity to provide their views and
was conducted using an eight page questionnaire. Ipsos MORI utilised a combined postal
and online self-completion methodology between 27 September and 27 October 2012.
The postal survey involved an initial mail out to all 14,037 NBC tenants named on tenancy
agreements. This was followed up with a reminder mail out, including an additional copy
of the questionnaire, to those who had not responded. Tenants were signposted to the

online version of the questionnaire and tenants for whom NBC held a valid email address
40



8.3.2.2

8.3.3

8.3.3.1

8.3.3.2

were sent a link to the online questionnaire at the time of the initial mail out and the

reminder mail out. This procedure was repeated at the time of the reminder mail out.

Ipsos MORI advised that a response level of 20% would be good. In fact, a total of 3,727
responses were received; 3,636 returned postal questionnaires and 91 online responses.
The response rate was 26.55%, which Ipsos MORI said was excellent. Data analysed in
the Tenant Survey was weighted to the overall profile of the Council’s tenants by age,
ethnicity, and number of bedrooms in the property to ensure results were representative

of key demographic sub-groups.
Findings
The survey results, shown in table 1 below, demonstrate that around seven in ten tenants

or more were satisfied with the overall housing service provided by Northampton, as well

as satisfied with individual services such as repairs and maintenance and the quality of

their home.

(%)
Satisfied with overall service provided 75
Rate NBC as good at keeping tenants informed 78
Satisfied with neighbourhood as place to live T2
Satisfied with overall quality of home 72
Satisfied with repairs and maintenance service 71
Satisfied with value for money of rent 70
Rate condition of property as good against the Decent Homes Standard 66
Satisfied that tenants' views are taken into account 55
Satisfied with the way the Council deals with anti-social behaviour 51

Table 1- Source- Ipsos MORI, NBC Tenant Survey Report 2012

However, performance was not entirely positive; with satisfaction levels much lower for
the way the Council dealt with anti-social behaviour, the way it took tenants views into
account and the value for money of service charges, where approximately 50% of tenants
were satisfied. Dealing with anti-social behaviour was identified by 40% of tenants as in
need of improvement, and therefore stood out as a key area for focus. Whilst levels of
satisfaction with repairs and maintenance services and ensuring tenants were satisfied
with the quality of their home were fairly high, they were identified as the top two priorities
by tenants and the services most in need of improvement. This suggested that further and
continued improvement was necessary to ensure that the relative performance of these

key services met the relative importance placed on them by tenants.

101?1



8.3.3.3

8.3.4

8.3.4.1

8.3.4.2

8.3.4.3

Across a range of services delivered by the Council, results showed that older tenants
and white tenants were most likely to be satisfied, while younger tenants and those from
BME backgrounds were less likely. This followed a similar pattern identified by Ipsos
MORI in their research for other social landlords. Disabled tenants were significantly more
likely to say they were satisfied with the housing service overall than the whole of the

tenant population.

Trend Results

Table 2 below highlights the results of this most recent survey against the previous four
surveys of this type, carried out on behalf of the Council. The previous surveys took place
in 2006, spring 2008, winter 2008 and 2010. The full Ipsos MORI Northampton Tenant

Survey Report is available as a background paper to this report.

(%) (%) (%) (%) (%) | (+/- %pts)

Satisfied with overall service
provided 63 a4 68 78 75 -3

Satisfied with overall quality of
home [ satisfied with 71 75 3 79 72 e
accommodation

Rate general condition of property
as good / satisfied with general
condition of property / property =3 68 =153 72 66 -6
rated as good against the Decent
Homes Standard

Satisfied with neighbourhood as
place ta live 44 (=13 &1 83 T2 -1

Agrae rent represents good value
for money / satisfied with value 62 ] 532 Tr 70 -
for money of rent

Satisfied with repairs and

maintenance service 66 &7 69 T2 71 =3

Satisfied with the way the Council

deals with anti-social behaviour —~ = — = 51 DA

Satisfied that tenants’ views are

taken into account BS T3 58 &7 55 12

Rate NBC as good at keeping

tenants informed 68 76 [ 85 78 7
Table 2

This table demonstrates that there had been a general gradual improvement over time,
but satisfaction rates in 2012 were lower than in 2010, although not always to a significant

degree.

For example, satisfaction among tenants with services overall was observed at 63% in
2006, but was 12 percentage points higher at 75% in 2012. However, the figure for 2012
showed a small fall on that recorded in 2010. Satisfaction that tenants’ views are taken
into account had declined over time, and had dropped 30 percentage points between

2006 and 2012. The satisfaction amongst tenants in regard to being kept informed by the
106
42



Council dropped 7 percentage points between 2010 and 2012, suggesting that

engagement strategies had not been utilised.
8.3.5 Future of Housing Services and the Housing Options Review

8.3.5.1 It was interesting to note that 83% of tenants agreed that the quality of service they
received was more important than who delivered those services. The EFG and TP took
this view into account in carrying out the options evaluation and scoring exercise. This
view indicated that tenants were open to changes to the way housing services were

delivered in the future as long as service quality was improved and maintained.

8.3.5.2 When tenants were asked to identify the specific aspects of home, repairs and
neighbourhood services they felt were most important, there were clear indications of the
areas for focus. In relation to their home, the key aspects identified were security and
warmth of the home. For repairs, the key aspects were the quality of work and the way in
which repairs appointments were organised and carried out. For the neighbourhood,
tenants placed a greater emphasis on the maintenance of roads and footpaths. Parking
facilities also appeared important, as did children’s play areas. In relation to
neighbourhood safety, lighting and other neighbourhood safety measures were deemed
most important. Tenants also placed emphasis on taking action in relation to crime and

anti-social behaviour.

8.3.5.3 This information, together with other results from the survey, were utilised in the formation
of the draft Northampton Standard; a set of standards drawn up by the TP and the EFG in
relation to the standard of service tenants should receive and the standards of
improvements to be made to homes and estates. Further information on the Northampton

Standard is detailed in section 8.4 .

8.3.54 Over four in five (83%) tenants who remembered receiving information about the Review
said the information had helped them understand it a lot or a little. There was an appetite
amongst tenants to receive more information about the Review, and tenants showed a
clear preference for receiving information in writing, ideally by letter, but also by
newsletter and email. The appetite for involvement in the Review was not as strong, with
17% of tenants interested in being involved. This information was fundamentally important
in relation to the Council’'s Community Impact Assessment (Appendix 3) where
consideration of how the Council has ensured information was accessible and
appropriately shared and that opportunities for involvement in the review were as

inclusive as possible.

10473



8.3.5.5

8.4

8.4.1

8.4.1.1

8.4.1.2

8.4.1.3

8.4.14

8.11.1.5

Whilst satisfaction levels appeared fairly high, when compared with other similar
authorities via Housemark benchmarking (Key Doc 11), levels of satisfaction with Council
services were in the bottom quartile throughout a number of criteria. This provided
demonstrable context regarding the satisfaction of council tenants and the way in which

the service was performing and therefore validated the responses gathered from tenants.

Stock Condition Survey
Background

Savills surveyors carried out a Stock Condition Survey of the Council’s Housing Stock in
the autumn of 2012, with a view to assessing the current and future repairs and
maintenance liability. Savills were specifically asked to assess what work was required to
bring all properties up to the Government’s minimum DHS and maintain them at that

standard for the next 30 years, together with meeting other landlord statutory obligations.

The DHS was originally issued in March 2001 and it provided a minimum standard for
properties to be maintained at. Various updates to the standard have taken place since
2001. The original intention was for all properties across the country to meet the
Standard by 2010. The Council’s current programme of works will see all non-decent
properties brought up to the DHS by 2015/16, utilising the back-log funding awarded by

government.

The key elements of the DHS are that properties must be:
a) Free of category 1 hazards under the new Housing Health and Safety Rating System
b) In a reasonable state of repair
c) Have reasonably modern facilities and services
)

d) Provide a reasonable degree of thermal comfort

In addition to assessing the costs to meet the DHS, Savills were asked to model the costs
to maintain the properties at a higher Northampton Standard, developed by the EFG and
TP, over a 30 year period. TP and EFG members worked on developing the Northampton
Standard throughout the review process and did not finalise it until they had the benefit of
a full overview of affordability. This meant that it was not possible to cost the new

Northampton Standard at the point the survey was undertaken.

In order to provide a comparison to costs associated with improving homes to the DHS
and that of a higher standard, Savills incorporated indicative costs for a ‘Modern

Standard’ for comparison purposes only within their draft report, using their experience.

10?4



8.4.2

8.4.2.1

8.4.2.2

8.4.2.3

8.4.2.4

8.4.2.5

8.4.2.6

These indicative costs were later replaced by the costs to implement the new
Northampton Standard after it was finalised by the TP and EFG in August 2013.

Approach to the Survey

Savills were initially provided with information relating to the Council’s housing assets
including details of the Council’'s 12,122 rented properties. A comprehensive analysis was
undertaken at the outset of the project to design the sample to ensure that it adequately
covered all stock types. This included a detailed review of the Council’'s non- traditional
housing stock, which typically requires greater levels of investment in order to maintain

them to a lettable standard.

Properties were carefully selected to form a representative 25% sample (1 property in
every 4) based on property type, age and location. The Council chose to use a 25%
sample rather than a more traditionally used 10-12% sample in order to ensure that the
information obtained was as accurate as possible and that the data would be able to be
used in due course for investment planning. The survey fieldwork included both internal
and external survey of the stock to provide reliable information on costs and provide

detailed information on the extent and nature of all future works required.

The survey work was undertaken during July and August 2012 and all data collected was
captured in a bespoke database in order to produce the results contained within the final
Stock Condition Survey Report (Key Doc14). As part of the exercise, Savills also
assessed the condition and future repairs and maintenance liabilities of the related assets

associated with the Council Housing Stock which included garages and other assets.

A specialist team of surveyors, all of whom were Chartered Surveyors or staff of similar
standing, carried out the survey work. The team selected had extensive experience in
mass survey projects and were fully briefed on the requirements of the survey before any

inspections were carried out on site.

The Council wrote to all tenants prior to commencement of the survey field work
explaining the purpose of the survey and that Savills had been appointed to undertake the
work. All surveyors carried a letter of authority from the Council wore an identification
badge. The survey process was successful and very little negative feedback was

received from the tenants in relation to the survey process.

The survey fieldwork involved inspection of the properties to identify the timing and costs

profile required for replacement of specific building elements such as roofs, kitchens,

10195



8.4.2.7

8.4.2.8

8.4.3

8.4.3.1

8.4.3.2

8.4.3.3

electrical wiring etc. All building elements have a natural life expectancy, at the end of
which they have to be replaced. The life expectancies used in generating costs were
based on the following:

e Industry standards

e Savills’ experience

e The Decent Homes Standard

When the surveys were completed, data was collated and extensive validation was
undertaken by Savills electronically to check for anomalies and inconsistencies. The

Council also validated the findings for its own purposes.

Savills used the information obtained through the surveys to cost the works to improve

and maintain properties at the DHS and the new Northampton Standard.
Key Findings

As part of the survey, Savills made an assessment of the level of non-decency in the
housing stock. They identified that approximately 40% of the stock failed the standard at
the time of inspection in 2012 and they confirmed that this will increase significantly during
the next 5 years without the necessary investment being made, as components reach the

end of their useful life and need to be replaced.

Savills highlighted that the DHS was a relatively low standard and that it was a minimum
basic standard from which to build upon rather than a standard to aspire to achieve.
Tenant feedback obtained through the Ipsos MORI survey also showed that this standard

does not meet the aspirations of tenants moving forward.

Savills identified that significant investment was required in order to upgrade and
modernise the properties. Externally the roof coverings were generally in serviceable
condition but an increasing programme of renewal would be required over the next 30
years. In the short term a significant programme was required to replace rainwater goods
and fascias together with some of the timber cladding. Windows and doors had generally
been replaced by the Council over the years although Savills confirmed that there would
be a requirement to replace some of the existing double glazed windows during the next
10 years. External areas surrounding properties across housing estates, including paths,
fencing, outbuildings etc. were found to have received little attention therefore significant

investment is required to make necessary improvements.

11496



8.4.3.4

8.4.3.5

8.4.3.6

8.4.3.7

8.4.3.7

Whilst work was required to the external fabric of the properties, as outlined above, by far
the most significant investment related to the inside of the properties. In particular, a very
significant programme of kitchen and bathroom replacement was required with upgrading
of the wiring taking place at the same time. This programme alone equated to over half of
the investment required in the short term. The maijority of properties had central heating
systems although some of these systems were old and needed replacing, which included

the replacement of some older warm air systems.

The Council’s stock includes a number of properties of non-traditional construction
including Airey, BISF, Gregory, Hawksley, Orlit and Unity properties. Some of these
properties were found to suffer from structural defects and many had poor thermal
insulation qualities due to the nature of the construction. Seventy-nine of the properties
were designated defective under the Housing Defects Act 1985. The stock had generally
been well maintained and some of the properties had previous repairs undertaken or had
been over clad with insulated render. The Council has commissioned a specialist firm of
engineers, Curtins Consulting, to investigate the condition of these properties and they
have provided a comprehensive report, a copy of which is included at within Key
Document 14. Savills have incorporated the recommendations and findings of Curtins

work within the cost profiles included in their full report.

Savills did not undertake a detailed asbestos survey as part of the survey programme
although they did note evidence of asbestos during the course of their inspections. The
Council has a comprehensive asbestos register and has an ongoing programme of
removal of asbestos when necessary to do so, as part of the major works programme.
Savills confirmed that this programme would need to continue as the stock was
modernised and components were replaced, thus often disturbing asbestos that could be
present. Allowance for this work was included in the 30 year costs profile set out within

the full Stock Condition Survey Report.

Savills’ findings highlighted that the investment in the stock during the last 10 years had

necessarily focused on work to meet the Decent Homes Standard which does not include
any requirement to undertake work to the general environment around the properties. As
a consequence, as mentioned above, there were a large number of areas across estates

that would benefit from substantial environmental works.

Savills identified that in addition to work within the boundary of properties, such as
fencing, paths, gates etc. this work could also include a more holistic approach to

improving the environment on some estates. Measures, including additional car parking,

111i|7



8.44

8.4.4.1

8.44.2

8.4.4.3

8.44.4

8.4.5

8.4.5.1

improved security measures for front and back doors, could all form part of a more

comprehensive estate based improvement programme.
Costing the Works

As part of the main survey fieldwork, Savills assessed the condition of the properties
within their boundary, encompassing fencing, gates and paths. In terms of the
environment outside the properties, Savills incorporated provision within their costs for
environmental improvements, such as off road parking, bin stores, refurbished drying
areas, sheds and play areas within the Northampton Standard schedule only, due to the

fact that the DHS did not cover environmental improvement work.

The work identified as part of the Stock Condition Survey was costed by means of a
schedule of rates. The rates adopted by Savills within their report were based on those
which they believed could be achieved using modern and effective procurement methods
and reflected their experience elsewhere. Schedules of rates were also agreed with the
Council. Savills confirmed that care would be needed to ensure that the work was
delivered within the price base included within these schedules to allow works to be

delivered within the costs allocation.

Appendices 1 and 2 of Savills’ report, provided summaries of 30 year costs based on both
the DHS and the Northampton Standard. The first appendix titled ‘Decent
Homes/Statutory Obligations’ reflected the minimum works required to comply with
Decent Homes and other statutory obligations. This scenario excluded any provision for
work to the environment or improvements required to the properties which did not fall
within the strict interpretation of Decent Homes. The total cost over 30 years was
£692,712,883, equating to a 30 year cost per property of £57,145.

The second appendix entitled ‘Northampton Standard’, detailed costs which included all
the costs in the first scenario plus an additional allowance for environmental
improvements and additional work to the properties themselves to improve them and
bring them up to a more modern standard. As already mentioned, this standard was
developed in conjunction with the tenants. The total cost under this scenario increased to

£850,983,395 over 30 years equating to a cost per property of £70,202.
Using the Information

The Stock Condition Survey and Tenant Survey information were key pieces of primary

evidence for the review. Having an understanding of the priorities for improvement for

114?8



8.5

8.5.1

8.5.1.1

8.5.2

8.5.2.1

tenants, robust up-to date costs for implementing such improvements, as well as future
repairs and maintenance costs was essential to the review. The information obtained,
supported the TP and EFG groups in the development of the Northampton Standard and

to in the assessment of each of the options in terms of their ability to afford this standard.

Asset Analysis

Background

As part of the Review, a detailed asset analysis of the stock was carried out by Savills
consultants. The purpose of this work was to identify the best and worst performing stock
from a financial and a sustainability perspective. This analysis would then be used as a
basis for undertaking more work to produce a new detailed and comprehensive Asset
Management Strategy for the Council. This analysis could also demonstrate to all key
stakeholders, the Council’s intention to consider value for money aspects, when
prioritising and targeting future expenditure. It was not the intention of this Review to
produce a full Asset Management Strategy, but for whoever is or became the landlord as
a result of this Review, to take this work forward through its own management and
governance structures. The final Asset Analysis Report is not a key document for the
purposes of the Housing Options Review; however it is available as a background

document (Background Doc 2).
Asset Performance Evaluation

The initial results showed that a relatively large proportion of the stock had cashflows that

were either not strong enough to support the level of investment required, or marginal,

representing a significant risk to the business plan where slight changes in assumptions

could reduce these cashflows to a level where they could not support future investment.

This information is important because in considering any future option for the whole stock,

the Council would need to consider options to mitigate funding pressures associated with

poorly performing assets which might include;

e Alternative investment strategies to adjust the investment standard

¢ Management initiatives — for example, efficiencies in management costs or reductions
in underlying maintenance or repair expenditure or reduction of voids, or increases in
income subject to the Council’s policies on rents and service charges.

e Exploring alternative options for poorly performing stock, setting interim investment
programmed for this stock until options appraisals are carried out.

e Regeneration or redevelopment (with or without additional subsidy from the Business

Plan)
113;9



8.5.3

8.5.3.1

8.54

8.5.4.1

8.54.2

9.1

9.11

9.1.2

¢ Alternative use which generated additional income to cover costs

e Capital and Land use/development potential may also impact on investment strategies.
Non-Financial Sustainability Analysis

In parallel with the financial modelling, a comparative assessment of neighbourhood
sustainability across the stock was undertaken with the intention of establishing a broader
context in which to assess financial performance of assets linked to the appraisal of future
options, and Northampton’s neighbourhood and community strategies. The full results are
contained within the Asset Analysis Report which is a background document to this

report.

Future Asset Management Approach

The asset performance evaluation focused on a current-day financial analysis of the stock
at a high level. The asset analysis work could then be used to increase Business Plan
capacity in the context of the stock options appraisal, as part of a future Asset

Management Strategy.

This analysis will form the starting point for the development of an informed
comprehensive Asset Management Strategy to support the preferred option’s future 30

year Business Plan.

Analysis and Assessment of the Options

Background

As detailed above, the early stages of the Review involved gathering key evidence

relating to;

¢ Understanding the Council’s current expenditure for housing services and comparing
them with other similar authorities

¢ Identifying tenants’ priorities for future improvement through the Tenant Survey

e Establishing the costs for works required to bring homes up to the Decent Homes

Standard and higher Northampton Standard through the Stock Condition Survey

EFG, TP and HOP members were then supported to use this evidence to assess each of
the five options to see which one(s) could best meet the Mission Statement goals for the

Review.

114



9.1.3 The approach taken to support the EFG and TP groups in covering the key subjects for

consideration was mainly undertaken by holding 3 types of regular meetings:

e ITA-led development sessions, where the ITA prepared and presented information to

the Panel to raise our awareness and understanding of specific issues and to allow time

to prepare for discussion of the topic with the Council, and where appropriate with the

EFG;

e Council-led sessions which, once the structures and process of the Review had been

agreed, focused on each of the key topics or issues needed to be considered and form a

view on;

¢ Joint workshop sessions, where the TP and EFG groups worked together on specific

issues such as developing the draft Northampton Standard.

9.2 Approach to Analysis and Evaluation

9.2.1 After the TP and EFG considered the above Tenant and Stock Condition Surveys and

their implications, their work programme continued to explore the following areas and

outcomes of the resulting work from both of the groups is explained in more detail below;

e The development of the Northampton Standard; which included development of new

service standards and property standards

>

>
>

Evaluating the options;

The development of the options criteria framework to assess each of the
options;
The development of the weighting process for each of the criteria;

The development of the scoring process and how to compare the options

° Financial Issues;

>

An overview of the Council’s existing HRA

» Council finance and the HRA and how stock transfer worked
» Financial issues in transfer and retention
» Analysis of the 5 options to consider affordability of the Northampton Standard
and potential for delivery of new homes;
° Consideration of the options for the provision of new homes
° Government Guidance on Housing Stock Transfer
° Visits from Transfer and Retention organisations
9.2.2 In addition, the following areas were also presented, challenged discussed and taken into

consideration in assessing the options:

1



9.3

9.3.1

9.3.2

9.3.3

9.34

° Tenancy Rights & Tenancy Agreements

° Employee Rights

° Recap on the Decent Homes Standard

° Financial issues presented by Savills

o Governance issues in retention and transfer

o Characteristics of the ALMO Model in detail

° Informal and formal consultation: Overview of an Offer document and the ballot in

housing stock transfer

Revisions sessions across all key subject areas

Development of the Northampton Standard

The Northampton Standard was developed by the TP and EFG over a number of months,
taking into account wider tenant priorities from the Tenant Survey and feedback from the
conferences. The standard included two elements; new standards for improvements to

properties and new draft housing service standards.

The TP and EFG worked to develop initial proposals for new service standards and
towards the end of the review, passed them to the Council to continue their development,
following the introduction of Housing Service Improvement Panels. Cost estimates for
introducing the new standards were assessed and these have been built into the financial

analysis and were used when assessing affordability for each of the options.

This newly developed property standards providing physical improvements to properties

and estates included works which were above the minimum DHS.

The Northampton Standard included:

e All work detailed in the Government’s basic Decent Homes Standard

e A generally higher quality specification e.g. showers over baths

e Bathroom improvements such as heating, adjustable height shower heads, choice of
bath or shower (with both in larger homes), mixer taps

¢ Kitchen improvements such as layout changes to increase space for appliances,
improve flooring and cupboard space, quality materials with choice of finish, and more
electrical points

e Environmental improvements to estate roads and paths, improved parking provision,
secure bin storage

e Security lighting and window locks

e Improvements to heating and insulation to reduce heating costs

11562



9.3.5

9.3.6

9.4

9.4.1

9.4.2

9.5

9.5.1

9.5.2

For modelling purposes, it was assumed that improvements would be delivered at the

next scheduled replacement cycle rather than as a one off improvement beforehand.

The physical standard elements of the Northampton Standard were also assessed by
Savills and costs were estimated at £851m over 30 years. This information was key to
assessing each of the options and their ability to afford the new standard. Full details
regarding the Northampton Standard characteristics and costs are detailed within the
Stock Condition Survey Report (Key Doc 14).

Evaluating the options

The evaluation process developed jointly by the TP and EFG had three elements;

e The development of the options criteria framework; including the issues that tenants
and employees felt were important for any of the options to deliver against;

e The development of a scoring framework; to provide an objective approach scoring
each of the options against each criteria element;

¢ The development of a scoring weighting framework; identifying the criteria most and

least important to the TP and EFG members.

In addition to the above elements, an Options Comparison Document was developed for

use as a comparison tool, to support the final scoring process.
Development of the options criteria framework

The criteria development process also took several months to complete and new criteria
were added to the draft criteria document throughout the review, to ensure that any new
elements felt to be of importance to the EFG and TP could be included. The early

workshop sessions produced around 176 ideas and these were collated to create a type
of prospectus for a new organisation, capable of being adopted and implemented by any

of the options. (Key Doc 15)

Not all of the 176 ideas were capable of supporting the assessment of the options, as
many of them could have potentially been delivered through all of them. The criteria
selected needed to be able to support identification of the differences between the
options. The EFG and TP were therefore supported to select the most important elements
out of the 176 and the groups finally condensed the list down to 46 individual criteria,

capable of being objectively scored. The Options Comparison Criteria are detailed in Key

Doc 16.
11;3



9.5.3

9.54

9.6

9.6.1

The TP and EFG grouped the individual criteria which formed the basis of the final scoring
framework into eight policy categories. The categories agreed were:
1. Accountability, Participation, and Power (encompassed 12 criteria)
To what extent could the option have the potential to empower tenants and/ or
employees in the decision-making by the housing organisation?
2. Tenants’ Rights and Involvement (encompassed 7 criteria)
To what extent could the option protect and develop tenant rights?
3. Employee Issues (encompassed 4 criteria)
To what extent could the option protect and develop employee rights?
4. Financial Implications — including rents (encompassed 12 criteria)
To what extent was it likely that the option would deliver the resources needed to meet
both the investment and service improvement needs of Northampton Borough Council
homes, and how would decisions on setting rents and service charges be taken?
5. Quality of Homes (encompassed 1 criterion)
To what extent was the option capable of delivering and maintaining the Decent
Homes Standard over the life of a 30 year Business Plan?
6. Impact on Local Community and Economy (encompassed 2 criteria)
To what extent was the option likely to lead to a positive contribution to developing the
local community and economy?
9. Legal Framework and Equality (encompassed 4 criteria)
To what extent could the option offer necessary legal and allied protections?
10. Implications for the Council (encompassed 4 criteria)
To what extent could the option allow the council to meet statutory and governance

obligations?

After researching what has been developed elsewhere, there were no universally
accepted criteria for assessing options and Councils who had embarked on Options
Appraisal exercises had ended up with very different individual criteria and the number of
such criteria varied considerably. The ITA commented on the process adopted as part of
this review within their final report (Key Doc 3) and referred to the set of criteria developed

as a ‘robust and comprehensive tool for assessing the options’.
Development of the scoring framework and how to compare the options

Having agreed the evaluation criteria, the TP and EFG were then supported to develop
and agree a joint approach on how to score each of the options against each of the 46
criteria selected. Each of the criteria was translated into a question and a scoring booklet

was created for individuals to mark their scores. (Key Doc 20)

11?4



9.6.2

9.6.3

9.6.4

9.7

9.7.1

9.7.2

9.7.3

9.7.4

The system developed to score the options was as follows:

e Where the option failed to meet the objective described in any individual criteria it was
awarded zero marks

e Where the option partially met that objective it was awarded one mark

e Where the option largely met that objective it was awarded two marks, and

o Where the option fully met that objective it was awarded three marks.

A set of scoring rules were also agreed through discussion in the TP and the EFG. The
groups determined that where the criteria involved matters of fact (not opinion) the option
had to be awarded three, where that requirement demonstrably applied, and zero where it
did not. No intermediate scores were permitted. For example it was not matter of
judgement that ground 8 in the grounds for possession for assured tenancies did not
apply in a council secure tenancy; it was a matter of fact. This approach was taken to
ensure that the scoring framework was factually objective where possible and removed as

much bias as possible.

In order to ensure that scoring of the criteria against each option was based on facts,
where relevant, an Options Comparison Document (OCD) was created over a number of
months, in conjunction with the TP and EFG. (Key Doc 19).

Development of the criteria weighting framework

The scoring system developed, provided a value for how well an option had performed
against any given criteria, but, the TP and EGF both felt that not all of the criteria
identified were as important as each other.

It was agreed that a weighting system would indicate how important each criteria was,
allowing an option to potentially score highly, but on poorly weighted criteria, and vice
versa.

The weighting system agreed by the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group was
as follows; Criteria that was judged;

e ‘not essential’ was given a value of 1

e ‘desirable’ was given a value of 2

¢ ‘important’ was given a value of 3

e ‘essential’ was given a value of 4

The total score for each of the criteria was determined by multiplying the individual

score awarded by the allocated weighting score.

11?5



9.7.5

9.7.6

9.7.7

9.7.8

9.8

9.8.1

9.8.1.1

9.8.1.2

9.8.1.3

The weightings were arrived at through a long process of discussion within the TP
and EFG. In the case of the Tenants’ Panel, members voted and re-voted on what
weight to attach to each criterion, over a number of sessions. The category with the
highest number of votes at the end of this process became the agreed weight for that
criterion. The EFG also worked on finalising the weightings over several sessions. Both
groups agreed an individual set of weightings, as it was felt that the issues most important

to employees would not necessarily be the same as those for tenants.

The weighting documents for the EFG (Key Doc 18) and the TP (Key Doc 17) were
finalised after members had attended all of the revision sessions so that presentations
previously delivered through the process and all key facts were recapped to ensure that
all were fully up to date and prepared for the scoring session.

The ITA reported within their final report that they believed that the derivation and
application of the weighting system was done in a wholly rational and thorough manner,
and that it reflected the decisions of the Tenants’ Panel following extensive discussions
between the TP and the EFG.

The results of the scoring exercise are summarised next in Section 10 below.
Financial Analysis of the Options
Background

Following the development and costing of the Northampton Standard, the criteria and
scoring and weighting frameworks, the TP and EFG received further presentations from
Savills, building upon the earlier Baseline HRA presentations given. The finance sessions,
which involved analysing the implications of the guidance and affordability in terms of the
Northampton Standard, had to be scheduled late in the programme timetable due to the

delay caused by the late release of the draft Housing Transfer Manual guidance.

The financial analysis sessions provided details as to what extent each of the retention
and transfer options could afford to implement the Northampton Standard and provide
new homes. They also highlighted financial risks, issues and implications associated with

each of the options.

The financial analysis covered the following areas:
e The development of a costed Northampton standard

e The impact of this standard on the HRA Business Plan

1296



9.8.14

9.8.2

9.8.2.1

9.8.2.2

9.8.3

9.8.3.1

9.8.3.1.1

e The delivery of this standard through retention

e The delivery of this standard through stock transfer

The starting point for the assessment of all options was based on the baseline HRA

analysis work. The full details of the financial analysis are shown in Appendix 4.

Financial Assessment of Retention Options

The financial assessment analysis and presentations focused on retention and transfer
options. For the retention options, five different versions of the Business Plan were
modelled, with the aims of testing the maximum debt required and how quickly it could be
repaid. Three scenarios (2, 4 & 5) included new build at 40 homes per year from 2014
with an average cost of provision of £135,000 (current prices) and rents of £100 per week

(current prices)

All scenarios included major investment costs based on the Northampton Standard but
the timing of some investments, as explained below, formed a key part of the scenario

testing.

Impact of the Northampton Standard on the HRA Business Plan

Scenario 1: Plan with Northampton Standard investment but without new build

The base Business Plan scenario incorporated all HRA assumptions set out in Savills
report. The assumptions produced a borrowing (loan) requirement and compared this to
the debt cap of £209m.

Scenario 1: HRA debt with Northampton
standardinvestment

300.00
250.00 //\\
200.00 ——— == N T = = = === ======

150.00 \

100.00 \
50.00 \
0.00

1 23 45 6 7 8 9101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

== == Debtcap Debt

12]
S/



9.8.3.1.2

Under this scenario the Council would need to increase borrowing to £262m in the short
to medium term in order to fund the increased investment associated with delivering the

Northampton Standard within the first five years of the Plan.

9.8.3.1.3 The graph shows that although the plan was affordable, demonstrating an ability to repay
debt by year 23, the level of borrowing required in the early years was not permissible
under current rules which limit HRA borrowing to £209m. HRA borrowing would exceed
the Government’s debt cap by £53m.
9.8.3.2 Scenario 2: Plan with Northampton Standard investment and with new build
9.8.3.2.1 This scenario incorporated all the assumptions set out in Scenario 1 plus an assumed
new build programme of 40 homes per year from 2014, in line with the Council’s existing
Business Plan.
9.8.3.2.2 This scenario produced a borrowing (loan) requirement shown in the following graph.
Scenario 2: HRA debt with Northampton
standardinvestment and new build
350.00
300.00

9.8.3.2.3

9.8.3.2.4

250.00 /\

200.00 - \
100.00 \
50.00 \
0.00

150.00

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

= == Debtcap Debt

Under this scenario expenditure requirements would increase further to fund both the
delivery of the Northampton Standard within five years, and a new build programme,
without additional grant, from 2014. The maximum borrowing required would increase to
£286m.

The graph indicates that this level of borrowing would potentially be capable of being
repaid within 30 years and therefore, in theory, presents a broadly affordable plan.

However, the level of borrowing required in the early years would not be permissible
under the current rules which limit HRA borrowing to £209m. HRA borrowing would

exceed the Government’s debt cap by £77m.

12&




9.8.3.3

9.8.3.3.1

9.8.3.3.2

9.8.3.3.3

Scenario 3: Plan with Northampton Standard investment, without new build and

with early years expenditure re-profiling

Scenario 3 was a development of Scenario 1 that demonstrated how it may be possible to
balance investment within the HRA debt cap. The Council would need to consider
options to adjust the level of expenditure or the timing of investment. Scenario 3 was an
example of how the Northampton Standard of investment could be contained within the
debt cap with an adjustment to the timing of when the investment could be afforded and

delivered.
Scenario 3 assumed all the income and expenditure assumptions set out in Scenario 1,
except that £44 million of expenditure originally included in years 1 to 5 in Scenario 1,

would need to be delayed to years 6 to 10 in Scenario 3.

The financial impact of deferral of investment is shown in the following graph.

9.8.3.34

9.8.34

9.8.3.4.1

250.00

Scenario 3: HRA debt with Northampton
standard investment, no new build -
improvementsin years 1to 10

200.00 _—— = —mmm o = = e e = e em = = e e = = = —

150.00 \\
100.00

50.00 \

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

= = Debtcap Debt

This shows that the plan remained affordable, demonstrating an ability to repay debt by
year 21, and that the level of borrowing required in the early years remained within the
debt cap of £209m.

Scenario 4: Plan with Northampton Standard investment, with new build and with

early years expenditure re-profiling

Scenario 4 included all the cost and income assumptions contained in Scenario 2 and the

assumptions regarding expenditure re-profiling set out in Scenario 3.

9.8.3.4.2 This scenario produced a borrowing (Ifz? requirement shown in the following graph.
9




9.8.34.3

9.8.3.44

9.8.3.5

9.8.3.5.1

9.8.3.5.2

300.00

250.00

200.00 —— > ____\ _______
150.00

100.00 \

50.00 \
0.00

Scenario 4: HRA debt with Northampton
standard investment, with new build -
improvementsin years 1 to 10

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

= == Debtcap Debt

Scenario 4 demonstrated that, even with the re-profiling of expenditure from the early
years, as described in Scenario 3, the inclusion of a new homes programme would take

the borrowing over the debt cap again.

The graph shows that although the plan would be affordable, demonstrating an ability to
repay debt by year 29, the level of borrowing required in the early years would not be
permissible under current rules which limit HRA borrowing to £209m. HRA borrowing
would exceed the debt cap by £36m to a maximum of £245m. Incorporating a new build
programme would therefore require further re-profiling of the Northampton Standard
works. This would result in delaying the implementation of elements of the Northampton

Standard beyond years 6 to 10.

Scenario 5: Plan with Northampton Standard investment, with new build and with

further early years expenditure re-profiling

Scenario 5 was a development of Scenario 4 which demonstrated that even with a larger
modelled debt cap breach (£77 million in Scenario 2 and £36 million in Scenario 4 after
some re-profiling of expenditure) arising from the inclusion of the new homes programme,
it could still be possible to balance investment within the HRA debt cap. The Council
would need to consider further options to adjust the level of expenditure or the timing of
investment. Scenario 5 was an example of how the Northampton Standard of investment
could be contained within the debt cap with an adjustment to the timing of when it could

be afforded and delivered.

Scenario 5 assumed all the income and expenditure assumptions set out in Scenario 2,

except that £60 million of expenditure included in years 1 to 5 in Scenario 2 was further

12é‘b



delayed to years 6 to 15. Final decisions on any re-profiling would require consultation

between Asset Managers and residents.

Scenario 5: HRA debt with Northampton
standard investment, with new build -
expenditure delayed to years 6 to 15

250.00

200.00 \/l

150.00

100.00

50.00

0.00
1 2 323 456 7 8 9101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

Debtcap Debt

9.8.3.5.3 This graph shows that the plan could be afforded as it demonstrates an ability to repay
debt by year 30. Scenario 5 illustrated that under retention, significant choices would
need to be made between new build and the timing of work to existing homes and

estates.
9.8.4 Re-profiling of the Northampton Standard

9.8.4.1 After receiving the above scenarios, following extensive consultation and detailed
consideration with EFG and TP members, the consensus was to adopt a proposed
Northampton Standard of investment that produced an outcome in line with Scenario 3.
This involved, primarily, the re-profiling of property and environmental improvement
expenditure over the first ten years, shown in Key Doc 12. Scenario 3 was therefore
chosen to test the Retention with Review and the ALMO options, against the three

Transfer options.

9.8.5 Corporate Impacts for the Retention options

9.8.5.1 The HRA Business Plan used to assess the options included an additional allowance of
over £2m for service improvements. Additional costs relating to setting up an ALMO

structure can be accommodated within this budget.

9.8.5.2 The corporate impact of setting up an ALMO is mitigated by the HRA remaining open.

Assuming a stand still position regarding the delivery of services, where HRA services are

12é51



9.8.5.3

9.8.54

9.8.5.5

9.8.5.6

9.8.6

9.8.6.1

9.8.6.2

transferred to the ALMO; the fees for providing those services will be transferred as well
and the costs charged to the HRA.

Where HRA services or associated overheads are retained by the corporate body, those
costs can also be charged on to the HRA. If the ALMO option is chosen, the project will
need ensure that the ALMO and agreements around the ALMO structure deal with such
considerations as pensions costs and ensure that costs that remain are appropriately
charged to the HRA.

Decisions made on the set-up of the ALMO, on issues such as accommodation and take
up of support services currently provided through the Council, could significantly impact
on the ALMO and the Council.

If the Council were to change the methodology of service delivery, such as changing use
of buildings, this could have a corporate impact. However, these changes would have to
be assessed on their own merit and would not specifically be additional costs relating to

an ALMO setup but to a decision to change service delivery methods.

Savills then presented the financial implications associated with the three stock transfer
options. In order to do this fully, the EFG and TP were provided with significant context
information relating to the implications of the new HRA self financing rules and those

related to the new Housing Transfer guidance.

Financial Assessment of the Stock Transfer Options

The implementation of HRA self-financing introduced new issues to be considered as part

of a stock options review and in particular relating to the option of stock transfer.

One key issue related to the valuation of the stock and the price the new landlord would
pay the Council. The stock would be valued on the basis of tenanted market value
(TMV), which values the ongoing cash flows, such as that received from the rental
income, for the properties. As the income is largely set by the Government’s social
(formula) rent policy, the higher the level of expenditure in the valuation, and therefore in
the new landlord’s Business Plan, the lower the value of cash flows and the lower the
price paid to the Council for the stock. This would ensure that the new landlord could
afford to fund promises, such as the Northampton Standard, which would be costed into

the valuation.

126



9.8.6.3

9.8.6.4

9.8.6.5

9.8.6.6

9.8.6.7

Following the introduction of HRA Self Financing the Council needed to ensure that its
HRA debt (£193m) could be repaid from the proceeds of transfer or have it written off by

government.

Communities for Local Government’s starting point for consent to transfer was that
transfer cash flows must reflect the assumptions made in the HRA Self Financing debt
calculation, which also valued the future anticipated cash flows. Any increases in costs or
reductions in income assumed in the transfer cash flows, which would reduce the
valuation, needed to be explained and justified through additional outputs, in return for
debt write off. This presented a barrier to stock transfer in that, typically, councils would
want to promise tenants an improved standard under transfer compared with retention,
and this would mean a departure from the HRA Self Financing valuation which would

trigger a requirement for debt write off.

The HCA guidance for stock transfer, issued in November 2013, sets out how authorities
needed to justify the case for transfer and debt write off. The guidance indicated that
there would be a requirement for a full business case in line with HM Treasury Green
Book guidance which would require the setting out of the strategic, economic,
commercial, financial and management case for transfer. Where debt write off was
required, the case must be agreed with both DCLG and HM Treasury and it would be
necessary to demonstrate, through cost benefit analysis that the transfer proposals

offered a net benefit to central government over the long term.

The guidance also required any new transfers to be completed by March 2015. This
deadline was a critical factor in considering the viability of the three transfer options, as
any debt write off requirement identified could only be paid out within the current spending
review period. This meant that to achieve a stock transfer in Northampton the timetable
would need to be:

e Council decision on options (Dec 13)

e Application to transfer (Mar 14)

e HCA/DCLG decision on application (Jun 14)

o Offer document and ballot (Sep 14)

e Subject to ballot result, set up new landlord and complete the transfer (Mar 15)

The Council would need to consider whether this timetable would allow adequate
consultation with residents and with the Regulator and DCLG to develop the offer, put the
necessary plans in place and to complete the registration of the organisation as a new

Registered Provider of housing.

127



9.8.6.8

9.8.6.9

9.8.6.10

9.8.6.11

9.8.6.12

9.8.6.12.1

9.8.6.12.2

Stock transfer would also bring additional costs in terms of VAT liability which would
reduce the valuation of the stock and potentially trigger a (greater) requirement for debt
write off. Whilst this would be recognised as a justification for departure from the HRA
self-financing cash flows, the guidance appeared to still require the economic case for the
resulting need for debt write off to be able to demonstrate long term benefits to

government.

Stock transfer would also bring additional set up costs for both the Council and the new
landlord. Under the new rules, the new landlord would need to absorb these costs within
its Business Plan. The Council would also need to be able to fund its own set up costs in

a way that did not add to the debt write off requirement.

Following stock transfer, the new landlord would require funding from the private sector to
produce a viable long term Business Plan. In the current economic climate, the
availability of long term funding may prove challenging. This is assessed in more detail
below in section 9.8.8. The cost of funds is also likely to be higher than the cost of
current HRA debt via the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).

Some authorities have explored a financing model for stock transfer where the existing
housing debt remained with the authority, reducing both the cost of funds and the amount
of additional private sector funding needed. This model (referred to as “Council and
Community owned” or “CoC0”) is currently not available as an option due to it not being
acceptable to HM Treasury. Its concerns were focused on the level of control that the
Council could exert through the funding mechanism, and the resulting risk that the entire
debt of the new organisation would count as public sector borrowing, something that the

current government is keen to see reduced.
Scenario 6: Implications of stock transfer in Northampton

In order to assess the implications of stock transfer in Northampton, the tenanted market
value for the stock was calculated based on delivery of the Northampton Standard
investment, prior to being re-profiled, with improvements all delivered in the first five
years. This produced a maximum level of £85m. The ability for a new landlord to pay this

maximum value would be subject to the availability and cost of funding.

If funding were available at 6% and long term financing was available over a 30 year
period, the new landlord’s Business Plan could support this maximum purchase price of

£85m and still demonstrate the ability to repay debt over a 30 year period. This is

12684



illustrated in the graph below, however this would be heavily dependent on the availability

of long term funding at this rate and on tight income and cost controls.

Scenario 6: LSVT debt with Northampton
standard investment and no new build

250.00

200.00

150.00
100.00 yd \
50.00
0.00 \

12 3 456 7 8 9 101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

Debt

9.8.6.12.3 If the new landlord paid the Council £85m for the stock, the Council would still be left with
a short fall of £108m to repay its current debt. It would also be faced with a requirement
for set up costs typically in the order of £1m, which would need to be funded from its own
resources. Premia, a type of redemption penalty payable as a result of redemption of
existing housing debt, would further increase the amount of government support needed

for debt write off.

9.8.6.12.4 As mentioned above, in order to demonstrate the business case for debt write off to
Government the Council would need to demonstrate long term economic benefits in
excess of £108m plus the value of debt redemption premia currently estimated at around
£10m. This would need to be demonstrated through a combination of additional income
or reduced expenditure to government, for example:
¢ Additional income through
¢ Additional VAT receipts as a result of the new landlord’s VAT liability and additional

activity

e Stimulating economic growth resulting in additional tax receipts
¢ Creating new jobs with additional tax receipts

e Reduced expenditure through

129



9.8.6.12.5

9.8.6.12.6

9.8.6.12.7

9.8.6.13

9.8.6.13.1

9.8.6.13.2

e The positive impacts on housing benefit expenditure of the investment in the repair of
the social rent homes leading to fewer void properties giving rise to lower reliance on
private sector market renting

e The positive impacts of additional new build on housing benefit expenditure, again due
to a reduced reliance on the private rented sector

e Savings from long term improvements to public health.

Under the transfer scenario illustrated, the value of the additional VAT receipts was
estimated to be £83m. This would leave an additional £25m or more to be justified

through broader economic stimulus plus the value of any debt redemption premia.

Even if it were possible to demonstrate this economic case, the Council would still only be
promising tenants a level of expenditure which could be delivered under the two retention
options. The key difference would be that residents would see the Northampton Standard
improvements earlier than under retention. The Council would need to consider whether

this would be sufficient to justify the case for change and result in a positive ballot

supporting stock transfer.

If the Council wished to deliver an additional level of investment it would need to consider:
e The impact of any additional expenditure on the need for debt write off

e The desirability of any additional expenditure from a residents’ perspective.
Scenario 7: Stock transfer and new build

This scenario included the assumptions included in scenario 6 plus new build, let at social
rents, in line with the assumptions modelled under the retention options, and in line with
the Council’s current Business Plan. This considered the amount of subsidy required
from the Business Plan to fund the shortfall between income from social rents and the
cost of managing and maintaining the homes and servicing a loan for the cost of
provision. A cross-subsidy would be required from the transferring stock which would
reduce the price that could be paid for that stock and so would increase the amount of

debt write-off required.

This scenario produced a slightly reduced stock value with a maximum purchase price
possible of £30m. This would also be subject to the availability and cost of funding. If
funding were available at 6% and long term financing was available over a 30 year period,
the new landlord’s Business Plan could support this maximum purchase price. This is
illustrated below however, this is heavily dependent on the availability of long term funding

at this rate and on tight income and cost controls.

13(96



Scenario 7: LSVT debt with Northampton
standard investment and new build

180.00
160.00 / ——

140.00
120.00 / \
100.00 / \
80.00
/ \

60.00
40.00 // \
20.00

\

0.00
12 3 45 6 7 8 9101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

Debt

9.8.6.13.3 Whilst this scenario would produce 1,120 new homes over 30 years, it would result in an
increase in debt write off requirement of £55m which would need to be justified based on

the economic benefits delivered by the new homes.

9.8.6.13.4 If it were possible to justify this, this transfer option would include both new homes and

refurbishment at an earlier stage than under retention.

9.8.6.13.5 However given the fact that the key difference in investment levels and new homes is in
timing, rather than values, it may be difficult for the Council to justify the level of debt write
off required based on the economic benefit linked to delivering investment and new

homes sooner.

9.8.7 Financial consequences of transfer on the Council
9.8.7.1 Recharges

9.8.7.1.2 Savills confirmed that financially, there was no longer a beneficial advantage to
establishing an ALMO. This was due to the fact that the establishment of an ALMO no
longer brought with it access to additional capital funding. The Council would benefit from
the decent homes backlog funding under both retained ownership and management and
the establishment of an ALMO. The costs of the establishment of an ALMO, depending
upon set up decisions, may be relatively minimal and it was assumed that these could be
contained within the provision made for service improvement, included in all of the

financial models. Decisions made on the set-up of the ALMO, on issues such as

13617



9.8.7.1.3

9.8.7.14

9.8.7.1.5

9.8.7.1.6

9.8.7.6.7

9.8.7.1.8

9.8.7.1.9

accommodation and take up of support services currently provided through the Council,

could significantly impact on the ALMO and the Council.

If the stock was to be transferred, the HRA would be closed, usually within one year. At

that point, any charges made to the HRA by the Council would no longer be possible.

Costs initially charged to Council’s General Fund budget (GF) would be recharged to the
HRA to reflect the provision of services, office accommodation, and other charges linked
to supporting the Council’s housing landlord function. The Council would be required to
make reasonable recharges reflecting the costs of the services, etc., provided. Whilst the
Council would continue to own its Housing Stock, whether it directly managed it or
managed it through an ALMO, it would need to maintain a HRA and the recharges could
then continue to be made subject to the ALMO continuing to receive support services
from the Council. In the event of a whole housing stock transfer the HRA would be closed

and the recharges from the GF could no longer be made.

Recharges to the HRA, based on the baseline figures, from non-housing departments
amounted to approximately £4.8 million. There was a further recharge of housing costs
charged initially to the GF and recharged to the HRA of £0.44 million. These related to,
for example, the HRA contribution to the Choice Based Lettings service and Housing

Options service.

Of the £4.8 million:

o £0.67 million of the above related to charges made to the housing service for “facilities”
(e.g. office accommodation),

¢ £1.03 million of the above related to overheads charged to the housing service by

other sections (e.g. finance has its own recharges from ICT),

Consequently, about £3 million related to more direct costs from within the recharging

sections.

It was important to note that if no actions were taken in the preparation for and delivery of

a housing transfer then much of the above costs could fall to be met from the GF.

There would be a range of actions that could be taken where feasible to reduce the

impact of a Housing Stock transfer on the GF, including the following:

e The cost driver (e.g. employees, buildings, ICT equipment, etc.) could be transferred to
the new landlord with the Housing Stock,

e The Council could negotiate the continued provision of the service to the new landlord,

13g8



e The Council could look to secure some income from the transfer to offset the costs,

e The Council could look to make savings to reduce its costs.

9.8.7.1.10 Savills estimated that, from their previous experience of housing transfers, out of

9.8.7.1.11

9.8.8

9.8.1

9.8.2

9.8.3

approximately £5.25 million of the total recharges, it may be possible to achieve
reductions in recharge costs of up to £3 million. This would be achieved through the
transfer of staff and / or equipment at the point of transfer or through the provision of
services after transfer. It would be likely, however, that some of these estimated savings
may not be deliverable in the medium term if and when the service transferred to the new
landlord, because part of the costs would relate to overheads charged to the service

providers.

It is estimated, therefore, that the Council may face residual costs following housing
transfer of over £2 million per year. The final level of this deficit would depend on a
number of factors including the existing organisation of services (and the correlation with
staff TUPE arrangements), the feasibility of disposing of offices and other related
buildings work and the Council’s ability to deliver cost effective support services to the

new landlord.
Treasury Management Implications

Under options where the stock is retained or retained and managed by an ALMO, the
current treasury management arrangements can continue. Savills produced a report that
considers the treasury management issues when exploring alternative options for the
stock (Appendix 5). These relate exclusively to stock transfer options, the report is

summarised below.

Until the start of the economic downturn in 2007/08, most housing transfers were funded
through long term loan facilities provided by the major banks, and several of those banks
were prepared to take exposures of up to £200m to any one organisation.. Now the
banks prefer maturities of around five to ten years with most banks setting limits of around
£50m.

The cost of borrowing, in terms of interest rate margins, has also increased significantly
from lows of 0.25% to current levels of 2.00% and more. Currently however, this is being
partly offset by historically low market interest rates, caused by the government’s attempts
to boost economic growth by manipulating base rate and though its asset purchase

programme (quantitative easing).

13é%9



9.8.4

9.8.5

9.8.6

9.8.7

9.8.8

9.8.9

9.8.10

In modelling the impact of stock transfer at Northampton, the maximum funding
requirement would be in the order of £215m as illustrated in scenario 6 above. This
assumes that the new landlord would need to pay Northampton £85m for the stock, and
then borrow additional money to deliver transfer promises — illustrated here as the

delivery of the Northampton Standard within 5 years.

In scenario 7 above the new landlord would need to pay a reduced price to the Council, to
reflect the subsidy requirement of new build housing at social rents. With a reduced

purchase price, the overall borrowing level is also reduced, to around £168m.

As stated above, it may be possible to arrange bank funding for up to 10 years but even
at the lower level of funding requirement of £168m this would involve a syndicate of,
probably, three banks. It does however result in a considerable refinancing risk for both
the borrower and the lenders. It would likely be necessary to give each syndicate member
a proportion of the debt at each maturity. Having no debt paid back during the term of the

loans would present a severe obstacle to the banks.

An alternative treasury management option is to identify whether a debt capital markets
structure would be suitable for funding the proposed housing transfer. However, this
solution would appear to be very inefficient in that it results in excess cash in the early
years with a significant “carry cost” and a reliance on continuing bank debt to support any

bond interest which would be most unattractive to institutional investors.

Debt capital solution models determine that, just in terms of numbers, any type of funding
solution is likely to present significant challenges in the current funding market. It is
unlikely that banks would be comfortable in lending against a profile which demonstrates

significant refinancing risk and no repayment during the term of the lending.

For all debt capital markets issues, investors expect the issuer to have a credit rating
which they can rely upon. In this instance, the issuer, being a start-up organisation, is
unlikely to command a credit rating at a sufficient level to allow investors to take any
comfort from it. A few early housing transfers were funded in part, through the debt
capital markets but these carried guarantees from triple A-rated monoline insurance
companies such that investors could look through the issuer at the credit quality of the

guarantor. These guarantees are no longer available.

In summary, the availability of funding could be challenging in the context of stock
transfer. If the Council wished to pursue stock transfer, it is recommended that a

programme of soft market testing is undertaken before any firm commitments are made.

137Ab



9.9.9

9.9.9.1

9.9.10

9.9.10.1

9.9.10.2

9.9.10.3

9.9.10.4

Other Potential Corporate Impacts for Transfer

There would be a number of other potential corporate impacts:

¢ Contractual Implications around contracts which are unable to be novated to the new
housing provider

e Treasury Management Implications relating to any residual debt which cannot be
written off

e Pension Liabilities through residual costs of pensions provided to staff who have
TUPE’d to the new organisation

e Pre-Ballot Costs which would have to be met from the Council’s own resources
Financial Analysis Summary

The Council consulted extensively with the TP and EFG to develop the new local
standard of investment, the Northampton Standard. The retention options offered
opportunities to deliver this standard of investment, although the constraints of the debt
cap meant that choices would need to be made around the timing of the implementation

and the delay in completing some of the works.

The Business Plan would have some capacity to deliver new additional affordable
housing under the retention options, although again choices would need to be made
between the timing of new homes, and the level and timing of investment in existing

homes.

Stock transfer provided an opportunity to deliver improvements to existing homes and to
build new homes sooner than under retention. However stock transfer would require a
significant level of debt write off and this would need to be justified by savings and
benefits to central government. The economic case for these benefits may be difficult to
justify given that the additionality delivered through stock transfer related more to timing of

works and new homes, rather than absolute levels of activity.

Through consultation with tenants and employees, the Northampton Standard was
reprioritised and a decision was taken, recommending that New Build should be provided
for outside the HRA. Consequently, the retention option chosen by tenants and
employees, to measure against the transfer options was scenario 3: Northampton

Standard investment, without new build and with early years expenditure re-profiling.

13;1



9.9.10.5

9.9.10.6

9.9.10.7

9.9.11

9.9.11.1

9.9.11.2

10

10.1

10.1.1

10.1.2

There were also significant barriers to transfer due to the new rules from DCLG relating to
the need to provide an economic case based on costs and benefits to central
government, the restriction of standard to be delivered, and the high level of risk involved

in considering transfer within the required timescales.

The new transfer guidance restricted the ability of councils to mitigate, through debt right
off calculations, against the additional costs that could impact on General Funds, thus

reducing the appetite for transfer further.

Finally, there would also be significant challenges in obtaining funding for a transfer
organisation to be able to finance its commitments. The reduction in funding availability
from the market following the economic downturn from 2007/08 onwards could, in itself,

be seen to present a barrier to any of the transfer options.
Visits from Transfer and Retention Housing Organisations

Prior to the commencement of revision sessions recapping all issues necessary to
compare the options, visits from other organisations that had either stock transferred to a

Housing Association or moved to an ALMO were held.

The visits were the last information-gathering exercise delivered as part of the Review.
They provided an opportunity for the TP and EFG to hear first-hand from other ALMO’s
and Housing Associations representing the 3 alternative transfer options what their
experiences had been. TP and EFG members used the sessions to challenge their
understanding of the key benefits and dis-benefits of each of the options and raise any

concerns they had.

Scoring the Options

Outcome of Scoring Process

The processes to arrive at the evaluation criteria, and then the scoring and weighting

system, were at the heart of what the TP and EFG did as Panels.

The groups were able to take the evidence received concerning the Stock Condition
Survey, the financial analysis, the Tenant Survey, the available options, and the
presentations made by the visitors from other organisations, and use it to feed into the

individual scores for each of the options.

13762



10.1.3 The TP and EFG members carried out the scoring process independently. Individual
members scored the options and the ITA moderated the completed the TP scoring
sheets, in accordance with the agreed scoring rules, based of factual accuracy. The TP
and EFG prepared reports to present, their scores, scoring rationale and their

recommended option to the HOP.

10.2 The Results of the Tenant Panel Scoring Exercise

10.21 The TP reported that in total 31 TP members chose to take part in the formal scoring
exercise. Detailed results are provided in the Tenants’ Panel Report; Key Doc 1.

10.2.2 Table 3 below gives the results of that exercise. It shows:
e The total scores awarded for each of the five options

e The scores awarded for each of the eight criteria groups by option;

Totals per section with selected option
I Transfer as
I P— " uxm — immum Tmn? ”n“ i
Recountatity, Infiuence, g | 2441 a3y . o |
| Partiapation and Power | | : - B 3436 |
Tenants’ Rights and . 2 (e f Q Q1" |
| Irvolvernent | e REEREAN
— 1
|
| Ergioyee Issues 3 644 [EESE | 12 (
|
1
Financial Implications incl, 3990 ey —
s 2 3230 B | 2559
| Quality of Homes 5 384 384 l 384 384 384 '
Impact on Local Community r |
ot By 6 500 500 l
- — = - 4
Legal Framework and £ 2 c one
o 7 | 1152 |SISS6N = 0!
Irruﬁtatmfortlrt.‘.u.ml' . $5968 1400 | 1004 | 1004 | 988
Total 10294 13159 12491 | 12779 11173

Table 3
10.2.3 The shaded scores (green on colour copies of this report) indicate the highest score(s) for

each of the eight categories. Based on the above totals, Table 4, below, shows the

rankings for each option

13773



Tenant Panel Ranking of Options

Rank Score
1. Option2 (Retention - ALMO) 13159
2 Optiond (Tramsfer-Mutual) 12779
3. Option3 (Transfer—Stand-Alone) 12491
4. Option5 (Transfer— Group Structure) 11173
5. Optionl (Retention—Service Review) 10294

Table 4
10.2.4 The above tables show that the retention options were at the opposite ends of the

rankings, with the three transfer options sandwiched between them. Option 2, retention
with the establishment of an ALMO, scored highest. One of the transfer options, transfer
to a mutual housing association, came second. Transfer to a stand-alone association
came third, with the remaining transfer option, transfer to become part of a group
structure, in fourth place. The first retention option, retention with a major service review

came fifth, and last.

10.2.5 Analysis of the number of individual TP members scoring a specific option highest

showed the following in Table 5 below:

Numbers Ranking Each Option as First

Table 5
10.2.6 Out of the 31 tenants who scored the five housing options: 20 or 64.5% ranked Option 2 -

the ALMO the highest; and 11 tenants, or 35.5% ranked Option 4 - Transfer to a Mutual

Housing Association as the second highest.

13%34



10.3

10.3.1

10.4

10.4.1

10.4.2

Summary of the Tenants’ Panel Scoring Exercise

In reviewing the results of the TP scoring exercise there were a number of specific
conclusions that the TP wanted to draw from it, as well as a number of general
observations they wished to make.

The specific conclusions were these:

e The ALMO option scored highest because it scored strongly or very strongly across all
eight categories (not, for example, because it had a very large margin over the other
options in a few categories). The ALMO scored most strongly on: tenant rights;
employee issues; financial implications; the legal framework; and the implications for

the Council.

¢ The Mutual Model (Option 4) also scored well across the categories, but particularly
well in relation to: accountability, participation, and power; tenant rights; financial

implications; and employee issues.

e Option 3 (the stand-alone transfer model) scored identically with the Mutual Model

except on accountability, participation and power, where its scores were weaker.

e Option 5 scored consistently lower than both other transfer options because Panel
members rated it lower on accountability, participation and power, tenant rights, and
employee issues, and lower than the ALMO because its scores were worse than the
ALMO on 7 of the 8 categories.

Results of the Employee Focus Group Scoring Exercise

The EFG confirmed within their report that all 11 of the EFG members had scored the
options. EFG Scores were moderated by the Housing Options Review Team, in
accordance with the agreed scoring rules, on the basis of factual accuracy.

The detailed scoring outcome for the EFG is contained in Key Document 2 .Unlike the TP

scoring, EFG members scored unanimously in favour of the ALMO option. In summary,

the scores for each of the options from the EFG were as follows;

13795



10.5

10.5.1

11

11.1

11.1.2

Rank Score

1. Option 2 - ALMO 3905
" 2.Option 4 - Transfer - Mutual 3681

3. Option 3 - Transfer — Stand-Alone 3582

4. Option 5 — Transfer — Group Structure 3202

5. Option 1 — Retention with Service Review 3116

Summary of the Employee Focus Group Scoring Exercise

The EFG also made a number of specific conclusions that they wished to draw from the

scoring outcome;

The ALMO scored highest overall because it scored very strongly across all 8 criteria
groups and most especially on: Tenants Rights and Involvement, Employee Issues,

Financial Implications, Legal Framework and Equality and Implications for the Council

Mutual also did well across the board — particularly because it scored very highly on
Accountability, Influence Participation and Power, Tenants Rights and Involvement,

Employee Issues and Impact on Local Community and Economy

Option 3 (Stand Alone HA) scored lower than the Mutual because of its scores on

Accountability, Influence, Participation and Power

Option 5 (transfer as a subsidiary) comes fourth because it scored lower on
Accountability, Influence, Participation and Power than the other transfer options and

scored lower than the ALMO on all other criteria (bar one where all options scored

equally)

Option 1 actually scored highest or joint highest on 3 criteria, but scored lowest overall
because of very low scores on sections 1 & 3: Accountability, Influence, Participation &

Power and Employee Issues, which were also weighted highly by employees.

Reporting to the Housing Options Panel

Reporting of Recommendations

The EFG and TP terms of reference required each group to make their recommendations

known to the HOP. Both groups prepared their reports and presented them to the HOP in

14%



11.2

11.2.1

11.2.11

11.2.1.2

11.2.1.3

11.2.2

11.2.2.1

October 2013. Representatives from the TP and EFG delivered presentations to the HOP
stating their preferred option and provided reasons for their choices. Further
recommendations were also made concerning the implementation phase for the preferred
option, in addition to recommendations of a more general nature. Full details of the
recommendations and views of the both the TP and EFG members are contained within

their reports, Key Docs 1 and 2 respectively.

Tenant Panel Recommendations and Views on the Review Process

Key Recommendation:

The TP recommended to the HOP, and through the HOP, to Northampton Borough
Council, that the option to be pursued was a retention option where current
responsibilities for council housing management would be delegated via a formal
management agreement to a newly established Arm’s Length Management Organisation
(ALMO) with its own Board of Management. The reasons were mainly due to the ability of
the ALMO to provide greater opportunities for tenant and employee empowerment, while

maintaining local focus and not being dependent on Government debt write-off

The TP hoped that the Council would continue to work with other councils to persuade
Government to allow greater borrowing freedoms for longer term council housing
investment, and in so doing, build on the benefits they believed improving homes to the

Northampton Standard would bring to homes and neighbourhoods.

They also agreed with what the early guidance on ALMOs saw as the principal benefits of

an ALMO, in that it would;

e Give a clear focus on the role of housing management

e Promote the involvement of a wider range of people, particularly tenants, in decision-
making

e Provide a more efficient way of managing homes and delivering services.

Other TP Recommendations and Issues for Further Consideration by the Council

In making the recommendation for the ALMO option, the TP wanted careful consideration
to be given to the following, during the implementation phase:

e The composition and (s)election of the Board of Management

e The ALMOQO's on-going relationship with NBC

e The commitment to full and democratic consultation with NBC tenants

14]
77



11.2.2.2

11.2.2.3

11.2.3

11.2.3.1

11.2.3.2

11.2.3.3

11.3

11.3.1

11.3.1.1

Certain members of the TP felt that as moving to an ALMO was a major change to the
service received by Council, tenants should be balloted, in a binding ballot, in the same
way as they would have been if they were being asked to leave the Council as a landlord
through stock transfer, even though there was no legal obligation whatever on the Council
to hold a ballot.

The Tenants' Panel strongly recommended holding a ballot of all tenants. However, the
TP confirmed that regardless of whether a ballot was to be held, they expected to see
comprehensive and meaningful consultation on the option if it was confirmed at Council,

as the preferred choice.

Tenants’ Panel Views on the Review Process

The TP felt that they were established to give a tenant voice in the Options Appraisal
process and in carrying out their programme of work, in producing their report, and in

presenting its findings, they felt that they had fulfilled that brief.

The TP stressed that they saw the end of the Review as the beginning of their work, not
the end. They believed that there was a long-term role for a Northampton Tenants’ Panel
constituted in broadly the same way as they were already, but open to new members and

with a new remit.

The TP report highlighted that TP members felt the Review had been well organised and
managed by the Housing Options Review Team to enable them to take part. Transport
had been provided where required, bus fares and other expenses such as childcare or
carers’ costs had been met and paid promptly at each meeting; light refreshments and
food were always provided at longer meetings. In the view of the TP, this had been a
process which exemplified good practice in equality of opportunities. Every tenant had an
opportunity to have their say, either by joining the Panel or in a wide variety of other ways.
The TP hoped to see the Council continue to try to engage with as many tenants as

possible as they moved into the next phase of this project.

Employee Focus Group Recommendations and Views on the Review

Process

Key Recommendation:

The EFG unanimously recommended the creation of an ALMO to the HOP. The EFG
also recommended that strong autonomy should be given to the ALMO to enabile it to be

run at true arms length.

14728



11.3.2

11.3.2.1

11.3.2.2

11.3.2.3

11.3.3

11.3.3.1

11.3.3.2

11.4

11.4.1

11.4.11

Other Employee Focus Group Recommendations and Issues for Further

Consideration by the Council

The EFG also recommended that a Shadow Board for the ALMO should be introduced as
soon as possible to run alongside the existing service for a period of time before taking
over fully at the ALMQ’s inception date.

Continuation of robust arrangements for engagement and communication with Council
employees, through the implementation phase, was also identified as a key issue for the
EFG.

Many EFG members wanted to see new employee Service Improvement Panel type
structures introduced to improve work processes enabling further improvements to be

made to services for tenants.
Employee Focus Group Views on the Review Process

The EFG reported that the process had been a positive one for them to be part of. It had
helped individuals with their confidence and had broadened their understanding of other
functions within the Housing Service. EFG members enjoyed the group sessions working
with tenants. They felt that the sessions were well run and initial concerns and scepticism
over the process, particularly that the outcome had been pre-determined were unfounded.
The EFG agreed that the process had been carried out in an open way and employees
felt that a genuine effort had been made to ensure that they were empowered to make

their own decisions based on the facts presented.

The EFG also stated that they would like the opportunity to continue to be involved in the

implementation of the chosen option, following the Council decision in December.
ITA Report to the Housing Options Panel
Overview

Part of the remit of the ITA was to ensure that the process was undertaken by the Council
appropriately. The ITA presented its report to the HOP, giving its views on how the
Review was conducted, including views concerning the reviews;

e Balance

e Comprehensiveness

147’%9



11.4.1.2

11.4.1.3

11.4.2

11.4.2.1

11.4.2.2

11.4.2.3

11.4.2.4

e Competence and;

e The role given to the ITA

The ITA report, providing full details of their views can be found in Key Doc 3

It was important for the HOP to receive impartial assurance concerning the quality of the
Review and have the benefit of receiving the independent views and feedback received
from tenants, captured through the ITA outreach work. These views would be
fundamentally important in helping the HOP to reach its own recommendation to the

Council’'s Cabinet.

Balance

The ITA reported that Options Appraisals were sometimes criticised for a lack of balance.
The most common criticism was that they overly focused on financial issues, and that as
a consequence the tone of the discussion within the council, and between a council and

its tenants, was dominated by the detail of the financial appraisal.

This would potentially result in the appraisal process being dominated and driven by what
was presented as a financial imperative, with little or no scope for other considerations or

criteria.

The ITA reported to the HOP that it had found from their initial out-reach work, that there
were fears that the Council had already taken a view on the option it preferred and that
the process would simply be used to rubber stamp that view. Most tenants reported to the
ITA that they felt that a transfer option would emerge from the Review process as the
recommended option, and that information published by the Council would have an

inherent pro-change, and pro-transfer, bias.

In the ITA’s view, the material published by the Council was demonstrably balanced in its

approach in respect of:

o Equal emphasis given to the options (for example in the ‘Pocket Guide’ where all 6, as
they then were, were summarised purely factually) in the information given to all
tenants.

e The broad range of information for all tenants contained in all four newsletters, and
presentations at the Tenant Conferences, also contained factual information only (and
covered all the main issues such as the results of the Stock Condition Survey, the

Tenant Survey, and so on).

144



11.4.2.5

11.4.3

11.4.3.1

11.4.3.2

11.4.4

11.4.41

e The work programme for the Tenants’ Panel. The Council’s presentations to the Panel,
and the debate and discussion around it, were factual in content and allowed the Panel

to draw its own conclusions.

In terms of how the financial issues were generally presented to all tenants, the ITA felt
that this was even handed in its approach (whereas many options appraisals focus on

capital investment ‘gaps’ in the event of retention).
Comprehensiveness

The ITA also reported to the HOP on the extent to which the review process had properly
drawn on all the evidence sources needed to help shape a rational view on the options.
In their view:

e The process gave due weight to the current state of the HRA and future projections
about it. It also noted that the HRA had provision in it for a capital investment
programme that would achieve a standard higher than the Decent Homes Standard.

e |t properly evaluated the impact both of debt write-off, in the case of the transfer
options, and the debt ceiling in the case of the retention options — and this in turn had
prompted the detailed re-prioritisation of capital items that made up the draft
Northampton Standard.

¢ It had the benefit of a high quality stock condition survey, based on a 25% sample
(which is generally considered to be a ‘belt and braces’ level of confidence).

e It drew on the detailed results from the Tenant Survey of around 27% of council
tenants, and which gave a clear view both on satisfaction levels with many elements of
the current service and of priorities for the future.

e It drew upon the evidence about broader tenant views gained in the ITA out-reach
programme and through the Tenant Conferences.

e It properly supported, and then drew upon, the work done by the TP and the EFG in
option development and evaluation.

¢ It gave due cognisance to relevant current guidance, particularly the guidance on Stock

Transfer finally published in November 2013.

In summary, the ITA reported that the Options Review had been properly evidence-based

and evidence-driven.
Competence

The ITA also reported on the appropriateness of the evaluation framework used within the

Review. The HOP was advised that in their view, the evaluation framework developed

14§1



11.4.4.2

11.4.4.3

11.4.4.4

11.4.4.5

though the Review had been the best they had seen in their 50 ITA jobs across the UK.

They believed (as with many other aspects of this review) that it had been exemplary.

The evaluation system adopted had been sophisticated and comprehensive in that:

e The process of reducing the ten theoretical options from ten to six, and then to the final
five, was clear and evidence based.

e The evaluation criteria used to assess the options were derived from over 170 original
ideas, which were then refined down to the 46 criteria eventually used, through a
series of meetings and discussions within and between the Tenants’ Panel and the
Employee Focus Group. The eight categories eventually arrived at covered the widest
range of criteria they had seen in any options appraisal.

e The scoring and weighting framework had also been arrived at through a similar
process of discussion within the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group. The

ITA felt that the system adopted was rational and clear.

The ITA confirmed that the evaluation system had evolved throughout the course of the
review, as a result of intensive consultation and discussion and the decision-making

framework had also been effective and appropriate.

They also reported on the effectiveness of the HOP structure, involving tenants,
employees and cross party Councillors and the overall quality of involvement from the

tenants and employees involved in the Review.

The ITA reported that the Northampton TP had been the best Panel of its kind they had

ever seen or worked with. Their key reasons were;

¢ It was the largest Panel of its kind they had seen

e The commitment shown by TP members had been astounding; in view of its large
membership (35 in total), and the numbers attending Panel Meetings were constantly
at 85%-90% of the total membership.

e The pattern of work it has adopted (ITA Development Session followed by a council-led
session) meant that when it was called on in council-led sessions to make decisions it
had already had the benefit of discussing the issues with the ITA, and had often
reached an informed view on them.

e The TP Report to the HOP was an outstanding piece of work. The ITA had contributed
to it by producing a base document on which the Panel's own Editorial Panel then
worked. But the final Report was very much the Panel’s own.

¢ Finally, the Panel had a very diverse membership in terms of ideas and perspectives
on the future for council housing in Northampton. However, members worked in a

collaborative and democratic way throughout, to arrive at their recommendation.

14{%32



11.4.5 The role allotted to the ITA

11.4.5.1 The ITA also reported to the HOP on of the role that they had played in the Review and
the relationship they had with the Council, in fulfilling its role. They confirmed that they;

¢ Had complete freedom to develop the outreach programme as they saw fit, and had
been properly supported by council staff to deliver it.

e Had the opportunity to speak privately with the TP whenever the panel and the ITA had
requested it.

e Had no restrictions placed upon them in the planning and delivery of the ITA
Development Sessions with the Panel

e Had access to all the information relevant to the appraisal they felt they needed.

e Had been able to communicate with tenants as a whole, through newsletters, drop-ins,
meetings, and their web site, according to their views on issues, and no attempt had
been made to influence that from any source.

e Had been able to have all suggested amendments to Council communication material

adopted in all cases.

12 Housing Options Panel Recommendations

12.1 Process

12.1.1 After receiving the reports of the EFG, TP and ITA the HOP debated the issues raised
and the recommendations in order to reach its own recommendation to submit to the
Council’'s Cabinet. The HOP Report can be found in Key Doc 4.

12.1.2 The HOP acknowledged the recommendations contained within the EFG and TP reports
and confirmed that it had considered in detail the scoring and basis for the
recommendations made by both groups. The HOP also agreed that the review had been
an extremely robust, detailed and evidence based process. The HOP welcomed the
report from the ITA, which had endorsed the process and acknowledged the extensive

contribution made by tenants taking part in the review.

12.1.3 The HOP agreed that all tenants had the opportunity to be involved in the process and
had been consulted with throughout. The HOP confirmed that before reaching its
decision on which option it wished to recommend to Cabinet it had;

e Taken into account the evidence and many other aspects raised within the HOP

sessions delivered throughout the review

147



12.2

12.2.1

12.2.2

12.2.3

12.2.4

12.2.5

12.3

12.3.1

e Fully considered the views, recommendations and the reasons for them contained
within the TP and EFG reports

e Considered the feedback received from the Tenants’ Conferences, particularly those
held in November 2013, held to present the EFG and TP preferred option. The
conferences have provided the HOP with wider tenant views regarding the Housing
Options Review process and the TP and EFG preferred option (Detailed views
available in Key Doc 21)

e Considered the tenant feedback received from the ITA outreach programme.
HOP Panel Vote

After considering all of the information and evidence presented to them, the HOP
unanimously voted (13 out of 13 members- 2 members absent) to support the EFG and

TP recommendations to select the ALMO Option.

The HOP believed that the ALMO option most appropriately met all of the requirements
set out in the Review Mission Statement detailed within section 5.6.2 above, based on the

evidence presented throughout the review.

HOP members had also discussed the further recommendations and issues raised within
the EFG and TP reports. The TP report had recommended having a tenant ballot;
however the recommendation of the ALMO option was not intended to be conditional on

the holding of a tenant ballot.

HOP members debated the benefits and issues relating to the holding of a ballot. A vote
was held and 12 of the 13 HOP members present, voted against recommending that the

Council should hold a ballot.

The reasons provided were that;
e The money could be better spent on improving services and homes.
e The timescales involved in holding a ballot would delay the implementation of the

improvements that tenants and employees had identified through the review.

Housing Options Panel Recommendations

Following consideration of all of the evidence and information presented to it, the HOP

recommended to Cabinet that;

1. The ALMO Option should be approved for implementation
148
84



13

13.1

13.1.1

13.1.2

. That any further substantial change to the future of the delivery/management and

ownership of Housing services should be preceded by a robust Options Appraisal
process (except in the event of a risk of serious detriment to tenants and/or tenant

services)

. The ALMO should be created as a true Arms Length managed organisation to ensure

the ALMO has sufficient autonomy to make decisions for the benefit of tenant services

and improvement

. The implementation phase for the option chosen should continue to include a

comprehensive programme of consultation and engagement with the key stakeholders
to ensure that they are well informed and remain at the heart of the process. This
should specifically include the continued involvement of the Northampton Tenants’

Panel and Employee Focus Group, working both separately and jointly

. The Council should consider adopting the consultation and engagement approach

used within this review across other service areas within the Council

. The Council should consider adopting a process for employees from all services to be

actively involved in further policy development and continuous improvement activity to

improve internal processes and systems.

. If 2.3 a) is agreed, the next steps (outlined in section 3.4) be considered and agreed;

. Authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chief Finance

Officer, the Cabinet Member for Housing and the Leader of the Council to make

decisions necessary to facilitate the implementation of the chosen option.

Next Steps

Planning
If the recommendation of this report, to create an ALMO is accepted, a number of issues
will need to be considered and addressed when commencing the implementation of the

option.

The Housing Options Review process has been characterised by excellent organisation,

realistic timescales, good governance and thorough resource planning. The same aspects

will be critically important in implementing the proposed option.

14535



13.1.3 It is intended that the process of establishing the ALMO, if supported by Cabinet and
Council as the preferred option, should be well thought out and should build upon the
successes that this Review has created. Detailed planning will be required in a number of

areas;

e Project Oversight

e Project Governance and Advice

e Development of the detailed proposals
e Resources

e Timescales including key stages

e Tenant and Employee Involvement

e Future reports to Cabinet

e Communications

e Delegations

e Interim Management Arrangements

¢ Involvement with the Homes and Communities Agency and the Government

e Implications for the HRA and the General Fund
13.2 Project Oversight

13.2.1 The project oversight arrangements for the Housing Options Review were extremely
effective and it is considered that this joint working format for engagement of key
stakeholders should be replicated during the development phase of the ALMO.

13.2.2 It is therefore recommended:

e That the Housing Options Panel be retained in format but with a changed title — the
ALMO Joint Panel;
e That its role should be to:

» keep under general review and monitor the progress of the implementation
process;

» to act as a sounding board for the development of ALMO based issues in
conjunction with a Shadow Board for the ALMO, to be established as soon as
possible;

» to consider issues in relation to the establishment of the ALMO and related
housing matters which the Council will need to address prior to such matters
going forward to the Cabinet for approval;

e That its membership should continue to be 5 tenants, 5 employees and 5 cross party

Councillors but that each of the nominating groups (the TP, the EFG; and the Council)
150
86



13.3

13.3.1

13.3.2

13.4

13.4.1

13.4.2

13.5

13.5.1

13.5.2

be afforded the opportunity to re-nominate so as to reflect the change in function of the
Panel;
e That members of this Panel should not also be members of the ALMO Shadow Board,

as this would create an inherent conflict of interest.
Project Governance and Advice

The governance arrangements for the project also worked effectively throughout the

Review and it is considered that these should also be replicated.

It is therefore proposed:

e That the project should continue to be led by the Housing Options Programme Director
as Programme Director (ALMO Implementation)

e That the supporting resources be determined by the Chief Executive in conjunction
with the Cabinet Member for Housing

e That the Council should appoint an interim Managing Director for the ALMO to advise
and work with the ALMO shadow board and also to be the lead person for the creation
of the detailed arrangements for the ALMO to be able to function successfully.

e That the Programme Director be authorised to ensure that the necessary financial,
legal, technical and tenants’ advice is obtained in consultation with the Chief Executive

and the Cabinet Member for Housing.
Development of the detailed proposals for the ALMO

The Programme Director in consultation with the Interim ALMO Managing Director will
lead the development of the detailed aspects of this proposal and consult on these with
the EFG and the NTP before the consideration by these by the ALMO Joint Panel.

It should be noted that once the Shadow Board of the ALMO has been created it will be
for that body to determine, in consultation with the Council as necessary, the way in which

the ALMO will address their operational issues.
Resources

At the outset of the Review a budget of £2 million was identified within the HRA. Upon the

completion of this first phase there remains £1m.

It is therefore proposed that this sum be utilised as the budget for this pre-inception

phase. A full assessment of the costs{g the implementation will need to be undertaken
7



13.6

13.6.1

13.6.2

13.7

13.7.1

13.7.2

and any estimates which may exceed this initial budget allocation will need to be identified
and approvals sought for additional budget if agreed through the governance approvals

process, although this scenario is considered to be unlikely.
Timescales

Undertaking such a major change within a large and complex service requires significant
time and this must take account of the need to ensure that involvement of the key

stakeholders is continued.

It is therefore proposed:
e That the date of inception of the new ALMO organisation should be 5 January 2015;
e That a project plan that incorporates this timescale is approved by and kept under

review by the new ALMO Joint Panel.
Tenant and Employee Involvement

Extensive, effective engagement and involvement processes have been at the centre of
the process of the Review and these are considered to be key to its success in delivering
a single option recommendation, supported all three engagement groups. The
establishment of the EFG and the TP has shown the considerable benefits of bringing
together both customers and providers to develop policy through projects. The TP and
EFG groups have stated that they would like to see their ability to contribute being

maintained into the implementation phase.

It is therefore proposed:

e That the TP be enabled to continue under an expanded terms of reference to
encompass all aspects of the landlord/tenant relationship and that its role is seen as
being central to tenant involvement and participation in the future.

e That the EFG should continue and play a central role in employee consultation on the
issues that affect employees.

e That a Leaseholders Liaison Group (LLG) be also set up to ensure that the issues
which affect this stakeholder group are fully addressed.

¢ That once the ALMO Shadow Board is in place it will examine these arrangements and
through the ALMO Joint Panel, make proposals to the Council relating to involvement
and engagement activities which will recognise the different roles the Council and the

ALMO will have, following the inception date.

15g8



13.8

13.8.1

13.9

13.9.1

13.9.2

13.9.3

Future Reports to Cabinet

A number of key reports will need to be developed and approved by the Council, in
conjunction with the ALMO Shadow Board when created, in order for the ALMO option to
be implemented. These are;

e Governance structures of and with the ALMO - including the agreement of the
Memorandum and Articles for incorporation at Companies House and the composition
and appointment/election/nomination of the ALMO Board of Management;

e The Management Agreement — this will set out the legal relationship between the
Council and the ALMO and will include a scheme of delegation of functions from the
Council to the ALMO;

¢ The first Annual Delivery Plan — this will cover what the Council’s expectations of the
ALMO are including performance delivery targets;

e The financial arrangements within the HRA;

e The proposed staffing arrangements including those under the TUPE; regulations — the
staffing structures within the ALMO will be for its Board to determine;

e Accommodation and other land management issues;

¢ Contract management — this will deal with any live contracts already in existence and

how they will be dealt with in the future.

Communications

The Review process has included extensive activities to raise awareness of tenants,
employees and other stakeholders regarding the implications of the review and progress

made.

The Conferences held in November 2013 highlighted that tenants wanted to know more
about how an ALMO option would operate and how services would be divided between
the Council and the ALMO in the future. It is therefore vital that the interest created is built

upon and not lost.

It is therefore proposed:

¢ That key stakeholder groups are kept informed and encouraged to come forward to
actively participate in the implementation of the option taken forward.

e The budget requirement to undertake a comprehensive communications and
engagement programme will need to be identified and factored into the overall project

cost requirements to ensure that sufficient budget provision is made.

15839



13.10

13.10.1

13.11

13.11.1

13.12

13.12.1

13.12.2

13.13

13.13.1

13.13.2

Delegations

In order to ensure that the project could proceed efficiently, timely decision making would
be necessary. It is therefore proposed: That to ensure that momentum is maintained, a
general delegation to be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of
the Council and the Cabinet Member for Housing, to take decisions which are directly
related to the implementation of this proposal, subject to the consideration of the reports
to Cabinet itemised above, and that such matters are within the agreed budgetary

provision.

Future Management Arrangements of Other Housing Services

If the option to create the ALMO is approved, the Council would need to ensure that
operational management arrangements which seek to ensure that the services to tenant,
leaseholders, housing applicants and other associated service users such as homeless
persons are maintained and improved. The Chief Executive will bring forward proposals,

in due course, to address this.

The Government and the HCA

Until relatively recently, there was a requirement for councils to submit their housing
options review outcomes to the regional government office. These offices no longer exist
and the Homes and Communities Agency has, in the majority of areas inherited their

housing functions.

The Council has had informal discussions on the Review with the HCA, particularly in
relation to the possibility of the Council pursuing a housing transfer option. In order to
advise the HCA of the outcome of the Review, it is proposed that a copy of this report

should be provided, following the Council’s decision.

Implications for the HRA and the General Fund

The HRA will continue to be the Council’s statutory account for the housing landlord
service; however, it will operate in a fundamentally different way to how it does currently.
The Council will pay the ALMO a management fee per property. To ensure that this fee is

robustly calculated, a thorough review of the HRA will be required.

This and other changes relating to the Housing Service may have implications for the
Council’s General Fund as any costs currently incurred by the HRA for corporately
90



14

14.1

14.1.1

14.1.2

14.2

14.2.1

14.2.2

14.2.3

provided services will require investigation and appropriate allocation. It is therefore

proposed that:

¢ The financial position of the HRA and General Fund should be reviewed with the
overall aim of creating a clear and appropriate delineation of responsibilities and

accountabilities with the proper alignment of resources.

Conclusions

Conclusions

At the start of the Review process, both groups had set out to work through the issues to
identify the best option for the future of the Housing service and for homes in
Northampton. The EFG and TP scoring exercises resulted in the recommendation to
create an ALMO, due to this option being the most capable of meeting the requirements
set out within the evaluation framework developed by the tenants and employees taking

part in the Review.

At the end of the Review process, a number of conclusions were able to be drawn by
each of the groups and these key findings fundamentally influenced the decisions of the

TP, EFG and HOP, in making their final recommendations.

Improving Housing Services and Quality of Homes

The baseline analysis identified that the Council was underinvesting in the Housing
Service, based on Government assessment of investment need informed by the
characteristics of the Council’s housing stock and the needs of the local population.
Through analysis of the revenue costs within Northampton’s HRA budget and the
measures of tenant satisfaction, it was identified that the HRA could reasonably afford an

additional £2m towards improvements in day to day service delivery.

There was a significant amount of costs categorised as ‘special services’ for which
service charges were not being raised (£2.4m). It was recommended that this should be
investigated further, to identify whether there was scope for additional income to the
housing service, through additional charging, thereby supplementing the additional

investment specified above.

Following this, tenants and employees developed a new local standard of investment, the

Northampton Standard. This standard addressed many of the concerns tenants raised

15531



14.2.4

14.3

14.3.1

14.4

14.4.1

14.4.2

14.4.3

14.4.4

through the Tenant Survey and Tenant Conferences, relating to the standards of service

and the quality of their homes and neighbourhoods.

The new service standards specified within the Northampton Standard were capable of
being delivered by any of the options assessed, as the investment required was included

within the base costs for each of the financial scenarios tested in section xxx above.

Asset Management Strategy

The evaluation of asset performance identified a number of properties that needed further
analysis to assess their overall viability and it provided a basis for the development of an
informed comprehensive asset management strategy to support the future business’s 30
year Business Plan. The implementation of an effective strategy could significantly
improve value for money, with investment decisions informed by accurate an up to date

property condition information.

Assessment of the Retention Options

Both retention options offered opportunities to deliver the Northampton Standard of
investment, although the constraints of the debt cap meant that choices would need to be

made around the timing of some works, in addition to any new build provision.

The retention options could achieve the Northampton Standard and just stay within the
debt cap provided £44m of expenditure was re-profiled from Years 1-5 to Years 6-10, and
provided there was no HRA-funded new build. Tenants and employees decided to re-
profile the Northampton Standard to allow delivery of the Retention with review or ALMO

options, within the constraints of the debt cap.

The Business Plan would have some capacity to deliver new additional affordable
housing under the retention options, although again choices would need to be made
between the timing of new homes, and the level and timing of investment in existing
homes. Consultation with tenants and employees indicated that priority should be given
to improving existing homes and estates and that new housing provision should be
delivered outside of the HRA.

These decisions resulted in the retention, scenario 3: Northampton Standard investment,
without new build and with early years expenditure re-profiling, being chosen by tenants
and employees, to measure against the three transfer options, described in section 9.8.6

above.

15532



14.4.5

14.5

14.5.1

14.5.2

14.5.3

14.5.4

14.5.5

14.5.6

When assessing the two retention options against the 46 criteria, retention as an ALMO
scored the highest and was ranked first against all of the options due to it scoring
strongly, or very strongly, across all eight categories and not, for example, because it has
a very large margin over the other options in a few categories. The ALMO scored most
strongly on: tenant rights; employee issues; financial implications; the legal framework;

and the implications for the Council.

Assessment of the Transfer Options

All of the stock transfer options could provide an opportunity to deliver improvements to
existing homes and to build new homes sooner than under retention, however stock
transfer would require a significant level of debt write off and this would need to be

justified by savings and benefits to central government.

The economic case for these benefits may be difficult to justify given that the additionality
delivered through stock transfer related more to timing of works and new homes, rather

than absolute levels of activity.

There were significant barriers to pursuing any of the transfer options arising from the new
transfer guidance, in addition to the significant challenges that would need to be faced in
obtaining funding for a transfer organisation to be able to finance its commitments due to
the reduction in funding availability from the market following the economic downturn from
2007/08 onwards.

There were also significant barriers to transfer due to the new rules from DCLG relating to
the need to provide an economic case based on costs and benefits to central
government, the restriction of standard able to be delivered, and the high level of risk
involved in considering transfer within the timescales required for completion, namely
March 2015.

In addition to the above barriers, the new transfer guidance restricts the ability of councils
to manage, through debt write off calculations, the impact of additional costs to the on

general fund, thus reducing the appetite for transfer.

The assessment of the options carried by tenants and employees resulted in the Mutual
Transfer model scoring highly, and ranked second overall, due to its ability to meet
significant elements of the 46 criteria developed by Tenants and employees to compare

and assess the different options.

197,



14.5.7

15

The tenants’ viewed the transfer options favourably due to their ability to deliver an
accelerated investment programme and more opportunities for increased tenant and
employee empowerment. However, they did not support an option that minimised the
local focus (option 5- Transfer as part of a subsidiary) of the housing service, or long-term

council influence on it.

The above issues together with the restrictions detailed within the transfer guidance

rendered the stock transfer options unachievable.

Recommendations

. The ALMO Option is approved for implementation

. That any further substantial change to the future of the delivery/management and

ownership of Housing services should be preceded by a robust Options Appraisal
process (except in the event of a risk of serious detriment to tenants and/or tenant

services)

. The ALMO should be created as a true Arms Length managed organisation to ensure

the ALMO has sufficient autonomy to make decisions for the benefit of tenant services

and improvement

. The implementation phase for the option chosen should continue to include a

comprehensive programme of consultation and engagement with the key stakeholders
to ensure that they are well informed and remain at the heart of the process. This
should specifically include the continued involvement of the Northampton Tenants’

Panel and Employee Focus Group, working both separately and jointly

. The Council considers adopting the consultation and engagement approach used

within this review across other service areas within the Council

. The Council considers adopting a process for employees from all services to be

actively involved in further policy development and continuous improvement activity to

improve internal processes and systems.

. If 2.3 a) is agreed, the next steps (outlined in section 3.4) be considered and agreed,;

. Authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the

Council and the Cabinet Member for Housing to make the decisions necessary to

facilitate the implementation of the chosen option.

15984



16
16.1

16.2

16.3

Supporting Information

Key Documents List

Key Doc 1 - TP Final Report

Key Doc 2 - EFG Final Report

Key Doc 3 - ITA Final Report

Key Doc 4 - HOP Final Report

Key Doc 5-TP TOR

Key Doc 6 - EFG TOR

Key Doc 7 - Nov 13 HOP TOR

Key Doc 8 - Programme Team TOR

Key Doc 9 - Programme Board TOR

Key Doc 10 - Member Board TOR

Key Doc 11 - HRA Baseline Position

Key Doc 12 - Re-Profiled Northampton Standard Expenditure
Key Doc 13 - Communication & Consultation Strategy

Key Doc 14 - Stock Condition Survey

Key Doc 15 - Initial Options Criteria

Key Doc 16 - Scoring Framework

Key Doc 17 - TP Weighting

Key Doc 18 - EFG Weighting

Key Doc 19 - Options Comparison Document

Key Doc 20 - Individual Scoring Sheet

Key Doc 21 - Nov 13 Conference Feedback

Key Doc 22 - Financial Analysis Presentation (does not feature in this report)
Key Doc 23 - Consultation on the Housing Transfer Manual (does not feature in this report)

Key Doc 24 - Draft Northampton Standard (does not feature in this report)

Appendices List

Appendix 1 - DCLG Final Guidance

Appendix 2 - Risk Assessment

Appendix 3 - Community Impact Assessment
Appendix 4 - Financial Assessment Alternative Options

Appendix 5 - Treasury Management

Background Document List
Background Doc 1 - Tenant Survey
Background Doc 2 - Asset Evaluation
Background Doc 3 - Corporate Plan

199



17

Explanation of Terms

30 year Business Plan
Required from all council housing providers showing that they can fund the delivery of

housing services and the maintenance of their housing stock for this 30-year period.

Arms Length Management Organisations (ALMOSs)
A not-for-profit company that provides housing service on behalf of a local authority.
Owned by the local authority, it operates under the terms of a management agreement

between the authority and the organisation.

Asset Management Strategy

A plan identifying the investment priorities for Council owned dwellings.

Back log funding
Money made available through the Governments 2010 Spending Review settlement to

help Local Authorities and ALMO’s bring their homes to the Decent Standard.

Ballot
An independent process required by law if the Council is considering the transfer of
ownership of the Council stock. Provides all tenants, including joint tenants the

opportunity to vote on the offer being made.

Communication and Engagement Strategy
A document that sets out how NBC intends to communicate and engage with its key

stakeholders for the duration of the Review process.

Corporate Plan 2012-15
NBC’s document that details its priorities and explains what they want to achieve over the
time period 2012 to 2015. The document also highlights what progress had been made

over the previous year.

Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG)

A ministerial department supported by 11 agencies and public bodies who work to move
decision-making power from central government to local councils. This helps put
communities in charge of planning, increases accountability and helps citizens to see how

their money is being spent.

Decent Homes Standard (DHS)

16596



A technical standard for public housing set by Government that aims to provide a

minimum standard of housing conditions.

Direct Labour Organisation (DLO)
A section of Housing Services with staff directly employed by the Council that undertakes
construction and maintenance works and work specified by Local Government on the

Housing Stock.

Disabled Facilities Adaptations
Changes made which help disabled people continue to live in their home. Adaptions can
provide easy access into and around the home and/or provide access to essential

facilities in the home.

Employee Focus Group (EFG)
A group of employees who volunteered and subject to line manager approval formed a
group of employees who met regularly and contributed to key pieces of work that were

conducted as part of the Review. They received regular training and development.

Environmental works
Repairs and/or improvements that are required to the environment — the area outside and
around your home including footpaths, grassed areas, car parking, fencing, communual

areas etc.

Headroom

The difference between the amount of calculated debt held and the debt cap.

Homes and Communities Agency (HCA)
The national housing and regeneration agency and the regulator for social housing

providers in England.

Housing Management Service
The management of Housing related services, ensuring tenants receive a good level of
service. Covering work involved with tenants, rents, community and neighbourhood work

etc.

Housing Options Panel (HOP)
Made up of elected members: 5 tenants (from the TP), 5 employees (from the EFG) and 5
councillors across each party who made the recommendation to the Council on the best

option for Northampton considering all the facts and opinions. They met regularly to

16g;|7



discuss views of the TP and EFG and made decisions on key aspects of the review and

how it should move forward.

Housing Options Review
The process of defining objectives, examining options and weighing up the costs,
benefits, risks and uncertainties before making a decision on the future ownership,

funding and management of Northampton Borough Council’'s (NBC) housing stock.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
A separate account that sets out the income and expenditure arising from council housing

provision.

Housing Stock Transfer
Transfer of the ownership and management of the Council’'s Housing Stock to a non-for-

profit housing association.

Housing Transfer Manual
A document that sets out the process local authorities and tenant groups need to follow if

they are considering the transfer of housing to a private registered provider.

Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA)
An organisation appointed by tenant’s independent to the Council who all tenants can
approach for impartial, factual information on the Review. The ITA recruited for this

review is PS Consultants.

Indices of multiple deprivation
An initial indicator of the levels of deprivation in different neighbourhoods measuring data

for the general population at a post code level covering seven domains including;

e Income

e Employment

e Health

e Education and training

e Access/barriers to services
e Living environment/housing

e Crime

Lead Technical Adviser

16&8



An individual recruited by NBC who is an expert in housing options reviews, hired to

provide detailed information and advice to the Council.

Member Board
A group of councillors and senior managers from NBC responsible for the communication

of progress updates to NBC Cabinet Members.

Mission statement

A formal summary of the aims and values of the team.

Net Present Value
The assessed level of debt that the stock could afford and also represents the maximum
amount that the individual authorities are allowed to borrow, a figure also known as the

debt cap.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
A Government initiative that enabled local councils to enter into a contract with the private

sector for the provision of services involving new or improved homes.

Programme Board
A group of senior managers who work for NBC that the programme team reported to.

They set the overall strategic direction for the review.

Programme Team
The group of people specifically allocated to work on the Housing Options Review

process.
Prudential Borrowing
Prudential borrowing meant that debt could be taken out providing the Council had the

means by which to repay that debt in the future.

PS Consultants

Chosen by the Tenant’s Panel to be their Independent Tenant Adviser.

Public Works Loans Board (PWLB)

Provide loans to public bodies from the National Loans Funds.

Schedule of rates

163



A guide detailing descriptions and costs of day-to-day and void repairs to social housing,

used for estimating, tendering and contracting repairs and maintenance work.

Self-Financing System

Replaced the HRA subsidy system allowing councils to keep their rental income and use
it to fund their housing stock. In setting up the system, a self-financing settlement
redistributed debt between authorities on the basis of a Government assessment of their

ability to pay the debt and in return, the councils no longer had to pay into a national pot.

Service Improvement Groups (SIPs)
Groups consisting of tenants and staff working together to improve services and ensure

NBC meets the needs of its customers.

Service Standards
A public commitment to a measurable level of performance that customers can expect

under normal circumstances.

Social Housing
Housing that is owned and managed by Local Authorities or Registered Providers which

is let at low rents on a secure basis to those who are in most need.

Stock Condition Survey
Identifies the condition of the Housing stock and forecasts the future investment

requirements.

Tenanted market value

Used to estimate the value of homes to be transferred

Tenants’ Panel (TP)

A group of NBC Council tenants who registered their interest and volunteered to be on the
panel. They met regularly and contributed to key pieces of work that were conducted as
part of the Review. They received regular training and development and were supported
in their work by the ITA.

Tenant Survey
A questionnaire designed to collect up to date data on tenants’ level of satisfaction with

various aspects of the Council’s housing service.

16%



Value for money
Achieving the right balance between economy, efficiency and effectiveness, or, spending

less, spending well and spending wisely to achieve local priorities.

1634



asnoeud }seq aujwex3
Buiutel] pue s|ys BupiomiaN

uoI}09]|00

Aoljod
Jual Juswulanob ul sabueyd ainin4
aouewlopad 1ood

$921N0Sal 1UBJ puB BJIAPE dJBJ S\ U0 PasSSnNI0) wiojay alejapA 1o 10edw)
10} uoIsinold apew sey alnoniisay $991n0Ssal Juswaroidull 821N 10} NP BWODUI [BlUBI PAONpPaYy [eoueuld|¢L-AON (8
j1ouNo0) a8y} Jo Aljiqisuodsal
ay} ulyum Bululewal saoInIeS
S0y} 91EpOWLWOIJ. 0} 8IN}ONNS asodind Joj 1} urewal 0} $8INJONJIS UMO
||EJOAO S[IDUNOD) BY) MBIABI pue s}l uo uondo ay} Jo uoneuswsa|dwi 8y}
uondo ayj Jo suonealdwi ay} JapISUo) 10 10edWI 8y} JOPISUOD 0] S|IE} [IDUN0D ajesodion|gL-AON |2
pajuiodde aJe siosIApe paoualiadxa aoIApe
pue pajys Ajojeudoidde ainsug aAI0aYaUI / 81einddeul uo dn 18s QY ajesodion|gL-AON |9
ooe|d saye) buiodal 109[01d 8y} Jo |05ju0d daay Juop
Jenbal pue ajeudoidde jeyy ainsug sjuswabuele Juswabeuew 10s(oid ajesodion|gL-AON |G
18W ale 19s S||YS 1084100 ainsu]
pieoq mopeys juiodde o} Ajowin
pue ybnoloy} aq 0} SpPaduU SS820.d sjuawabuelle aoueuIanob aAjoayau| ajesodion|gL-AON  |p

Buipueisiapun Jo uoiBWIUOD

pue Aiaajjap jo poylaw ajeudoidde
ainsua pue ‘sabessaw Ajuapl
‘siapjoyayels Ajuapl 0} Abajens
swabebug pue uonesUNWWO)

AbBajenys Juswabebu]
/ JUBWIBA|OAU| JuBUS | SAISUByaldwod

way} 0} Joedwi ay}

puejsiapun 0} way) sdjay jey) Aem e
u1 uondo sy} Buipiebal uoieoIUNWWOD
BA19081 JoU Op Ssiaploysyels Aay|

uonediunwwo)

€L-A\ON _ |€

JUBWISA|OAUI JUBUS)

e jo uonejuswsa|dwi pue uondopy Jayealb Jo uonjelidse }@aw 0} ainjie Jawoisn)|gL-AoN |2
sinoineyaq pue saAljoalgo ‘swie
‘sanjeA QINTV 1o Juswdojanap Ale3
soakojdwa [1oUN0YD
sNje)s sl Y 8y} uo 1oedw Ajpaiiisod OWV B [1oUno) pue sisuled 0} abewep uoieindal 0} buipes)
[I!m suonoe payuapl jo Alaalleq ‘SJUBUS] 0} UOIIEOIUNWIWOD dAI}08YT sjuawanoldwl JaAIIBp Jou saop ONTY uoneinday
‘swwesboid ay} Jo aseyd 1xau ay} diysisepes| buons
10 ped si sjoqjuoo/suonoe Bunebiniw ayy :Buipnjour ue|d Ayjenb
Jo uoneluswe|dwi ay] :3jou asesd|d| uonisuel; pue uonejuswa|dwi }sngoy pue AJaAljap 89IAI8S Ul UOIONPaY Jawoisn)|gL-AoN |1
ajepdn jospuo) / uondy BuiebniN| snieis Hvy |enjoy ISy KioBajed sty ajeq| JaquinN

¢ Xipuaddy

JuUBWISSaSSY NSy

166



VdH yim
pejeloosse S}so9 || JO UoNedo|e pue

Aujger| [euonippe yym pun

[esoueD) Buines] OINTY 84} BIA YHH
3y 0} 40 ApoalIp Wy H ay1 01 sebieyo
9 0] anunuUoJ Jayle YHH 3y} 0}
pabieyo Ajus.ind SjS0d Jey) 8INsus Jou

uoljeoluap| Juaoe pue ybnoioy | op sjuswabuewe dn jes pue |[ebs| ay ] [eloueuld|€L-AON  [¥1
pajeoo|e A}0a1io0
ale s)S09 92IAI8s Joddns ainsug
ssauajelidoidde
pue aouensjal ‘Ajijenb pue
1S02 SEB YoNs Suoljelapisuod Asuow Joy
anjeA Bulnoas uo paoe|d aouepoduw| JBY}0 yoea Aq papunj Sa2IAISS 10}
VHH 8y} wolj pun4 [ejauas) 0} apew
apew 1O / pue pund |eJauas) ay} Woll yH
sabieyoal ay} ul Aouasedsuel} Jajeals) 0] apew sabieyoal u Buisue sasealou| [eoueuld|€L-AON (€1
yjoq Jo} asuew.opad
uo uodal pue a1e||02 0} AJjigisuodsal
UIIM [I2UN0y JO OINTTY Ul pa1edo|
wea} Juswanroidwi souewsopad ajbulg
s1s090 Buiyels [euonippe Amsnl
1ey) suononpal 3s09 BuuaAldp OV
JElSs [Iuno) pue OINTY
yoeoudde Buneuyed usam}aq swes) aouewlouad ulyIm
B UO passnoo} Juswaalbe Juswabeuely pue [9A9] Joluas 1e s}s09 djedlidng [eoueuld|€L-AON  [Z1
$1013U09 JybB1 Yim
syJom Jolew jo Juswabeuew Buong solewnsa
JUSIIND UIY}IM paploye g jou pjnod
ABajess JuswaInd0ld S|geNIONN swuwelbolid Juswysaul / SeoUBMO||E
AaAINS UOIIPUOD XO0)S POBIXd
SJOBJJUOD JO UOEII0adS BAJOBY] $9911d Jopus} UINPNO - S}SOD JUSWISOAU| |eloueuld|€L-AON |11
Buiuresy pue s|Ns
juswanoidwi aoinies Buipuodsaliod
JUBWAA|OAUI Jueud) ¥ aakojdwa OU Y)IM S)S09 pasealoul 0} buipes|
‘uonesiunwwod ‘diysiapes| buoss ‘pajedionue aouewlopad ur abueys
days ayy JoAljap Jou saop sjuswanoldwi
ue|d Juswanoldw| 8218 99IAIBS 10} ainjipuadxa [euonippy [eoueuld|€L-AON (01
pP.3dNl eAey
oym Jejs o} papiaold suoisuad Jo s)s0d
|enpisal ybnoly} salljiqel| uoisuad [eloueul
sjuswaiinbal 34N 1 0} Bunejas aoiape sjuswalinbal 34N1 0} uoneas
|eba| / YH sjerdosdde smoj|oy 1oUN0D ul suonebi|qo s} }9aw 0} S|ie} |IDUN0D|  S92IN0SaY uewnH|€L-AON |6

167



slapinold
paJasibay Jayio yym uonedonied
[louno) pue ONTY SAROBLT

ABajeng Buisnoy epmybnolog
1o} Juswabuelse diysisupned

wewaaiby diysiauped Ul }08UUODSIP SBSNED OV O uoieal) diysieuped|gL-AON |81
JSENTETS)
s|eob uowwoo ysijqeise pue sanuoud ‘ABajesis 0] uonejal ul
0} Juswealby diysisuled juior OWTY % [I2UN0D USBMIS( 108UU0ISIJ diysieuped|gL-AoN |21
ss8201d 34NL wouy
Buisie saniunuoddo sasiwndo j1ouno)
[IounoD
pue OV Usamiaqg saainosal paubily
OWTYV pue |IPuno)
Sal)l|Igelunoooe pue salljiqisuodsal J0} Yjoqg - $804n0sal 0} paubije A)}oaliod
10 uoneaulep ajeudoidde pue ues|) jou AjjIgeIunoooe pue Ajljigisuodsay |eba|gL-noN |91
wieaJ)s }IoM JaAIap 0} pajedo|e
$924N0SaI "] °| / ®dUBUL JUSIOIYNS
uonjesiuefio mau pasodoid ay) 0}
Buiuueld 108foid 1snqoy paubije Jou sassao0ld pue SWwajsAs || ‘1'1leL-noN |51

168



Appendix 3

Ky
YOUR Reviewing the future
of Northampton's nﬂllﬁlﬂg NO RTHAM PTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Northampton Borough Council

Housing Stock Options Appraisal Community

Impact Assessment

December 2013

Author: Georgia Tait
Housing Options Programme Project Support Officer

V.1

169



Appendix 3

Community Impact Assessment
Name of matter assessed:
Housing Stock Options Review
Who will make the decision:
Full Council
Who has been involved in developing this matter:

e Northampton Borough Council Housing Tenants

e NBC Housing Employees

e A Tenant appointed Independent Tenant Adviser

e the Lead Technical Adviser to the Programme

e NBC Senior Management

e Councillors

e external Financial, Legal and Surveyor specialists and others as required
e the Programme Director and Team

Date:
December 2013
Proposal Name:

Housing Stock Options Review

1. Aims/objectives and purpose of the policy/service/function

- aims and objectives:

The Housing Stock Options Appraisal Programme was a review of the future options
for the ownership, funding and management of the Council’s homes.

The goal or Mission Statement of the review was to identify the most tenant
focussed option for the future which:

e Secured tenants’ rights
e Minimised tenants’ costs

e Could meet the improved standards of home and environment which tenants
wish to see

e Would be sustainable

o Assessed the potential for delivering affordable homes and regeneration

170



Appendix 3

e Looked at the issues for the affected employees and the Council

The options for the management and delivery of the housing stock were reviewed
throughout the process. The tenants in the Tenants’ Panel and employees in the
Employee Focus Group scored 5 options against criteria they developed themselves.

- key actions:

Governance structures and engagement structures were implemented in order to
manage the process. The governance structures included:

e Programme Team
e Programme Board
e Member Board

These were attended by key stakeholders and senior management within NBC.
Member Board was additionally attended by Councillors.

Engagement structures included:

e Tenants’ Panel (TP) - all tenants were welcome to join the Panel at any point
since the first meeting of the Panel in September 2012. This became a closed
group in August 2013 due to the inability for anyone new to obtain the depth
of knowledge gained by tenants who had attended over the previous year, in
time to effectively complete the scoring process. The attendance at each
meeting varied from 30 to 40 tenants.

e Employee Focus Group (EFG) — consisted of 12 employees initially, dropping
to 11 employee volunteers mid-way through the Review. The employees were
drawn from the two sections of the Housing service; Landlord Services and
Strategic Housing.

e Housing Options Panel (HOP) - consisted of five tenants from the Tenants’
Panel, five employees from the Employee Focus Group and five Councillors.
The tenants and employees were elected by their respective groups to sit on
the HOP.

The Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group examined some key areas of work
during the review. This included:

e the development of the criteria that the 5 housing stock options were
measured against

e the creation of a draft ‘Northampton Standard’ (contained in Key Doc 14) -
the standard of service tenants receive and the standards of improvements
made to homes and estates

171



Appendix 3

e consideration of the impact and implications of making a choice to change to
one of the 5 models of delivery options outlined in relation to matters such
as employee rights, tenant rights and governance

e the prioritisation of the Northampton Standard based on priorities identified
by tenants through the Tenant Survey and the Tenants’ Conferences

e reprioritising the Northampton Standard following financial analysis by Savills
(Key Doc 22)

e examining possibilities regarding new build in Northampton
e drawing up the Scoring Framework (Key Doc 16)
e scoring the options against 46 criteria

e The writing of reports by both the TP and EFG detailing their recommendation
of an option (Key Docs 1 and 2)

e The writing of a report by the HOP regarding their final recommendation to
Cabinet (Key Documents 4). This will then be ratified at Full Council in
December 2013.

- expected outcomes:

There were five options that the tenants and employees could score against. These
were:

1. Retention by the Council with a service review

2. An ALMO - the Council would remain the landlord but the management of the
housing stock would be delivered via an Arms Length Management Organisation

3. Transfer to a stand-alone Housing Association. This would be the creation
of a new HA which would solely focus on the stock transferred from NBC

4. Transfer to a Mutual Housing Association. The Mutual model allows tenants
and employees to become members of the organisation

5. Transfer as part of a Group Housing Association structure. This would
involve transferring to a new Housing Association which would be part of a bigger
group for which there would be a Parent Board which would set the overall strategy,
approve budgets and monitor performance.

The scoring exercise selected the ALMO as the highest scoring option for both the
tenants and employees. The HOP received reports from both groups with their
recommended option. The HOP has prepared its own report describing their
recommendation which will be considered by Cabinet and Full Council. The next
phase of the programme will implement the chosen option.

4

172



Appendix 3

The Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group also examined options around new
build. The options were:

1. For new build to be accounted for within the Housing Revenue Account
(HRA). The main implication of this is that the spend would need to be kept
within the debt cap set by Government and would mean improvements in the
draft Northampton Standard would need to be deferred to years 6-15 rather
than 6-10

2. For new build to be considered outside of the HRA, potentially via a
charitable subsidiary

3. For NBC to take a strategic role only and not partake in any new build

Tenants and employees made a decision to prioritise improvements to existing
properties and estates and stated that they would like new build to be provided
outside of the debt cap. This enabled tenants and employees to then reprioritise the
draft Northampton Standard to be delivered in a shorter timescale than would have
been possible if new build was to be delivered from within the HRA, and therefore
within the debt cap. This decision was endorsed by the HOP.

- who will be affected and how:

The key stakeholders of the Programme were NBC tenants and employees within the
Housing Service at NBC.

All NBC tenants will be affected by the outcome of the Housing Options Review. The
aim of the review was to deliver a better service, meaning any changes should
theoretically be positive, aided by the construction of the draft Northampton
Standard. The draft Northampton Standard is a set of new standards that tenants
feel they should receive. It covers the service tenants receive from the management
organisation as well as the standard of improvements made to homes and estates.
This draft Northampton Standard is higher than the Decent Homes Standard; a basic
minimum standard of decency set by the Government. The Northampton Standard
informed by tenants’ views and priorities, builds on this to create modern homes
which would better suit the needs of tenants.

Employees within the Housing Service at NBC will also be affected by the outcome of
the process. Any option other than Council retention would mean that they may be
subject to TUPE (Transfer for Undertakings (Protection of Employment) regulations),
into the ALMO. If they are identified as affected, their employment would transfer to
a new organisation under the ALMO and employees would form part of the new
structure with the same terms and conditions of employment that they currently
possess under the Council, including the protection of pensions. This forms part of

5

173



Appendix 3

the implementation phase and will be carried out in accordance with due process
with consultation throughout.

Leaseholders could also potentially be affected by any change in management and
service delivery of housing stock. Their concerns lie in service charge levels. Under
the ALMO option, the Council would still be the Landlord as it would own the housing
stock, but the management body would change. Their right to be consulted on
service charges would not be affected under this option and the way in which
service charges would be considered would not change.

This Options Review also has an impact on the wider community. The Review has
included a decision to build the proposed HRA Business Plan without the specific
inclusion of provision for new build initially. Tenants and employees wish to see new
build continue, but would like this delivered outside of the HRA initially. This was
decided after considering the impact of such a decision. New build is often delivered
through various means and it would not mean that Northampton would not benefit
from new build by the Tenants making this decision. The proposal was to have it
addressed through different channels. The decision resulted in the Northampton
Standard being capable of being implemented and delivered within ten years, rather
than 15, whilst new builds could continue to be funded alongside this.

- approximately how many people will be affected:

There are approximately 13,800 tenants currently residing in a property owned by
NBC who would be affected by the outcome of the process. There are approximately
300 employees in the Housing Service at NBC. Those employees affected by the
Options Review will be identified once the implementation phase of the Programme
is underway. There are approximately 700 leaseholders in the Borough.

2. Expected date of decision:

Full Council will make the final decision as to which option is to be implemented on
December 9th 2013. The implementation phase will then begin in January 2014.

3. Scope/focus of the Assessment:

- please outline the scope and focus of the assessment

This Community Impact Assessment will focus on the activities of the Housing
Options Review Team over the past 15 months in terms of engagement and
consideration of stakeholders. This assessment will also look at factors to consider
when undertaking the next phase of the programme, due to begin in January 2014.

174



Appendix 3

4. Community Screening Outcome:

Will the proposal: Yes No
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation ) O
Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a ®
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it Q
Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant ®
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it Q
Contribute to health improvements or inequalities ® O

5. Relevant data and/or research:

- outline the information and research that has informed the decision:

The 2012-2015 NBC Corporate Plan (Background Doc 3) included a commitment to
look at the potential options for the future ownership, funding and management of
its Housing Stock, to examine which option would best deliver long term
improvements needed to both homes and estates as well as the quality of services
provided to its tenants.

The outcome of the Options Review process was informed by key stakeholders
throughout. A Tenants’ Panel was formed, consisting of 30-40 tenants who attended
meetings on a regular basis beginning September 2012. The invite to join the
Tenants Panel was an open one, meaning any tenant could attend at any point. All
documentation from these meetings was posted on the NBC website and all tenants
were made aware that this information was available.

A comprehensive communication programme was implemented in order to publicise
the Options Review process and to ensure all tenants were aware of the formation
of the Tenants’ Panel.

Vulnerable tenants were targeted to provide them with specific support to access
information, if needed, particularly where tenants had requested large print
information, stated that they had carer support, were not mobile etc. Home visits
were offered to any tenant unable to attend meetings, via the regular newsletters
and the ITA carried out the visits. Financial inclusion issues were considered and all
tenants were given the opportunity to have expenses reimbursed, on the same day,
for travel, carers or childcare costs, to support and encourage participation.

175



Appendix 3

Regular newsletters were sent, and three Tenants’ Conferences were held; in
December 2012, May 2013 and November 2013. All of these conferences included a
day and an evening session to promote equality of access and a hearing loop, British
Sign Language and interpreters were made available as required. These engagement
methods encouraged tenants to share their views and concerns and for the review
to understand the potential impact of any decision on the key stakeholders. These
views were considered and incorporated into work during the review and in the
decision making process.

An Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) was appointed by a panel of tenants, resulting
in the appointment of PS Consultants. The objective of the ITA was to ensure that
there was no bias within the process, information was accurate and accessible
tenants were supported to actively and effectively engage in the review. The ITA
remained independent from the Council throughout. The ITA held ITA Development
Sessions regularly for the Tenants’ Panel, providing information in advance of
Council run sessions so that content was understood and tenants had the
opportunity to ask questions. The ITA produced their own newsletters which were
sent to all NBC tenants, and provided a freephone number that they could be
contacted on by any tenant or leaseholder. Home visits and telephone appointments
were offered by the ITA to support those unable to attend meetings..

The appointment of a lead technical adviser provided specialist expertise to the
Programme and the knowledge of this individual enabled the content of each
engagement meeting to be tailored to meet the varied needs of attendees. This led
to both tenants and employees being in a position to score each of the options in an
informed manner against the criteria they had written.

Two key surveys were also carried out; a Tenant Survey (Background Document 1)
and a Stock Condition Survey (Key Doc 14).

The Tenant Survey was conducted by Ipsos MORI and was designed to collect data
on tenants’ views, including satisfaction levels. This included satisfaction in relation
to the Council’s housing service, tenants’ awareness of and desire to be involved in
the Housing Options Review, and tenants’ priorities for the Housing Service going
forward. The survey was designed to give all registered tenants, not just one
per household, the opportunity to provide their views and therefore the survey
went out to all NBC tenants named on tenancy agreements. The survey could be
completed either via post or online and produced a 26.55% response rate, which
was considered by Ipsos MORI as excellent.

The second survey was a Stock Condition survey conducted by Savills. This
evaluated NBC’s housing stock with a view to assessing the current and future
repairs and maintenance liability. This focussed on the work required to bring all

8

176



Appendix 3

properties up to the Decent Homes Standard and maintain that standard for 30
years, as well as modelling the costs to maintain the properties at a higher standard
than decency brings, again over 30 years. In order to carry this out, Savills surveyed
a representative sample of 25%.

Further specialists were utilised when necessary; for example, financial and external
legal advice.

- sources and key findings:

The Stock Condition survey key findings were that £96million needed to be spent
over the next five years to meet the basic Decent Homes Standard. An additional
£64million would be needed to bring the properties up to a modern standard.

The Ipsos MORI Tenant Survey key findings were that tenants’ priorities focused on
security, repairs and maintenance, quality of services and quality of home. Tenant
satisfaction over time showed gradual improvement with older tenants and white
tenants most likely to be satisfied, while younger tenants and those from BME
backgrounds were less likely. Despite the gradual improvement, there was a clear
decline in the satisfaction levels of tenants in relation to believing that their views
were taken into account. When compared to similar authorities via Housemark
benchmarking, NBC were in the bottom quartile across a number of criteria.

The Northampton Standard was drafted by the Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus
Group. This draft standard was deemed by Savills to be a reasonable standard of
what tenants could expect. The new standard was developed utilising the priorities
identified from over 3,700 survey responses.

The tenants and employees also drew up a list of criteria that reflected what they
would like to see from the organisation managing their homes and was based on
what they felt was important, across a range of issues. The criteria was further
developed into eight key themes and used as a basis to construct a scoring
framework. The tenants and employees undertook a prioritisation exercise which
prioritised each criteria based on their importance to tenants and employees. The
weightings were kept separate for tenants and employees as their priorities differed.
A scoring sheet was developed which translated the criteria into questions, allowing
the options to be examined as to whether and to what extent they could meet the
criteria (Key Doc 16). This scoring process also accounted for the prioritisation by
incorporating a weighting that accounted for the importance placed on each criteria
by both tenants and employees. To support this assessment, an Options Comparison
Document (Key Doc 19) was developed. This document provided factual information
on each of the criteria and for each of the options.

177



Appendix 3

Savills profiled the costs of each of the options to determine their affordability
alongside the timescales in which each of the options could deliver the draft
Northampton Standard items (Key Doc 22). This was delivered to the tenants and
employees and also incorporated into the scoring sheet. This also led to the tenants
and employees reprioritising the draft Northampton Standard, meaning some spend
could be pushed back to years 6-10 ensuring the affordability of the Standard.

Following the scoring exercise by tenants and employees, the option that was
selected was the ALMO. This meant the Council would still own the housing stock
but the delivery of this would be through an Arms Length Management Organisation.

- how will the decision affect people with different protected
characteristics:

The ALMO decision would mean that the Council would still be the landlord, but the
delivery of service would be through a new organisation. The ALMO will aim to
improve services for tenants and could, according to the scoring results, deliver what
tenants and employees wish to see. This decision should see improved standards in
tenants’ homes and to their estates, as well as an improved standard in service from
the organisation managing the housing stock. There would be no alteration to the
way the needs of those with protected characteristics are considered currently,
under the ALMO option.

Under the ALMO, tenants would maintain the same rights as they currently have
under the Council, with some additional opportunities for involvement including the
potential to sit on the ALMO'’s decision-making board in a decision-making capacity
and the ability to be involved in an advisory role in discussions regarding rents and
service charges.

For employees, the ALMO would build on what the Council delivers currently but
additionally enable them to have the opportunity to sit on a decision-making board
in a decision-making capacity.

There would be no specific impact of the decision for the ALMO to manage the
housing stock on those with protected characteristics. There may be some initial
confusion and concerns regarding who would continue to deliver specific elements of
the Council’s current housing services and this may lead to access to service
problems, as certain services would continue to be delivered by the Council. The
impact of this will be mitigated by the implementation of a comprehensive
communication programme involving all stakeholders, supported by a
Communication and Engagement Strategy, clearly identify communication methods
and channels to meet the specific needs of those with protected characteristics.

10

178



Appendix 3

Employees’ terms and conditions would be protected under TUPE legislation. The
additional possibilities that the ALMO would bring would be open to all tenants and
employees should they wish to become involved. The ALMO would develop its own
Equality & Diversity Strategy, developed and approved by tenants and potentially
employees sitting on the ALMO Board. This would be a requirement in order to
comply with equalities legislation.

6. Current service provision:

- what are you doing now:

Northampton Borough Council currently owns and solely the Housing Service. It
manages a housing stock of over 12,000 properties and is responsible for helping to
maintain the supply of low cost social housing in Northampton. Service performance
measures and tenant satisfaction levels are historically low when comparing NBC's
performance with others within the sector. Tenant expectations continue to rise,
reflected in the demand for more modern facilities to be fitted as standard within
homes. Significant investment is still required to maintain homes and make
environmental improvements to estates, which cannot be funded through decency
works.

Savills analysed NBC's financial position regarding the current day to day
expenditure within the HRA and identified that, based on Government assessment of
spending requirement, NBC is currently underfunding day to day services by over
£2m per year.

7. Rationale for change
- what will you do if/when changes are agreed/introduced:

The key drivers for undertaking the Review to deliver the proposed change were;

o Delivering improvements to the quality of housing services to
customers

o Meeting rising expectations of customers

o Ensuring that the necessary investment can be provided to improve

homes and the local environment on estates and;

. Meeting the increasing demand for social housing

The Review process developed a goal or Mission Statement for the Review to specify

its objectives in carrying out the Review, detailed in . The scoring exercise

11

179



Appendix 3

completed by tenants and employees, identified the ALMO as the option that could
deliver the most positive impact against all of the agreed scoring criteria. The TP and
EFG constructed reports giving their recommendations. The Housing Options Panel
considered both of these reports when making its final recommendation. This
recommendation will be presented to Cabinet and then to Full Council in December
2013.

The result of the scoring has been communicated to the Tenants’ Panel, Employee
Focus Group, the wider tenant body, NBC senior management and NBC Housing
Service employees. This included an approach comprising of face to face briefings,
website updates, and newsletters.

Two Tenants’ Conference sessions were held in November 2013. The aim of the
Conference was to share the result of the scoring and to gather wider tenants views.
Feedback from the November 2013 Tenants’ Conference is detailed in Key Doc 21.

Two newsletters were also sent to all tenants in October 2013; one from NBC and
one from the ITA. These shared the result of the scoring and let tenants know what
this means for them.

If Full Council signs off the recommendation, there will be a further phase to the
programme, to prepare for the implementation of the ALMO. This will again include
full stakeholder engagement.

Once implementation has been undertaken, which is expected to take 12 months,
the housing stock would be managed by an ALMO. The Council would remain the
landlord and would continue to have a significant role in specifying what the ALMO
would need to do in order to continue to deliver services and the Council would put
forward representatives to sit on the ALMO decision making Board. The Council
would oversee the performance of the ALMO, through a Management Agreement
and supporting delivery plans.

8. Identification of affected groups/individuals

- list the groups/individuals that may be affected by the proposal:

A stakeholder analysis was undertaken which identified potentially affected
groups/individuals.

These are:

e Tenants
e Employees
e Leaseholders

12

180



9

Appendix 3

NBC senior management
Other NBC employees
Councillors

Key Partners/Contractors

. Assess and/or undertake Consultation

- has there been specific consultation on this decision (if not, state why
not and/or when this may happen):

This Review has involved an extensive engagement programme which has been in
place throughout the Review, since 2012. The consultation programme included:

A Tenants’ Panel, to which any tenant could join. Tenants involved contributed a
combined total of over 5,000 hours of their time through meetings and other
sessions

An Employee Focus Group, to which any employee could volunteer (with line
manager approval). Each employee involved contributed approximately 250
hours throughout the Review

Newsletters from both NBC and the ITA were sent periodically to all tenants
providing information on the Review, potential impacts and asking for views

The ITA delivered over 160 outreach meetings at over 50 different venues to
enable tenants not able to attend Tenant Panel meetings. These were often
located in community rooms associated with the Council’s Sheltered Schemes,
recognising the needs of more vulnerable tenants.

Leaseholders were communicated with via letter regarding updates to the Review
and explanation as to potential impacts of any changes

Three conferences were held; one in December 2012, one in May 2013 and one
in November 2013. All sessions updated tenants on the progress of the Review,
including proposals, key findings from main evidence used and collected views on
potential impact

Regular staff newsletters and briefings were provided, asking for views and
providing information on potential impact. Trade Union representatives were also
kept informed on a monthly basis.

All documentation from Tenants’ Panel and HOP meetings were published on the
Council’s website

The forum on the website enabled anyone interested in the Review to ask
questions
13

181



Appendix 3

- what were the results of the consultation:

Tenants and employees were given the opportunity to understand the Options
Review process and given the opportunity to identify the recommended option. The
consultation programme resulted in a recommendation for an ALMO to be created as
the chosen option for the future management of the housing stock. The Tenants’
Panel and Employee Focus Group agreed on the same option and the ranking of the
remaining options was also the same for both groups. Reasons for their selection
were provided in their reports. The Housing Options Panel considered all of the
evidence provided and also supported the recommendation for an ALMO to be
created. Wider tenants’ views, through feedback obtained were considered and
taken into account as an integral part the decision making process.

- across the protected characteristics, what difference in views did
analysis of the consultation reveal:

The Tenants’ Panel was reflective of the wider community and incorporated
considerable diversity within its membership although the panel was marginally
underrepresented by women and more so with those under 50 years of age. The
ITA’s report (Key Doc 3) provides analysis of how representative the Panel was and
gives its view on the accessibility of the Review process and how its view correlated
to that shared by the wider tenant community.

Protected characteristics were analysed throughout the process to ensure due
consideration was given to specific needs and to ensure the process was inclusive.
The Tenant Survey conducted by Ipsos MORI utilised both postal communications
and communication via email. Responses were collected and analysed provided in
multiple ways, such age, ethnicity, disability etc as well as location. The survey
found that:

e Across a range of services, results showed that older tenants and white tenants
were most likely to be satisfied, while younger tenants and those from BME
backgrounds were less likely

e Those aged 29 or under were the least likely to be satisfied with the housing
service provided by the council (63%), while those aged 75 and above were the
most likely to be satisfied (88%)

e Disabled tenants were very positive about the housing service overall. They were
significantly more likely to say they were satisfied with the housing service overall
(80%) than the tenant population as a whole, and 33% were very satisfied,
compared to 26% of the overall tenant population

14

182



Appendix 3

e 84% of tenants aged 75+ were satisfied with the value for money of their rent,
compared with 58% of under 30s

e 71% of white tenants said that they were satisfied with the value for money of
their rent, compared with 64% of BME tenants

e While nine in ten (91%) tenants aged 75 or over said that they were satisfied
with the overall quality of their home, just over a half (55%) of residents under
the age of 30 were satisfied

e White tenants (73%) are more likely than BME tenants (68%) to be satisfied with
the overall quality of their home. This was despite the fact that BME tenants
(78%) were actually marginally more satisfied than white tenants (75%) with the
housing service provided by the Council

e BME tenants (81%) were more likely than white tenants (72%) to agree that
tenants should have a greater say in how the housing service was managed

e Communication with tenants appeared to be important to BME tenants. Keeping
residents informed ranked as the third most important housing service among
BME tenants while it was only the sixth most important for white tenants

- what conclusions have been drawn from the analysis on how the
decision will affect people with different protected characteristics:

All of the extensive evidence, collected through this review, was fully considered in
the decision making process.

Whilst the analysis suggested there was a difference in the satisfaction levels and
priorities across all protected characteristics, any decision produced from this Review
will potentially produce a higher level of service for all tenants, as well as a higher
standard of improvements to their homes. The individual analysis obtained will be
utilised by the Council and the future planning for services, to address specific issues
highlighted through certain groups.

In terms of being able to communicate the decision across all protected
characteristics, numerous options have been implemented. Home visits were
offered, information was advertised as available in other languages and British Sign
Language and interpreters were available and were utilised for the Tenants’
Conference. Telephone access to information was provided on either Freephone
numbers or 0300 numbers to ensure that cost effective communication methods
were provided.

15

183



Appendix 3

10. Assessment of impact on staff

- please give details of impact on staff, including staffing profile if/as
appropriate:

If the ALMO is approved by Full Council, this will require identified staff to transfer to
the new organisation. This occurs under Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of
Employment) regulations and means employees terms and conditions would be
protected. The TUPE process will determine which employees will transfer. When
there is to be a transfer of undertakings, the employer is required to inform and
consult with employees through Trade Unions. This review process included regular
consultation with the relevant Trade Union groups and this would continue, if the
option is approved.

There may be an impact on the residual NBC organisation in terms of process and
approval of the option may result in the need to restructure the services remaining
within the Council’s responsibility. The Council has an agreed Restructure Policy and
this policy would apply to any restructure proposals made by the Council following
the decision.

11. Assessment of impact on wider community

- please give details of any impacts to the community as a whole:

The draft Northampton Standard incorporates a considerable programme of
improvements to estates rather than purely improvements to homes, which will be a
positive benefit to the wider community. These improvements will take place
throughout the life of the 30 year Business Plan but will take 10 years to initially
implement. Improvements proposed include, additional parking provision, improved
security lighting, improved drying areas, improved bin stores and refurbishments to
play areas. Improved service standards relating to management of Anti- social
behaviour, repairs and maintenance and grounds maintenance, will potentially
positively impact on how individuals experience life within their communities. The
effect of ineffectively managed anti- social behaviour, the quality of housing,
cleanliness of estates etc, all have a fundamental impact on peoples’ lives.

The draft Northampton Standard will also look at the provision of new build outside
of the HRA. This would enable environmental and physical property improvements to
be carried out sooner than if new build provision was to be delivered within the HRA.

16

184



Appendix 3

12. Analysis of impact on protected characteristics

- please summarise the results of the analysis:

The outcome of the Options Review would be the same for all tenants whereby it is
intended that they would see an increase in service standards and property
standards. Tenants would continue to receive services, albeit through an alternative
provider. There would be additional opportunities for more involvement for both
tenants and employees. This involvement would have no bias in terms of protected
characteristics, if the option is implemented as the Equality policies developed for
the new organisation would state how involvement should involve equality of
opportunity. The outcome of the Review would have a positive impact with no
detriment to the provision of service.

13. Assess the relevance and impact of the decision to people with
different protected characteristics

Relevance | Impact
Age High Positive
Disability High Positive
Gender reassignment High Positive
Marriage and civil partnership High Positive
Pregnancy and maternity High Positive
Race High Positive
Religion or belief High Positive
Sex High Positive
Sexual orientation High Positive
Other socially excluded groups High Positive
(include health inequalities)

17

185



Appendix 3

14. Mitigation of adverse impact on staff/service/people

- where any negative impact has been identified, please outline the
measures taken to mitigate against it:

No negative impacts were identified for the implementation of the options, mainly
due to extensive consultation programme taking views and impacts into account
throughout the process and decisions made had the benefit of such impacts.

For tenants, there was the potential for the final selected option to not meet their
requirements, leading to a reputational risk for NBC and potential lack of buy in to
the next stage of setting up the ALMO. This was mitigated throughout the process,
by tenants and affected employees leading the process of drafting the draft
Northampton Standard and drawing up the criteria against which the scoring was
undertaken. All tenants had access to the ITA, offering impartial advice to tenants.
There was regular communication, through the Council’'s website, newsletters and
conferences. Wider tenant views gathered from the conferences were incorporated
into work undertaken by the Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group. Information
was provided for tenants in the way they wished to receive it, and communications
will continue throughout the next phase of the Programme.

In regard to employees, there was a potential lack of buy in to the ALMO and a
reputational risk for NBC. This was mitigated by comprehensive communications
with employees, where clear messages were delivered to all employees within the
Housing Service and wider Council services, on a regular basis. The Employee Focus
Group had extensive input into work completed under the Review.

There was the potential for distrust regarding service charges for leaseholders. To
mitigate the possibility of this, leaseholders were communicated with throughout the
process offering opportunities for any questions to be answered. Leaseholders also
received copies of newsletters sent to tenants and there was a leaseholder presence
at the Conference in November 2013.

There was the potential for the period of change to impact negatively on the delivery
of services. This would be mitigated through robust planning, strong leadership and
accountable processes.

15. Publication of results
This CIA will be posted on the Council website

16. Monitoring and Review

- please give details of how the changes will be monitored and when the
next review is due:
18

186



Appendix 3

The implementation phase will be thoroughly planned using the same tight
programme management processes adopted for this Review. Engagement structures
will be refreshed and tenants and employees will continue to be centrally involved
and the process. The change will be closely monitored to ensure it is on track
through effective governance processes. The ALMO would be subject to
requirements contained within a Management Agreement and Service Level
Agreements between NBC and the ALMO to ensure service delivery occurs at an
agreed standard. The performance of the ALMO will continue to be monitored and
the management and delivery of the housing stock could be brought back ‘in-house’
if the ALMO is underperforming, subject to certain requirements. Safeguards will be
put in place to ensure a full options appraisal with full stakeholder engagement is
undertaken if there is a call for either a future stock transfer or for the ALMO to be
brought back in-house, except in for in certain circumstances defined within the
Management Agreement.

17. Conclusion

- Please state how due regard has been taken to the equality duty, and
public health considerations:

The Options Review process was designed to be inclusive, with consideration given
to potential negative impact across the protected characteristics. The outcome of the
Review will potentially have positive implications for tenants and employees. The
Review was undertaken in a way to allow flexibility in meeting the needs of tenants
and employees.

- please advise on the overall equality implications that should be taken
into account in the final decision, considering relevance and impact:

The process undertaken was designed to be inclusive. Barriers were removed where
possible, and access to information was available at all possible opportunities. There
is no adverse impact for stakeholders and the Council will continue to monitor this,
should the recommended option be implemented. Specific consideration would be
given to the landlord function to ensure due regard is evidenced.

19

187



Appendix 3

References

Sources of evidence referenced throughout this document are detailed below. This
Community Impact Assessment is part of a series of reports compiled in relation to
the Housing Options Review. The series comprises:

1. Tenants’ Panel Report

2. Employee Focus Group Report
3. Housing Options Panel Report
4. NBC Final Report

The following Key Documents and Background Documents are held centrally and
feature in more than one report within the series. All documents are available on
the Councils website or available from the Housing Options Review team on 0300
330 7004.

Tenants’ Panel Report Key Document 1
Employee Focus Group Report Key Document 2
Housing Options Panel Report Key Document 4
Financial Reprioritisation Key Document 12

Stock Condition Survey Key Document 14
Scoring Framework Key Document 16
Options Comparison Document Key Document 19
Scoring Sheet Key Document 20
November 2013 Conference Feedback Key Document 21
Savills Financial Analysis Presentation Key Document 22

Ipsos MORI Tenant Survey Background Document 1
2012-2015 NBC Corporate Plan Background Document 3

20

188




Key Doc 1

THE TENANTS™ PANCL

The Report of the
Northampton Tenants' Panel
to the Housing Options Panel
and to Northampton Borough Council
October 2013

P
> .
i

wr y the Northampton Tenants' Panel, uble
Reviewing the future
of Northampton’s housing W
to PS Consultants our Independent Tenant Advisors yortHAMPTON

YOUR
YOUR

and with administrative suppot8om Northampton Borough Council *°**"¢" —




FOREWORD

NTP Editorial Panel Representatives
The NTP asked its five tenant representatives on the Council’s Housing Options Panel (HOP):

Norman Adams
Kat Bennett

Phil Humphris
Tony Mallard
Steve Whitehead

with the NTP Chair and the NTP Vice-Chair

Rob Edwards
Conwell Munyaradzi

to be its Editorial Panel for the preparation of this Report for the NTP to discuss and to endorse at its
meeting on 22 October 2013.

Key Documents are documents that will be referenced throughout a series of reports. This series
comprises this Tenants’ Panel Report, Employee Focus Group Report, Independent Tenant Adviser
Report, Housing Options Panel Report, and the Northampton Borough Council Report on the
Housing Options Review.

Key documents associated with this report are detailed below. All Key Documents, appendices
and background documents, not published with this report, associated with the review are
available for viewing on the Council's website or by contacting the Housing Options Review
Team tel: 0300 330 7004

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20139 (2




Contents

Executive Summary  Key Points

Section 1 Introduction to the Northampton Tenants’ Panel
Section 2 Tenant involvement in the Options Appraisal process
Section 3 What we learned from the process

Section 4 The Options criteria and scoring system

Section 5 The results of the NTP’s scoring exercise

Section 6 Our Recommendations

Section 7 Issues for further consideration

Acknowledgements

Key Document Number Key Document Name

5 Tenants’ Panel Terms of Reference

12 Re-Profiled Northampton Standard Expenditure
13 Communication & Consultation Strategy

14 Stock Condition Survey

15 Initial Options Criteria

16 Scoring Framework

17 Tenants Panel Weighting

19 Options Comparison Document

20 Scoring Framework

22 Financial Analysis Presentation

23 Consultation on the Housing Transfer Manual
24 Draft Northampton Standard

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013913

12

16

23

27

43

44

50




Appendix Number Appendix Name
1 Tenants’ Panel Information Sheets

2 Tenants’ Panel Scoring Presentation

Background Document  Background Document Name

1 Tenant Survey

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 201394




Executive Summary

The Northampton Tenants' Panel Report presents the recommendations of the Panel on the
NBC Housing Stock Options Appraisal, and the process by which we came to make those
recommendations.

Our Report describes the formation of the Tenants' Panel and sets the Panel's work in the
context of wider tenant involvement in the Appraisal. It follows the evidence trail from our
information sources, through our development of evaluation criteria, to our scoring against
those criteria. From the results of the Panel's scoring, it evaluates the merits of each Option.
Finally, it gives the Panel's recommendation and explores possible future development of
that Option, including the Panel's potential role.

1. Introduction to the Northampton Tenants' Panel

° formed summer 2012 when invitations to join were sent to all tenants

° initial attendance tapered off until an influx in December 2012, since then maintaining
a high average attendance of around 30 attendees per meeting

° open to new members until August2013 when scoring began

2. Tenant Involvement in the Options Appraisal Process

° wider tenant involvement included:

e [TA outreach work and drop-ins

e the Tenant Survey sent to all tenants, with a response rate of 27% (3, 727)

¢ two Tenant Conferences (at time of writing - third planned)

e 'From Your Tenants' Panel' information sheets, written by tenants for tenants

° information gathered indicated Tenants' Panel opinions were broadly representative
3. What we learned from the process

° Tenant Survey - satisfaction is fair but falling, & tenants do not feel their views are
taken into account; improvement priorities are repairs service & quality of homes

° Stock Condition Survey - significant investment is needed, frontloaded into the short-
term; chronic underinvestment in neighbourhoods is apparent

o Government Guidelines on Stock Transfer - debt write-off on transfer now depends on
making a case demonstrating net benefit to Government, not local housing stock

° Financial Issues (modelled assuming draft ‘Northampton Standard' to be aimed for)
° Northampton Standard can be achieved within the HRA debt cap, but only if:

° it is spread over 10 years, if new build is funded from outside HRA

° it is spread over 15 years, if new build is funded from within HRA
° transfer requires £110m debt write-off, if new build funded from outside HRA
° transfer requires £150m debt write-off, if new build funded from within HRA

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20193




4. The Options Criteria and Scoring System

46 criteria were eventually developed, grouped across 8 policy themes
scoring ran from 0-3 on each option's ability to meet each criterion
weighting relative importance of each criterion gave a multiplier running from 1-4

weightings were agreed by the Panel, but each tenant then scored individually

5. The Results of the Scoring Exercise

Option 2 (retention as an ALMO) was scored highest by the Panel overall

the transfer Options were attractive in terms of tenant and employee empowerment
but judged to risk loss of local focus, and were not considered likely to be financially
viable in light of the Government Guidance available

of the retention Options, the ALMO Option 2 was accepted as more likely than the
internal review Option 1 to deliver tenant and employee empowerment, while
maintaining local focus and not being dependent on Government debt write-off

6. Our Recommendations

the ALMO is the best way forward, with caveats to the effect that:

° we see its benefits as primarily derived from being a wholly housing-focused
organisation

° we see its strengths as lying in the opportunity for genuine and meaningful

tenant and employee involvement including, although not limited to, at Board
level

. Issues for further Consideration

we believe both the above would need to be recognised from the very outset of
negotiations on developing an ALMO tailored to Northampton's particular needs and
aspirations, to ensure the new organisation is both fit for purpose and has on-going
tenant and employee support

in particular we foresee careful consideration needing to be given to:

° composition and (s)election of the Board of Management

° the ALMO's on-going relationship with NBC

. the commitment to full and democratic consultation with NBC tenants

We hope our efforts, over 15 months of the intensive evidence gathering and sifting
entailed by this Appraisal, bear fruit in the future development of a tenant-focused housing
service with full tenant involvement at its core. The Tenants' Panel wishes to be at the heart
of the work to come.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013946




Section1 Introduction to the Northampton Tenants’ Panel

1. Formation of the Panel

In summer 2012, Northampton Borough Council (NBC) invited tenants to join a new
borough-wide Tenant’s Panel with a specific remit to provide a tenant perspective in the
Housing Options Review.

We were invited to become involved via a variety of methods:

a letter of invitation sent out to every tenant, with additional mailshots in council
newsletters to tenants

° targeted invitations sent to the members of the existing Tenant Sounding Board

° tenant meetings held in local areas which showcased the upcoming Housing Options
Review alongside other Housing-related consultations

° reminder invitations regularly sent out in newsletters over the course of the Review

word-of-mouth spread by Tenants' Panel members encouraging others to join

Two open information sessions were held in late August 2012 for those of us who had
expressed an initial interest in being part of the new Tenants' Panel, with over 50 tenants
attending. From these meetings the Tenants' Panel was formed.

2. Appointment of the Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA)

In July 2012, seven tenants who had expressed an interest became the selection panel for
an Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA), with advice and support at this early stage from the
Council's newly-established Housing Options Review staff team. This panel sent an invitation
to tender to five organisations with previous experience of such work, shortlisted and
interviewed two of them, and chose PS Consultants as our ITA. Their remit was to:

° work with the Northampton-wide Tenants' Panel
° raise awareness and provide information to all NBC tenants during the review

° feed back to the Panel the views of tenants gathered from the ITA outreach work
across Northampton.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 201305/




3. Overall Remit of the Panel

Our first tasks in September 2012 were to discuss and to agree the Council's Joint
Engagement and Consultation Strategy (key document 13) and our own Terms of Reference
and Code of Conduct (key document 5)

We agreed our purpose as a Tenants’ Panel was to:

“Work with the Council and advisers to make sure the Council’s Housing
Options Review considers:

J the things that matter most to tenants

J all relevant information and all aspects of the appraisal and make its
views known to the Housing Options Panel (HOP).”

The agreed terms of reference made it clear that the Panel would try to reach consensus
wherever possible, but with each tenant present having one vote should the need for a vote
arise.

All Panel members have abided by the adopted Terms of Reference and Code of Conduct,
which has allowed the meetings to be run in a business-like and efficient manner. This is
despite the many difficult and challenging decisions we have faced during the course of the
review, and despite the size of the panel, the diversity within it and the wide range of
opinions we hold.

4. Election of Officers

The Tenants' Panel elected our Chair and Vice Chair after hearing a personal statement from
each of the candidates willing to put themselves forward, which gave them the chance to
speak about the qualities and experience they would bring to the role. Support in
formulating this statement was available to all candidates from the ITA, and the statements
were circulated for the Panel to read beforehand. The election was overseen on our behalf
by the ITA in order to guarantee impartiality and independence.

Rob Edwards was elected as our Chair and Conwell Munyaradzi as our Vice Chair.

In addition to the Panel's own officers, we needed to elect five of our members to represent
tenants on the Council's Housing Options Panel (HOP), sitting alongside five employee
representatives and five councillors. The role of the HOP was to consider the evidence
gathered by the Review as it progressed, plus the findings and recommendations in the final
reports of the Employee Focus Group (EFG) and Tenants' Panel.

Following a similar process to the election of the Panel's Chair and Vice Chair, the five HOP
representatives chosen were Norman Adams, Kat Bennett, Phil Humphris, Tony Mallard,
and Steve Whitehead.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 201393




5. Tenant Panel Membership

Attendance

We started off with 18 tenants attending the first formal Panel meeting in September 2012,
with attendance falling back by November 2012 to 12-14 per meeting. We received a
welcome influx of new members thanks to the success of the first Tenants’ Conference
arranged by NBC in December 2012. By this time the Panel had had an opportunity to shape
early ideas on a new Northampton Standard for homes and services, which enabled
Conference attendees to quickly get to work on a clear, focused, and practical approach to
the Review when they joined the Panel.

From December 2012 onwards, right up to the time of writing in October 2013, our average
attendance has been sustained at around 30 members per meeting.

We have been able to maintain this high overall attendance because we agreed at the
outset we would be an open panel which welcomed and supported new tenant members.
To do this the Council held formal 'catch up' information sessions for new Panel members,
the Council and the ITA held ‘recap’ and ‘summary’ sessions which served to remind all of us
of the key issues we had covered, and Panel members rallied round to offer informal peer
support to one another during and outside of the Panel meetings.

It is testament to our commitment as tenants that at least two Panel members have
continued their involvement by taking annual leave from their employment to be able to
see the process through.

Being Representative

An on-going concern for the Panel has been the ‘representativeness’ of our membership
compared to the profile of all council tenants across the borough. We have been able to
attract tenants of varying ethnic backgrounds, and Panel members have varying disability,
sensory impairment and health support needs; but on a simple analysis of our membership
list compared to the figures from the Ipsos MORI Tenant Survey 2012, we can see female
tenants have been under-represented, as have tenants under 49 years.

A key limiting factor to active involvement was the timing of Panel meetings. All Panel
members were asked at the outset to identify which times and days of the week suited
them individually, leaving the Council's Housing Options Review team the near-impossible
job of trying to find times to suit everyone. Some evening meetings were scheduled at the
start of the process but low attendance at these led to a programme of daytime meetings to
suit the majority. We recognise the Council's efforts to experiment with timings of meetings,
and we acknowledge, albeit with regret, that finding a regular time slot to suit everyone,
across such a stretch of time as the Review entailed, was unrealistic.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20139 7P




We also appreciate that any group whose members are volunteers drawn from those with
an interest in a subject is necessarily self-selecting and unlikely to be statistically
representative of a whole population. But the views expressed at the two tenant
conferences to date, as well as the feedback to the ITA’s outreach programme, suggest that
the views held by our members are broadly in line with those of tenants as a whole.

Commitment

We were asked to attend eight Panel meetings in 2012, 36 in 2013, plus a further ten joint
workshop sessions in conjunction with the Employee Focus Group. As the Panel meetings
have averaged 3.25 hours and the joint sessions 3.5 hours, this means the Tenants' Panel as
a whole has given a total of 5,535 person hours to carry out this Review, an average of 15.4
hours per person per month.

This is without -calculating the further commitment from the five HOP tenant
representatives, and additional contributions to Residents Association meetings,
involvement with the Northampton Federation of Residents Associations, taking part in the
Council's Tenant Conferences, and supporting the four phases of the ITA outreach work.

We believe that the commitment shown by this Panel demonstrates that there are
Northampton Borough Council tenants willing and able to work constructively with the
Council, and with its staff, across the whole range of social housing issues. We also hope
that this will be just the start of the work of a Northampton Tenants' Panel.

Evolution

Our membership has changed and evolved during the course of the Review.

This inevitably reflects the changing circumstances experienced by our members during the
15 month period, notably the pressure of family and care commitments. Over the entire
period some 56 tenants have been involved, either at certain stages or throughout the
whole course of the Review. Throughout 2013 from a core membership of around 35
members, our meeting attendance averaged 30 regular attendees.

We agreed to close Panel membership in August 2013, when we reached the critical stage of
finalising the scoring and weighting process. By then it was not fair or practical to expect any
new member to be able to fully catch up with the details of a Review process nearing its
culmination, with individual scoring of the Options by Panel members against detailed
criteria which we had by then spent several months formulating as a group.

The intended timetable of the Review called for a Council decision to be made in July 2013,
but come June 2013 we were still waiting for financial analysis and costings for the proposed
Northampton Standard, and crucially also for the long-awaited Government consultation on
stock transfer during self-financing. We are grateful, therefore, that the Council responded
Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013980




to our formal request to push the timescale back to a decision date in December 2013. It
has allowed this vital information to be properly assessed and incorporated into our
evaluation.

In summary

We feel the meeting programme has been well organised and managed by the Housing
Options Review staff team to enable us to take part. Taxis to and from meetings have been
arranged where required, bus fares and other expenses such as childcare or carers’ costs
have been met and paid promptly at each meeting; light refreshments and a buffet lunch
have always been provided.

In our view this has been a process which exemplified good practice in equality of
opportunities. Every tenant has had an opportunity to have their say, either by joining the
Panel or in a wide variety of other ways.

We hope to see the Council continue to try to engage with as many tenants as possible as
we move into the next phase of this project.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013991




Section2 Tenant Involvement in the Options Appraisal
Process

1. The Tenants’ Panel

Once the role of the Tenants’ Panel had been established the process began to settle into a
regular pattern of work. From this point onwards the Review programme was mainly based
around 3 elements:

° ITA-led development sessions, where the ITA prepared and presented information to
the Panel to raise our awareness and understanding of specific issues and to allow us
the time to prepare for discussion of the topic with the Council, and where
appropriate with the Employee Focus Group;

° Council-led sessions which, once the structures and process of the Review had been
agreed, focused on each of the key topics or issues that we would need to consider
and form a view on;

° joint discussion sessions, where the Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group
worked together on specific issues such as developing the draft Northampton
Standard.

We understand, somewhat to our surprise, that these joint workshop sessions are not
common in Options Appraisals. We found they allowed us and the employees to arrive at a
shared position on certain topics rather than work in isolation from each other; certainly
from the perspective of the Tenants’ Panel we benefitted from the expertise and experience
of the employees involved, and we hope the benefits flowed the other way, too. This is an
innovation Northampton Borough Council should be proud of having supported.

2. The work carried out by the ITA

In addition to the support role to the Panel, the ITA carried out a borough-wide outreach
role, providing information and helping tenants to understand what the Review is about and
what the potential implications might be for tenants depending on which Option is chosen,
and inviting tenants to express their views and concerns which were then fed back to the
Tenants’ Panel and to the Council.

Many of us were keen to support this aspect of the ITA’s work, as we recognise that we got
involved to represent as far as possible the views of the wider tenant body.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 201302




Some of us:

° offered our knowledge of Northampton’s community and voluntary sector to advise
the ITA on where we thought the ITA drop-ins should be to engage with NBC tenants
across the borough

° contributed to the content of the 3 ITA newsletters

o one Panel member certainly used the ITA’s online interactive forum to raise questions
and concerns during the review

° attended some of the ITA drop-in meetings in the Community rooms on our estates
and in the Self-Serve area of the Guildhall Foyer to show that as a Tenants’ Panel we
wanted to hear first-hand what tenants were saying, to explain our role in the process
and to tell them the range of issues the Review would cover.

We produced a contact card for Rob Edwards as the Chair of the Tenants’ Panel which we
and our ITA handed out during the outreach programmes to invite tenants to speak directly
to Rob. Most of all we wanted tenants to know that as far as we could tell this was a
genuine attempt by the Council to involve and to listen to the views of tenants about what
we want from the Housing Service.

3. The Tenant Survey

This gave us feedback from a wide cross-section of council tenants across Northampton so
for the first time we had a real indication of the concerns, views and the priorities of around
27% of the tenant population. Once we knew that our views largely chimed with those of a
significant number of council tenants, we felt we could speak with more confidence to make
sure our collective voice got heard.

In the Tenant Survey (background document 1) tenants were asked whether they would like
to learn more about the Review. Around 160 tenants who were interested but wanted to be
involved in a less demanding way than attending the Panel meetings which, by early 2013,
had become at least weekly, have been kept informed at regular intervals by the Council's
Housing Options Review team. As a result wider contact has been maintained with less-
involved tenants, on the main issues under consideration and on updates on decisions
agreed, via email or by posting information out to them.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013013




4. The Tenant Conferences

Both of the Tenant Conferences held by the time of writing have tackled significant issues
within the review.

The first conference mainly focused on the condition of our homes, the work that needs to
be done to improve homes and estates to meet tenants’ aspirations, and on tenants' views
on the housing service and their priorities for the future.

The second focused on the groundwork for a significant review of housing services.

The third will discuss with tenants the findings and implications of the housing review and
hear from the Panel why we chose our recommended Option.

As a Panel we want to know how other tenants view the conclusions we have reached,
whether they agree and whether they would be supportive if it can achieve significant and
lasting change to housing service delivery.

5. The Tenant Information Sheets produced by the Panel

We were clear that we wanted to do all we could to actively engage with and inform other
tenants. One of the immediate advantages to tenants from being involved with the Panel
was access to information we had previously struggled to find or never realised was
available, and we wanted other tenants to benefit from the knowledge we have picked up
during the Review.

We felt that a good starting point was to produce a series of clearly-written and
straightforward information sheets (appendix 1) around key issues for Council tenants
because information at this level of clarity and simplicity was not being provided by the
Council, and was slightly outside the remit of the ITA during the review.

So we began to put together information, which both the Council and the ITA checked for
accuracy for us. The Council kindly offered to copy the resulting five information sheets,
which were made available to tenants at the second Tenant Conference and during the
second phase onwards of the ITA outreach drop-in programme.

Both the Council and the ITA have put our five Tenant information Sheets onto their
websites. Our NTP information sheets are in and comprise:

° Cover sheet - Knowledge is Power
° Decent Homes

° Getting Your Voice Heard

° Your Rent and what it's spent on
° Knowing Your Rights

° Who’s who in Housing Services

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20[3) 24




We have been told that from the ITA’s experience no Tenant’s Panel has gone to this level
to share information with other tenants in such a professional manner. Again, Northampton
can be proud of supporting an innovative approach.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013035




Section 3 What we learned from the process

1. Introduction

When we began work as a Panel most of us had a clear idea of what we thought of the
present Council Housing Service. Those ideas came in part from our own direct experience
of the service as tenants, but some of us also had been active in local tenant groups, or in
Northampton-wide groups such as the Council’s Tenant Sounding Board, where we had
discussed those experiences with others.

We knew, however, that in order to be able to evaluate the options comprehensively and
objectively, we would have to go beyond our individual views and experience and learn
about a wide range of issues that would impact on the appraisal.

In this section we set out the main policy and topic areas that we have had to consider, and
summarise what we have learned from each of them.

2.  The Available Options

At a very early stage in the process we understood that there were ten options possibly
open to the Council. These were:

Contracting out the housing service

Retention with no change to the operation of the service

Retention with a major service review

Retention with an ALMO or Arm’s Length Management Organisation
Transfer to a stand-alone association

Transfer to a mutual association

Transfer to become a subsidiary of an existing association

Transfer i.e. absorption by an existing association

Transfer to a Community Gateway organisation

PFI (Private Finance Initiative).

It was clear from that early point that the Council itself had ruled out both the first and last
of those options (contracting out and PFl) as ones they did not wish to pursue, in part
because they did not feel that these options would be acceptable to tenants. The Panel
agreed with that decision.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2018046




None of us felt that contracting out would lead to a better service nor, in our view, would
there have been the opportunities for the much stronger engagement with tenants we
knew we wanted.

PFI had no appeal, particularly in the light of the experience in Eastfield.

Transfer to become tenants of an existing housing association also had no support
whatsoever. It seemed to us that this option would simply erase the identity of our current
council housing service and remove us from the type of democratic accountability many of
us value. Nor did we feel that Northampton tenants as a whole would ever support this
option in a ballot.

Finally, we ruled out the Community Gateway model at a fairly early stage, principally
because although it is itself a mutual model, it did not seem to offer as much in terms of
tenant engagement as the type of mutual organisation represented by the Community
Housing Mutual Model adopted in Rochdale, for example.

As discussed later in this report, we then agreed in late spring 2013 that the option to retain
but with no change to the operation of the housing service (which by now had become
Option 1) was not a viable option. It seemed to us that the Council was already embarked
on the early stages of a service review, through the operation of the Service Improvement
Panels, and that the service was already in the process of change in a way that rendered
what was, in effect, a ‘no change’ option, redundant.

There was some concern in the Panel that in dropping that specific retention option the
evaluation process would be seen as overly biased towards a transfer solution, as it then left
two retention options and three transfer options. But we came to accept that it was the
right thing to do.

What we have learned from the process of options development is that retention and
transfer are not single and undifferentiated solutions. There are different ways in which
retention could happen, just as there are different ways in which transfer could occur. That
was a new realisation for many of us who had previously thought of them in simpler terms
i.e. ‘retention’ versus ‘transfer’.

As a Panel we are satisfied the options which have been fully evaluated and scored are the
only options that had a realistic prospect of meeting the investment and service needs of
our homes, and which would be understood by tenants as a whole once they are properly
explained and developed. They are also the options that best lent themselves to the kind of
detailed evaluation that we, and the Employee Focus Group, wanted to carry out.

3. The Tenant Survey

Shortly after we began our work in August 2012, Ipsos MORI carried out a major tenant
survey. This attracted a 27% response rate, with 3,727 questionnaires received.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013057




We think the most significant points to come out of the survey were as follows:

° The overall satisfaction levels with the service provided stood at 75% - but this was 3%
lower than in 2010

° The overall satisfaction levels with individual homes was 72% - 9% down on 2010

° The overall satisfaction with the neighbourhood as a place to live was also 72% - but
this was 11% down on 2010

° The overall satisfaction rate with how tenants’ views were taken into account was only
55% - a decline of 12% since 2010

° The two most important services to tenants are repairs and maintenance and
maintaining the overall quality of homes, and these are also the two most in need of
improvement according to the survey

o The four most important areas for improvements to the home itself are security of the
home, modern and secure front and back doors, central heating, and modern kitchens

° 83% of tenants agreed that it is more important that their homes are in good repair,
have a reasonable rent, and are well managed, than who the landlord is.

Analysing these results, we have learned a number of things:

. Although satisfaction levels across the service are reasonable, and better than results
in 2006 and 2008, relative to other landlords they look poor, and have gone into
reverse over the last few years

° Our views on the importance of repairs, and improvements to homes and
neighbourhoods, very much matches those of tenants as a whole

° Tenants are clearly not satisfied that their views are properly taken into account.

We took from the survey an understanding of how tenants view investment priorities. These
fed directly into the subsequent work we did to establish the Northampton Standard, and
then to re-prioritise the investment programme in line with financial analysis of a 30 year
Business Plan.

4. Stock Condition Survey

The material presented to us on the condition of our homes and neighbourhoods gave us
the first overview many of us have seen on the state of NBC council homes as a whole (key
document 14).

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20120 @8




We learned:

° Although Savills told us that the investment needed was about what they would
expect for the age and type of council stock, that still meant ‘significant’ investment
was needed to upgrade and modernise properties

° Despite the work that has been done in the last few years, some 40% of our homes do
not yet meet the Decent Homes Standard

° Approximately 50% of all kitchens and bathrooms need to be replaced in the short
term, and wiring needs to be replaced, and 25% of all heating systems need to be
upgraded at the same time

° Significant work is also needed on external areas including paths, fences, outbuildings
and estates

° The Decent Homes / Legal Obligations standard would require £157m in Years 1-5 and
£692.7m over 30 years. The ‘Modern Standard’ would require £267.6 m in Years 1-5
and £880m over 30 years, and the Northampton Standard as drafted would cost
approximately £851m over 30 years.

° Savills consider the ‘Modern Standard ‘(which is close to the Northampton Standard
developed by the Tenant Panel and Employee Focus Group) to be ‘not excessive’.

These facts informed how we developed the essential components of a Northampton
Standard, and helped us to re-prioritise the investment programme elements to meet
Business Plan requirements.

5. Government Guidelines on Stock Transfer

Our work was considerably hampered by the fact that the draft Government guidelines on
Housing Stock Transfer (key document 23) were not published until July 2013, with the final
version not yet available. The non-availability of the guidelines has meant that throughout
most of our work we were unable to properly evaluate the financial viability, and hence
attractiveness, of the three transfer options.

On the basis of the draft guidelines what we believe we know is as follows:

o These guidelines are for a specific period which ends in March 2015. There is no advice
available on any future transfer proposals, in effect it implies a ‘now or never’
approach to transfer

° Transfer proposals in this period are required to be approved by the Department for
Communities and Local Government and Her Majesty's Treasury on the basis of the

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2010729




preparation by a council considering transfer of a ‘full business case’ which has to
include strategic, economic, commercial, financial, and management factors.

° Councils are expected in the full business case to show that the valuation of council
homes is maximised, so as to minimise any debt write off required from Government,
meaning the costs of improving homes to an aspirational standard such as the
Northampton Standard would be detrimental to the business case.

° The Government is giving no commitment to write-off any debt even where the
valuation is maximised in this way, although neither has it said categorically that it will
not do so.

° The Government expects the proceeds from any VAT Shelter, usually shared by the
transferring council and the acquiring landlord, to be used to reduce debt write-off,
and in most cases expects set up costs to be funded from within the Business Plan,
and not via the transfer valuation model.

What we have learned from the Guidelines is that whereas in the past the Government’s
position was to support transfer via debt write-off where this resulted in a viable Business
Plan, it is now much more about a council proving in its full business case that transfer will
bring a net benefit to the public purse and/ or the Government’s wider policy agenda.

6. Financial Issues

The financial analysis is modelled for retention as a whole and for transfer as a whole (key
document 22).

It models the impact on a 30 year business plan of a range of scenarios, the principal ones
being:

° whether or not the plan includes the provision of 40 new build units a year as under
the current HRA Business Plan

o when during the course of the Business Plan the expenditure to achieve the
Northampton Standard occurs

° in the case of retention, the impact of the current debt cap for Northampton of
£209m - the principal component of which is the Government-imposed debt of
£193m entailed in the introduction of council housing self-financing in 2012.

We learned from this analysis that:

° The valuation of the homes, as determined by the Government’s Tenanted Market
Value formula, is £83m

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013080




° The current HRA Business Plan allows for a capital programme above the Decent
Homes Standard but below the Northampton Standard, and for up to 40 new build
units per year

. With retention, although the HRA Business Plan could afford the Northampton
Standard, attaining that standard would breach the debt cap with or without new
build if that standard were to be reached in Years 1-5

° Retention could achieve the Northampton Standard and just stay within the debt cap
provided £44m of expenditure was re-profiled from Years 1-5 to Years 6-10, and
provided there was no HRA-funded new build

° Retention could achieve the Northampton Standard, meet the new build
requirements, and just stay within the debt cap, but only if £60m of capital
expenditure is pushed back to Years 6-15

° A Transfer Business Plan could achieve the Northampton Standard in the first 5 years
provided there was no new build within it, and the Government writes-off £110 of
debt (i.e. £193m minus £83m)

° A Transfer Business Plan could achieve the Northampton Standard in 5 years, and new
build 40 units, but would require debt write-off of over £150m.

The key things we took from these facts were:

1.  To the relief of many Tenants’ Panel members, retention is a viable financial option
even under the current debt cap, allowing all options to be kept in consideration

2.  The Northampton Standard is attainable with retention, but only with major delays in
when it is fully implemented.

Transfer delivers the Northampton standard in the shortest time, but requires an acquiring
landlord to pay up to £83m for the homes and for the Government to write-off between
£110m and £150m.

The conclusions we have drawn from the financial analysis presented to us are set out in our
Conclusions and Recommendations (Section 6).

7.  Visits from other Housing Organisations

This was the last information-gathering exercise in the Review and an opportunity for us as
a Tenants' Panel, and for employee representatives also, to hear first-hand from other
ALMO’s and housing associations representing the 3 alternative transfer options what their
experience had been.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20130 Q1




We found the visits very informative. We would have liked more time to consider the
information that each provided; however coming as they did just before we did the scoring
against the 46 objective criteria some of us as Panel members were probably influenced to
some extent by what was said.

8.  Using the evidence

These are the main groups of issues that we have taken into account in our scoring of the
options. Some Panel members may have preferred to approach the evaluation in a more
subjective and less systematic way, but the Panel as a whole has agreed that these data
sources have given us the best background information with which to evaluate the options.

We believe the approach we have used has been the most honest and transparent way for
us to meet the objectives we set for the Housing Options Review Mission Statement:

Mission Statement:

To seek to identify the most tenant focussed option for the future management
and ownership of the Council’s housing which:

° secures tenants’ rights

° minimizes tenants’ costs

° meets the quality of standards of home and environmental improvement
which tenants wish to see

° is sustainable in the long-term

° appraises the potential contribution the various landlord options could
have towards meeting the need for additional affordable homes and the
regeneration of estates

° takes into account the impact on the Council.

We now have an evidence trail which can be followed from our original intentions to our
final conclusions.

In the next section (Section 4) we describe the evaluation criteria that were used and the
scoring and weighting systems we adopted to evaluate them.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2018] 32




Section 4 The Options Criteria and Scoring System

4.1 The Options Criteria

The Tenants’ Panel worked both singly and in conjunction with the Employee Focus Group
to develop and agree the criteria against which each of the options would be evaluated. This
process produced 176 ideas at the outset (key document 15), which were then condensed
down into a final total of 46 individual criteria.

The options comparison criteria are detailed in key document 16.

We then grouped the individual criteria that formed the basis of the final scoring system
into eight policy categories, and this process too was carried out in collaboration with the
Employee Focus Group.

The categories we eventually agreed were:
1.  Accountability, Participation, and Power (encompassed 12 criteria)

o to what extent does the option have the potential to empower tenants and/ or
employees in the decision-making by the housing organisation?

2.  Tenants’ Rights and Involvement (encompassed 7 criteria)

o to what extent does the option protect and develop tenant rights?
3. Employee Issues (encompassed 4 criteria)

o to what extent does the option protect and develop employee rights?
4.  Financial Implications — including rents (encompassed 12 criteria)

. to what extent is it likely that the option will deliver the resources needed to
meet both the investment and service improvement needs of Northampton
Borough Council homes, and how will decisions on setting rents and service
charges be taken?

5. Quality of Homes (encompassed 1 criterion)

o to what extent is the option capable of delivering and maintaining the Decent
Homes Standard over the life of a 30 year Business Plan?

6. Impact on Local Community and Economy (encompassed 2 criteria)

o to what extent is the option likely to lead to a positive contribution to
developing the local community and economy?

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20131 23




7. Legal Framework and Equality (encompassed 4 criteria)
o to what extent does the option offer necessary legal and allied protections?
8. Implications for the Council (encompassed 4 criteria)

o to what extent does the option allow the council to meet statutory and
governance obligations?

Once this had been done each of the 46 agreed evaluation criteria was converted into a
guestion format.

For example, the evaluation criteria: ‘The housing service organisation has its
own decision making board’ was simply translated in to the question ‘(for
each option) does the housing service organisation have its own decision
making board?’

4.2 The Scoring System

Having agreed the evaluation criteria, and having turned these into questions that would
allow us to award a score, we then had to agree with the Employee Focus Group and the
Council how we would score each option against each of the criteria.

The system we decided on allowed Panel members and Employee Focus Group members to
award a score of between zero and three for each option, on each of the 46 criteria. The
scoring scale we used was as follows:

Score Characteristic
0 fails to meet the objective
1 partially meets the objective
2 largely meets the objective
3 fully meets the objective.

To guide us on how each of the criteria should be scored we did a number of sessions with
the ITA and the Council to agree an Options Comparison Document (key document 19). This
gave us an overview of how we should approach our individual scoring.

For some specific criteria we needed to award a mark of zero or three for a particular
option, where the answer to the question posed in the criteria involved a matter of fact, not
of judgement or opinion.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20181 24




For example, on the criterion: ‘Under the option will the rent setting system
be the same?’ all five options had to be given a score of three — because it is a
fact that the rent setting systems would be the same.

The scores awarded on other criteria, however, were awarded on the basis of a judgement
that the Panel member had to make when scoring.

For example, the criterion: ‘To what extent under the option can there be
opportunities for training and development?’ Here Panel members could
award each option any score from zero to three they wished.

We also accepted that scores needed to be consistent across groups of options.

For example, the criterion: ‘To what extent does the Council have the power
to the implement the option’ had to be scored the same across all three
transfer options — since the Council’s ability to implement a stand-alone
option is the same as its ability to implement a mutual or group structure
option.

This work enabled us to agree an Options Scoring Sheet (key document 20) which we then
used individually to record our scores.

It is fair to say that the scoring system adopted was more structured than some Panel
members felt comfortable with. Some argued for a more subjective scoring, without
reference to the Options Comparison Document and the guide to scoring that flowed from
it. They felt that the scoring system used did not allow them to score the options in a way
that reflected their wishes and feelings about the options.

But we decided, collectively, that the process we decided upon was the only way an
objective judgement could be reached, and thus the only way the results of the exercise
would have credibility with the HOP, the Council, and our fellow tenants.

This is because the scores we eventually awarded derived directly from the evidence trail
detailed above, and were awarded against the criteria we ourselves had developed in the
light of the information we gained access to and analysed, as reported in Section 3.

4.3 The Weighting System

We were also advised that in addition to agreeing a scoring system we also needed a system
of weighting the criteria. Where scoring establishes the numerical value placed on a
criterion, weighting establishes the relative importance of those criteria.

What this means is that although an option may score well on a particular criterion, that
criterion in turn may be judged to be relatively unimportant compared to others.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20181 35




A total score for any option on any individual criterion would be its assigned scores
multiplied by its weighting.

The first stage in our work here was to agree a weighting scale. We agreed on the following
scale (where the agreed value acts as the multiplier for each agreed score):

Value Importance
1 The criteria was not essential
2 The criteria was desirable
3 The criteria was important
4 The criteria was essential

The next stage was to review all 46 criteria and agree what weighting to attach to each of
them.

We had a number of long sessions to establish this. Panel members cast votes on what
weighting each criteria should have. In some cases this involved repeated balloting until one
weight was agreed for each of the criteria.

What we finally agreed was that none of the 46 criteria should be weighted as ‘not
essential’ or ‘desirable’ but that all 46 were either ‘important’ (7 criteria) or ‘essential’ (39
criteria). We felt that if a criterion was unimportant to us we would have not agreed its
inclusion as a criterion against which to score - all the criteria we scored against were
important to us. The results of our weighting exercise are set out in key document 17.

As with the scoring system, there was some debate about the weightings process, with
concerns that the weighting must not be prejudicial to any particular Option. But the Panel
as a whole accepted that the most rational course was to accept the weighting for each of
the criteria that most Panel Members had voted for - and indeed, in 34 of the 46 criteria the
weighting chosen was chosen by a clear majority of the Panel.

Summary

The process to arrive at the evaluation criteria, and then the scoring and weighting system,
were at the heart of what we did as a Panel.

It meant that we were able to take the evidence we had heard about the Stock Condition
Survey, the financial analysis, the Tenant Survey, the available options, and the
presentations made to us by the visitors from other organisations, and feed these into our
individual scores for each of the options.

The results of that scoring exercise are summarised next in Section 5.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20181 26




Section 5 The Results of the NTP’s Scoring Exercise

In total 31 members of the Tenants’ Panel chose to take part in the formal scoring exercise.
Table 1 below gives the results of that exercise (appendix 2). It shows:

e The total scores awarded for each of the five options

e The scores awarded for each of the eight criteria groups by option.

Totals per section with selected option
l [ a
Section Name Section “ﬂ:"m| T e e mTTu
. |
e | & 12 | 3118 | 3936 [NESSEN 3486
Toos Rgsans o 1812 | 1812 | 18
Employee lssues 3 644 [EIRSEN 1208 | 1208 | 960
Pecal ighatorsioc | oSSR 3221 | 2759 | 2759 | 2559
Quaiity of Homes 5 384 384 384 384 384
™ » SOONERSO0N 404 | 404 | 404
| s ne 7 1152 [ISHEN 984 | 984 | 808
| Implications for the Councl 8 SSE 1400 | 1004 1004 Q&8
Total 10294 13159 12491 12779 11173
Table 1

The shaded scores (green on colour copies of this report) indicate the highest score(s) for
each of the eight categories.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20131 B7




Based on those totals, Table 2, below, shows the rankings for each option

Tenant Panel Ranking of Options

Rank Score

1. Option2 (Retention - ALMO) 13159

2. Option4 (Transfer - Mutual) 12779

3. Option3 (Transfer—Stand-Alone) 12451

4. Option5 (Transfer—Group Structure) 11173

5. Option1l (Retention-Service Review) 10294

Table 2

The tables show that the retention options were at the opposite ends of the rankings, with
the three transfer options sandwiched between them. Option 2, retention with the
establishment of an ALMO, scored highest. One of the transfer options, transfer to a mutual
housing association, came second. Transfer to a stand-alone association came third, with
the remaining transfer option, transfer to become part of a group structure, in fourth place.
The first retention option, retention with a major service review came fifth, and last.

The Tenants’ Panel notes that this rank order exactly matches that of the Employee Focus
Group.

Analysis of the number of individual Panel members scoring a specific option highest shows
the following:

Numbers Ranking Each Option as First

Table 3

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20138] @8




Out of the 31 tenants who scored the five housing options: 20 or 64.5% ranked Option 2 -
the ALMO the highest; and 11 tenants, or 35.5% ranked Option 4 - Transfer to a Mutual
Housing Association as the second highest.

Having seen the overall scores we wanted to understand how we as a Panel had collectively
scored each of the eight categories that made up the scoring criteria, and to draw some
conclusions from them.

The following sub-section of this report summarises the implications of the scores for each
section reported in Table 1.

1.  Accountability, Participation, and Power

1. Accountability,Participation,and Power

Option 1 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5
Fetentan

on & Etenton Transfer Trarafer Transfer

Rewew stand slone Group Mructure

1312 s 3936 4224 | 3486

Table 4
The key facts that emerge here are:

o All three transfer options scored very strongly on this dimension. They generally
scored well because they permit tenant membership both of the landlord
organisation and its Board, and in the case of the mutual (which scores highest on
this category) may also permit employee membership at both these levels

e The mutual model scored strongly on all of the 12 individual criteria that make up
this category, but was scored particularly highly on its ability to give tenant
membership not just of a Board but also intermediate bodies (e.g. the Rochdale
Boroughwide Housing (RBH) Representative body which appoints all Board members

e The ALMO scores less well than the transfer options mainly because it does not
permit tenant membership of the organisation

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2018] 29




The scores here were much more even across the five options. The key factors behind our

Option 1 scores very poorly on this option because the structure of council
governance is such that tenants and employees can’t offer the same degree of

influence or empowerment as the other options.

Tenant Rights and Involvement

Option 1

1536

2. Tenant Rights and Involvement

Option 2 Option 3 Ogption 4 Option 5

Retention Tranater

ALMO

1744 | 1812 | 1822 1584

Table 5

scoring in this category were as follows:

The two highest scores were obtained by Options 4 and 3. Option 4, the Mutual

Model was scored by us marginally higher than Option 3

Options 3 and 4 score higher than Option 2 (ALMO) mainly because they score more
strongly on tenant rights in relation to changes in the tenancy agreement

The ALMO option, however, was scored more highly by us than the remaining
transfer option (Option 5) principally because the latter scores less well on tenant

involvement in rent and service charge setting

less well on tenant involvement in rent and service charge setting, and also because
it scores poorly on the ability of tenants to agree changes to their tenancy
agreement.

Although Option 1 is again the lowest scorer, we generally gave it reasonably good
scores across the category. It came last overall mainly because it generally scores

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2018] §0




3. Employee Issues

3. Employee Issues

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5
R T

Retenton Trw T Transfer
ALMO St o Mutuel

644 1256 1208 1208 960

Table 6

e The ALMO option came out marginally strongest here with the other retention
option scoring particularly poorly

e The Panel rated the ALMO as marginally the stronger option than Options 3 and 4
mainly because it permits employees membership of the Board

e Option 5 once again scored the lowest mark of the three transfer options because of
the power of the parent body to determine policy on employee Board membership

e Option 1 scored poorly in this category because it does not permit employee issues

to be decided by a separate organisation Board (and therefore to permit employees
to be part of that Board).

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20181 §1




4. Financial Implications (including rent)

4. Financial Implications — including rent

Option 3 Option 4

Transfer Transfer

stand slone Mutued

3230 3221 2759 | 2759 [ 2559

Table 7

We recognised from the beginning of our work that financial issues would be amongst the
most important we had to understand, and assess. That importance was reflected in the fact
that in our agreed options criteria suite of 46 individual criteria, financial criteria alone made
up 12 of those 46 (i.e. 27%).

Our ranking here differed strongly from those previously discussed. The key features of our
scoring were as follows:

° The two retention options score highest in this category, with Option 1 scoring
marginally higher than the ALMO option

° The retention options score highest because they alone are not subject to the
requirement for housing debt settlement, either by a purchase price, debt write-off,
or a combination of both

° The Panel clearly recognised here the importance (as shown in the financial data
provided by Savills) of the Council being able to meet the long term service and
investment needs of the homes whilst remaining within the debt cap figure, subject to
investment re-profiling

° Option 5 has the lowest score mainly because Panel members scored it down on the

issue of whether any potential surpluses would certainly be used for local housing
purposes.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2018232




5. Quality of Homes

5. Quality of Homes

Option 2 Option 4

Retenton Transfes
ALMO Mutus

384 | 384 | 384 364 384

Table 8

This category comprised just a single criteria i.e. would the option allow the funding,
delivery, and maintenance of the Decent Homes Standard over a 30 year Business Plan.

Essentially based upon Savills figures for the Business Plans for both retention and transfer,
the answer is in the affirmative. So the scores for the five options are the same in this
category.

6. Impact on Local Community and Economy

6. Impact on Local Community and Economy

500 500 404 404 404

Table 9

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20182 B3




We also scored the two retention options higher than the three transfer options.

The scores for the individual criteria suggest that the main reason for this is that Panel
members judged the negative impact of the requirement for debt write-off to be more
prejudicial to the viability of the transfer options, than the fact of the debt cap was to the
retention options.

7. Legal Framework and Equality

7. Legal Framework and Equality

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5§
afer

Retention & Retentson Tranzfer Transfer LL

Rewew ALNO stand sone Mutued

1152 1536 984 984 808

Table 10

The main factors to bear in mind here are:

° The ALMO option comes out a clear top here, but Option 1 scores a strong second

° The ALMO option beats Option 1 largely because of the greater freedom an ALMO
Board would have to implement its own equality and diversity policies

° Both retention options comfortably outscore any of the transfer options, and this
seems to be because Freedom of Information requirements apply to both of the
retention options (which the Panel clearly values) but not to any of the three transfer
options.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20180 34




8. Implications for the Council

8. Implications for the Council

1536 1400 | 1004 1004 988

Table 11

This is another category where Option 1 actually scored highest. The main factors were
these:

° Option 1 was scored by us more highly than the ALMO mainly because the ALMO can
only be implemented with Government approval, whereas retention with a review
requires no external approval

° The two retention options were scored more highly than the three transfer options
partly because of a lack of certainty that there would be long term Council
representation on a transfer association Board, but also because Panel members also
scored the transfer options lower on the ability of the Council to hold those
associations fully to account post-transfer.

9. Overall Conclusions on the Scoring Outcomes

In reviewing the results of our scoring exercise we think there are a number of specific
conclusions that can be drawn from it, as well as a number of general observations we want
to make.

The specific conclusions are these:

° The ALMO option scored highest because it scores strongly or very strongly across all
eight categories (not, for example, because it has a very large margin over the other
options in a few categories). The ALMO scores most strongly on: tenant rights;

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2018235




employee issues; financial implications; the legal framework; and the implications for
the Council.

° The Mutual Model (Option 4) also scored well across the categories, but particularly
well in relation to: accountability, participation, and power; tenant rights; financial
implications; and employee issues.

° Option 3 (the stand-alone transfer model) scores identically with the Mutual Model
except on accountability, participation and power, where its scores are weaker.

° Option 5 scores consistently lower than both other transfer options because Panel
members rated it lower on accountability, participation and power, tenant rights, and
employee issues, and lower than the ALMO because its scores are worse than the
ALMO on 7 of the 8 categories.

° Option 1, although it is last overall, actually came first or joint first in 4 of the 8
categories (see Table 12) below.

Options ranking highest for each topic area

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4

[ ———y Retention Transfer Transfer

Revew ALMO stand slon. Mutued

Zushighest 82 | JmhghestB2 1, gy | eshighestand 2 | o oo ighest
o5 equel highest | 5 equal highest .::“_W o1 equal highest zaae

Table 12

But the Panel scored Option 1 lowest overall mainly because it was judged very weak
on: accountability, participation, and power and employee issues; and lowest on
tenant rights.

Following from these specific conclusions we would like first to reflect on our experience of
the scoring exercise and offer our observations on the evaluation criteria and scoring
process. We will then go on to discuss our general conclusions on the three transfer options
and two retention options, before giving our final recommendations.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20182 46




Overall, we came to the understanding that the key issues in determining the relative
strengths and weaknesses of the various options were:

° accountability
. tenant power and employee representation
. local focus

Following from these specific conclusions we would like first to reflect on our experience of
the scoring exercise and offer our observations on the evaluation criteria and scoring
process. We will then go on to discuss our general conclusions on the three transfer options
and two retention options, before giving our final recommendations.

10. Undertaking the Scoring Exercise

When we began this process very few of us on the Panel had previous experience of Options
Appraisals. Although we understood that our ultimate role would be to advise the HOP of
the option we thought best for the future of council homes in Northampton, few of us
realised what steps we would need to go through to reach that conclusion.

It must also be said that there was an initial scepticism whether our views would carry
weight if they conflicted with what some supposed would be a pre-determined Council
position on the Options. That spirit of scepticism has proved enduring, but has evolved into
an approach of robust enquiry and constructive challenge to each and every element of our
Appraisal process.

Many of us came to this exercise as pro-retentionists, but in the past tenants in
Northampton have not had a chance to critically examine information such as that we have
had access to in this Appraisal. Our own examination of the evidence has led us to
conclusions which in some cases contradict long and strongly held beliefs and individual
preferences. However, an easy, safe and superficial Appraisal could never have allowed us
to clarify and deepen our understanding of what we, as tenants, want from our Housing
service in the way this process has done.

As it progressed we came to appreciate that what we were engaged in was an extremely
comprehensive process to enable us to arrive at an objective assessment of the Options,
evaluated against criteria we ourselves had spent a considerable amount of time and effort
in developing. The process of self-analysis entailed in this was rigorous and far more
demanding than any of us realised when we began. In return we have, as a Panel, subjected
each step in the process to equally rigorous examination, and we feel the conclusions we
have reached are all the stronger for being challenged and tested at every stage.

Whilst some of us may still not be reconciled to what the scoring process has shown us, the
large majority of us acknowledge that the way the Appraisal has been carried out has been

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013937




the only way it could have been, to carry credibility not just with the Council, but also with
our fellow tenants.

It has been exhaustive, and exhausting, and along the way some of us have had to accept
revisions to what we believed or wished for. But we are proud of sticking with the process
and interrogating it in the way we have done in the last 15 months, and we stand by the
conclusions and recommendations that have come out of what we have been through.

11. The Northampton Standard

We know that until the work that has been done by ourselves, the Employee Focus Group,
and the HOP Panel, has been formally accepted by NBC, what we have been calling the
‘Northampton Standard’ is not yet an established benchmark (key document 24). But given
that what we have called the ‘draft’ standard has been developed as a result of intensive
work by ourselves and those other two groups, and formed the basis for Savills' Business
Plan modelling, it seems reasonable to us to have treated it in this appraisal process as the
standard to which we aspire to have our homes improved.

The fact that the transfer options offered the prospect of achieving that standard (subject to
debt write-off) within the first five years of the 30 year business plan is something we feel
tenants as a whole would value.

We had, therefore, to consider the importance of achieving that standard within five years
with transfer, and weigh it against the prospect of the Northampton Standard not being
fully implemented for up to 15 years.

The investment re-prioritisation exercise we went through showed us how achieving the
Standard within 10 years could be done in a way that, as far as we can judge, meets the
most important needs for tenants as a whole (as revealed by the Tenant Survey) in the
earlier years, and pushes back less essential work until the later years (key document 12).

In doing this we are conscious that we have given a higher/ earlier priority to investment in
our homes, and a lower/ later priority to larger-scale environmental works.

Whilst tenants as a whole would undoubtedly have preferred to have the whole range of
Northampton Standard work done in 5 years, rather than 10, we believe that the
implementation of the Northampton Standard over that period will be seen as an
acceptable compromise, given that it will be undertaken within a retention option - if our
recommendation for an ALMO is followed.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013238




12. New Build

As a Panel we recognise the need for the building of new social housing in the Borough. We
believe that there will be a rising demand for social housing in the future and that many
existing tenants will want to know that their children and grandchildren will have a good
chance of renting a good quality social home at a reasonable rent.

It is also true that when we began the process few of us had any thought that the Options
Appraisal exercise would involve consideration of new build. We had assumed it would
simply look at the future for existing NBC homes.

The implications of new build did not really occur to us until we saw the presentation from
Savills in which assumptions about new build were factored into the various Business Plan
scenarios.

But what the Savills analysis showed was that to achieve new build with a retention option
would require pushing back the full achievement of the draft Northampton Standard until
year 15. The lesson we took from their analysis of the transfer options suggested that new
build, combined with achieving the Northampton Standard within an acceptable time-scale,
would have the effect of pushing up the debt write-off required from Government to
around £150m.

Based upon the advice we have received from the Council and the ITA, we do not believe
that such a level of debt write-off is likely within the transfer option. On the other hand, we
also do not believe that a time scale of up to 15 more years to achieve the (draft)
Northampton Standard with retention is acceptable.

We have, therefore, concluded that the inclusion of new build should not be part of the
Business Plan for any option chosen. Our view is that if a transfer option were adopted it
should be with a Business Plan that focuses solely on achieving the draft Northampton
Standard, without a new build element. Similarly, with retention we also feel that a future
HRA Business Plan should not seek to achieve new build within resources available to the
HRA.

We have also been advised that some councils have been able to new build by drawing on
resources additional to the HRA via their ALMOs. These include Rochdale Boroughwide
Housing and Rykneld Homes. Our view is that this should be the route to achieve social
housing new build in the Borough.

13. The Transfer Options

At the outset of the Appraisal not many of the Panel had direct first-hand knowledge of
housing associations, and the anecdotal knowledge we had was often negative. We also had
little direct knowledge of the process of transfer itself. The first step to a more nuanced

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20132 39




understanding was to appreciate that transfer may be to a range of different types of
housing association, involving different governance structures.

We learned that many transfers have taken place where the stock transferred to a new
housing association which was created locally but was part of a group structure with other
organisations. This meant that the organisation as a whole would have an over-arching
parent body to which our local association would be subordinate. This is Option 5.

The Panel appreciates there are potential financial advantages in becoming part of an
existing and presumably strong group, especially as regards economies of scale and
collective procurement, shared service delivery, and absorption of set-up costs.

However, we understand the size of the Northampton stock means we are not in the
position of some much smaller authorities where financial viability of a stand-alone
association could be questionable, and therefore for us the purely pecuniary benefits have
always been outweighed by the loss of autonomy our local association would face. Given
that ultimate authority rests with a parent Board over whom the Council may have little or
even no influence, the relative weakness of NBC in relation to the housing priorities of the
association would also be a major concern.

These concerns are borne out in our scoring of this Option. Local focus is a key driver in
evaluating the various Options, and many of us see continued Council influence as an
important safety net for tenants in the future. The Panel has always been unhappy with an
Option which would minimise Council influence and lose local responsiveness and
accountability.

Option 3, in comparison, offered the prospect of establishing a local stand-alone
organisation. An association with the capacity to borrow on the private market, focused
purely on managing and improving homes, and concentrating solely on Northampton, was
clearly seen to offer real potential. The fact that tenants could be members of the
organisation as well as being on its Board was also one of its attractions, as evidenced in our
scoring.

However, one of the issues Panel members had with this stand-alone option is the lack of
guarantee that it would remain stand-alone in the future. A merger with another
organisation, even another relatively local one, would entail precisely the same loss of
autonomy, accountability and local focus which we most urgently wish to avoid.

Option 4, a stand-alone association on a mutual model, has been generally highly regarded
in theory as having the virtues of Option 3 without the drawback of a possible loss of
autonomy in future, since merger or takeover by another association would present severe
legal difficulties and tenants would in any case be in a strong position to block such a move,
thanks to the tenant power inherent in a mutual's governance structure.

Another strong attraction to the Tenant Panel of the mutual model is the potential it
appears to offer for employee influence in the organisation's management, and of genuine
Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013280




partnership working between tenants and employees. This is seen as a real positive for a
mutual which sets it apart from the other options, but as the model is so new, and its
practicalities still being worked out by its pioneers, we cannot yet be certain how the
potential could be translated into actuality.

Despite the newness of mutuals as a housing association model and the lack of clarity of
some of the details of governance as yet, the fact that 11 of the scoring Panel members
arrived at Option 4 at the top of their individual rankings shows that it came to have
genuine support within the Panel as we progressed with the Appraisal.

In summary, while transfer has never been uncritically accepted by the Panel as a way
forward, our evaluations of its abstract merits have become more realistic, less reactionary,
and are grounded in objective fact. The point where this understanding of its benefits
became more concrete was when Savills' financial modelling demonstrated that any one of
the three transfer options could realistically expect to achieve the aspirational Northampton
Standard of homes and services within the first five years of a viable 30 year business plan.

We have, though, listened carefully to the advice from the Council, Savills, and our ITA who
have had to stress that a transfer is dependent on substantial write-down or total write-off
of the HRA debt prior to transfer; further, that such an intervention may not be
forthcoming.

To conclude: our view of transfer is that while we might be attracted by its possibilities in
terms of accelerated investment and increased tenant and employee empowerment, we
could not advocate an option that minimised local focus of our housing service, or long-term
council influence on it. Nor can we be convinced that transfer, under current housing self-
financing rules and in the light of the most recent version of the draft Government guidance
on stock transfer available to us, is financially viable.

We further believe that while it is possible transfer might be an option that tenants as a
whole would support in a transfer ballot, this is by no means certain, and thus poses real
risks in terms of potentially wasted Council resources which could negatively impact on
current housing services.

14. Retention

It rapidly became apparent that the Panel was unimpressed with the past and present
quality of the NBC housing service and was not prepared to see those standards
perpetuated. As one of our members put it, 'the status quo is not an option'. We were
bolstered in this view by the results of the Tenant Survey which indicated very strongly that
tenants as a whole shared our stance, and heartened that it was a view apparently shared
by the Employee Focus Group.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013291




We therefore agreed that the original Option 1, retention with no service review, should be
dropped and we be left with the remaining five.

The new Option 1, retention with a major review, has always been seen by us as an
eminently viable option. What it promised was an assured future under council ownership
and management but with all elements of the service subject to a root-and-branch revision.
The recent development of Service Improvement Panels has in our view been an extremely
positive move and has demonstrated the Council's willingness to look closely at how things
have been done in the past and how they can be changed where necessary.

The potentially limiting factors on the eventual extent and success of such a review are seen
as twofold:

e how far such a process of change and improvement can go while the Housing Service
remains embedded in a highly complex and multi-function organisation such as the
Council;

e to what extent tenants would be able to drive improvements and changes and
collectively monitor their effects while having no direct leverage in decision-making
or implementation.

As our work has developed, we have come to recognise that the ALMO model, Option 2,
brings the same benefits of retention but also satisfactorily addresses these two issues, of
housing service focus and direct tenant involvement. As a further advantage in the eyes of
the Tenants’ Panel, we note that it is possible for an ALMO Board to include employee
representation.

The results of the scoring exercise show the ALMO option to be rated
strongly across all evaluation categories, and as such it is the option we
as a Panel conclude that we would wish NBC to pursue.

However, if this option were to be adopted by NBC there are a number of important issues
the Panel believes need to be addressed in the ALMO's subsequent development to meet
Northampton tenants' particular needs and aspirations. These are set out in detail in Section
7.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013332




Section 6 Our Recommendations

1. The ALMO is the best way forward

We recommend to the HOP, and through the HOP, Northampton Borough Council that the
option to be pursued is a retention option where current responsibilities for council housing
management are delegated via a formal management agreement to a newly established
Arm’s Length Management Organisation (ALMO) with its own Board of Management.

In proposing a retention option we are aware that such an organisation will still be subject
to the new rules on council housing self-financing under which the HRA will be required to
carry the recently imposed debt of £193m and to the total debt cap of around £209m.

We hope that our council will continue to work with other councils to persuade Government
to allow greater borrowing freedoms for longer term council housing investment, and in so
doing build on the benefits we believe improving homes to the Northampton Standard will
bring to our homes and neighbourhoods.

In proposing retention with an ALMO we are also aware that, unlike in past ALMO
developments elsewhere, this will bring no extra financial benefits to Northampton.

But in this regard we have two points to make:

e From the advice and training we have received we know that the 50 or so existing
ALMOs have developed a range of proposals over the last few years that would allow
ALMOs greater financial freedoms, and attract more resources for investment.
Whilst these ideas have not yet for the most part been accepted by Government, it is
clear that ALMOs can make a strong case for being innovative social housing
organisations well placed to build partnerships with public, private, and voluntary
sector organisations. Those kinds of partnerships might, in time, increase the
available resource base irrespective of the constraints on the HRA.

We would like Northampton to play a positive role in that work, and believe that an
ALMO here could do that.

e We also agree with what the early guidance on ALMOs saw as the principal benefits
of an ALMO. That is

o it gives a clear focus on the role of housing management

o it promotes the involvement of a wider range of people, particularly tenants,
in decision-making

o it provides a more efficient way of managing homes and delivering services.

Whilst we see these as desirable in their own right, we acknowledge that they ought
also to result in a housing service that gives significantly better value for money.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 20133 %3




Section 7 Issues for Further Consideration

We would not expect these following issues to be resolved within the Council's discussion of
this recommendation in December 2013. However, we regard them as important questions
to be addressed if the Council adopts our recommendation of an ALMO as the way forward
for Northampton's council housing, hopefully in an ALMO Development Programme
beginning early in 2014. As such it is sensible to raise them here, as issues for future
consideration.

Reaching mutually satisfactory agreements over such questions through joint working, co-
operation and open debate between tenants, employees and Council will provide the best
possible template for our future working relationships. It will ensure the new organisation is
based on strong foundations and goodwill from the outset, and optimise its likelihood of
success.

The key issues we perceive can be grouped under three main headings.
1. Composition of the Board of Management

The Tenants' Panel is keen to continue working alongside employees following the
successful joint workshop sessions we enjoyed as part of the Appraisal process, and we wish
to see employees have a stake and a say in the management of the new organisation.
Therefore we hope to have discussions around the possibility of employee representation
on the ALMO Board.

The question of how many representatives should be on the Board for each interested
group will need to be resolved. We understand a traditional division is five tenants, five
Council nominees, and five independents; but there have also been ALMOs with seven
tenants, three Council nominees, and five independents, an arrangement tenants would
assuredly favour. If such an arrangement were to be seen as an ideal for tenant
empowerment, a further question would arise as to whether it should be a starting point of
Board composition or a target - that is to say, whether it would be best for the Council to
initially hold five seats and eventually reduce to three as the ALMO grows in confidence, and
if so under what kind of timeframe.

The problem of how to ensure tenant representation on the Board is as diverse as the wider
tenant population is likely to generate vigorous debate. We have over the Appraisal process
heard about several different modes of (s)election: a tenant from each geographical area so
as to reflect diverse needs across the diverse estates; tenants with particular areas of skill
and expertise to match 'job specifications' drawn up by fellow tenants; tenants from various

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013 44
232




groups such as older, younger, disabled, family, supported living, and black and minority
ethnic tenants so that no particular viewpoint or set of specific concerns is lost. As can be
appreciated even from a brief run-through of alternatives, this issue can be approached
from many angles and it is imperative the Council seeks all views and considers all options in
depth before we develop a final proposal. The last thing a fledgling organisation needs
would be to appear to be excluding any particular group of tenants from its processes.

Finally there is the issue of selection of Board members versus election. While selection may
give a more even playing field to those quieter tenants who have excellent, useful and
much-needed skills and qualities but lack the self-confidence to compete in election,
election can be viewed as the most transparent and democratic method of filling tenant
places on a Board. We would hope the Council would take both views into consideration
and, if necessary, would work with us in giving all the support needed to encourage more
self-effacing tenants to stand if they so desire, to ensure all tenants voting are fully informed
and empowered to make their choice, and to act as impartial moderators so the process is
fair and can be seen to be fair.

2. On-going Relationship with the Council

We learned from the visits we invited from other organisations (Daventry & District
Housing, Rochdale Boroughwide Housing, Salix Homes and Wellingborough Homes) that the
best ALMOs work at a genuine arm's-length from their parent Council; indeed it was
commented that the failure of one ALMO was directly attributable to the parent Council
keeping too tight a restriction on the independence of the ALMO to respond to its tenants'
needs.

We believe it would be counter-intuitive and counter-productive for NBC to create an ALMO
and retain too close a hold on its activities. If the main advantage to us of an ALMO is to
focus solely on the local housing service, it needs to have the independence to match action
to theory.

Conversely, anxieties are raised among tenants at the risk involved in trying something as
new to Northampton as an ALMO. A clearly-structured protocol for taking the new
organisation back in-house if the need were to arise would help allay fears that we might be
'cut adrift', and would provide insurance against any acrimonious or lengthy dispute. The
mere fact of having formed in advance a well worked-out plan for the worst may be the best
guarantee of never having to use it.

To better gauge the pitfalls already negotiated and the best practice already developed by
others, the Tenants' Panel would recommend initiating a dialogue with a range of other

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013 45
233




ALMOs at the earliest opportunity, and hopefully visiting other areas to see and hear for
ourselves what Northampton would do well to avoid, and what to emulate.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013 46
234




3 Consultation

There is a school of thought among some in the Tenants' Panel that as moving to an ALMO
is @ major change to the service received by Council tenants we ought to be balloted, in a
binding ballot, in the same way as we would be if we were being asked to leave the Council
as a landlord and transfer, even though there is no legal obligation whatever on the Council
to hold a ballot.

The Tenants' Panel strongly recommends holding a ballot of all tenants.

Regardless of whether a ballot is held, however, we all most urgently wish to see
comprehensive and meaningful consultation on the option if it is confirmed at Council as the
preferred choice. We recognise that although we are an unusually large group of tenants to
be engaged at this stage of an Appraisal, we are still a tiny fraction of the total tenant
population and we feel most strongly that all tenants' views should be sought and taken into
account in as full a way as humanly possible.

For a new organisation to succeed, having the goodwill and support of tenants in general is
crucial. This does not mean embarking on a promotional exercise which may be resented,
suspected, and ultimately undermines both organisations' credibility. It means involving
tenants from the outset in planning and implementing a genuine consultation, helping to
inform people with facts rather than opinion, and allowing all tenants space to make up
their own minds.

This Appraisal has involved tenants in a way that is entirely novel to Northampton, although
we are led to believe it has been common elsewhere for some time. The resources and
logistical effort put in have paid dividends as tenants who had never previously been
involved, or who had spent years putting effort into involvement which never seemed to
come to anything, gained unprecedented access to facts and figures pertaining to our
Housing Service and were allowed space and time to criticise, comment, and eventually
develop our own constructive response to them. We hope the successful Appraisal process
can serve as a model for meaningful, open and honest consultation on the chosen Option's
future with as many tenants as wish to join in.

In summary

Questions will need to be answered, at some point, over how exactly to go about gathering
as wide and robust a tenant voice on the chosen Option as possible; over precisely what
kind of relationship between ALMO and Council is regarded as a healthy median between
too close and too detached; and over who is on the Board, how they get there, and what
their remit is once they're incumbent.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013 47
235




We hope we have here usefully flagged up some of the forthcoming debating points.

4, Next Steps

The Tenant’s Panel was established to give a tenant voice in the Options Appraisal process.
In carrying out our programme of work, in producing this report, and in presenting its
findings, we have fulfilled that brief.

But we see this as the beginning of our work, not the end. We believe that there is a long-
term role for a Northampton Tenant Panel constituted in broadly the same way as we are
now, but open to new members and with a new remit.

We see the role of the Panel as having two main elements.

4.1. We believe that the Panel should have a central role in working with the Council, and
with the ALMO Shadow Board once in place, to establish the ALMO.

This will include:

o work on the organisational and governance structures of the ALMO
o the management and other service level agreements

o the development of a tenant engagement policy and structure

o the development of key performance indicators

o the development of ALMO monitoring arrangements.

4.2. Once the ALMO is operating as a separate organisation, we see the role of the Panel
as offering a regular tenant oversight of the policy and strategic role of the ALMO.

This would be a different role to that played by the Service Improvement Panels
whose work to date we endorse and support. We see their role in the future as
continuing to drive service improvements within a scrutiny framework. The role we
see for the Tenants’ Panel is more like that of the Representative Body in the Rochdale
Boroughwide Housing Mutual Association.

How this would work, and how it would fit with the need also to have a broader menu
of individual opportunities for tenant involvement, will be need to be covered in an
anticipated new tenant engagement policy and structure.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013 48
236




5. Final comments

Back in September 2012, the lead technical advisor for NBC, Gerald Davies, described the
appraisal ahead of us as like embarking on a journey. As we recall, he mentioned trains. He
didn't tell us it would be the metaphorical equivalent of a trek to the South Pole and back.

En route, the small and disparate band who falteringly began the expedition grew into a
sizeable, cohesive and self-willed cohort. We explored previously uncharted territory for us -
the HRA, tenancy law, Companies Limited by Guarantee. We crossed the wastelands of
governmental recalcitrance, and unearthed fabulous gems such as the concept of tenant
scrutiny and service improvement. We also did a fair amount of hacking at undergrowth and
disappearing on our own excursions, to Gerald's eternal despair.

We should thank Gerald for convincing us to set off on this long and exhausting journey;
regardless of its final destination, and despite the unexpected rigours, we must admit that it
has been worth the trip. They do say travel broadens the mind. We would like to thank
Steve Sharples, Christine Bailey and Jim Mitchell, our Independent Tenant Advisors, for
being our ever-dependable guides. And we would like to thank Dale Robertson and her
team for acting as our support crew throughout with admirable patience, tenacity and
meticulous attention to detail.

Where Northampton's council housing service goes from here is now over to the Council.
What we do know is that, having now seen so much more of what is possible, we have no
intention of tamely returning back to where we started.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013 49
237




Acknowledgements

Northampton Tenants' Panel wish to thank the following people without whom the extreme
learning process we have been on would have been either impossible or, at best, much,
much harder and much less enjoyable:

Christine Bailey
Alice Arden-Barnatt
Gerald Davies
Siobhan Edmunds
Wendy Jeffcoate
Bill Lewis
Fiona Lloyd
Jim Mitchell
Dominic Otabil
Dale Robertson
Steve Sharples
Georgia Tait

We also wish to commend Richard Hawkes and Hazel Smith: both these Tenant’s Panel
members demonstrated an unwavering commitment to the Review and to the cause of
tenant empowerment, which is all the greater in the light of their pre-eminent
commitments to the needs of family. The thoughts of the Panel are with you.

Final NTP Report as agreed on 22 October 2013 50
238




Key Doc 2

Employee Focus Group

Housing Stock Options Review Report

Version Number: FINAL

Version Date: 16" October 2013

Emma Bird | Steph Kealy | Jackie Taylor

Hannah Evans Jonathan Swann

Employee Focus Group Members |

Emma Bird Ann Inniss-Haycox Matt Ryan

Lee Clark Steph Kealy Jannine Sanders
Hannah Evans Lee Martin Jonathan Swann
Michele Gallucci Barry Paterson Jackie Taylor

YOUR [g[®],% |5} Reviewing the future
HﬂUHE of Northampton's housing



Foreword

Key Documents are documents that will be referenced throughout a series of reports. This
series comprises; this Employee Focus Group Report, Tenants’ Panel Report, Housing
Options Panel Report, Independent Tenant Adviser Report and the Northampton Borough
Council Report on the Housing Options Review.

Key Documents associated with this report are detailed below. All Key Documents,
appendices and background documents, not published with this report, associated with the
review are available for viewing on the Council's website or by contacting the Housing
Options Review Team tel: 0300 330 7004

240



Contents

EMPIOYEE FOCUS GrOUP.....uictieiiiieieetite ettt ettt ettt et ste et e s te s e besbeesaestesbeeeseensenbeereenes 1
Housing Stock Options REVIEW REPOI...........coviiiiieee e 1
SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......ooiiiiiiiiinmeeeersme e s ssse e s s s sme e s s s mns s s s mneeeas 6
1.1 Summary of key points and recommendations from the EFG ..............cccccceonenee. 6
SECTION 2: INTRODUCTION .......oooiiiiiiirerecesmeerssssmr e s s s ssmee e e s s smne e s s s smnnesssssmneesssssnnesesns 7
2.1 What is the Housing Options ReVIieEW ProCess.........ccocuvererieieineneneieieesesceeeenes 7
2.2 WhOiS ONthe EFG7......oiii ettt 7
2.3 How & when the Group Was SEL UD ......coecieieiieiieeeceeeeete et 8
2.4 The ROIE Of the GIrOUP ....ocueeiiiiciceteeees ettt sttt st re e ae 9
2.5 Howmany times it has Met........cccoiiiiiiiiice e 9
2.6 How the Group has operated/WOrked .............ccevviieieienicieece e 10
2.7  How the Group has approached itS task .........cccccveeieviiieierececee e 10
SECTION 3: THE KEY ISSUES IN THE REVIEW.........coo e 11
3.1 The Stock CoNditioN SUIVEY ........ccieuieiiiiicecece et 11
3.2 The TENANT SUIVEY....coiceeeeiieteeee ettt ettt et st a e raenaesrbens 12
3.3 The Northampton Standard ..o 13
3.4 FINanCial ANAIYSIS......ccicieiiiiiieeeseeeste ettt st aeenrens 13
3.5 The Government’s draft consultation Paper........cccoceviiieceni e 14
3.6 Visits from other authOorities ...........cccoeoiriiniiiiincc s 15
3.7  All forms of engagement in the reVIEW.............ccoeviiiieieiiiiceeecees e 16
SECTION 4: THE OPTIONS CRITERIA AND SCORING PROCESS ...........cccccuriunnnennne 16
4.1 Development Of CHEIA. .......cccoieeeececeeeeeee et 16
4.2 EFG views on process and OUICOME .........ccovivuieieiiiiticieiece et 18
4.3 How the EFG views each of the 5 housing options ...........cccceoveieveviiicceiiceee, 18
3

241



4.4  What are the key issues for the GroUp? ........ccoeeveiieierisiceere e 19

4.5 Additional information/views the Group want to make to HOP and why ............... 19
SECTION 5: THE GROUPS CONCLUSIONS..........ococimiinnrre e sssss s ssssss s 20
5.1 The Group’s CONCIUSIONS.........cocoviiiiitieieii sttt saeereene s 20
5.2  Which option is preferred and Why ...........ccoooiiieiiiiiicceee e 21
5.3  Does this agree with the objective SCOrNG?........ccveveiiiieecceeeee e 21
SECTION 6: RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE HOP......coo i 22
6.1 On the overall option preferred by the EFG..........ccocooiiiieieiiceeeeeee e 22
6.2  On the next steps for implementation ..o 22
6.3  Informing other @MPIOYEES ........cccooueiiiiiiiie e 22
6.4 Thefuture role for the EFG ... 22
LR T O 1 =T = ST 23

Key Document Number Key Document Name

6 Employee Focus Group Terms of Reference
12 Re-Profiled Northampton Standard Expenditure
13 Communication & Consultation Strategy
14 Stock Condition Survey
15 Initial Options Criteria
16 Scoring Framework
18 Employee Focus Group Weighting
19 Options Comparison Document
20 Individual Scoring Sheet
22 Financial Analysis Presentation
23 Consultation on the Housing Transfer Manual
24 Draft Northampton Standard
4

242



Appendix Number
1

2

Background Document

1

Appendix Name

EFG Meeting Schedule

Tenant Survey Results with Benchmarking Data
Tenant Survey Key Measures Trend Results
HRA Baseline Analysis Presentation

EFG Scoring Presentation

Background Document Name

Tenant Survey

243



SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Summary of key points and recommendations from the EFG

The Employee Focus Group (EFG) was a key stakeholder in the Housing Option Review.
They undertook a detailed, fair and transparent process before recommending that the
Northampton Borough Council Housing Service should become an Arms Length

Management Organisation (ALMO).

Employees across various sections of the Housing Service formed the EFG whose role was
to work with the Council and make its recommendation to the Housing Options Panel (HOP)
on the preferred option. The HOP also receives a recommendation from the Tenants’ Panel
(TP) and makes one final recommendation on the future of the Housing Service to Council in
December 2013.

The EFG considered key issues in the review by receiving information and presentations on
each issue and had opportunity to question and challenge at each stage. Meetings were
either exclusive to EFG members or joint sessions with the TP. Housing Associations and
ALMO'’s who had already gone through their own review process also presented and

responded to questions from the joint group
An objective scoring process was devised; and this again received input from both the EFG
and TP. Key issues were able to be weighted, adding to their importance in the final scoring

of each retention and transfer option.

Finally, each option was scored by every member of the EFG and unanimously the ALMO

was the top scoring option; as well as being the preferred option from the Group.

244




SECTION 2: INTRODUCTION

2.1 What is the Housing Options Review process

The Housing Options Review (the review) was an independent led review process looking at
the options available for the future ownership and management of the Housing Service

currently owned and operated by Northampton Borough Council (NBC).

There were a number of groups who as key stakeholders have been involved in the review
process and had opportunity to influence it's outcome to include tenants, employees,

councillors, MP’s, trade unions, CLG/HCA and full council.

Involvement was from three main stakeholder groups:
e The Tenants’ Panel (TP); approximately 35 voluntary members of Council tenants
who have been supported by an Independent Tenant Adviser
e The Employee Focus Group (EFG); 12 voluntary members of NBC employees
working within Housing whose attendance was supported by their managers
¢ The Housing Options Panel (HOP); consisting of 5 members from each of the EFG,
TP and 5 Councillors including the Leader, Deputy Leader & Cabinet member for

Housing, and 3 Councillors representing the opposition parties.

The HOP considers information from all sources, including the EFG and TP and then makes

the recommendation to Cabinet on the preferred option.

2.2 Who is on the EFG?

The Council decided to set up the main stakeholder groups to enable them to examine the
issues in depth and make recommendations on the future of the Housing Service to Council.

Details of the 12 members of the EFG members are included in the table below:

Membership of group/sub-group
Employee Job Title Department
EFG | HOP | Joint | Report
writing
EmmaBird | Housing Strategy IS_ltrate.g'C YES YES | YES
and Performance ousing
7

245



Officer
Lee Clark Housing Officer ondord | ves | YES | YES
ervices
Hannah Clerical Officer Landlord YES | YES | YES | YEs
Evans Services
Mick Gallucci Multi-skillea Landlord YES YES
Operative Services
Ann Inniss- Choice Officer Strategic YES YES
Haycox Housing
Steph Kealy Call Care Control Stratgglc YES YES YES
Operator Housing
Lee Martin Plasterer 'éa”d.'ord YES | YES | YES
ervices
Barry Plumber Landllord (par;tial)
Paterson Services
Matt Ryan Carpenter 'éa”d.'ord YES YES
ervices
Jannine Welfare Reform and Landlord
Sanders Rent Income Officer Services YES YES
Jonathan Independgnt Living Strategic YES YES YES YES
Swann Officer Housing
. Asbestos Landlord
Jackie Taylor Management Officer Services YES YES | YES YES

*This employee was unable to continue to be involved in the review

2.3 How & when the Group was set up

EFG members were recruited via an open invitation to all Housing employees in the summer
of 2012. All employees that expressed an interest in being involved were invited to join the
EFG, subject to line manager approval. The Group first met on the 20" September 2012

and regular meetings have been held throughout the year.
Employee members who also wanted to be members of the HOP went through a selection

process. They wrote a personal statement which the EFG considered before having a ballot

to decide on who the final Panel members would be.

246



It was originally intended that the EFG made their recommendation to the HOP in July 2013
however this period was extended to December 2013 because of delayed Government
guidance on Housing Stock Transfer and following a request from the TP for more time to

consider issues.
24 The Role of the Group
The main purpose and aim of the EFG, as defined in the EFG Terms of Reference (key

document 6) was as follows:

Work with the Council and advisers to make sure the Council’s Housing Options Review

considered:
e the things that matter most to employees
e all relevant information and all aspects of the review and make its views known to the
Housing Options Panel (HOP).

25 How many times it has met

Appendix 1 details the dates of all meetings and the subjects covered at those meetings.
The table below summarises by employee group / sub group the amount of meetings

attended and the maximum total hours of attendance per employee.

Employee group Meetings attended Total amount of hours

(including traveling time)

EFG members 22 meetings since Meetings averaged 5 hours
20™ September 2012 = 175 hours per employee
Joint EFG / TP meetings 11 joint meetings Meetings averaged 6 hours

= 66 hours per employee

Employees on HOP 16 meetings Meetings averaged 4 hours

= 64 hours per employee

Report writing Sub-Group | 4 meetings with additional work | Meetings and additional work

required to complete report = avg. 20 hours per

employee

247




It is not solely the contribution of employees directly involved in meetings, but also the
support/effect on working teams where employees have been absent. A very significant
contribution has been made by other Housing employees to enable the process to be

supported; this contribution is not quantifiable but deserves recognition.

2.6 How the Group has operated/worked

The EFG has been facilitated by Gerald Davies (GD); the Group opted not to have a Chair
but to continue with facilitation delivered by primarily GD (supported by Dale Robertson
(DR)) and action minutes provided by the Housing Options Review Team. The Group
developed a Code of Conduct as part of the Terms of Reference which was adhered to
throughout the whole process. The EFG were involved at the outset in defining objectives
and priorities for future improvement of the housing stock and improvements in service
delivery. Written and verbal information was received by internal and external consultants
(e.g. Savills) so they were better informed of the whole process and the implications of
decisions made. Catch-up sessions were provided by DR to EFG members unable to make
meetings or where further clarity on subjects covered was required. Meeting minutes were
produced by the Housing Options Review Team and distributed to all Group members and

agreed at the start of each subsequent meeting.

2.7 How the Group has approached its task

The EFG approached each task without any pre-conceptions and with an open mind. They
had set agendas and timescales provided and led by the Housing Options Review Team and
met more frequently towards the end of the process due to timescales. It predominantly
worked as one group receiving information and having the opportunity throughout to
challenge through discussion and debate. Initially the EFG process was independent of TP
involvement and any EFG decisions were decided by a majority vote which were based on
the facts presented, removing any subjectivity from the process. Latterly the EFG met with
the TP more frequently where work was carried out together. This added value to the

process, although for the employees it limited the time they could discuss key issues as a

group.

10

248



SECTION 3: THE KEY ISSUES IN THE REVIEW

As part of the review, there were key issues that the EFG were required to understand and
then discuss to make informed decisions. Summarised below are those issues, the findings

and subsequent outcomes and/or actions.

31 The Stock Condition Survey

The Stock Condition Survey (key document 14) was carried out by Savills in July and August
2012. It assessed the current condition of NBC housing stock and the work required to meet
and maintain the Decent Homes Standard and a more modern standard over a 30 year plan.
25% of the stock (3043 properties) was assessed instead of a more standard 10% sample to

provide a more accurate detail of works required.

The key findings advised that:
e Significant investment is required in order to upgrade and modernise the properties
e The Council has focused on achieving the Decent Homes Standard and the
percentage of non-Decent Homes has reduced to approximately 40%

¢ Continued investment is required to prevent an increase in non-Decent Homes.

The biggest area of investment however is required to the internal parts of the properties,
with approximately 50% of kitchens and bathrooms and 25% of heating systems needing to
be replaced in the short term. When presenting, Savills costed a ‘modern standard’ that they
use which includes Decent Homes standard, plus an additional allowance for environmental
improvements and additional works to properties to improve them to a modern standard.
This was used until the Northampton Standard had been costed which then replaced the
illustrative Savills modern standard.
In total Savills found that the estimated costs would be:

o £57K per unit to achieve the Decent Homes Standard over 30 years.

e £70k per unit to achieve the Northampton Standard over 30 years.
The survey and projected costings provided crucial information for the EFG throughout the

review process and Savills findings were used extensively when producing the Northampton

Standard and when taking financial implications into account.

11

249




3.2 The Tenant Survey

The Tenant Survey (background document 1) was carried out by Ipsos MORI in October
2012 to identify the tenants’ level of satisfaction with the Councils’ Housing Service as well

as the tenants’ priorities for the Housing Service.

The questions were formed around 3 main themes:
e Perceptions of the Housing Service
e Future of the Housing Service

¢ Housing Options Review

The survey was sent to all tenants named on tenancy agreements and a total 3,727
responses were received (26.55%). The results to key questions when analysed showed
that the key areas of focus were:

e Repairs and maintenance

e Overall quality of home

e How much views are taken into account

e Anti-social behaviour

The results showed that although the majority of tenants were satisfied with the key housing
services provided by NBC, satisfaction levels were all in bottom quartile when comparing the
data to Housemark benchmarking information (appendix 2). Furthermore, the results of this
survey showed a decrease in satisfaction levels from the last completed survey in 2012
(appendix 3). One of the main areas of decline was the satisfaction that the tenant views
were taken into account, which has progressively declined over the last 6 years. This was
something the Group felt compelled to investigate in more detail and wanted to address

throughout the process.
The Tenant Survey provided a crucial overview of tenant’s opinions and highlighted areas in

greatest need of improvement as well as areas requiring further investment to improve the

quality of the homes and surrounding areas.

12

250



3.3 The Northampton Standard

The Northampton Standard (key document 24) is a standard that was developed through the
calibration of tenants and employee’s knowledge, views and experience to include
involvement from:

e Stock Condition Survey — 3,043 homes (25% of NBC stock)

e Tenants Survey — 3,727 tenants (almost 27% response rate)

o Tenants’ Conference — 185 tenants attended, split into 36 discussion groups

e Employee Focus Group meetings

e Tenants’ Panel meetings

e Joint Tenant and Employee meetings

It exceeds the minimum Decent Homes Standard and is split into two parts
1. Service and Performance Standards

2. Physical and Environmental Standard for the improvement of properties

The process for the development of the Northampton Standard was complex, however the
EFG found that the process was well thought out and delivered at a pace that meant a fair

analysis of the tenant’s needs and aspirations could be made.

When completing joint sessions, tenants and employees generally agreed with the elements
that should be within the Northampton Standard and when working in mixed groups the

results were also similar.

Although the Service Improvement Standards were a consideration when developing the
criteria as the Governance of the organisation sets these standards, the development of the
Service Standard for the physical and environmental factors was concentrated on as the
financial implications of these standards were crucial within the review when analysing

whether the options were financially feasible.

3.4 Financial Analysis

Savills conducted a baseline analysis (appendix 4) and shared their findings after making
comparisons with Local Authorities of a similar size and location. They highlighted that NBC
was spending less than the Government had assessed was our need and in addition they

identified opportunities to increase our revenue.
13

251



Savills also provided a presentation on the costing required to deliver the Decent Homes
Standard and to increase this to meet the tenant’s aspiration under the new Northampton
Standard (key document 22). In addition, the EFG looked at legislation and issues that
limited the ability to drive forward change in as timely a manner as possible:

e The Debt

e Debtcap

e Rent convergence

e Welfare Reform

¢ Housing Revenue Account Reform

e Government consultation on the Housing Transfer Manual

Each housing option was assessed to determine whether it was financially viable. All
transfer options required Government write-off of debt and each retention option was subject
to the debt cap and as such, could not deliver the Northampton Standard within the first 5

years of the Business Plan.

In a separate workshop, a unanimous decision was made by the joint group that it was
acceptable to defer the completion of implementation of the Northampton Standard to being
delivered over a 10 year period instead of the originally discussed 5-year period, which all
housing options could achieve. Joint tenant and employee groups worked on prioritising the
works they wished to see completed in the first 5 years and what to delay to years 6-10. The
consolidated results again showed great similarity and the average outcome was accepted

(key document 12).

3.5 The Government’s draft consultation paper

The Government issued a consultation paper on the Housing Transfer Manual in July 2013
(key document 23). It was known that this would impact upon the review but the degree of
impact was not clear until the publication of the consultation paper and will still not be known
fully until the final report is issued, which is still outstanding. Regardless of the delay in

publishing and the possible impact of the paper, the review continued.

When published, the consultation paper was summarised and shared with the Group but the
impacts were not truly understood until a presentation in August from Savills along with Bill

Lewis, Head of Finance who were both able to overlay the implications that the report had on
14

252



our ability to finance the choices available. It raised considerable concern from all areas of
the programme because in the event that the scoring process identified a choice to transfer
our stock then it would be unlikely that it could be afforded by NBC due to there being

insufficient revenue to service the debt. The effect of this made the transfer options

unrealistic due to the constraints imposed by the Government’s draft consultation paper.

3.6 Visits from other authorities

Both the EFG and TP wanted to gain a greater understanding of what it was like to work in

an environment where the housing option process had been conducted and an alternative

option to stock retention was selected and implemented. Visits from other authorities were

arranged to a joint group meeting where they presented and responded to questions.

Below are details of the visits:

Authority name

Option selected

by tenants

Why selected

Daventry and

District Housing

Stock transfer to
Housing

Association.

Close in geographical location and with whom NBC
already has a collaborative business relationship
and an example of transfer to a Housing

Association

Wellingborough

Stock transfer

Requested to come to talk to us. Local and an

Homes example of transferring to a Housing Association.
Salford City ALMO An example of an ALMO now considering going to
Council transfer
(Salix Homes)
Rochdale Was an ALMO Rochdale had been successful as an ALMO but
(Rochdale who transferred then chose to transfer to a Mutual Housing
Boroughwide to a Mutual Association
Housing) Housing
Association

Each visiting body was well represented apart from Wellingborough who failed to bring a

tenant and from this point of view, any questions that were answered from the tenant

perspective lacked the first hand insight required.

15

253




The financial investment into homes, the environment and the local economy had increased
following the changes in each authority and therefore the quality for tenants had improved.
Investment in employees training and development also increased. It was interesting that the
majority of the authorities believed that the repairs worked better when managed “in-house”
by their own workforce rather than outsourcing and moves were being made by some to

reinstate this.

3.7  All forms of engagement in the review

The Housing Options Review Joint Communication and Consultation Strategy was devised
by the Housing Options Review team and agreed by all EFG members (key document 13).
This document outlined the Strategy that the Housing Options Review Team adopted to
ensure effective communication happened during the review process. Employees received
numerous communications relating to the review process including:

e Contributions from the Housing Options Review Team into the Housing Newsletter

e Presentation to the Westbridge staff by Mary Wood (previous Interim Head of
Landlord Services)

e Attendance at the Staff Conference specifically about key pieces of work that had
been undertaken during the process (e.g. Tenant Survey and Stock Condition
Survey)

e Two Housing staff briefings providing progress updates

e Small pocket guide outlining the process and the options being considered in the
review

o Key documents have been made available on the Intranet

e EFG members have briefed team members and answered questions posed by any

Housing employee as required

SECTION 4: THE OPTIONS CRITERIA AND SCORING PROCESS

4.1 Development of criteria

The criteria against which all the options were to be scored against was looked at in one of
the first workshops that the Employee Focus Group in attended in October 2012. Issues to

think about were suggested and groups identified the things that mattered to employees,

16

254




tenants and the Council and listed these out under issue headings, including standards and

financial levels that would be assessed against as part of the scoring process.

Joint sessions with the TP were held to agree definitions and agree success factors. There
was a list of 176 criteria initially (key document 15) and through a number of workshops, the
criteria was distilled to be more succinct and measurable; and resulted in a document
detailing the final 46 criteria that the chosen option should provide and a scoring framework
which detailed the key objectives to be scored against each criteria (key document 16). The
criteria were split across the following eight themes:

e Accountability, Influence, Participation and power

e Tenants’ Rights and Involvement

e Employee Issues

e Financial Implications incl. rents

e Quality of Homes

e Impact on Local Community & Economy

e Legal Framework and Equality

¢ Implications for the Council

Once the objectives and scoring criteria had been agreed by the EFG, the next exercise
completed was to agree how to score each option and then agree the weighting that should
be applied to each statement. The weighting applied was decided on by how important the

majority of the Group felt each statement was (key document 18).

There was a number of revision sessions attended to help with the understanding of what
each option could/could not deliver against each objective, before finally receiving an
Options Comparison Document summarising the facts (key document 19) which aided
individual scoring of each option in September 2013. The scoring was done on a pre-
populated scoring sheet (key document 20). Where there were factual answers to the
objectives under each criterion, this scoring was moderated to ensure a consistent score
was given. The score papers were verified by the Independent Tenant Adviser. Only where
the housing option part-met the objective employees were able to give a subjective score
based on what had been learnt through the process detailing whether they thought the

housing option partially met or fully met the objective detailed.

17

255



4.2 EFG views on process and outcome

It is the general view of the EFG that the rationale for the scoring process was thorough, fair,
logical and followed a systematic due diligent approach. The process involved joint
partnership working with both tenants and employees to finalise both the scorable questions
and the scoring framework to compare each of the options against. The content of the
scoring framework was a culmination of several pieces of work undertaken by both

employees and tenants, spanning over many months.

The scoring process resulted in a unanimous outcome, with all 11 EFG members voting in
the same way. The chosen option scored strongly over all eight criteria groups, and was
especially strong in tenants’ rights and involvement, employee issues, financial implications,
legal framework and equality and implications for the Council as detailed in a Results and

Analysis Presentation by the Housing Options Review Team (appendix 5).

4.3 How the EFG views each of the 5 housing options

There were originally ten options for consideration. In October 2012 the EFG undertook an
exercise to reduce the number of options to consider going forward and together with the
results of the same exercise from the TP, a recommendation was submitted to the HOP to
make a final decision on which options would be considered for this process. The HOP
agreed with decisions made by the EFG and TP groups in all but 1 option — the HOP
decided to retain the option of a transfer as a subsidiary of an existing Housing Association
when the EFG and TP wanted to exclude this. It could be argued that this initial narrowing of

options could have been subjective.

There were initially 6 options retained through the process:
e Retention without review (this was later removed, as it was deemed that this process
has already contributed to a review of the service)
e Retention with a review of the service
e Retain as ALMO
e Transfer to a Housing Association set up for NBC stock
e Transfer to a Mutual Housing Association

e Transfer as a subsidiary of a Housing Association

18

256



As the process continued, it was ensured that the subjectivity of key decisions was
eliminated wherever possible. The EFG members did not have a view on each of the 5
options to be scored as each individual signed up to the code of conduct to have an open

mind throughout the process and allow ‘the facts to speak for themselves’.

44 What are the key issues for the Group?

The process of weighting each of the agreed criteria really enabled the EFG to focus on and

decide what was most important to them in terms of what the chosen option could deliver.

The weighting document identifies the areas that mattered the most were employee issues,
financial implications including rents, quality of homes and implications for the Council.
There were more than 50% of the criteria in each of these sections that employees thought
was essential that the chosen option could deliver. The sections that received unanimous
votes were criteria included in employee issues and financial implications; where it was
essential that the chosen option:

o Would protect employees rights

e Could afford the Northampton Standard in the 30-year business plan

o The Council could meet the cost of setting up the chosen option

Other criteria that were important to the Group were:
e Allowance for the same regulatory control and scrutiny under the HCA
e Providing security of tenure equivalent to current arrangements
e Tenants’ rights would be equivalent

e There are opportunities for training and development

The Group also felt that the chosen option should provide greater employee engagement

and involvement in the decision making process.

4.5 Additional information/views the Group want to make to HOP and why

Having asked all EFG members for their comments, the Group wished to make the following

comments known:

e GD, DR and the Housing Options Review Team are to be congratulated by the EFG

in successfully organising and managing the Stock Options Review process
19

257



throughout. It was felt by all to be a fair and transparent process and at no point did
the EFG feel that they were being led or influenced in any way. The facts were

presented accurately and ‘spoke for themselves’.

e The EFG’s scoring outcomes and recommendations are solely the views of the
Group being a presentation of the employees and so cannot be considered to

represent the views of all Northampton Borough Council’'s employees.

e The EFG members signed up to a code of conduct prior to the commencement of
the options appraisal process, to have a clear, open mind, and be steered by the

facts, which the EFG believe it has successfully achieved.

SECTION 5: THE GROUPS CONCLUSIONS

5.1 The Group’s conclusions

The EFG have fed back that the process has been a positive one for them to be part of. It
has helped individuals with their confidence and has broadened their understanding of other
functions the Housing Service delivers. The team worked very well together and this

process has helped with improving communication across sections.

Everyone enjoyed the group sessions working with tenants. It was interesting to see similar
views and opinions were shared between tenants and employees with everyone having the

same goal to ensure the right option is chosen for the Housing Service going forward.

A high level of commitment was required, and there were impacts on workload, but everyone
enjoyed being part of the process. The sessions were well run and initial concerns and
scepticism over the process, particularly that the outcome was pre-determined were
unfounded with everyone agreeing the process was open and employees felt that a genuine
effort was made to ensure that they were empowered to make their own decisions based on

the facts presented.

20

258




The strength in the process was that there was very little change in group membership and
the Group would like the opportunity to be involved in the implementation stage of the

process.

5.2 Which option is preferred and why

The EFG were most fearful of no change happening as a result of the review process and
the option of retention with a review was the least popular, which was reflected in the scoring
process. There are strong opinions amongst EFG members that employees and tenants are

allowed more involvement in scrutiny and decision making.

It is felt that transfer could have scored the highest if the debt was able to be written off, and

the government guidance had not limited opportunities for transfer.

ALMO was the preferred option of the majority. Although it is considered a safe option and
may be considered a ’half-way’ house, this option has many benefits and gives greater
flexibility for the future. It can deliver the benefits of a transfer option without the need to
move away from the Council. There is more opportunity for the structure to be defined by
what housing needs and it can select its own Board. Both tenants and employees will have

the opportunity to challenge and be part of the key decision making processes.

5.3 Does this agree with the objective scoring?

Yes. ALMO ranked the highest scoring option by both tenants and employees. It permits
tenants, employees and independents to sit on the Board and can deliver all the service
improvements allowed for within the 30 year Business Plan. ALMO scored very strongly

with it being the highest scoring option in four of the eight criteria areas and equal highest in

a further two.

21

259



SECTION 6: RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE HOP

6.1 On the overall option preferred by the EFG

The EFG recommends that the decision of ALMO is fully supported by the HOP and is the

preferred option that is reflected in its report to Council.

If the recommendation is accepted to become an ALMO, the EFG recommends strong

autonomy is given and the ALMO is able to be run at true arms length.

6.2 On the next steps for implementation

It isn’t clear what housing services will be included in the new management agreement. This

will need to be clarified and communicated.

It is recommended that the ALMO is able to run its Board as a Shadow Board alongside the

existing service for a period of time before taking over fully at the ALMQO’s inception date.

6.3 Informing other employees

The EFG recommends the following methods are used to inform employees about the
decision making process:
e Publish this report on the staff Intranet — NBCNet and for it to be signposted to in the
Chief Executives News and Updates ‘David’s Bulletin’
e This report to be appended in the HOP report for Cabinet and Council
e This report to be linked to in Landlord Services weekly update
e Heads of Service to ensure that this document is cascaded to all Housing Employees

in team meetings / briefing sessions.
6.4 The future role for the EFG
The EFG members have been part of the review process for over a year and in that time

have developed an in depth knowledge of the key issues and an understanding of the

process involved. It is a valuable resource and many members would like the opportunity to

22

260




continue to be involved following a decision being made by Cabinet in December 2013 for

implementing the chosen option.

EFG members have developed good working relationships through their close working with
tenants throughout the review process. As a result, they now have valuable skills in
facilitation and tenant engagement. Many EFG members have enjoyed this element of the
process and would like to be considered for any future activities that require joint working

with tenants and employees.

6.5 Others

The Service Improvement Panels (SIP’s) were established during the review process
including many of the TP and EFG members, who through this process had a good
understanding of how the Council works. The idea of SIP’s could be utilised internally and

an employee SIP could be created to improve services to tenants and staff.

The structure of having an Employee Focus Group, Tenant’s Panel and Housing Options
Panel as the three key stakeholder groups in the Housing Options Review process worked
very well. The EFG were fully involved and able to make informed decisions due to the
amount of information received and discussed. This subsequently enabled the Group to
influence the outcome, based on factual information and own the process throughout. The
EFG suggest that similar structures could be considered for future project work across the

Council.

23

261



Key Doc 3

B

HOUSING
COMMUNITIES

The Northampton
Options Review

Report of PS
(Independent Tenant Adviser)

November 2013
FINAL



Foreword

Key Documents are documents that will be referenced throughout a series of reports. This
series comprises; this Independent Tenant Adviser Report, Employee Focus Group Report,
Tenants’ Panel Report, Housing Options Panel Report and the Northampton Borough
Council Report on the Housing Options Review.

Key Documents associated with this report are detailed below. All Key Documents,
appendices and background documents, not published with this report, associated with the
review are available for viewing on the Council's website or by contacting the Housing
Options Review Team tel: 0300 330 7004

CONTENTS

Page
Section 1 Introduction to the role of the ITA 2
Section 2 The ITA Work programme 5
Section 3 ITA Observations on the Options appraisal process 11
Appendix 1 An example ITA Presentation to Tenants’ Panel: Tenancy Issues 30
Appendix 2 An example ITA Presentation to Tenants’ Panel: Governance 39
Appendix 3 ITA Newsletter 1 November 2012 54
Appendix 4 ITA Newsletter 2 April 2013 58
Appendix 5 ITA Newsletter 3 October 2013 62
Appendix 6 ITA 66
Appendix 7 ITA Resident Association Poster 67
Appendix 8 Location of venues used in ITA Outreach and Areas of N 68
Appendix 9 Attendance by event and by Phase, ITA 69
Appendix 10 ITA Report on Phase 1 outreach Programme 70
Appendix 11 ITA Report on Phase 2 Outreach Programme 75
Appendix 12 ITA Report on Phase 3 Outreach Programme 80
Appendix 13 ITA Report on Phase 4 Outreach Programme 83
Key Document Number Key Document Name
13 Communication & Consultation Strategy
5 Tenant Panel Terms of Reference

263



Section 1 Introduction to the Role of the ITA

1.

The ITA Brief: Roles and Responsibilities

We were appointed to be the Northampton Independent Tenant Adviser in August 2012.

The key ITA roles and responsibilities set out in the brief were

2.

Provide support to tenant representatives on the Housing Options Panel (HOP) and to
the Tenants’ Panel (Panel), and give them impartial and accurate advice and guidance
on all options available.

Operate in an open and fair manner and adopt working practices that both reflect and
maximize this approach;

Be independent from, and not seen as representing, the views of the Council or
tenants’ groups. Advisers will be allowed and expected to offer impartial advice to
tenants and leaseholders without interference;

Be accessible to all tenants and leaseholders and tenant HOP members including
ensuring provision for persons with disabilities;

Work to the contract and agreed brief;

Work alongside the Review (HOR) Project Team and meet
with the Programme Director regularly for feedback and monitoring purposes;

Provide the Housing Options Review Programme Director and tenant representatives
from the Tenants’ Panel with interim costings of work undertaken, and measurable
outcomes achieved on a monthly basis.

The ITA Brief: Scope

The scope of the work was defined as follows:

Project Management

Provide input into project planning and monitoring in respect of the responsibilities
specified within the remit Independent Tenant Adviser’s and associated issues, taking
into account any predecessors and dependencies

Identify issues that may put the achievement of the key stages at risk

Identification of baseline and initial training needs

Carry out a baseline audit of tenant capacity to take part in the option appraisal
process, and identify any training needs;

Facilitate capacity building and empowerment with the tenant members of the
Housing Options Panel

264



Providing support, guidance and engagement/liaison with Tenants and Leaseholders

° To work with the Tenants’ Panel, the Programme Director, and other officers of the
Council to prepare and implement a communications strategy.

. Prepare information for dissemination to tenants, and leaseholders explaining the
options appraisal process and the various options open to the authority, together with
regular updates and to consult on this with the
Tenants’ Panel.

° Provide contact information to be disseminated to all tenants, leaseholders and HOP
members.

° Contribute to tenants’ conferences to be held at key stages

° Arrange, where appropriate, and attend meetings as required, in the daytime or
evening and weekends, to ensure maximum engagement of tenants in the proposals.

° Attend the meetings of the Tenants’ Panel, during the day or evening, to discuss the
stock options process.

° To present information to tenants in a way that they fully understand and as
requested

Advice, Monitoring and Reporting

° To work with the Programme Director and other officers of the
information relevant to the options appraisal and validate this information

° To meet with the tenant representatives of the HOP and also with the Programme
Director regularly for feedback and monitoring purposes

° To assist the Tenants’ Panel to prepare their own report on the outcome of the review
including identifying and evaluating any improvements or amendments to the
proposals under consideration that tenants consider feasible and bring these to the
attention of the

° Record the whole of the process, showing evidence throughout

. To produce for the Programme Director, in a timely manner, the final ITA report on
the process having consulted the Tenants’ Panel on this

° To undertake any other reasonable task as required by the Tenants’ Panel or the
Council
3. The Appointment Process

We submitted a written tender based on the brief, and were subsequently interviewed by a
panel of 7 N
become members of the Tenants’ Panel.

Following our appointment we began work as the ITA in mid-August 2012.

265



4. ThelTArole in practice

An ITA is there to provide independent advice and information to all tenants on the Options
Appraisal Process.

In essence, the ITA has three types of task:

° To advise, support, and further develop, the main tenant representative body with
whom the
Northampton N ) Tenants’ Panel. That type of council-wide panel
is typically the group of tenants with whom a council works most closely on the detail
of the appraisal, and the group from who it looks to for recommendations on the
outcome of the appraisal from a tenant perspective. N  gave that role to the
Northampton Tenants’ Panel specially created for the purpose, and as well as asking
us to support that Panel by providing training and advice, it was also supported by a
very high level of policy and administrative back-up from the N
Team.

° To provide advice and information to all council tenants on the issues raised in the
appraisal, and encourage them to have their say (via attendance at meetings, a
freephone, an interactive web site, attendance at tenant conferences, etc.).The
realistic aim here is not to make every tenant an engaged participant - that is clearly
never going to happen - but to ensure that people have all the information they need
to make an informed view about what the options are, and what they entail. In this
process, the hope is that what we call the ‘out-reach’” programme will stimulate
interest in joining the Panel, and in attending events such as tenant conferences. In
practice, and as set out in other reports, the attendance at the tenant conference was
very encouraging, and this in turn fed through in to a more than doubling in the
membership of the Tenants’ Panel after December 2102.

° To help ensure that the information produced by the Council for distribution to all
tenants is comprehensive, and is fair in its treatment of the issues. Throughout the
process in Northampton the N Housing Options Review team have given us an early
sight of all material that it proposes to distribute to tenants, and encouraged us to
comment on its accuracy and fairness — which we have done. Those comments have
been duly incorporated into the Council material in every case (this is covered in more
detail in Section 3).

266



Section 2 The ITA Work Programme

1.

Introduction

As stated in Section 1.4 the three key tasks for the ITA were to provide:

1.  Training, information, and support to the Northampton Tenants’ Panel,

2. Advice and information to support the 5 tenant representatives on the Housing
Options Panel, and where required to give independent advice to the HOP itself,
and

3. Information and advice to N
informed and invite comment at key stages during the Housing Options Review.

We explain below how we delivered these tasks and the outcome.

2. Work with the Northampton Tenants’ Panel
2.1 Role for the ITA
The initial tasks for the ITA were to help the ework and the ground

rules for the role/remit of the Tenants’ Panel. These included:

Preparation of an initial draft [tation Strategy (key
document 13) which was finalised through discussion with the
Options Review (HOR) team, the Tenants’ Panel and with the HOP;

Involvement in the discussion and agreement of the Terms of Reference (key
document 5). This provided for the appointment of a

and a embers agreed to abide by to allow Panel
meetings to be run efficiently despite the size, the range of opinions held by individual
members and the diversity within the Panel;

Supporting individual tenants in putting themselves forward to be considered for
either one of the two Officer roles or as one of five Tenant Panel representatives for
the Northampton Tenants’ Panel on the HOP. The

pro-forma for potential candidates to complete to set out the skills, experience and
personal qualities they could bring to carry out these roles. Their personal statements
were circulated to the Tenants’ Panel. As the ITA, we oversaw the election and vote
on the HOP representatives at the Panel meeting in October 2012;

Informally identifying and assessing the information and training needs of the Panel:
particularly around developing their understanding of how the review process might
work; each of the housing options, and there were 10 at the outset; the type of
information that the Panel would need to have on each of the 6 options that were
included in the Review; the evidence initially that the

discuss from the Stock Condition Survey, the borough-wide Tenant Survey etc.; to
understand their role as being the voice for all tenants across Northampton; and to
develop the working relationships between the Panel and the

Focus Group (EFG) and with the HOP;

267



2.2.

Providing regular recap and summary sessions to remind all Panel members of key
topics and issues that have been previously discussed, and using this as a way to
support the involvement of newer members of the Panel and individual Panel
members as required, as well as through informal discussion with individual members
during Panel meetings.

The Pattern of Work for the Tenants’ Panel

After their initial establishment, the process of working with the Tenants’ Panel began to

settle into a regular pattern of work mainly based around 3 elements:

ITA led sessions, called development sessions, for which we, as the ITA prepared and
presented information to the Panel to raise their awareness and understanding of
specific issues and to allow Panel members the time to prepare for discussion of each
topic with the from January 2013 onwards, for the
joint discussion sessions with the Employee Focus Group representatives;

Council led sessions with the Panel which the ITA attended initially to involve Panel
members in discussing and agreeing the structure and the process of the Review, but
by late October/early November this had changed to being taken through and
discussing each of the key topics or issues that the Tenants’ Panel would need to
consider and have a view on;

Once the Panel and the employee representatives on the Employee Focus Group had
an understanding of the process, their own roles within it, and had a back ground
understanding of each topic and the evidence began to become available to work
with, the il arranged joint discussion sessions, which the ITA attended.

In some cases joint working allowed the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus
Group to arrive at a common position e.g. the draft Northampton Standard, or the re-
profiling of the expenditure to meet the funding available to the

sessions it allowed both the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group to develop
a shared understanding even if they then approached that topic from their own
perspective as tenants (i.e. the receivers of the service) and employees (i.e. the
deliverers of the service) e.g. on the development of the evaluation criteria.

2.3. The Content of the ITA development sessions with the Tenant’s Panel

The

2 introductory meetings to support the establishment of the Tenants’ Panel
26 ITA led Development Sessions with the Tenants’ Panel

26 sessions for the Tenant Panel

11 joint Tenant Panel and Employee Focus Group meetings

2 ITA support sessions with the Editorial Panel to support them in preparing the
Northampton Tenant Panel NTP Report as the outcome of the Review process

A total 67 meetings to date.

268



During the ITA led development sessions with the Tenants’ Panel, the ITA prepared and

presented information (and we have included two examples in appendices 1 and 2) which

was copied as training handouts for each Panel member and made available on the

Council’s and the ITA websites. These sessions were based on the following topics:

N oo ok~ W Noe

10.
11.
12.
13.

14.
15.
16.

17.
18.
19.
20.

An Introduction to Options Appraisal

What are the Options now? How can they be assessed?

Stock Ilus?

Tenancy Rights & Tenancy Agreements

Recap session on: Decent Homes Standard and the Northampton Standard
Recap: How far have we got? An Introduction to Housing Mutuals

Performance Standards; and a recap on tenancy rights & issues about the
Northampton Standard

The Housing Revenue Account

Council finance and the HRA and how stock transfer works
Financial issues in transfer and retention

Governance issues in retention and transfer

Recap and Introduction to Housing Mutuals

Informal and formal consultation: Offer document and the ballot in housing stock
transfer

Options
The ALMO Model: Training & Development session

Options session and recap on Savills financial analysis of the
housing options

The Options session
ITA Summary Session
The Key Results & Analysis of the Tenant Panels’ Options Scoring Session

Recap on Key Results from Tenant Panel Scoring Exercise & Structure of the Panel’s
Report

269



2.4. Summary

Throughout each session members of the Tenants’ Panel have joined in asking questions
and referring us to other relevant issues that they were aware of within the

Housing Service, so making these sessions very interactive, critical, challenging, and
enjoyable. As a result this has created a successful learning environment. It has also been
very pleasing to see that Panel members have helped and supported each other during
what has been at times a very demanding and intensive schedule of meetings.

3. Attendance at the HOP meetings

As ITA, we have been present at every HOP meeting, to offer advice and information from
our experience of being the ITA in over 50 commissions involving various types of housing
options appraisals and tenant consultations. We have provided additional support to the
tenant representatives as required.

4. The outreach work carried out by the ITA

4.1 Methods used

We have offered a variety of opportunities throughout the Review for tenants across
Northampton to receive information, have the opportunity to talk to the ITA and to their ask
guestions about the Review. These have included:

4.1.1 The design and preparation of 3 ITA newsletters, which the
posted out to all tenants. These were issued in November 2012, April 2013 and
October 2013 (and a copy of each is in appendices 3, 4 and 5 respectively).

4.1.2 ITA Information advice services available 24/7 to encourage tenants to talk to us
directly via: telephone, text, online, and freepost facilities. The information advice
services have all been advertised in the 3 ITA newsletters and in all information
issued by the ITA (posters to help to advertise the ITA ity Room drop-ins
(appendix 6) and the area Resident Association meetings (appendix 7) and in ITA
Fact Sheets we have handed out during the outreach.

4.1.3 We have had an online Tenant Forum available on the ITA website during the
Review. This can allow tenants to talk on line to one another and ask questions of
the ITA. Although not many tenants have posted questions to the ITA, it is clear
that this online questions and answer system has received many thousands of ‘hits’
but these could be from anyone. It is impossible to verify how many of these ‘hits’

are from N nk up to around 300 are from N
tenants.
4.1.4  Through the 19 area based Resident Associations

and 1 Residents’ Council, to offer that the ITA attends their meetings in an attempt
to reach primarily council tenants and to raise awareness generally of the Review. S

8
270



4.1.5

By the end of the Phase 4 outreach we will have been to 20 residents meetings in
12 different areas of Northampton. In addition we have attended 4 Northampton
Tenant Federation meetings.

Arranging a borough wide ITA outreach programme, which we have expanded
both in terms of the locations used and in the timing of the drop-ins during the 4
phases of outreach meetings arranged at key stages in the Housing Stock Options
Review. On the advice of the members of the Tenants’ Panel we have
held these in various community venues across the

the day and week. The ITA outreach programme has focussed on the 28

owned the

sheltered housing and in the Self- Serve area of the Guildhall foyer, although we
have experimented with using some of the

a in a housing surgery at the Weston Favell library.
The location of these venues and their proximity is shown on the map in appendix 8
where the green pins denote the

other venues used. The same pin number and colour coding is repeated in the
overall table of attendance at each of the 4 phases of outreach that have been
carried out. This is shown in appendix 9.

Tenant Panel members have taken part by attending some of the ITA drop-ins to
hear directly what tenants were saying to the ITA and to share their experience of
being on the Panel. The Panel wanted tenants to know that the

involve and listen to the views of tenants about their aspirations for the Housing
Service. The Panel produced a contact card for Rob Edwards as the

Tenant Panel which Panel members or the ITA handed out during the outreach
programmes to invite tenants to speak directly to Rob if they wanted to.

During each phase of ITA outreach we have helped council tenants across the
Borough to understand:

° What the Housing Options Review is about and why the
out.
° What the potential implications of it might be for tenants depending upon

the option chosen, and has offered reassurance certainly around what the
Arm’s Length Management Organisation or ALMO option and the 3 transfer
options might mean, and about the likely process for their implementation
should one of these options becomes the recommended option.

° In Phase 4 we explained the recommendation from the Tenant’s Panel and
the Employee Focus Group and what this might mean for tenants if accepted
by the We outlined the scoring system and the evidence which has
led both the Tenant’s Panel and The Employee Focus Group to both choose
the Arms Length Management Organisation (ALMO) as their preferred option.

271



° In Phase 4 we described the decision making process with the HOP making an
overall recommendation which will be put to the
Council meetings in December 2013.

. We made it clear that the third Tenants’ eedback
gathered by the ITA would be reported to the HOP at its meeting on 13
November 2013, for inclusion in the final reports for presentation to the
Council.

° Invite tenants to express their views and concerns and to feed these back to
the Panel and to the

Apart from ITA attendance at 2 Resident Association meetings Phase 4 ITA outreach is
complete. We have summarised the attendance, the response received and the issues
covered in the ITA drop-ins and area meetings in 4 separate reports issued at the end of
each phase. The summary reports for Phase 1, 2, 3 and 4 are in appendices 10, 11, 12 and 13
respectively.

4.1.6 The ITA has also been involved in the two Tenant Conferences (with the third to
follow in November 2013), by supporting both the main presentations to tenants and the
workshop discussion sessions, and by providing information on the Review at the Tenants’
Conferences exhibition events.

4.1.7 In the fourth and last phase of ITA outreach we are also offering tenants the chance
to ask for home visits by the ITA where they are unable to get out to attend any of the ITA
drop-ins or where they prefer a face to face opportunity to talk to the ITA rather than by
using the other ITA information advice services. 12 requests for home visits were received
by the

4.2. Summary of the feedback received

As stated above we have prepared a report on each of the 4 phases of the ITA outreach held
so far and the issues each raised.

As a result of the 4 phases of ITA outreach work and the attendance at the Tenant
Conferences the ITA has been involved in 163 separate opportunities to talk directly to
council tenants about the Review in 58 different venues. As a result we have spoken to
around 755 people, the majority of whom were council tenants. We have dealt with around
140 requests for information through the ITA advice services. We have made information
available about the Review and tenants have been interested to find out more about what is
involved and what it is being done.

At this final stage and in light of the ALMO option, we believe that the information that we
and the provided has enabled tenants generally to understand more about what
the ALMO option would mean and to largely gain their support for the ALMO as the future
for the housing service in Northampton if the this
recommendation.

10
272



Section3 ITA Observations on the Options Appraisal
Process

1. Northampton Council’s programme for carrying out the Options
Appraisal

From the outset N four main elements:

° Communication with all council tenants via: newsletters; invitations to take part in
the process; tenant conferences; web publicity; tenant surveys; etc.

° The development and operation of the Tenants’ Panel
° The development and operation of the Employee Focus Group
° The development and operation of the Housing Options Panel

This was a large programme of work, and as such, difficult to hold together, and difficult to
ensure it developed evenly. The danger in such an approach is that the diverse elements can
take on a life of their own, and a coherent view that can inform the -
making struggles to emerge.

Our view is that the process has had an overall unity, and that the component parts have
fitted together well.

The general tenant communication programme got the message out to all tenants. Not
only did this lead to the formation of the Tenants’ Panel, but it also seemed to have
contributed to the relatively high response rate to the Tenant Survey, and the good
attendance at the two Tenant Is are quite
abstract exercises (compared say to communication around an agreed stock transfer
proposal) and so don’t easily provoke a tenant response. From our experience, the general
response rate from Northampton tenants has been quite good.

We can certainly confirm that any tenant who wanted to play a role in the process has had
the opportunity to do so.

The work of the Tenants’ Panel has astonished us. It is not simply that it has put in over
5,000 hours of work. It is also the quality of the work the Panel has done to assimilate a
wide range of complex information, work rationally to evaluate it, and then work
collectively to reach a decision of the option to recommend. It is the only Panel we have
known in over 20 years of this kind of work that has been able to produce, and then
present, its own Report.

It has also done this within the agreed evaluation framework. This means that the HOP will
have two reports to consider (the other being from the Employee Focus Group) which,
whilst differing in style and approach, nevertheless both cover the key issues and give the
HOP comparable perspectives with which to work.

11
273



Throughout the 1990’s, and even later, staff views on Options Appraisals were rarely sought
or valued. That changed in the early and mid-2000’s when councils started to put some
employee representatives on Appraisal Panels. But relatively few councils have set up
Employee Focus Groups that have equal status with a Tenants’ Panel and a responsibility to
produce a separate report on the options.

We view this as a very positive step.

The process also brought together the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group for
joint discussion from time to time. This worked better in some sessions than others because
there were inevitably quite different tenant and staff perspectives on some issues.

taken as whole, the relationship seemed to us to be a positive one and contributed to the
final decisions taken by both groups.

Finally, the Housing Options Panel was designed to be the body that would have an
oversight of the process and which would make a final recommendation to
options.

This also has worked well. It is true that some Tenants’ Panel members felt that there was
repetition at the HOP (i.e. presentations that had been previously given at the Tenants’
Panel and EFG were often repeated at the HOP) . ut it was usually the case that those
presentations did generate different lines of discussion which, in turn, fed back in to Panel
discussions at a later date.

In summary, then, it is easy for an Options Appraisal process to focus largely on one part of
the process (e.g. the HOP) at the expense of other parts. Our view is that the attention given
to the four elements in the process in Northampton was a correct one.

2. Objectivity and Balance

One of the requirements placed upon councils when doing options appraisals is to ensure
that the material tenants receive about the process is fair and balanced.
argue that such material is not fair or balanced, but gives a biased view of the issues.

One of the tasks of the ITA is to help ensure that the material tenants receive meets those
tests of fairness and balance. In practice, and in the absence any detailed guidance from
D G about what constitutes ‘balance’ for example, we have always applied the following
tests to any material a council produces:

° Does it say anything which is, in our view, factually incorrect?
° Does it omit anything that, in our view, tenants need to know?

° Taken as whole, does it give tenants the information they need to make an informed
view on the issues under discussion?

12
274



We have never taken a literal view of ‘balance’ e.g. that, any statement of the financial
detail or advantage of transfer has to be ‘balanced’ by a statement of the financial detail or
advantage of retention (since there may not be one).

To be able to make those judgements, and to raise them with a Council before publication,
we need to see them in advance and have the time to make comments on them. In respect
of this process we can say that:

° We have received advance sight of: all proposed new letter text; all letters to tenants;
all presentations made to the Tenants’ Panel; EFG; and HOP; and other material

° We have made comments on this material that have, in all cases, been accepted and
incorporated into the relevant text — these have mainly been different ways of
expressing things or adding a detail which we thought was relevant

° At no point have we had to challenge the accuracy of material, or to ask for
information to be inserted that constituted in our view, a misleading omission.

We are, therefore, happy to confirm that in our view the information produced by The

Council throughout this process is accurate, objective, and balanced.

We can also confirm that at no point has The Council attempted to change, or veto, any
information or comment that we have wanted to publish as the ITA (which is not always the
case).

3. The Evaluation Process

The work to arrive at the options available to Northampton
agreed those options, to score (and weight) them, was a detailed one.

3.1 Identifying the options

When Council housing stock transfer was first made possible within the provisions of the
1985 Housing Act (although the first transfer proposal was not balloted on until 1988) the
options available to a Following an appraisal exercise, The Council
either transferred its homes to an existing Housing Association (subject to a positive tenant
ballot), or it retained its homes and continued to manage them in the current manner.

As the transfer programme developed after 1988, new options began to develop;

° If the appraisal process showed transfer to be the best way forward, and following the
provisions of the 1996 Housing Act, councils could establish a new ‘stand-alone’ and
locally based association to whom homes could be transferred. Or they could form an
association which would then become part of the group structure of an existing
association (or even to form a new group with an existing stand-alone organisation).

° If the process showed retention to be the best option, from 2001, councils could
transfer not the ownership of their homes, but simply the management, to a new
‘arms-length’ (and council-owned organisation) called an Arms Length Management
Organisation (ALMO). Or they could continue to be the landlord but sign a long term

13
275



deal with a private contractor to provide the investment capital needed to repair and
improve homes, with the contractor physically doing that work, and the housing
management services for those homes transferred for the life of the contract to the
private contractor’s housing association partner (i.e. what was known as the ‘Private
Finance Initiative’ - PFI).

° From the early 2000’s transfer options increased to embrace mutual housing
associations where tenants, as members of the organisation, had a major role in its
governance. In England these were generally known as
Organisations, and in Wales as
describe the mutual organisations established in Rochdale and Liverpool).

° Finally, and in the last few years, some councils, whilst retaining ownership of their
homes, have contracted out their housing management to a private contractor.

Drawing upon knowledge of those developments, the Options Appraisal process in
Northampton identified at an early stage ten possible options. These were;
Contracting-out the housing service
Retention (with no change to the operation of the service)
Retention (with a major service review)
Retention (with an ALMO)
Transfer (to a stand-alone association)
Transfer (to a mutual association)
Transfer (to become a subsidiary of an existing association)
Transfer (i.e. absorption by an existing association)
Transfer (to a Community Gateway organisation)
PFI (Private Finance Initiative)

In our view the range of possible options identified at the very outset of the process were
the most comprehensive and rational ones that could have been chosen. No realistic
options were omitted.

It could be argued, for example, that there are theoretical ALMO models that have been put
forward that are different to the conventional one appraised here.

models, which include innovative ways of repaying the council’s housing debt, have been
shown to be realisable given a lack of support for them by the D reasury.

We are, therefore, happy to confirm that in our view the initial set of options summarised
above were those that enabled the review process to begin in the correct manner.

The next step the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus
Group, was to reduce the ten options to six.

14
276



° Contracting out the management service was ruled out essentially because it would
have removed direct council control over the housing management service and would
have marginalised tenant involvement in it.

° Transfer via absorption by an existing housing association was judged as never likely
to be supported by tenants in a ballot even if the council had been minded to do it
(which it was not).

° PFl was also ruled out both on the grounds that it was very unlikely to attract
significant investment funding, given the ending of
support for housing PFl, and also the clear hostility of tenants to the proposed PFI
scheme in Eastfield.

° Transfer to a Community Gateway was ruled out because the broader mutual model
as exemplified by Rochdale seemed to offer much more in
terms of tenant involvement in governance.

These decisions were taken jointly by the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group

after extensive discussions which began in early autumn 2012. We were present at all those

meetings and can confirm that the decision to remove those four options from the list was
properly done.

That then left six options: three retention options; and three transfer options.

Finally, in early summer 2013, the Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group jointly agreed
that Option 1 (retention with no change in the operation of the service) was simply
untenable.

The reasoning here was two-fold:

° The Tenant Survey had clearly shown significant weaknesses in current service
delivery. The Tenants’ Panel in particular felt that those results showed that any form
of ‘status quo’ option would be unacceptable to tenants.

° The development of tenant-led Service Improvement Groups (SIPs) which had been
running in parallel to the Options Appraisal exercise was, in effect, the first step in a
major service review.

We were also present at all those discussions and are satisfied that the decision reached
was a sensible one in the light of those discussions.

3.2 Evaluating the Options

The formal options evaluation process had three strands within it; the development of the
options criteria; the scoring of each option against the agreed criteria; and the weighting
attached to each of the criteria.

The total score for each option was the sum of the score awarded on each criteria multiplied
by the weighting for that criteria.

The key issues in this process were as follows:

15
277



3.2.1

The Development of the Options Criteria

In our experience there are no universally accepted criteria for assessing options .lt is

certainly not an exact science. Councils who embark on Options Appraisal exercises often

end up with very different individual criteria, and the number of such criteria is usually quite

small.

For example, the next table shows the Options Appraisal criteria used by
in the East Midlands in its Options Appraisal Report (June 2012).

Criterion Detail Weighting |

Revenue Cost | How much will the option cost to run? | 3

‘Capital investment What level of capital investment will 4
each option deliver in the first 5-10
years of the plan?

Service standards What level of services can the option 2
deliver?

Risk — change What is the level of risk presented by 1
the scale of change?

Risk — failure What is the risk that the option will not | 1
work |.e. it will fail?

Risk — control What is the control risk inherent inthe | 1
option?

Tenant engagement and | What level of tenant engagement can | 2

participation the option deliver?

Delivering strategic How well does the option help to 1

objectives of the Council | deliver the strategic options of the
council?

This matrix uses eight criteria, which is fairly typical in our experience, and only gives a

weight of two on a scale of one to four to ‘tenant engagement and participation’ (whereas it

gives a weight of 4 for ‘capital investment’).

In the Northampton process there are, by contrast, forty six criteria divided in to eight

categories. These are

N o U 2w N R

Accountability, Participation, and Power (12 criteria)
Tenant Rights and Involvement (7 criteria)

Employee Issues (4 criteria)

Financial Implications — including rents (12 criteria)
Quality of Homes (1 criterion)

Impact on Local Community and Economy (2 criteria)
Legal Framework and Equality (4 criteria)

Implications for the Council (4 criteria)

278

16



This is clearly a much more rigorous, and comprehensive, approach to developing
evaluation criteria than that represented in the example shown above. It also gives real
importance to things such as tenant rights, employee issues, and accountability,
participation and power (which is common to both tenants and employees).

Having been present at all the meetings to arrive at this evaluation framework, we can also
verify that the decisions to adopt this set of criteria came directly out of those meetings and
the work done in them by both the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group.

In summary, we believe that the set of criteria used to appraise the options were developed
collaboratively by tenant and employee representatives, and constitute a robust and
comprehensive tool for assessing the options.

3.2.2 The Scoring System
The system developed to score the options was a simple one:

° Where the option failed to meet the objective described in any individual criteria it
was awarded zero marks

° Where the option partially met that objective it was awarded one mark
. Where the option largely met that objective it was awarded two marks, and

° Where the option fully met that objective it was awarded three marks.

In statistical terms this is what is known as interval scale. Interval scales show the
differences between data points, where those distances are equivalent to each other (i.e.
the gap between one and two is the same as that between two and three). However,
interval scales (for example in psychological research) do not normally have a zero point,
which this one does. That is normally a characteristic of what is known as a ratio scale.

But it is fairly common in other types of social research and evaluation studies to assign zero
values in a scale. Our view is that the scale used here was a proper one for the task at hand.
The question that was raised in the Tenants’ Panel was not about the scale itself, but the
extent to which the rules that had to be used in the awarding of scores on each criteria
might have influenced the outcome.

The scoring rules agreed through discussion in the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus
Group determined that where the criteria involved matters of fact (not opinion) the option
had to be awarded three where that requirement demonstrably applied, and zero where it
did not. No intermediate scores were permitted. For example it is not matter of judgement
that ground 8 in the grounds for possession for assured tenancies does not apply in a
council secure tenancyj; it is a matter of fact.

The concern was that some options, and notably Option 1 (retention with a major service
review), might be marked down because there were less opportunities for them to be
awarded a mandatory three marks than some other options.

17
279



Taken at face value, the next table seems to give some substance to that view.

Criteria on which options had to score 3

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

Retention & Retention — Transfer - Transfer — Transfer-

Review BALMO stand slone Mutussl Group Strcture

20 28 24 25 18

What it shows it that, for example, is that there were 28 criteria on which the ALMO option
(Option 2) had to be awarded a mandatory score of three marks, but only 20 opportunities
for Option 1 (retention with a major service review) to be awarded a score of three.

But our judgement is that this scoring system did not produce a biased or skewed result. In
fact, our analysis of the scores shows that:

° If all other scores were equal, Option 2 (the ALMO) must indeed score 24 marks per
person more than Option 1 (retention with major service review). This is because
Option 2 must have 28 scores of 3 (a total of 84 marks per person), whilst Option 1 will
only have 20 scores of three (a total of 60 marks per person).

° With 31 Tenants’ Panel members scoring, and with all other scores being equal, the
total score for Option 2 must be at least 744 marks more than that for Option 1.

° But the gap in scores between the options is actually 2865 (i.e. Option 2 scored 2865
marks more than Option 1).

° Therefore the margin by which Option 2 beats Option 1 is 3.8 times what can be
explained by the rules of the scoring system alone.

In reality, the overall effect of the scoring rules was to increase the gap between Option 2
and Option 1, and, to a much lesser extent, between Options 3 and 4 and Option 1.

also had the effect of reducing the score of Option 5 (transfer to be part of a group
structure) relative to all other options.

But, crucially, the scoring rules have not produced the rankings for the options. They would
have been the same had, for example, all options had (say) 22 opportunities to score 3.

The fact is that Options 2-5 scored more highly then Option 1 because the Tenants’ Panel
scored them more highly — not because the scoring rules were biased in their favour.

18
280



As ITAs we checked that each individual scoring sheet completed by Tenants’ Panel
members had been properly recorded and summed by the N Housing Options Review
Team. Where scores awarded against particular criteria had not followed the agreed scoring
rules, we moderated those scores in accordance with the rules, before the final total was
arrived at.

3.2.3 The Weighting System

Whereas a scoring system gives a value for how well an option performs on any given
criteria, a weighting system says how important that criteria is. An option may score highly,
but on a poorly weighted criteria, and vice versa.

The total score for an option is determined by the balance between a score and a weighting
for the criteria which attracted that score.

The weighting system agreed here by the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group
was as follows;

° a criteria that was judged ‘not essential’ was given a value of 1

° a criteria that was judged ‘desirable’ was given a value of 2 a criteria that was judged
‘important’ was given a value of 3

° a criteria that was judged ‘essential’ was given a value of 4

The fact that the scoring system contained a zero value (scores being ranked 0-3), whereas
the weights were on a scale of 1-4, did also raise questions in the mind of the Panel. Some
members initially thought that for the sake of consistency both should have used a scale of
1-4.

Our view is that the scores and the weights can, and should, be scaled differently.

The scoring scale reflected the fact that in respect of one or more options, some criteria
were either present or absent. If they were present, the question to be scored simply
registered that fact. In this case they had to be given not just a positive value, but a score of
three. If they were absent they could not be given a positive score. The score must be a
zero.

But weightings are different. Weightings register relative importance — they make no
judgements about presence or absence. For example, to classify something as ‘not essential’
(and to give it a value of 1) is only to say it has low or little importance. Not that it has no
value (a zero score) that can be ascribed to it.

The weights themselves were arrived at through a long process of discussion within the
Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group. In the case of the Tenants’ Panel, members
voted and re-voted on what weight to attach to each criterion, over a number of sessions.
The category with the highest number of votes at the end of this process became the agreed
weight for that criterion.

19
281



For many criteria, there was a very strong agreement on the weighting. For example, on the
criteria ‘can the option provide security of tenure equivalent to that under the current
arrangements’ 26 Panel members rate this as ‘essential’, 2 as ‘important’, 1 as ‘desirable’,
and none as ‘not essential’.

On others, there was less of a consensus. For example, on the criteria ‘under the option can
tenants be involved in the decision making on rents and service charges?’, 16 weighted this
as ‘essential’, 4 as ‘important’, 9 as ‘desirable’, and none as ‘not essential’.

There was some discussion as to whether this spread of opinion, where it occurred, should
be reflected in the final weightings (i.e. some form of differentiated or pro rata weighting to
reflect the votes cast for each weighting category).

But the Panel as a whole agreed that a democratic vote within the Panel, to determine the
agreed weightings, was the most practical way to arrive at a weighting framework, and that
differentiated weighting (even if such a system could be derived) detracted from the
principle of establishing a single and common evaluation framework.

In practice, there was a large measure of consensus within the Tenants’ Panel about the
weightings, as the following facts demonstrate:

° On all 46 criteria, the final weighting was agreed as ‘important’ (7 criteria) or
‘essential’ (39 criteria) — none were thought to be ‘not essential’ or ‘desirable.’

° Out of the 46 criteria there were only 13 (or 28%) where there were more total votes
cast for the other weightings than for the one with the most votes. It meant that on
72% of the criteria the weighting chosen had a majority of votes.

° In no case did the total number of votes cast for the ‘not essential’ and ‘desirable’
weightings combined exceed those case for the ‘important’ and ‘essential’ weightings
combined — or even came close to doing so.

As with the scoring system, we believe that the derivation and application of the weighting
system was done in a wholly rational and thorough manner, and that it reflected the
decisions of the Tenants’ Panel following extensive discussions within itself, and between
the Panel and the Employee Focus Group.

3.2.4 The Role of Financial Criteria in the Evaluation Process

One recurrent criticism of housing options appraisals generally is that they primarily focus
on financial criteria, and that as a consequence they very often point to stock transfer as the
only rational solution.

This is because under the financial rules that apply to local authority finance , housing
association transfer business plans are able to be financed by large scale private borrowing,
whereas Council retention business plans are not.

20
282



Where financial criteria form part of a very small number of criteria, and where the
weighting attached to them is high (as it is in the he overall outcome
of the appraisal will indeed largely be driven by financial assessments.

The evaluation criteria used in the Northampton appraisal, as noted, are in fact much
broader and more comprehensive. The role financial criteria play within them are, in our
view, reasonable and proportionate, and moreover, give due weight to the retention case.
There are three points to make here:

° First, the 46 individual categories are distributed over 8 evaluation categories.
Financial criteria alone make up 12 of these.
‘accountability, participation, and power’ category which also contains 12 criteria. In
fact financial criteria make up only around 24% of the total criteria.

° The weights attached to individual financial criteria are actually lower overall than
those to every other category except ‘accountability, participation, and power’. Whilst
within the ‘financial implications’ category 9 individual criteria are rated as ‘essential’,
with a weighting score of 4, 3 are rated just as ‘important’. This contrasts with every
other category (except ‘accountability participation, and power’) where every
individual criterion (22 in all) were rated as ‘essential’. So the way the weighting
system worked also did not inflate the relative importance of financial criteria within
the overall evaluation process.

° Finally, and far from biasing the overall outcome in favour of a stock transfer option,
and against the two retention options, the totals for the weighted scores for the
retention options placed them first and second in this category. Option 1 (which came
last overall) actually came first here with a score of 3,230 with Option 2 close behind
with 3221. The three transfer options only averaged 2,759 in this category.

In conclusion: this has been, in our experience, one of the few Options Appraisals where
financial criteria have not been allowed (or designed) to determine the outcome of the
appraisal. It has recognised the importance of such financial issues as the debt cap and debt
write-off, but it has placed them in a wider context. This approach, in turn, came out of
intensive debate and discussion within, and between, the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee
Focus Group.

4. Are the Tenants’ Panel’s views representative?

An important question the Tenants’ Panel has often asked itself is; how representative of
tenant opinion as whole are we?

This is a question often asked of tenant involvement, and is not specific to the options
appraisal process in Northampton. It usually comes from the fact that whatever forms of
tenant engagement a social landlord has the number of tenants active in that system tends
to be very small. This is particularly true in terms of the number of tenants active in
landlord-wide panels and organisations. They often comprise only a small fraction of the
tenant population as whole.

21
283



So landlords often ask how reliable a guide to tenant opinion as a whole those expressed by
that small number of tenant representatives actually are.

In our view, such a question is based on a mis-understanding of what ‘representativeness’
means (or could mean) in respect of such things as tenant panels.

Statistical Representativeness

The problem with understanding representativeness generally is that the concept has itself
come to be viewed as synonymous with one type of representativeness i.e. statistical
representativeness.

Statistical representativeness, as found in opinion polls and general survey research,
involves drawing a sample from a whole population, and on that basis, of the views
expressed in that sample extrapolating to the population as a whole.

In the case of opinion polls on voting intentions, for example, the sample will be tiny when
expressed as a percentage of the voting population as whole (say 1,000 people drawn from
a voting population of 35-40m people). The extrapolation made here is for predictive
purposes e.g. to predict the share of the vote individual parties will gain as a forthcoming
election.

And this type of sample based approach is not confined to opinion polls. It is precisely the
approach Savills used in the Northampton Stock

average of 25% of homes, and from that sample extrapolated to the condition of the totality
of council homes in Northampton.

What the results of an opinion poll or a stock condition survey say is, in effect: if we had
talked to every person (or surveyed every property) the results we got would only have
differed from the sample results by plus or minus 1%, or plus or minus 3%, depending on
the ‘confidence level’.

The key factor in this kind of work is the sample frame i.e. the way in which the sample is
drawn in the first place. The more detailed and accurate this is, the more statistically
‘representative’, i.e. reliable, the extrapolated results for the population as a whole will be.

In the case of a stock condition survey, for example, a great deal of work goes in to
constructing a sampling frame which reflects the stock as whole in terms of property
archetype, age, geographical location, construction type, and so on.

In the case of opinion polls, the sampling frame takes in to account a range of socio-
demographic and geographical factors such as social class, age, gender, place of residence,
etc.

Tenant Surveys on the other hand, such as the 2013 Northampton Tenant Survey, are not
sample- based. They record the opinions only of the tenants that return them. The extent to

22
284



which they may be said to be ‘representative’ of tenant opinion as a whole is not derived
from the sophistication of a sample frame. It is generally thought to lie in the numbers who
return the questionnaire (3,727 in Northampton - which is a response rate around 27%).

The Status of the Tenants’ Panel

Any group of people who are self-assembled i.e. composed of people who volunteer to be a
member of that group in response to a landlord-wide invitation, will hardly ever be judged
to be statistically representative. This is because they were not drawn in as part of a
carefully drawn sample frame, nor were they made up of the thousands of respondents to a
survey.

The Northampton Tenants’ Panel, as discussed in the Panels’ own Report, was assembled
via an invitation from the Some 56 people over the last 12
months or so have played a role in that Panel, of whom some 35 are still regular members.
Of that 56, 35 are men and 21 women. This means that women are statistically very under-
represented. There are 5 Panel members from

groups are slightly under-represented. Only a small minority of Panel members are in
employment, and no attempt has been made to ensure that all geographical areas in
Northampton have a member of the Panel who is resident in that area.

So, if the question is ‘are the members of the Northampton Tenants’ Panel statistically
representative of the tenants as whole, then on the tests set out above?’ the answer has to
be ‘no, they are not’.

But, of course, the Panel was never designed to have this character. What the process of
assembling the Panel set out to be was inclusive. It gave every Northampton tenant the
right and opportunity to join the Panel, and it has throughout supported any tenant who
wished to join and remain a member a high level of administrative and practical support to
do so.

A more relevant question would be: if the 12200 NBC tenants had been through the same
process of options evaluation that the Tenants’ Panel has been through for the last 15
months, would it have reached broadly the same conclusions?

Any answer here would be purely speculative, but we believe that there are a number of
evidence sources which suggest that the views and attitudes of Tenants’ Panel members
have a strong resonance with tenants as whole. Specifically:

° The questions, comments, and ideas raised by tenants with us in our ‘out-reach’ work
have been echoed in the many Tenants’ Panel meetings since August 2012.

° The issue and ideas raised within the Tenant by tenants who have never
been members of the Panel, also reflected much of the discussion that has gone on
within the Panel about the quality and scope of the housing service. The fact that 20
new members came in to the Panel via the first conference, and have remained very

23
285



active within it, suggests that the Panel is reflective of the spectrum of tenant opinion,
and that tenants feel comfortable with its overall stance and operation.

° Finally, the results of the Tenant Survey (responded to by 3,727 council tenants) also
matched very closely to what Tenants’ Panel members have often said about the
strengths and weaknesses of the current service, and also the key future changes that
are needed within it.

Our view is that whilst the Panel is not statistically representative of Northampton tenants
as whole, there is no evidence to suggest its views, and the spectrum of opinion it contains,
are at odds with those of tenants as whole — and plenty of evidence that it is in- tune with
that broader opinion.

In this sense we believe that it is functionally representative of tenant opinion, in so far as
this is known.

This is not the same as claiming that if there was some kind of test of opinion on a chosen
option in the near future that tenants as whole would come up with the same view as the
Panel. As noted, the Panel has gone through an intensive programme of work which tenants
as a whole have not.

But it is to say that the raw material, in terms of tenant opinions and ideas that have gone
into the work of the Panel, would have been broadly the same, had different tenants
volunteered to be Panel members.

Finally, what the Panel really represents is not so much a ‘representative’ group (however
defined) but an informed tenant perspective on the options:

° We have summarised it in the singular because the Panel claims to be no more than a
group of tenants with a set of views — they have never claimed to speak for all tenants.

° It is ‘informed’ in that they have been through an intensive process of training,
discussion, and development, which puts them well beyond the level of understanding
many landlord-wide groups elsewhere have.

. It is a tenant perspective i.e. it is a contribution to the options debate from people
who are tenants of the service, and whose informed views need to form an important
part of that debate.

In putting forward its recommendation for Option 2 (the ALMO) the Tenants’ Panel is not
saying that this is the confirmed views of tenants as a whole. It simply says that having gone
through the process since August 2012 this is what it, the Panel, has concluded.

It is, therefore, asking its report to be judged on its merits. It is not attempting to justify it by
arguing that it is an expression of tenant views as whole.

We think this is a correct and sensible approach. Whatever option the
need a further programme of explanation and development — from which a collective
tenant view will emerge.

24
286



5. Overall Conclusions

We have drawn four main conclusions about the way Northampton
conducted this Housing Options Appraisal. They are around:

° balance
° comprehensiveness
° competence, and

) the role allotted to the ITA
5.1 Balance

As noted in this report, Options Appraisals are sometimes criticised for a lack of balance.
The most common criticism is that they overly focus on financial issues, and that as a
consequence the tone of the discussion within the council, and between a council and its
tenants, is dominated by the detail of the financial appraisal.

This means, so the argument runs, that the whole appraisal process is dominated and driven
by what is presented as a financial imperative, with little or no scope for other
considerations or criteria.

We know from our initial out-reach work that there were fears, and these were most
commonly expressed at Resident Association meetings, that N y taken a view
on the option it preferred and that the process would simply be used to rubber stamp that
view. Mostly, it has to be said, those voices felt that a transfer option would emerge from
this process as the recommended option, and that information published by the council
would have an inherent pro-change, and pro-transfer, bias.

In our view, the material published by the council is demonstrably balanced in its approach
in respect of:

. Equal emphasis given to the options (for example in the ‘Pocket Guide’ where all 6, as
they then were, are summarised purely factually) in the information given to all
tenants.

° The broad range of information for all tenants contained in all four newsletters, and
presentations at the Tenant tual information only (and
covered all the main issues such as the results of the Stock Condition Survey, the
Tenant Survey, and so on).

° The work programme for the Tenants’ Panel. The Council’s presentations to the Panel,
and the debate and discussion around it, were factual in content and allowed the
Panel to draw its own conclusions.

In terms of how the financial issues were generally presented to all tenants, we feel that this

was even handed in its approach (whereas many options appraisals focus on capital

investment ‘gaps’ in the event of retention). In fact because the results of the Savills’
financial analysis were only available to the Panel in early summer 2013 some members of

25
287



the Tenants’ Panel were concerned that there had been, up to that point, too little emphasis
on financial issues.

5.2 Comprehensiveness

The second group of issues is around the extent to which the process drew properly on all
the evidence sources needed to help shape a rational view on the options.

In our view:

° The process gave due weight to the current state of the HRA and future projections
about it. It also noted that the HRA has provision in it for a capital investment
programme that will achieve a standard higher than the Decent Homes Standard.

° It properly evaluated the impact both of debt write-off in the case of the transfer
options, and the debt ceiling in the case of the retention options — and this in turn
prompted the detailed re-prioritisation of capital items that made up the draft
Northampton Standard.

° It had the benefit of a high quality stock condition survey, based on a 25% sample
(which is generally considered to be a ‘belt and braces’ level of confidence).

° It drew on the detailed results from the Tenant Survey of around 27% of council
tenants, and which gave a clear view both on satisfaction levels with many elements
of the current service and of priorities for the future.

° It drew upon the evidence about broader tenant views gained in the ITA out-reach
programme and through the Tenant Conferences.

° It properly supported, and then drew upon, the work done by the Tenants’ Panel and
the Employee Focus Group in option development and evaluation.

° It gave due cognisance to relevant current guidance, particularly the draft guidance on
Stock Transfer finally published in July 2013.

In our view, then, this appraisal was properly evidence-based and evidence-driven.
5.3 Competence

It is possible to have an appraisal process that correctly assembles a comprehensive
evidence base, but does not have a competent framework with which to evaluate it.

In our view the evaluation framework developed in Northampton was the best we have
seen in our 50 ITA jobs across the UK. We believe (as with many other aspects of this
review) that it was exemplary.

That evaluation framework had two elements; an agreed system for delineating the options
and then developing comprehensive criteria for weighting and scoring them; and a decision-
making structure which used that evidence to make its recommendation to Cabinet (via the
HOP).

The evaluation system was sophisticated and comprehensive in that:

26
288



° The process of reducing the ten theoretical options from ten to six, and then to the
final five, was clear and evidence based.

° The evaluation criteria used to assess the options were derived from over 170 original
ideas, which were then refined down to the 46 criteria eventually used, through a
series of meetings and discussions within and between the Tenants’ Panel and the
Employee Focus Group. The eight categories eventually arrived at covered the widest
range of criteria we have seen in any options appraisal.

° The scoring and weighting framework was also arrived at through a similar process of
discussion within the Tenants’ Panel and the Employee Focus Group. The system
adopted was, in our view, rational and clear.

There has been debate within the Tenants’ Panel about the complexity of the evaluation
framework eventually adopted. However, each individual aspect of it was subject to
discussion and agreement through discussion at Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group
meetings, which often involved voting amongst Panel members to reach a majority view.
The system, therefore, evolved throughout the course of the review as a result of this
intensive consultation and discussion, it was not simply handed down, fully formed, from
the council (as can be the case).

It is true that some Tenants’ Panel Members sometimes found it hard to accept that an
objective and evidence based evaluation might produce a result that was at odds with their
subjective feelings and wishes.

understood and accepted the need to work within the objective framework they themselves
had created, and to follow the process through to a logical conclusion.

The decision-making framework was, also in our view, effective and appropriate. The
fulcrum of the process was the Housing Options Panel, with a membership of five tenants
elected from the Tenant Panel, five employees elected from amongst employees, and five
councillors drawn from three political parties ,chaired by the

It is now established practice for appraisal panels, such as the HOP, to bring together
councillors, tenants, and staff to make recommendations on options. appraisal
panels function as the sole arena for such discussion. It is not usual, for example, to have
Tenants’ Panel with such an extensive support system and broad remit, nor an Employee
Focus Group that is tasked with producing its own detailed assessment of the options. Nor is
it usual to have the opportunities that were created in Northampton for tenant
representatives and employees to work collectively on the same issues.

In some other options appraisals, therefore, the equivalent of the Northampton HOP could
not easily take a strategic view because it had to deal directly with the highly detailed issues,
arguments, and different perspectives such appraisals have to cover.

The Northampton HOP, however, essentially operated in two ways:

27
289



° It received reports and feedback from the work done within the Tenants’ Panel and
the Employee Focus Group.

° It considered other issues directly relevant to the review, for example, the results of
the Stock
and transfer business plans.

By having a structure in which a great deal of detailed analysis was done within the Tenants’
Panel and the Employee Focus Group, the HOP was able to keep that strategic focus and to
take a rational overview of the options.

Finally, no assessment of the overall competence of this process would be complete without
mention of the Tenants’ Panel.

It is, in our experience, the best Panel of its kind we have ever seen or worked with.
There are a number of things to say here:

° It is the largest Panel of its kind we have seen (and we have worked as ITAs on similar
projects in council with 80,000 plus homes).

° Not only does it have a large membership (35 in total), but the numbers attending
Panel Meetings, and there have been more than 60 three hour meetings, are
constantly at 85%-90% of the total membership. The commitment shown by Panel
Members to this process has been, in our view, astonishing.

° The pattern of work it has adopted (ITA Development Session followed by a council-
led session) has meant that when it has been called on in council-led sessions to make
decisions it has already had the benefit of discussing these issues with the ITA, and
often to reach an informed view on them.

° The Tenants’ Panel Report to the HOP is an outstanding piece of work. As ITA’s we
contributed to it by producing a base document on which the Panel’s own Editorial
Panel then worked.

° Finally, the Panel has a very diverse membership in terms of ideas and perspectives on
the future for council housing in Northampton. Some members are clear that they
came in to the process essentially to argue for a specific perspective on that issue.
Others would say that they came in to the Panel with no such views. The important
thing is that irrespective of any pre-conceptions or wishes members may have had,
they have worked in a collaborative and democratic way to arrive at their
recommendation.

5.4 The role allotted to the ITA

The role that we, as ITA, were required to play in this appraisal is summarised in Section 1. It
is not much different from the brief we have had in other similar jobs. However, some
councils take the word ‘Independent’ in the phrase ‘Independent Tenant Adviser’ less
seriously than others. Some ITA’s have complained in the past that they have been unduly
pressured by councils to support a particular position.

28
290



In respect of the role we have played in Northampton, and the relationship we have had
with N, we can confirm that:

° We have had complete freedom to develop the outreach programme as we saw fit,
and have been properly supported by council staff to deliver it.

° We have had the opportunity to speak privately with the Tenant Panel whenever they,
and we, wished it.

° The ITA Development Sessions with the Panel have been planned and delivered by us
with no restrictions placed upon us.

° We have had access to all the information relevant to the appraisal we felt we needed.

° The communications we have had with tenants as a whole, through our newsletters,
drop-ins, meetings, and our web site, have been conducted by us according to our
view on issues, with no attempt to influence that from any source.

° As mentioned previously, suggestions that we have made to the
their own communication material have been adopted in all cases.

5.5 Last Word

It is clearly a matter for Northampton how it deals with the
recommendation that will come from the HOP (and which in turn will have been influenced
by the Tenant Panel and the Employee Focus Group).

As the Independent Tenant Adviser we can say that in reaching that decision, the

can, in our view, be confident that the appraisal process itself was balanced, very
comprehensive, and highly competent. From a tenant perspective, we also believe that the
process was inclusive, fully informative, and that any tenant who wished to know more
about the issues, or to participate directly in the review, had a proper opportunity to do so.

29
291



013

1 28e4

e gy pegnie, ey
Ay il ik DU ORI ) ¥ ] juSsRaily Ak aiy|

uawauie Aweaat

FU 4O FULIEL Y] PUE AINIE O Dalgns oy
{75 'm0y asaussapawoy

sy ueua) pure peoypuen "33y Busnoy | agnges | um e A sjge ag A nod pegg

san| ugwIad sapun sy aaey nok andap
e maey nok g ol | se) eoweos o calgng

e pila) spydi 1 T o |
(ISEIDRE Ppol Sved, 8 PR un e e 4o el e,
{ariayes pue gijeay
* ety anou ' Aensd §-a | s sowwa) Adna00 G Jaidnass uR ja WU Y o SERg - Aueualy

: sosayds £ puasasd ase siyiu Asueda) .

/5wy Aoueua) - s1ySy Adueuay -

(43j5uUBS] JO WJD) 3WOS 7]} uasoyd uondo ay
JOU AsaMm uoniualal § adueys pinom A3yl Moy .
MU B SYTU asoUl IBYM -

LMOUY 0y pa3U noj, uoissog juswdojarag

-afluey? pinom sjueLaY [PUND3 Jo syl Asueuay sjuawaa1by Aoueus| pue syybiy foueus)
A4 vojjuasal UeY) Jayyo uopdo Aue u) .

i@nss) ue spydu Asueua) ase Aym - |aued s jueus] uojdweyuon -

sanss| Adueua] :|aued ,5jueua] 0} Uoijejuasald yil ajdwexa uy

T xipuaddy

292



1€

:’-_l.__._..l.-i.-!_t_l_!!l‘

(SEET 57y WEUAL § PIO|pUE] pur) iy Tuwsney 5261

Jarugy pe Ay, o 1 = pay

+a) {Arg o i o wll__._s_u.illll i:.._l..l

AN CRRLRLE) UaiEnoREy Tueenon Al oy pade o pun
SN APIOUITE (U] 0] $DTURUTE 200 ST P

{senmqEuodsal | siyBl Aseiniess | sy Asy anoy

4o 0867

el & D561
e B ) GOFR a3 O FSFIGAT MOE WETRG SARIAIBSGE]

ES6T ba SHUIEME |18 (@ %06- (ana) anpEn
FQEFIES I, £ MG Bigie) sPus)|Eep (IR 0 Eagddy

12 a0 Pram-1eod dnod agius salee) sy ey by |
SRIBUAL GRS BEAUd 1B ALIEWLd pausE - g

{spasg

Uiy ApEsapAL) | Gindeaw Aeasduial e e

0 KIAIR3ES Pue SEINADD LRI PASERull LS — EA
BUE, 1504 U0 SIHEUE] 30y PRINPOIN SSsEI00d iSn)

086T-24d s3y3ry Adueus) -

BN AL jsusele BIuBEp o
e e

W G 33N 5 panipise] aplue & Bumes)
g sersweuag IpoUSd pua PR Ty PUE gouns)

Lpuopue papoyy, | L yag ol f
g pino3 spuogpue) sooas Jygnd gy s uondunssy

(enifap £ 0 sjeun

soiras apenad paced Gy weanpiey ol 40y jusy |
UaRIRT AIDINIEIS B[N PRY SIRUAL Y PUR Ema)

0861 aid -

SIYEN WELED apn|Iul 03 Sjuallaaldy Aueusa)
agnbas ue | sy Bupnoy Fa ) s

BAILSAR
GO Bg §, U Siuia) - syl M) Bodien 5 apdoad
SEPOIA JOU IS0 SLUsE) Juswasiiy Alueua)

: BpOLENS 0 — PaNL| Aie 35ay]

sun -

sanss| Ayueua] :|aued ,Sjueus] o) uoilejuasald yl| ajdwexa uy T xipuaddy

293



OHO SIURD) 0] JqojRoaD
s13ng - jod BUISNoY |QepIolY 21U woly Suipung
198 0} sSUOEROSSY AUISNO) Ag ARl dn uaye]

uuag pancy ai o pua

AL} 18 S0 Hupjios 2Eogne ow s gng - (seead g

S2l0uUeuUa] painssy pue aindag Ajjeuodans pug ) SIEak © JO WINWILILE € j0 S3PuRuE)
jo siapincd paiasiday, Ag Sunuesd syl pamoy

paInpoud) sem AduBuag Jo Wty
MBU B~ TTOZ 12% WSHe3o] jo vogonponu Bupmoyey

- ZT0Z - Saldueua] Wua) paxly -

— — — —
TN g
DA PICYLAILS Fmssy PUT SIAIEUD) [T M3t
a0y Auciang ayy AL
SEET (L S {0 AT Az Shuad ajqepioye, adieys oy (Axod
PG SPRRNEE it PRSI O . 0 g ) pad)jqo pue -1y Byl b} 00 135 uopssessod Jaf spunouf
b .. Mau 3yl 3sn 1SN sUoNERnossy Juisnoy ¢ alogauay )|
{siapwoig pamsEay,
P B Sy el P e sopas apenied ayy u
E-Il!ﬂ”ilfﬁhi i R 8 03 suos 5 3
ING SIUEUSD [1IIUNDD JOJ SBIIUBUR] BUNISS SUIELAN
f1ssamgn
A paind ag o s iy I | ST IEET I p—t

i (830 Ha g 0 Siaa SRR S san
1y BuisnoH gE6T -

129 Suisnoy 9g6T
- -

sanss| Ayueua] :|aued ,Sjueus] o) uoilejuasald yl| ajdwexa uy T xipuaddy

294



€€

DEE [ENIILILEC] LBdg SAEY NOM 35043 = AJUEUE]
FLEnDy (E0s BEuR B a0 GOET U E U0 EEUELI a
BN MUY M) Ay pajidnpE Raqe pRy

JUBWRIIEE JAysURD B Ul pasquesend agq ued saydi 3500

S SURLL MIO)S JO JUBAD SUY U] PUE 'SIUBUAY 2UNJas S syl
ALwes 3y} yinw ol suogenossy Busnoy = adresd uy
jorpnguons aue suoeossy Susnoy ul syl uesag

@S0 ARYF UL N0 Jas e sjueUg
pasnsse jo syydis au (siy Busnog snouea ag | amors

Wy D SUE SJUEWE] S4Nn2as Jo s1ya ay) se3saypn -

S3PURLA POYLIOYS-UOU pRINSSY

donEwoLl 01 393y

[spueuay gy ayyun

-luayl 3snjal 03 13K ou Ing | juswaaide Asueua
of safueys pue spudtuaiiueue jeaadeueu
Auisnoy ul saFueyl IN0GQE LORENNSU0D 03 3YSY
AJUR U] JO JULRLELS USTLAM B aney 0 1Ty

[Ang 01 1B pansasasd pur | Ang o1 1y

aleueyy o) iy

apeday oy iy

sialipo) Uy aye) pue ja) gns o Jy@y
afueymna Ajeninw ap ydy

(safupyax [eranw ) 8-a) uBiSse pue pasans o Julry

|
i
295

UOISS|LIWO) UMDIT
auagaq jo Ausiunin -
sapuoyiny [e307 .

‘2pnjaul sanueua)
ainas juesd ey salpoq jgnd

S3UBLB] BIN18G -

¥ @8ed sanss| Adueud] :|aued ,Sjueus] 0} uoljejuasald yi| ajdwexa uy T xipuaddy



Ayadoid ayy wiep-au
: 0] S3YS|M pJO|puE| B 3J3ym "3’
uoissassod 1oy
SpUnoJd /T aney SBIUEUa) painssy e ;
_ _ © ay3 uy Ajjedpurid
uoissassod 1oy $312UBU3] PjOYIIOYS-UOU painsse

spunosd g1 aney salluEUa] aindag . WO JRIP SIIIUBUI] NS

(zT0T 1s0d) saoueua) wa) paxly  «

FRLGLAE LG TURGT [ 0y SAGEEN  AMUEL J0 AJUNIAE, 65 SHOURUD)| pajowuiag -
DRSNS S SR SV Ay ot e S sanueua) uoHuaAI UL Knuey -
DU} 10U BN - BOISSISE0C 40 SPURDIE Ur RauasHp 3
SUTPAIEIS SRR 1504 "FAIRUT) Lo IO e JUsnaly pur STHO EL
[E3RInE S iy L) A BAT 380 BEGT ¥ DBET Vaae ey . »
ssourua] Lojsnpogey -
[ AR L D S BRI 5 L D LA G TP
. i) A | I R B R
U I P B4 G Aasatiaad sy Adeaa 6 ainuay jo SHIMEUD] POYIOHS-UoU PRS-
g anpenssd g gl g) SuRaw astag go Ajanaag f.—ﬂ—ﬂm
EHIUPUS] BINISE IUNGY .
ALY 51 MURLAL 0 AJLERSE -
I ase swI0) e
ainual jo Ayunoas - sapueua )] Buisnoy jepos jo abuey v -

sanss| Adueua] |aued Sjueua] 0} uolejuasald il ajdwexa uy 1 xipuaddy

296



GE

PR RO, B At g
SE - USSR TR LA [ 0] TURES D0 - B PO

st ElpaEn
Jroce g S0 B, NG ) UG 0 AR S 0 S, R0 AL D
AT ] B SRR ) SIS S - SR SRR

OF Pun sy X

[ Bnsmeg) amsr 2 b 0F 189

Lo RS SO | L B B D Sy e — DR R
-.1 -

Ajdde Ajuo 5358] |UOHEPOWLICIIE BARILEYE QE]NS,

e —
[aeRpl 1 LWErE=ae)

BarDd SpoPe] A e DUOR S5 FU0I0S AT 00 JOPaa Su) A BORL s SETS
A Oy e S SR AU e g eyt A Aoy

s punoigy -

A ) YERLR PR S S0 38T
I LRI S - (PSR S AT PPt e ALY AT LN

* punmg
BOPOY LIPS 1D DL, OU 0 RO
PP B AR LR A0 SR 20 S . D PR SR Sy
FALRLCE) P B0 3] DRI ) 0 TR S - AP LY WA AYE IR
E pumougn -

L] e TR AR S D R D S L AR 3T R
GEALY IO AR D S0 A0 R B ST D AR — LB AR

AT B O L BOUD DRI ) O] e LRy

NN o TLr RN S VT R W T LRE e TR Tn ST e i T )

A=z @ L DRRRD SRR AT U] AR SR o LY RMAROR LR uis)
apunagy -

ARy B o

FNE E T AELIIDGER 9 IR ERE) (o AT U S0y R
L pumoss -

Az w0 sbuR I AQ USRS
AN L ABATD R 0 Sl LR g e L i Tt LA

L

| oy Poades: | | ety gl
U SRS U Sa
§.?m$a.ﬂ._....“_ [ S ETT] h__mnm_ E.E.? kp...r.u._ ARy d Ry L

L R e e B

A A g _..sm.nm.._._._.un.:n.u..tn..__._.w.. m._...u_uELuokn 2

RIS B LR LD | AYRE - E_I.l_;
T punossy «

| S S R OTE — S

arp e 0 Soeied o 0d (etoske il AASUED A0 LOBREAT PR

Pt e D00 S SRS R U A AU PR - SRy JLE

TRy .
sedde sseusigeucseas, jo 59

SPUNGIS) ABUOHREEI] |V .
HHSSITI 0 1) SPUNGI® — ATUPES | FINI=S -

sanss| Aueua] |aued ,Sjueua] 0} UoNEIUASAI] Y| djdwexa uy T xipuaddy

297



9¢

L @8eq

—
a:.u....a_.t.ﬁl..-. _Luanun_
n..uﬁ_.__.-m | R ...wkm.r._.._ b el 00D 13 8 ARl &
T i i i SO0 WEQI.IEL{E
T pumossy -«
1B O O O [ DU AR000 3 U D) Aoy Dospug
A — | i ] i 0T RLILTAL WA ) - CATVARI I AN
T PURGIS o

{os op

o ajgeypnba 51 3 1 Juswasnbe) auy saew of woleosp sey alipnf sy
YERCARIE - ADUBLET S §0 TUSLLUSIUBWALGS BUY 18 BUQLAM 18 JUBEag
S PRI BAE SS0A PIOIPUR Syl 18I0 SUERW aa0ou koud )

Spunci @onep Joug, pue Alciepuely

UOISSISSOd
10} SPUNOID — SADUBUI| PRINSSy

WD SRS FEINAE] 3 0 BELRIL TT S S5 N SLUICIA O LR S0
ribies s S ueOCU WO RSO PR JUER KL AC) peaniDal ajOReIDeme. 5] LG
S 5 OO0 D0 S PRERRD AL 0 BNk Bl uou] SD T eS0T

O 5 sy Sy g by melyo vy Ao Jou S | — o EERE JEFRET

L] B PG O ALEENET VR B WA PUIDERAEY T 10 G0 sl
Sy At LR LorE S (e e P s feaks Lopes pdoad 1o puniple] s Ag
Can i B O el 0 g0 S0 S By el SRR LR N ST Ny IR

e ,+..
.Flnn,.nuhxuan._uﬁ__n..!u..: R .a..:..o._. § A LTS LD O [B Smgle

| Ay A, gy, O 900 & | SAOLGREDED |06 1 BRIDa Oy Seduadtud | uu_n,....__u_.n.

g B — Eh%ﬁ}!ﬁiﬁqg\»%

N s

sanss| AJueua] :|aued Sjueua] 0} UOHBIUASAId V1| ajdwexa uy T xipuaddy

(B0c0 ay3 Bi0yes 0} LInCS & pasy

11k s pacpuey oys ySnoyige | ik o1 eonou opduns ¢

A PRPUR 30 URT SRRUREAL L] PR - Of JRRAU ISR
amaesd U g saeuRuE pousd JueE AR SRECIPUR) 31RMEY

pue — Japso uoiss3csod B pauesl o ojpue) Ayl o ok o
ANl SAN UBUS) Byl SEAILIN PEMALE ARUDGING A
PUE AN 10 AYE36 PARIEIE A0 AAL) SUEALL MRS

GO e e R SRR PRENSEY

sallueua) painssy

U & P 0 ..1u+..n 4 PRI B (1 0 o j8, .p 1 Buny
L BT BELEN 0L B R | _....,.u.._ﬁﬂi.. Py ARG | faE 1B
R (FeT Az_.u.n....‘._-.._..__w_fhu...n — (RN A SR LN NN AATLE

ET punosgy -

RO R
SR R D e, RSl L A DEvhps S 0 ALK S ALY SRS

Ay e ) Duppeeg s Samnbeg PUDEUEy ) - GO T D)

T pumtdD »

djdde
(UOOEDOLULEOZ0E BAGELISG|R SeQERNS . SSSUSQEUCSRE] Q0 Sjoad

LONBTEO0 L LA Of REE Ay By AL ) 0 manaltR 308 ELp
P DT R P SRR ) TUp ) S — SRR SRRy

TT punoesy &

298



LE

g aded

| Ty

UICARAIT 0 RPN LR AU 0 ENEED A0 1005 1 AREw [0 AEneed
oA R ety aeEnih; e bjievel S J0 L DLIDG S — A A SRR

ET punoug -

(a1 T ) R S e SRR | U O P
5 W TR AL SRR K LR, B S - N AL

CT punouen -

0 e e AaEERT
L) B SRR ) O RS £ L SRS Ly B ey Lt
5 NEUGAERN B S YR TR — MR T MR T PRARRD AT SR R

W RS — (PRI FARE FRRR O] | — ML s L ARED MU s

TT punosg

panuiued

AT LR A O SRS (RO [P D ek aseh Ak jo0 sang

IR G 0 SRR DLl Ry Pl W 0 R Sy 0

LR S SRR EG 7T LS 1R O S s e - R B By
P || LA AT PRESERT LI B Lt COUERE] JGRIRT B S AOUBUS) A R
A0 SR O A0 RO O e U RNEE WONBT R A0 REr]

L penoay -

AERE AR

Bl Aot g DN PUOPLIGE B S AR JOa S0 - A0UEDRE
L P B I S O QLA R AL B 0 A ACTRL SL T B0

Sy Oy Sielne [DEUCESGE 0 ALED D e Raidig LR O, S pudifusl
g e — | Al opee o p0 S0 Rguow aus | - JLeokievee

9 punun -

panuRuod

sanss| Aueuay :|aued SjUBU3] 0} UOIIBIUASAI YL 3jdwexa uy T xipuaddy

SRR 0] LN )0 L S T P R S B B
Sy S A bt S0 - (S B0 i | — S

oF punosy -

TS T T

Aamgucdn B papesl Apsdoid o e e sy Auadod | Lonpedrioos
L UL PR TR Ao O B A Rainan S AL SR sOLE

LT DAL ) P LR S O O 5 URTLLIO IR SaniUeps RElTs
~ | PRFEL e R D | — La A R LT R

G punoig
{ 4jdde === sssusigEUCsER) ) SPUNOSS AIENOIBIDSH]

AT el ) Doy sy Sppocan S ) Sers ped

1 CULASNT SBNE S (AL R ] ) DLt i SUD O AUy

30 A AR | AN B S 0 | R ) BULESLSU J BAY S F E
AW Y A B - PR S S0 S T | — SR R N

— —

penunuoa

ilind L 1 PRt w9 PUE IR £
SN © A UDGECTD ) Aoppee Bue 0 ssenind 2 a0 play & Adao
Ay} e - [ Ade shUEEn T 0 g0l SELIL ey | — G AT Ly

5 punosy

EEE&nﬁE%E;?EEEE 1 &4
B0 USSRl T] . Al O 10 LG PR B a0y 5] AR AUy - (A
_H..__eru 40 s 1 B o | - ARG RS S ) LN

punodn -

AR S 0 L A0 I S 1T A Bung sepeoy
) peednon SR CUR el LB TRHU PO B0 LA pEsiy P 51 AT
iy Al - ARE el jo o S 04 1 JEY AR LR AT )

299



8¢

Juaaa Ly
HajS U] B O] W) aag i B e sy B0

Apdde suydiy passasasd, snid Iiﬂ.ﬁiﬁ]ﬂuﬂi!‘ﬁ#i *
BAsURL) Jo

(S FET) PO adljun} sjuedal ILEASLD
JUBA3 3yl U STURUR) ((2Iming pue ) Bugsia jie 10 g - H_ e

A peBuey aq Ajue ued sjuswsasde Aueual yH -

S uo Juaunolpe, #usn
Coos of saaude Apunnod syl Suuinboy Ihnﬂrﬂhp”{fh!iwﬁiﬁti .

Jajsuel) u) sanss| Aay - (SILBU3Y O} |BIDYaUIG S53| SIDULLAY WH iy -

EEEEE‘%EEEEE%
1 S ) L O A AR — SeRf e 1) oy S

91 punasg -
B P 98 - [penbe SOt SeRa Ok | SR 0 LEp RSt

ST pwRoug -
WE [ R K SEH (0 FRNESR) R SR BRI A0 LR AR A

AT WAy .......r...n_._"_ et 0 Ao DR T S - SErLh SOy
PUE Syl @ 4D SR - | pRarbey S0R0U0 SRR M | — SN NARRLLGT
ATEAEE B WD o ORI ey asit By e e Lo BLgoe
BB B ) B Aot — DS NS el 00 Sadee Ova) | — AadLGiER ﬂ:] -
oty Ay e g S A RN O U dat Lrnsseis s 0 Ao

LT punugy - =l o0 L e 5 DLgrss
i TEr TR mfu.....,_ . — (e A
L_?:.% gﬁﬁﬂagbgg PN

_.r ~ =
panupua - panuiuod -

6 @3ed sanss| Adueud] |]aued SjueU3] O] UOHIBIUASAI V1| 2jdwexa uy T xipuaddy

300



6¢€

1 aded

CIPTY 2141 0 sBusae 905 B4 3 [Pana)

(owv) uvonesiuedig

Juawadeuepy Yifuan suuy ue — vonesiuedio

;eledas B og uawaleuew Suisnoy ayl
saedajap 1ng plOjpuB| Syl SUIBLWA JDuUney T

Ajpasp sawoy afruew oy
SANUUDI PUE PIDJPUR| SUIBWA) aUnNe) T

SWI0) OM] 9 E] UED UOIULlaY

 uonuawy f-

—
SUDEIN0s PN 0 |eaed O Esa gl

§0 dA Ajun 250ay0 0] paside ApEaJE SEY

1 jo pApUddapl Ul PuR] EIN0] Ay

[ o wspuadapu) uag pue| ERod AR
A PO WORRIOtYY TUREON MO0 B Ol o)
g

iy yuswsiuug sl 0T - DWW -

a4 . .0 it i
suoIs|Da |aued suondQ Suisnoy -

00} UELIanod u

A0S ¢ AARY UORESIURTIO By JO SISO IR = Sajnd 53
WD puRda R (B 4R SIS 5] O RSO RIDog
mayy Ay paulantd auk syl — suonenaisy Tumnoy oy

WRISAL JAUIRET) B 10 "SAAJALILGTD PUR JOPE JO LRaEAS
e R pRusaaod 51 1) pue (RGeS Adaym Jolew paiteR
ue !.J&.Pﬁn?_!h PaEpIayE 53 B4 SI0||DUNDT = 5| |TUno My

Buyrueny poyy ul Aopd Saquuaiy ajos ayl pun
LR S UOPIDSHIDELD G0 MO SUDMU IIGOIIN0E

IUBUIBAO0G -

13JSUBl] '§ UOIUS]AY Ul SBNSS| 3XUBUIBN0G

LDISS3S JBLLCOIAI] LI

—.-.L-n s Jueua] :u_-n_._.._!:._nz -

DUBUIBA0D) (|3UBd SIUBUI] 0] UOIIBJURSAI V1| 2|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

301



7 9deg

SJUBUIBADYD :|2Ukd ,SjUBUS] 0} UOHIEJUBSAI4 V1| 9jdwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

302



o
upejda o) o g Aep -mane soy solmgrEsnd dn suadn: i
irmdadT |
-:lh--llsull.ll I.l.llnlt#l .ﬁ||H e Haunag
(enanse e Aed o Sey auReg —— _ uauade ey

B503 dn 9s egae o Bﬁh‘iﬁ - v |.—ﬂ|.ﬂ.—i| U WIEAUGT AT

SBNSS| adneaE 4 S y——

sanss| pue sainea4 — QY - yuswabeuey ybua suuy -

aasiano o jusuiaBeusy jo pIROE Lmo S) SR OWTY ML

UL} SIWDY BU) JO JAUMD FU) G 0 SANUUOD IIUNDY -

m-ctimun:ﬂ_..._ ﬁh:u_ Swue, 5| JBYM

€ aded 2IUBUIBA0D (|3UBy ,SJUBUD] 0} UOIRIUASALd Y| 3jdwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

303



[4%4

JueaLuaansdun pue oAl EpUswUG AT <

spchoag Bunpoddng
sapun sasimias poddns pue Sueaes uauEbeoen apsg

usiedna o= apun pue spios ‘s Bungg) BuBeuey <
fuapyap + Busapen asuruapuey pue saeday -

SUOISIIAP USRI §I0I -

suonoung pajebsiaq Jo sajdwex3 -

‘sawoy
|12uno) Jo 3jueuajuiew pue juawaieuew
Y1 Jnoqe SUDISAP 3B 0} [PuUno)

ay}l woyy wopaayy Juawaleuew aunuad
aney pjnom uojdweyuoN Ul OV Uy

suopnoun4 pajebajeq -

v aded

SIBQ]OLEFSEE 0] SLUGIUR, g -

susipUes AEURu] B jusuahsiug

SUEpURLS 10 Majazal
tiiii;%‘:nﬁai» .
UOHEJINSU DD § oMo jueua) <

Buipasunc? 1gap siealse yls Buipap ‘vonsa)od way -

suonound psjebajaq jo sejdwex3 -

Aquno g
!ti!!rlii—uiilit!::ul:ﬂ%‘u!ﬂa

B “sAAAINSE EoIpund _iuv!u?“
Iﬂ.:oF.!i_.!_-! upppews Bupnu) apes sifiaengs -

(Aginugane aug g m
ASUELDY S JENPIAITUE WE ) Pajeal jey) jou o) aampe Guisnoy

Konod sBuipa =

uRAuEEEsSE pue suogefjoe ssaussapuoy - *
suofauny pauielay - (|aUno) -

2JUBUIBAOD) :|3UkBq SIUBUD] 0} UOIIRIUBSAId V1| 2jdwexa uy 7 xipuaddy

304



(a7

5 aded

sy Bugen
USSP YL SIBQUISLL JO0 530S0 JUSIS P SMO|E

U Ajuo asnedaq uaddey 03 1Y) SMOJJE [@POW 570 8yl Ajug

OWTY UEB SLMO 3u0jE [DUnod 343 1ng

{sa1poq sayio

PUE “[13UNDD 3y "SIUEUBY 3PNPW UET Yoy digsaquuaw
aug i Ajjenba pajgsan UONeSIUEI0 Ayl jo diysianmo

YL YW JF10EIEYD JNEDOWEP, B BAEY [SANA00S

14auag AUNLILINI | SARANGG JUBPIAD LY PUR [BLOSHPY|

m—

AAGUEIENE A PALIN S3URWOT 348 SOINTY AM -

1y Bursnoy SEET 41 Jo
LT uon33s Ag papaid sy sjy3 Jo) siseq ea) 3y «

(Loqduiengiing G pasplsu dumg
uande 34 5] siEad O + ) wisag paasie Aue soy
20 UED NG — SUDISUSING PAYILURjUT

jo fpoissod 2yl Yl = sieak © a0y paulls uayo <

DWW 2441 ja pirDy (Mopegs] ayl

PUE [13UN0T 3yl Usamian pajenodau juswsaly
juswadeuey & YInong suaddey usneSajag «

LOWTY 53 03 uonauny

uawalieuew 531 aedajap PUN0) ayy sa0p Moy

papoads o5 e se suooun) jususbenew s AJUoEIne 3y} jo s
‘asodind paem e 1o) MY s gMym pagoads os pue] Jagie Aoe (q)

pue
Juswaaube sy m paynads cue se sasnoy s AUoyIne sy jo yons (e}
= 0] uogefas w Ajuogne

) jo jualie s asiuaxs RS vossad Jagiour ey asule * s

o Aajadsag ag) jo peaasdde sg) g | A uogine pe) y

1 ShEs sy
(9861 % ‘C65T 0961 Ay papuswie st) joy Duisnoy SRET |0 /T BONIDE

uonebajag £z uondes -

Wi uGpg Pue wieiad0 i - -

WAl i1 235 AVRAL
=P§U
PUE OWTY Uaamiaq yiam jujel jo sease ajqissed

2JUBUIBAOD) :|3UkBq SIUBUD] 0} UOIIRIUBSAId V1| 2jdwexa uy 7 xipuaddy

305



144

9 aded

fpanunmii

(0403 anpnas Bt s
PUE SLUAEAS UONERIAP J0 RIOMMUEL) B JDSIDA0 PUE YSIGEIS] o :
. sprepue)s Aroyejriles
uonexgnd og Jond ‘syunoe pue JaBpng s seak Yiea anosddy g7 M EIERITIIE U8 Ao pREINEUG ) sseusng jje eyl B -
sangalqo pasue ay ;
132w pue ueyd Asaalap aua anaryse oo suepd pue sainod ysigeis3 =
Azuougnyg (2307 3UE yHsm ueid AsBAlEp ERUUE 3 3audy Ty,
[ —— #1s o wopeimap o pemawey seap e Suueesew pue Suysgewss <
jo sannaalqo pue sanjes SR YU a3UeljdusD T BUN5US PUE 3ULSE uiegd ASBUNSAG By 2800 [OIANGD jEEUEL
sl pue SaASalgE ‘SnBNmL ORI gD By <
110y 3|gisuodsal
pdeoqg Byl Jo SN WNWIUy AUE siaquiapy pieog - (eiauad up
— %
sadepd Jeual aiow and o) 11!1&-—.!5 (90)

R T
S|, S T 3A O N3N ) e JIURRIIR UL DT SARMIE R -
FIIAOPHLS O SYSIITNI ) JAPE0T A
RATHIPIIT 15A] BRI O] )
a0 0 WENS YR HO4S AJTAD JHUY B AL SOSUR UORERYS ASUDACSE UL | 4
ak S AR s A R ST 8 R e
CHAITY B8 4 SR MR alTE <
i £ by ) AP ¥ - CIAITY B 0 SRR e

visam sy i, s ¢

siaquialy pieog - juawaleuey jo pieog ONTY — Manas [Exndh)

DUBUIBA0D) (|3UBd SIUBUI] 0] UOIIBJURSAI V1| 2|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy



174

Buiyew
uajsissp Joy Aypgisuadsal jenba saey sjueus) -

feyd
O) 2104 B SAEY |18 PINOYS 2unjanns 41 Buons e
= uojied|pjued Jueusy jo Jwwns,
ay) Buag se waas aq jou pinoys diysisquaw pieog -

saaleluasasdal
Jo saefajap jou aue siequaw JUEUSE] -

‘B ENNSUEI
U 15 U S SR U PSS SO, + -

Euni pieog E!_I._.

FIPUOD O W) U0 JOU O SISAIaU) [BUosiod Jeyl aansu .«
papinoud siaded Fupeas Ag sHunaaw pieoq iop asedady

syuana Buluiesy s pdosdde
Furpuzae Ag Fupnpaul JuwdoEARp 10y sPRENOdde
Haas pue spaau juawdajanap pue Suiue jeuosiad Anuap .

SUDIIUNY 1Y IN0 BUMALIED Ul IS PUE B4ED @SNy
DWNY 341 JO SINjen PUe LOISKA 341 Loddng  «

siaquiaiy pieog jo sanjjigisuodsay -

L a8ed

——
ey
T ik st g W packnan el s apes Cpins deeas s s o
e Es wiaiie LUDE 1| “sndtesne amial o
CpReaah ajeam
g e 1S L SRA3U ML 0 Allpapeain 1206p -
Lianama
|ET0N SO SEDISIIOE TEFMENS DY) 0N WD) AN IED U o Tuream e S

ARG PROSD TUWLD| G T4 SN0 FINOYS FTRUE AR LD ONTD
LR 52 OUEYIHET RIS 0 IR SEISAIE U SPDE A0 A PR LML

pieag wnesssio sy o AL S| B sy alamzp o)
ol peasgun 0 ALy M Lo gIegEs
heda i e e s il Bl g0 R SR G A|D O BIRIGE JAnRuMT YR paReR
i) Ay AR VR gy ARSI G SR PO Sl i e Y
{ SARGLIBWY PIEOH [ENPIAIRL] IN0SY TEYM -
A -
Azaudcad pur piad 4o spuepuRls pardaoe Apesauad i

Ul puR ATyMR| FARINPECT UE SHELE aillh!!ﬂ Pt _.i.in
BAMRIAN AN AU (SSAUISIR aESsAIE || PUE) Uity

SUQESEOIP PUR SPOIEIDT
“syaBpng ‘suepd aso o} vonEa w esueusogad s uonesuelio g Joo

adizeud
40 BEnan) e e g 00 ‘uoTiesiueiio sy oL g sey s 10 ey
el aeai Wl ey sIEeW e B0 SoEEep Pyew pue ssonod sy

DUBUIBA0D) (|3UBd SIUBUI] 0] UOIIBJURSAI V1| 2|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

307



9t

=5 =

Buisnoy spimybinolog sjepysoy

o pLpiIues Buesy - e8] E
| stftans yoogs A panisges s Agensn 1adds g )
[engnyg Aunwiuey, spEpymy Cf

o g A N

T Sy m—
NILELLRAE W A QU pares ORjEan s A

WP EBY g QR TR0 ANoe]
a1 svapnadigu Sjaenhar s e e & Supsags)] g ...lfn!:_
BB HEL UBHEISEIE SO0 € 5 INWBY (UKD J8 g sy Ay peels -
Bddy gy jo mE iy ) g o
By s pridd | banp Samy o Bin e (o apuAce of S [Ees — s
uUoEPOSSY Suisnoy jo sadA] uep aauy]

8)UBWIAN0D UOIJeOSSY FUISNoH -

g aded

SARWIA JLIEREABgN gy AU

“SAAUINR JIEATWEE [LIR]) SN SRR RORgL A0
@' SIEOE S0 [IPOW ARENIIA0]) T
wH | | Buisnoy
aan | b -!!U\

SNOLWAUOINE 3G IS0
WH 3L J3UE I - W B4 O S3as unag

NOILVIDOSSY ONISNOH INOTY
-ONVLS M3N ¥V OL 434SNVHL

RIS a Uy pATERID DE[R
wamresye Buisnoy onimu e pajes
= uoneposse Fuisnoy jo adiy jepads e ol aajsues] g

dnosd jey) o ped e Sunuoaag pue
dnouli pogoposso Busnoy Buigsins ue 0] saysuel] ‘g

RIS wal pRiERIT @

{usgjepossy |AST, e e umouy |
uDePossE BUjSNOY SUOIE-PUELS MaU € O} Jajsuel] L

suondo aa1y) paynuapl arey doH

- Jajsues] -

DUBUIBA0D) (|3UBd SIUBUI] 0] UOIIBJURSAI V1| 2|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

308



[3574] PayERbARsIAin UE 5 |4 PRACE 15ha] BijL o) asuRenD
oy ety Ay 8 g onEoassy fo sapney, sy e Aeaeg %E-EH: ﬂ._au..“
MEBECA T RSP B 53 SRR, B3 U8 IR0 135 80 [l asay aaurusanad 5y UBRESIUERIO W O BN Bl
i parog sy sidmad ey panossip ag AEwW MOy puE
© pausasnd 5| moy @ diysiaguaLw ) | siamed s)
pasniIE 5 piecy syl o diyusgeis oy saapaalgo ) ¢ uogesuelio ay) 1o Ino 8 (e Ay
SAGUIFL RIFAG B G AL OUN -
Ay SIAqUAL sIamod IRYN - sEUY} ALI0S Bney [|B Aly) ng = S3|I0JE,
SUDIINISU0D, 40 SN, pajie ag Avi Aay )
paREYEE St UGHESIERI Ayl 40 AIYSIAQUIAL S MaY .
AL iaujoue a0
uoiesueio ay o A .
® R Punj 3UD j0 | SN, INEY SUORESIUERID |y
suonepossy Suisnoy u sanss| asuewianog Aay AIUELISNDE pUB s3)n

—— .I

 SIUNLONYLS dNOHD VH -

usa_ﬁsi..!ﬁ.cﬂixt -

6 93ed 39UBUIBA0Y :[3UBy SJUBUS] O} UONEIUISAIJ 1| 3|dWwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

309



174

|ssaquiaa
parey Wews ST P 40) CURIUD UE B0 | UOnR ROsEE LD TUDS AL € Ul Yy _.Ei._.'-__u'.i
I 0 A PRI [ e T A J0 JESTUDT W - (JR0K U0 UIEALIA ) uj uopdo AuojE- puEls Lyttt
SIDTmUAPY PR IA0]0-0 A0 1IN ) Lalad AR Sun s 01 - REDY R Y ' » 343 39 PI Sl
LT |9 54
10 saamog [ProgpuR| RUnGd sFg
ke g WP ALy oig3 sy #jos uesyuls e doay pue | paoypee| Moyl o
AN | R SAOLS S L, L A RS N STURLAAGY A3 Up AES STIEALT £ SURLAL SR 00 PALNELD .
31100 PIERA 0 B8] Fa0S3R PAEI - PUDDA 30 20 AL ey [FPEL QT B TR SUIES - SROUANISHED
PARANAE Lo SN {0 AISIIOAUG §) 0N - aanp Ayt pHucwe s £ 60T E/T 343 5em jApaw
pRURAN | USHUEARIE — [INOG UOORIS0ESY Sy UD
[y Ansua e pAYHEe R ST siweil sl S il
A AU L0 AR U0 S JOONLNL O SUEYD U0 10 - B0 B0 BRI 0 PN .
_UCRESTIG DAY 0 LMD 3 JOEULD SITADWE — LMW T3nuoyre ueigodoqapy pue A moge
i P R P Rt afie) uy Apensiued papaaIns - JaSuEL Y05 "

; ! T T umm—— 100 0 12y Busnay SEET-1500 PRINPCI PRSI - [
{+ysues) Aseumpopn
[sasuesy Aawpunon, ajess afue)
aeag afiel) LS Ag paysiges] supesossy Busnay LAST Ag paysyqers] suopepossy Julsnoy . -

s e Bl |9 SOORUAL B S5 TR SR PR
ATl [TaDAD SIS S Al T LR ohl O JR | RAS e ARG ag

ARG Pl A A e,

“LpeRag 3y} Ag pagaup

Y JpRYS BOUEIOSER AU 0 SEIASNG AN, - SHEIRRW [Riaual oy LG I VU DA ATY |0 IUT SIS ID LS, W) b
PRRIZ5AI 3] HA753 RSSO 34 (0 SEMod 34 JIE SR x_:-!araaalisii..nza SO UTIYE0N EIpUAtInY B praE
PEEQY 3G 0 EmOg Yl . 0 A IDTISIE SO ¥ OY 132408 240 ATN || PRAGIIS T4 UED WG NG
| WNIEH 1EAL AU LERAY IR [HUN UDLSAa-R) 304 ApgeiE 10w R ot pigeged ue pasid) SpRap PIROR - paEog i o) hdde suesglsy
YR IAR G LAY WNLITERL IR § [REHUL UEieRos u) anal LRaasiEE anesuEfio m e daaqun s ey .
PUR [SIEAK § 103 AHEREN] DY UR IR PRIAE UAQWELE pRag e i
{panampE By 5 . B R SR L LA AL A0 AR SDIEOR S0 PUR SLELGE
R —_— soupin A (0 dysRa -
(R0 me e 0y spo papew sm Bsn | JeUIDIJUSALIOD)

0T aded 2JUBUIBAOD) |3UBd ,SJUBUI| 0] UDIIEIUASAId V1| 3|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

310



6t

{RaEEn Ry by pLap B (e ey age @ srma my e, — Sugers e sy

A B (i Rk R ) g iR S0 R s sy

PR g8 L

0 peTEg o #aunaa it

PSPy LIy IR JURLD Y PR DRI L U0 Ul R

BUE [mst [y AETIN] i (T UE 3F PR g sisey

el M [P AL 0 s i e

SR PR B T iR Ly

pmng Faunn sy 1 pum | a e UL aus
) i) g e g ARl suad 5ty e damy e

qa

[FESURE PUEIEROR W
el WA WU PR I i, (D AR ) Rl 0 ) e

W3 R AjjErany Snnd apu QUSiPUE] E S8 B NI LIBWE S - 30 -

R s st Euag u g s Bupsas ug ajdoieed gy o

T 0 T 00 SN GO HT A0 S 2410 BRI TIRZ .

iligulﬁiiiltiﬂiﬂ ¥

1T 28ey

Pameny W 4o e mij W oy
= il SAaEie EIE!!!-I :i.___-_.i#-i.!l e s
[ L B L R R R T e e LR
B UL TE S L B L e TE N L T P T T S
aquIsgy) RINGH 198(-8 0 RN Ay WOl ErULE By R IO - Y

MR g el -

AR i i ea e
ARG SRR s i | L . a3 gean

{=etoned poy mygrct ua ) rap e petoy — prwag By o1 Apiie Gty

ReIB S Pal BUG CRL SR R EIRT YN G - B30 BT S IR BUg

s by Bl g0 DR -

Aemagen Ajiunuiwe)

“LipieoR i Ao paaup

A el BEI0g M e s s, - sHunam el

P SRONE MRS VoSS e D) 10 ot g e saueNy
PEOR M 0 wasog ML -

b PO S LR e e A

SR Wy AR R ORI R Sesee CUBEe ke aalas

P et o Mg i UR R ERI00 W0 patny

L PRRIHIT PIROR 34 0 DL S

| ARSI i

RI0%, J0 Mg | ST QUEOE 30 AU SA3ATIOILD WD 30T M) |0

ag LR T L UL SRS InE (23]

o] B0 pue puad & TR G IR BIeC

LABLIAN RIROR & a0 AR Ty

SJUBUIBADYD :|2Ukd ,SjUBUS] 0} UOHIEJUBSAI4 V1| 9jdwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

311



0s

aunanags saurusEnod syl
i oM LawdoRAap PUE BulUlEL) 4l O PUE SISGUINU
chysiaquiaws g dn pIng 04 £T0Z aun{ of dn pouad ay3 Suisn 5| .

s30T
U3 UDREROSSE BUSNOY € SLUEISY PUE DINTY UR 5B palspE
Apeage BUISN0H apeayEnoiog 3jEPYI0Y = UONESIJESI0 JAjSURY .

TLOZ YHIEW Ul J3JSURR HXMOFS JO) PIFOA SIUEUSY S[EPYIOY «

[3POI [EMNIY ANUNWWOY 3[2PLIOY 3YL -

VRAUR 35043 1 sucnesiueilio pur sdnoad § hpadaid o
EIAGEL PO "L srodTas Lasmod sobajap o _tl.ap!_.:lult. .

“Ei) O] weopE U spuSwannbal fo 135 papmap

B pug Juaii@modiuy Aun o) 0] JUSiupiuiees

© 51 53R HBL) UL pPAULIYSUS JRY) S S|@pow | ASY pue
(RO WD) A a) P AfUeaijiulis Wyl sejei 1y

SEUNJINIIs asuewianod -
U U1 31| AJfEDS 10U SAOP SBPOLY ASAY) |D SSILANRDLNSI]

Apmalen Apunuwiwod
pue spemngy Ajunwwoy Jo ssauanpuisig

(pEijag 3 UlD EapEaedE POl Lasmod e o ponunogyline
I iﬂ!ﬁ!_ 0 T | DR [TUOILSAOT § UG
it ity RYpEreen o 1A AlE 0 B IR - JAELIE Rl AR

clivpeti Bag) o LSRR Usgied ) “Wee B BNl BRI O) - Y R e

B UL PONDEINS M) DD SIOCRLOND N - Uoinesieian sy o) Apdde swie gy

91 5 A6 Aaijoek dnpss i i ok e
udfgi!llua.hu-linn!i!!i
PUROQ WIRPLDOHPU T CRPLD) L 2R CUM O JIA0 §F O) Ul cApacary

(BN Ayunwwey

DUBUIBA0D) (|3UBd SIUBUI] 0] UOIIBJURSAI V1| 2|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

312



1S

RO
Adljay pue Afaens mesadic) oy ancudde of paeog s spop .

ACTASTN By O EEELNE, ¥ amp
EFE TN Elig!n lnn_-._._._.in?w .tn:-ﬂtnu.._ind
Lpaayze vonesueie s o lﬂ.-i III

[SiE dRah (T - 9T aTpa) AR o) avea ) e e - shinaa

£1 aded

A anjeuRsaadEy Ayl Mg UOREe LIUET 8
sandadde Ap0G FANEUAsAIdaY W - | LTIT YUEW W 535EA0 amod syl
SEGLIANG AANIANG WON 7 FINT UR SRRUILIGU [ING) 3RPYSCY .

Apog aspewasasdig syl by pancdide ose seg) e pue
Apog sapemasaiday @) Af PaNsOB0e SI01IBN0 BAIRIBTI-UON §TEH

axueun
01330 S PUE ASRIEND (P00 ) Be SR BN Mg .
SIODAA] SAMIRAN G0N FUE SRRN0ING D SeH .
HEY ul pseog ay| -

— FEPOLL SIYL 48 JESUNSEIEYT SM SRR 341 8 Apog annejudsasday sy .

Ut U0 8 FIROR Y ‘SIBGLIS S (R ARG SRS ) .

.!;Eu.;tluﬁiu:lﬂi:iin:

DUBUIBA0D) (|3UBd SIUBUI] 0] UOIIBJURSAI V1| 2|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

313



[4S]

FETENTERETIE ER g e T
PSEMMLAGH U] BN B SIS P 0
"1 spunag 2oy japopy Auaniisue) B
[ . | Bupsnoy |
| meN | Weune3

WH B Uyl INg = g Byl 40 @ IunDy

NOILYIDOSSY ONISNOH INOTY
-GNV.LS M3N ¥ OL MIJISNVHL

JURUATURLIE [EUDUaALDD Bl - Buisnag [puno Buileaey

v a8ed

: e | pounan
I T =5
_|..u preog D —— i
M pur Funeg

juawabeuey ybua sway

L [BAE| (233 347

o FETEE J sa ) ImmudERd J0 JOTInEaag I} ess st
pErgng [ Aieansgeiy © LI (AR @ UL A

adh-SPEPUITYH F38JIGILI00 )M JEgE el Ea

Y LR FOTIE UE NS - JoroD e B 5] ajEueey i

UOJELUDR Loy Jof SURnIfiy

Aayeng juawsamodiug Ajuniues syl je

1adsa u) SEnInpY ALUnNWLIWGTY JSUR0 UL S0 shemaien

Anumisn ) v punoy suswannbadg ayl jo suon = Ing

BIURLIBACE Ui Jua LA A L
TR O SIS W [EDIPES IS0 Y] — [Bpaw S|epuyioy -

DUBUIBA0D) (|3UBd SIUBUI] 0] UOIIBJURSAI V1| 2|dwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

314



ST aded

QI

azﬂiuin- - 2aninag feaddy -

dnoug Bupsix3 ue umym Aejpisgns meuy

. S3UNLONYLS dNOYO VH -

uawaleuepy jo pieog QNTY — ainianags [Exdh)

SJUBUIBADYD :|2Ukd ,SjUBUS] 0} UOHIEJUBSAI4 V1| 9jdwexa uy  Z xipuaddy

315



Appendix 3 ITA Newsletter 1 November 2012 Page 1

ITA Newsletter1

November 2012 ) 'AH‘M”,—" f?
IME

FUTURE

PE Consu®ants

Considering the options for Council Housing in Northampton 7

Introducing PS Consultants -
the Northampton Independent

Sht

Tenant Adviser (ITA)

I This &5 the first of a number of newsketters we will produce as the
rdependent Tenant Adviser [ TA)in Northampton

Consultants were recently ¢
Borough Counchl tenants to act as the ITA. Dur job 1 to give
pendent and impartial advice and infarmation ta tenanrts on the
NS Review Lhat the Cowmncl curreéntly doang into the

[uture of Councl | T SITIg I Northampton
5 i Wie hawve worked as the (T in ower $o progects aomss the UK
Afthough our affice is in Greater Manchester, ol ':.".:l"'T rEam Wil me
. avaitabhe ir Ng drepton o meet tenants thraughout the Housing
[ waivcnen |

Optians Review, wihich will continue until june 2o

osRn Dy a panel af Nort hampton

The PS Consultants Staff Team
Our main staff team members in Morthampton are:
Dr Steve Sharples

Steve will lead the P5 Consultants team. He has led our ITA work on mare than go
projects over the last 2o years. Stewve has wark xtensively on housing mar
¥ Laipes Both i the UK gl abinad

@AY, Mgl ] ima e AfA 1aaanl ineoliyement

Chiristine Bailey

Chnstme has a wide range of EXPETRERTE 1N | lanri -1 SOHCIal DS, ana 'F'i]‘."'l' Brarian
UK. She fas warked as part of our team i neluding those in

ol Oildhamn , Casrphilly: Rochdale . S Y CarmibT :‘I(__l"-_.l 1w

Pl D

Jim Mitchell

jim is & highly experienced specialist in tenant involvement, Working originally in
the west of Scotland, he has 4ls ried an many A prapects including those in
Clasgow, Nonwich; Newport, Rochdale. Casrphilly;, and Shropshdre

o800 o4 2087 (|
0303 003 Ba00

Please MNote - Our job
as the ITA is to give
adwice and information
specifically on the
Housing Options Review
that the Council is
carrnying out. We can't
give advice on ISSUes
you might have with
the council housing
service, for example,
getting a council home,
or repair problems. Far
those matters, you will
still need to contact
Northampton Barowugh
Council Customer
Services directly on
o300 330 7000,

n this issue:

What iz a Housing
Orpticns Rewview?
What |5 the Decent
Homes Standards
What are the aptions ?
Cetting ténants
irnslved

v The ITA programime
Fewy you Can meet us,

‘Freepost Plus RRZC-CJYA-HOXX'

316

54




Appendix 3 ITA Newsletter 1 November 2012 Page 2

(DURHOME YOURFUTURE st b0

What is a Huuslng ﬂptiuns, Review? but ta aperate at arms iEength from it. There woukd be
much greater agpartunities for tenarnt involvament

I the running of the new arganisation than under
the current system of council ownersh pand
mandgement. The sarme requimenrents about the
guality of homes, arnd the ather aspects af regulation
that apply to retention also apply here

From time to tirme all councils with council housing have
b baak at mow they can best ensure the future of those
hames. This means laoking at winat will need to be done
bath, nowe and in the future, to repair, maintain. and
improwe Council homes 10 a good standard, and o offer a
gocd housing management sarvice. When Councils do this
kingd of review they e ooking at the different ways {or *  Transfer of Ownership and Management - the

‘aptions]) they have to meet those challenges. The Council ownership and management of council homes
will carry aut a detailed review of the options for council waoukd transfer ta a new organisation. This wauld be
hausing in Morthampton between now and june 2013 Lo @ housing assaciation, but that asseciation coulkd
The Decent Homes Standard Eake a numiber of .|:I:|‘erer|[ _f?rms Thie Council could,
far examnple, set up 2 specally created . new Rowsing
An impartant influence an this type of review s the association to whorm it then transfers the ownership
Government's Decent Homes' Standard for all social and management of its homes (if tenants agree to
housing landiords. This minimum guality standand is set this option in a ballot), Some transfers have beentoa
by the Covernment for avery home cwned by a council mutlal housing association whese tenants, both as
ar Mousing assaciaton to meet. 50 councils have to look members of the organisatian and of its Boatd, have
at all the ways in which they can ensure that their homes a major say in how the organisation runs and the
£an be kept at this standard. as a minimusm, inthe long standards it works to
term, The Council has received significant funding fram
the Covernmant to help it to acheve and to maintain The Council's Hoysing Options Rewiew will have ta
hames at this standard, but the Council understands consider ail of these issues
Imvesting anky In the fomes is not anough. The Cauncil
knowws that 1ts terants might want to have ther MI“ your ITA
hames improved to a standard that is higher than the Between now and jure 2013, when the Council’s Review
Government's minimurn standard and that investmens Wil be compigted, Steve, Christine or Jim from the ITA
in estates and neighbourhoads is also required to team will be at a series of meetings and drop-ns for
improve overail guaity of life for tenants. The Courdil counci tenants and leaseholders to talk apout the issues
weill ook at thess issues fosr each of the apticns below. that the Council's Housing Options Review is covering
®  if you lwe 0 or near to a2 council sheltered flat or
What are the "DI:":":"'.'S"1 ILrngm Steve, Christine or Jim will vusmfi:len,'
Unider current Government bousing palicies, Community Room to Lalk Lo tenants and answer
MNarthampion Borsugh Cauncit probatly has three broad wour guestions. The meetings arrmged so {ar are in
aptians. These are this newsletter. The Sheltered Housing Co-ordinators
*  Retention - the Council would continue to cwn and SN R O C T I
manage all its homes and its tenants would continue I
to be Morthampton Borough Council tenarits. ®  if you lwe in areas which have only a few cowncil
Linder this aption_ the Council would have ta be horaes | irm will be visiting each housebald in those
able 1o show to the Government, and to the social areas individuatly to give you the opportunity to takk
Howsing Regulator (which is calied the Hames.and o your ITA

Corfrmunities Agency or HCA for short), that it could 4
keep all its homes to at least the Decent Homes
standard for the next 1o years, and meet all the ather
obligaticns put on it by the frequlatar, over the same

wie welil be arrang:ng maore informail drop-in
meetings in 3 wide range of Incal venues across
Marthampton, Some meetings will be in the evening
oF At wekerds winllst the ressew & Deing carniead

period owt. We will visit council tenants inevery part of the
*  Transfer of Managemant - the Council would Borough, If you want to suggest a suitable meeting
cantinue to own the homes but & would transfer place near to whene youl live please tell us

the management of those homes to an erganisation
that the Coundil itsetf would set wp. That new
orgamisation would be wholly owned by the Council

& aArtending local Residents Association meetings
Tedl us when and wihene gour ASSoCiation meets and
the ITA will attend

55
317



Appendix 3 ITA Newsletter 1 November 2012

Page 3

ITA Meetings and Drop-ins: Dates, Times & Venues

VL g L 1, b e

\nbseinamelay | PR TERE CLCFSE COMGRALIT TV @I | oo T AL ORI N T m.:_uTl-u L

| Mondary SN TACUE CRESCENT EASTFIELD CLOSE | ST HMAN HOUSE DROP ity | SPENCER FaEN DRCH 11
| v W CTIINTY S0 “OASRALNITY RO | 55 SERCHIBN Hoir @ SIEN OB Hilen
| Lagge Earen MG 7RG T Eoskfed Ciose | Byfesd B Spencer NNG 700
i v Custan NMEET | Bt Jomes WNEEHG 2o b .y
-
| | |
- | Tuesday B STHORPE CRORE | MENE DRIAVE CORIMUNITY RO CARDACAN CLOSE
0 Miow, | Mene e CCRARIIRITY AT
| Kings Haath kg g
e ool MMz GEE | ap ks 2o

Want more information?
Far more information about the Council's Housing Optiens
Raview, including the ITA Fact Sheets and regular updates,

go to the ITA web site at www.northampton.psconsul-
tants.org.uk

Have your say online.

On the ITA website there is a button that you can click =
called Farum - to enter the Northampton Tenant Forum.
In this part of the ITA wel: site you can se¢ comments fram
other tenants, join in the discussion to share your views

with other tenants or ta put your questions directly on
‘Ask The Team’ to the ITA,

Access 1o the Forum will be by a simple registration process.
Dan't worry, you will not have to give any personal details and
wour registration information will be kept secure by the ITA.

f wou would like this Newsletter on Audio CD

iced as a ‘Text to 5peech document

1 New, Fou FunER Close cdner o Winakon & nadi
Kingst FiuolleryEry Reisid
il B Te mirgatto e M AL Bingsthotgs Mo BE
N 0 Tiam TL RS 10 T Y | A o Epm
l | l
[ PRty | MAARICET T COMBILINGTY DDA ELAL ABE T+ ALK 1 TEH LTREE
| M. Beunaick figde C RN I T BTN ORI Focarid
T EnECE Pia 36 EEZADT NI | Lboeenar St Off Banvack Ross
LITEREET: TS ] r Ediwoadt modd Rk £5S | lopp wdasn pont affies) Wb gRE
| anddn tn Tam 12 yogen tn i gopni g B gpm
| 1
[aonday  imuiEs LawiE cooaT T RAR NASAE CORMMLATY RN
o kb Mo, RN LRI TY BTk 15t BArmaas Huusk
ames Lewis Court Chery Crehanl voer Hardeng St
By aTH Spring Bordwign s R 2
T T e Lt g
Tuwsdmy | PAREONE MEADE COMBILINITY BLACKBER FY LANE SEQAGE NUTT COWRT | Fran £ Deapre Ressenty
17 Mew. [ TOMBLINITY RCTH CRBALINITY RO non mesting
net i Parions Mende et b0 15 Slackbery Lane Brise 11 | Nest b 33 Geonge Kl Cottomy By
WWELT MUINSSURY NN g LUt e Towecesier Rgad, Far Cothor
10411 T TiAER .30 10 TE-50 Caton M 87 | paspm
l ajpm to ypm
[indnesday | LLEONCRE do0uE wiEy IET e L e e )
| al W FHELTERE L 50HEWE | @b Petwnnirey Place
7 BT Brm e s | eram, raon b ST
CHY g B i) PR 8K g te 3pm
| BT B0 Em 1 1
Thursday T3GE A FRLIE COrothiLImeTY RO | el B CRIVE COMRALING TY RCOr | Rviiul Road WG, Tl Rerade
ae Noy, sl Limdgs Aue ah Hardy Draer oAU ¥ O G Mg .
lingloee Shig oND raddirrnlord Mg ELIE el fanr bt D b L pimsunifly tem Hall
10T t0 A 11353 00 Tk 0 Hinginganm M6 y i CEpalE
apm b g Brodarbad Mire
} ! 73RN
Nuwsday ARUNLIY Sl SORLINITY AU | GO GOREST Fai CETTiin R iiee
| bac, Atisiily S d BLECkTRm kR “EMARALING BEEoCatint BRI
AR —— T Pratice O Far Cotton B Cearig
Cibilingd Rty BE) RIS FRENTE
| | M- gmamn 1 12 gnpm g
| Thoirsabiy | Labomsbem Susitents A BRI
| B e Rt Ll Lo Fp R
7o fut 7 g Lt
{Mhurssay | Standun: Bam Rasigecss Come to the Tenant Conferences!
|y e ARLDTIN
sbaradans BEm Commasy Cant i e
lpaman — The Council will be organising two Tenant

Conferences to talk about the hausing
options review

The first conference will be on Monday, 3
December aonz. it will be run twice from
1. 30am to 1L 3epm and be repeated at &pm
to gprm at the Cagtain's Lounge and Rodber
Suite, Saints Rugby Grownd.

Fird out more or book your plage on
0100 330 7004 o email o prionsreviews
northampton. gov.uk

The second conference will be held in May
2013 - the details of that event will be sent
to all tenants in spring 2013

s thve ETA we will be present at btk
Conferences to meet you and offer advice
and information.

Freephone o

or from a Mc

318

56




Appendix 3 ITA Newsletter 1 November 2012

Page 4

Earlier this year the Council wrote to all its tenants

to give them the epportenity to join a newly fermed
Temants Panel’ Cwer a0 people responded initially to

theat invitation, and approximately 25 of those have gone

on to become members of the Panel

The Tenanty Panel bas an impartant rele in this howsing
optbons reviea 1L will

*  examine all the evwdence about the aptions for the
future of council howsing in Morthampron and,

¥ produce (TS own report and recommendations to
Morthampton Borcugh Cowncil in earky summes
2073, trained and supported by PS Consultants, the
ITA

Pane| members come from many different areas af
Northampton, and will give a wide tenant perspective on
the issues. This is an open panel. in that new members
can join the Panel ar any time. Tenant Panel meetings
will be publicised in future newsletters by the Council
and the ITA

How the Council will make the decision on
the options

The Courcil fras set upwhat s called a 'Howsing Options
Panal (HOP) 1o consider the findings of the réview on the
Cowncil's behal. The Tenants' Panel will make its report
to the HOR

There are § tenants nominated by the Tenants' Panel,
g councillors Gncludimg the three party leaders). and
g cowncil er riployee FEpreseniatives from the housis 1
serwce on the HOP

Thie HOP has Been ST up in this way to ensure that both
terants and the staff whie deliver the housing service amd
councitlors wark together to discuss and identify the way
foraard

Thie HOP will take advice from a wide range of intemal
and external specialists covering topics such as stock
candit:en, fimancial isswues, governance, and service
standards

The Tenants Panel has now chosen its § tenarnt
representatives to be on the HOP These gre: Norman
Adams, Kat Bennett, Phil Humphrs, Teny Maltard, and
Sreve Wintehaad

The timetable for the review means that the Councl
will complete its work by June 2003 for the full Council to

consider AL its July 2003 meeting

vt

Introducing the Northampton Tenants' Panel

independent Advice
Just Ask!

Please remermber that we can give you
advice and information onall ASPeCts of
his houSiNg options review process

S

All the ways you can contact us are on
Page 1 of this newstatter and below

% Consultants
Comtact the ITA ly: Wour Indenengent
Tangat & dvise
“ Telephane

A

o800 o054 2087
{free from a landiing)

0303 003 Bz00
{local rate calls from molales)

"E' L " inwriting by Freepost to:
Freepost Plus RRZC-CPYA-HCGK,
12 Berry Square, Whitehall Lane,
Bolton BLE sDU

* Email: enquiries@paconsultants. org. uk

* For more information about the Council's
Housing Oprions Review, including the ITA Fact
Shgets and regular updates, go to the [TA web
site At wwwnorthampton.psconsultants.
org.uk

* Click on thie Forum button on the ITA website
o talk on line to other Morthampron Borough
Council teriants or to your |TA

However you contact us, we will do
our best to give you the advice and
information you need

ITA Mewsletter

HNovambér 24

319

57




Appendix 4

ITA Newsletter 2 April 2013

Page 1

ITA Newsletter 2
April 2013

HOME

vt
FUTURE B

Considering the options for Council Housing in Nerthampton

P Corsialtants

introduction

PS ConsulLant s was a ppoirted in August
22 by a panel of council tenants to be the
Independent Ternant Adwiser or ITA dunrg
the Housing Crptions Rewew (HOR) that
Northampton Borough Council is carrying
out

The aims of the Housing Options
Review

The codverall zimn or goal for the Raview 1510
idertify the miost tenant fooused Rausing
optian for the future, based upen factors
o inciude

1. Safeguarding tenants’ interests

by pratecting tenants key rights amd
prititlements as set out in the secure
Lenancy agreement [rom the Council

and ensuring the housing managemeant
service contanes tocomiply with all of
the obligations which the Covernment's
hausing regulator - the Homes and
Comrunities Agency or HCA places on

all councifs and housing assodiatians as
regrstered praviders of sacial housing

2. Minimising tenants’ costs «o that
rers and any future annual increases are
sef in line with Government guidetines
and that you get value for maney from the
ha dsng management Services yau retene
3. Meeting improved standards for
home and environment whick tenants
In Northampton have tald the Cowncil
Ty weould like to hawve . As a minimum this
will be thie Covernment's basic Decent
Homes Standard. However the Council is
working with tenants to identify and cost a
petrer local standard - the Nerthampton
Standard - to delwver the improvements
that coundil tenants say they want for

o5 208
o303 o0y 8

their home neighbourhood, and overall
quakity of life

4. Sustainability - this means looking at
weirat it will cost to pravide better quality
hames, neighbourheads and service
dedivery standards and what is affordable
from the income that is received in rent for
COUNCH hormes and any service charge that
tenants pay

5. Assessing the potential to make

a positive contribution to the local
economy by safequarding existing jobs, by
Creating new employment cpportunities
by Dualdineg mesar Psrrses for rent and Ly
contributing towards the Coundil's wider
hawsing 4nd regenes aticn palicy

6. Considenng haw the housing optson:
may affect staff in the Council's housing
service.

7. Accoumtability - 1o ensure that

the housing serace will be more open
transparent. and accountable both 1o
tenants and to the Council, and to explare
the oppar turities for tenants and housing
staff to scrutinise and to shaps service
delivary

The Council will make the decision on
the housing options

The Council has set up the ‘MLJSAI';I
Optians Panel (HOP) to consider all the
findings of the Review anthe Councils
behall. The members of HOP are. g tenants
namimnated by the NTP; 5 councillors
:iﬂl.'ll.lr:lru,' rhe three party leaders), andrg
councl employee representatives from the
hausing service. The Northampton Tenant
Panel (NTF) will make its report ta the HOP
in Surmmer 2003

Freapost Plus RRZC-C)YA-HC XX

The PS5 Consultants
Staff Team

The ITA's role is to

give advice and
information specifically
on the Housing ions
Review that the Council
is carryimg out. We can't
give advice on issues
you might have with
the council housing
service, for example,
getting a council home,
af repalr problems, For
those matters, you will
still mead to contact
Morthampton Borough
Council Customer
Services directly on

0300 1310 7000

I ehis issud find out

more about the

& Housing Options

Haowd thee Rewiew weill
affect you

The Council's second
and third tenant
conferences

ITA drop-ins and
mestings

320

58




Appendix 4

ITA Newsletter 2 April 2013

Page 2

JURHOME Y0UR FUTIRE vhett the2

|\ The & Housing Options in
| the Review

Retention or Transfer

The & housing Cptagns Wwere ST olit Dy
the Coundcl m Decermber 3012 inYour
#8.\ Pocket Cuide ta the Housing Options
=" REwiew’ They [allinto Dwo grouwps, each
of 3 altemative aptions, arosnd who
WIS the social housing in the Borough

3 CHrect sefnce 35 SuiTenvEly
Iperared

reCt SETVICE DUT With &

P by L

& Transfer 1o 3 néw Dousk
ASSRCiAtIEn BL I W

Maragement Orga
ALY

The 3 retention options

Thie Review will consider Two alter natives with the
Council continming Lo -own and directly manage it
Rames

Managing Council Housing - The Canventional

Arrangement
* |afdiord —enae

Tenants
L —
Employees Leaseholde

Vit adth
the Reguiat:

Housing Option a

Thie Couwrnll continues to own the homes but with ne
significant change as a resuit of the Review to the way
in wihieCh howsing services are delivered

ITA Newsletter 2 - April 2013

Hausing Option b

Thie Council continues Lo ewn the homes. Change is
achieved rhrough implementing the outcome of the
Rivyiewy The Renviees will define. 3 new Northampion
Standan 1o offer improved quality and performance
standards based on affordability; what it would cost
arud by the Council's housieg management service
winuld achiee it Thes option wauld inciude |r|l.rr:l'.'||:-g
Lenants setting and monitaring perfermance standards

Housing Option ©

Thie Courcll wolrd continue to own the homes and

ta be the landlord The Council would delegate and
trarsfes the resgonsibality for the management of those
hames b a new not for profit erganisatioen that the
Couwnch ieseff waukd set up and own. This Arms Length
Management Organisation (ALMO) wouid generally
operate gutside of the Councils decision making
SLFUCTUTE, at arms length from it and as the Coundifs
management agent. There would be much greater
oppor Tumtees for tenant imedbwerment on the
Board of Management Lo oversee, set and m ¥
hausing management service dedivery standards and
perfarmandce than is possibée under the Current system
of counc il pwnership and dirsct management e under
s & and b above

Such a change has no reguirement [or 2 ballor of
tenants to be undertaken

Managing Council Housing
= under an ALMO

Tenants £
Leaseholders

321

59




Appendix 4

ITA Newsletter 2 April 2013

Page 3

The 3 Transfer Options
These would all involve transfer of ownership
and management away from the Council to 3 new
trarisfer iandlors which weuld be set up a5 ane of 3 bypes
af hausing asseciation ta be agreed by the Review
Managing the housing -

g transfer of ownershi
under Housing Options d, & or

Transfer andiord: ‘/7

o Can became

Tenants £

Leazeholders

Can becarne Board
Memibhiers

d - housing assooation
A - ITAIELIE OFGANTEALic

[ - Al branch in g W argarasatinn n
TSy S oRathait d Hoaudssg Oplidns o
Ee
« Draenis The hoirnes * Carey Gl the

o (JCoupy Hhed Rsmes

s olickes

o Bosed sy i luide P i it

EeRants v Deliver the N i 2o
SET VIR & i BATY

+ Board sets the — R S
desaibed prdicies * Haye begai L i
@il budgetsfor the rigiits
whale service s Tt

* -r'\r_'_l:'-'""‘.}--g ETTIFIAE COnC agreervant
the housaeg scal conditicons & inchuding being
Bezan caersilted

* s respansible for the lr = Mg mdre srope
SETVILE 3 - i the-dacksion

the transfer -

v Has begal abligations \andlara ki prisesses
& cormplies with the o imfluence vie
Reqilato partcipation

= Pay remt and
Holsing Option d FR——

A new, specially created hious:ing association would be
S8t up by the Coundil to recene the transfer of its hames
and to awn and manage them independently fram the
Council, Thenew Association would be managed by a
Board which would normally be set up teinclude egual

e presentation frem tenants, counciknominees fwhich
may be Counciliars ar ather appoinbess chosen by the
Councily 2nd independent peaple wha would be a ppainted
for the skifls and eaperignce they could bring to the

Board following an apen advertisernent and recrutment
process, Thiene are now aver 200 of these types of housing
dssodiations elsewhere ir Engla nd which have been set up
asa result of heusing transfer.

Housing Option e

Some transfers have been 10 a mew type of howsing

assoclation called 2 mutual houskng organisation.

Terants can both become members of the arganisation

and af its Board, have 3 major say inhow Ehe orga msation

runs and the standards & works to, There arga aumber

of different examples of mutual housing organisations
ncluding one where both tenants and employees have

DEen given the opportunity 1o Co-own the grganisation

Housing Option |
The Review could propose that Northamptan

Borough Cou ncil Nemes foF fent ame transferred ta an
existing housing assaciation with housing services
managed through a lecal branch as a newly created
Northampton based organisation ==t upwthinagroup
structure with other housing associations as members of
the group.

If wou would like this Ne

& ‘Audio CD

or produced as a ‘Text to Speech’ document
+ 1

Key Facts about Housing Transfer:

«  Transfer does not mean that yow woukd have to move
ot af wour home. 1t simply means that if oneof the 3
transfer options d e ot { % recommerided by the Review
yiou woulad hase 3 different landiond inthe futune

»  Transfer could only happen after another stage of
full consultation beteeen the Council and its tenants
and after a tenant ballot is held where the majarity
of tenants who vobe i the ballot are in favour of the
propased transfer aptian,

= (frransfer of cwnership is recom mended as the
preferred aption in the Review you wauld continue
1o have security of tenure. The key rights and
entitiements in your current council secure tenancy
agreerment weabd be continued and be protected in 3
new assured tenancy ag reement after transfer,

*  Rentswill not inCrease as a consequence of transfer.
‘Wihichewer option is chosen the rent policy, as it is
nowy. wiowid be strongly influgnced by Cavernment
guidieliries. Rebs woulbd e the sarme of vary similar

+ Theentitlement of a tenant to claim housing benefit
weould rermain the same if the Review proposes one of
the transferoptions.

For more infermation about the Council's
Optiens review, including the ITA Fact Sheets apd
MNewsletters, go to the ITA web site at
www.northampton. psconsultants.org. uk

On the ITA website there is a button that you can
click - ealled Farum - to enter the Nerthampton
Temant Forum. In this part of the ITA web site
you can see comments fram other tenants, join
in those discussions te share your views or raise
questions directly on ‘Ask the Team” with the ITA.
ACCess 10 the Farem will be by a ssmple registration
pracess. Don'tworry, you will not have ta give any
persanal details and yout registration informatson will
be kept secure by the ITA

Tenant Conferaence 16th and 17th May

Miaily aoo people attendad the Tenant Confarenca rom by the
Hmsing Cipiions Fevhesy Team Last December, Evenyone wio
attended sasd how interasting and useful ivwas

The Council is hoping to build on this success and will be hosting
aneaher Tenant Conference on the evening of Thursday wBth
May and then repeated the followsng moming, Friday vrth May.
Thiz Conference will look at what you, as tenants, think are the
st inpartant parts of the Rowsing seyice This will boild wpan
thewiork already dome at the first conference and subsequent
wolk carried aut by the Tanants Banel The process will enalde you
‘to g your ideas bo the fore and to tell the Council what marters
st ko you. Your priorities and concerse willl thenbe used tohelp
Thve e frryprcnee thee Seraces 5 prosdies Do you

Dot miss out on this opportnity i help shape yourhousing
sarvica. Register for the conferencel

Chetails about the corferance and the regisiration process wall be
sant out to avery tenant so make sure you don't miss out

As the ITA we will be present at both events to mest you
and offer advice and infermation,

The Housing Options Review team will arrange a third
Tenant Conference on the Review in summer za13,
Fr |_-'-|_--|_'!'.-'_:|l|' o800 054 2087

or from a Mobile 0303 003 8200

322

60




Appendix 4

ITA Newsletter 2 April 2013

Page 4

TRARALIFTY

Criarchid Awsel
CeE Lakpie

EAETFIELD
CEAMILMATY R
7a EasPald Ooss uskor
WM 6T
£ popm - 3. pupn

GECRLE NUTT CO0E
| rmain Ty
|

KM AF
AP - & o

w0 o

e CORARILIMITY
NTRE

Peodie Rogd WK E07

PR NG FAMDLY CENTRE
w Tirwps Slewst S pring

b3 MO

& - Bpm

AR TN

ITA Meetings and Drop-ins: Dates, Times & Venues - Come and talk to us!

CRSALINITY

e P o o

e wpril

CEBRLRGITY RO

WET - AR AR RO
AR TY RO
B WAk

ez BP

oA Fla

- WAARKET 5T
CrakdhELmTY ROl
Rrunssaick: flacs OfF Easlsy

Macw

ol - HINTON  ROAD

CIHob LTy Rt

LN PN o P

i atud 0 Feizon fd
Fatoy |

Ry EUR
i il - AT

-Gl
KL A

NAg 70
LTS T

T yers - BLINET G, LR
bt T RO
iy Maad,

sl hrarie mesiow

[t Ry f ]

31 - THE LiBusl
il LT RO

g drFddan oy

o Plsce
Rrok

sonp - 51 HARNARA
TR Y ROGR

EPEMCES Dl LING TON
COABMLINITY CEMTRE
TICE T AakTy
M EE

AP P

P

IR T

e P 5.

TaTAMCENL BARN
COARMALINITY CENTHE
whgata i Cimerd
Wk el
4 pinjpen - b

My bR

Ak e

A

e - Bpin

ich, LA Rood

ALY TN

Rooen, Brunvwick Plads
Y Bawtor Blans, Wil

i 0 & F. i LAt
IILINTY

by
MEET

| Thursday
| & Wy

Aoy

| Ml TR

1 -

FRA COIFTOIN SRS TS
B ATICN REET ML Fa
T Hasd i mation Cantie
Tk ikt B aedl

KN4 Exy

- Bpm

WES T AL
HiLL Bootf Leee 5
bty R

BO_FOAN TR 3O

A+ EARAE A
CIATICH

Farm Zomirusniy

wlen Gita
W) BT
r-:lnﬁ-l-._lmrl-
"‘"\l\.i ST SO
SELF SERWE ARE

L
L) oveliad Conarm
Blzckthorn

KNG HEATH S OFn T8
a5 AT
M CHiv SO
oo, rians Drive
| Bpen - gpm

. Kingsrhorps
T, 5t Cravid

(FHCHN COMAMLINTY |SaU THFELDS COMBALINITY |

ENTRE
Farmmini Road

Bising Brook Fosd
B IDPE  PIgpn

Anral C %
April 2013

323

61




Appendix 5

ITA Newsletter 3
October 2013

Considering the options for Council Housing in Nerthampton

ITA Newsletter 3 October 2013 Page 1

Ykt
FUTURE

BE Commuliamis

¢ T i it

Teraarit Fodwimer

The Northampton Tenants’
Panel Scores ALMO Highest

After 12 months of hard work, the
Tenants' Panel has scored each of thes
housing options being considered in the
Council’s Housing Options Review.

ot Bl rerention af thee oveirsbuap of the
hames with an ALC - or Arms Lengih
Ma pagesment CRoanisatioen - has been
ranked the highest cprion against 46
objective scoring critena. I approved by the
Conaniil, Ehe &1 R il e set g to take
Tesponsibility for the day b day delivesy o
Ehe hionssireg service. The scoring suggests an
ALBACH weowsbd ooffeer the Best weay foraad o
w s e fomeg ber i futire of over iz, 000
councilhomes in thie borough, and
* dleliver the type of chandge that tenants
P s baiecd fon from bhe Cowancil

How will the decision
on the Review be made?

Fermemlser bl Hous g Optiors Renes
is ot yet complete. The Coundil set up
a Housing Options Panel - the HOP - to

ocBoo ogg 2087 (fres

o303 003 B2oo (local rate

The PS Consultants

Staff Team
; il |

corsider the detaibed findings of the Revies . ; .I..

on the Councils behalf The HOP members

are g tenants rmnirated by the Tenants’ © eisTing

Panel - a panel set upspecificalby bosupport =

this poview s Councillors, and s Coundil

Hlampsim | Servic e ernployes tepresentat ives,

froam ke Employes Foous Grolp

ﬁ-w —-

HOP Recommendations to Cabinet and
Full Councll in December 2013

The mmhmﬂu
advice and information
specifically on the
Council's Housing Options
Review.

We can't give advice on
issues you might have
with council housing
services, [or example,
getting a council home, or
repair profblems.

For those matters, you
will still need to contact
Marthampton Borough
Council Customer Services
directly on o3g0 330 Jo00

Iz HOM was set upan this way Lo ensune
that both tenants and the empioyess who
dediver the howsing senace have a real voce
irvthie reviesy, and that Councillors onthe
HOP can hear those views first hand

I Tenants' Paned will prepare ard subomt
its owen report 1o the HOP Lo suimimarnise

* oy thie process was carried out,

= weliat thee resu s vwesre froem Ehe sooring,

= their views abou b the review

The i TA will help the Tenants Panel to put
its Repart bogather as a doogment that
Panel memib=ers will disoass and be asked Lo
aqres before it goes to the HOP. The ITA will
dlso prespae its ooy report for the HOP to
provide an independent assess ment of how
the reyiess was carmed out

= nfermation and

firvlings from the
Heview

FOARa L an ALK rmsars
The scorimg critera

Scorineg the Bosing
CoraOns

£ Mo bo fead ol e

'Freepost Plus npzr_ LY A-HCXX'

62
324



Appendix 5

ITA Newsletter 3 October 2013 Page 2

FUTURE vhett b

When will the
Council make

the final decision?

o chiueipy Al of e
nfosrrral on made
Avaiable Lo 0 Cwsr the
st 12 mam s neludng
RE SELET AT R paTES Of
che Tenasiny Mared the
brnpioyes Bolus Croup
angtheiTh
ATty ot fimdings
il R3S aradd!
ST ITIRRTOEL T By
il -Mow BT D
Al DaTUIT TPel i
npformen AT to the
umcl L Capret
Fiall Columey g comice
n Discpmies won g

ITA Ne

What did the Review cover?
The Tenants' Panel, the Employea Focus Group and the HOP have considered:

+ speciahst advice on topics 1o discuss improvement toehe Councit that the
such as: the condition of of the housing service, Morthampton Standard be
council hames and estates The views of tenants acopted to be deliverad in
in Marthamptan, the type wha take part fn the two stages: internal and
and cost of thework needed  third Tenants Conference external improvemeants

Lo improve and repair them,  on g and & November o homes, including some
financialissues including 2o 1wl be considersd SBCUFILY MEASUres in years
the amaunt of money liely [y the HOP before its 15, additional safety and

1o be available under sach mecammendations are security features the

afthe hows ng aptions, made tathe Council's remnainder of the insukation
QONBITIANCE - N ABCISinng Cabiret and full Council works 1o the extenior of
will be made: and service « the works requined and the hames and to the
standards cast of impraving both neighbourhicod in years 640
the wiews-of 1.727 homes and neighbourboads = theexpenenceof

Perants whio took part £ A rie prepossed represantatives from other
Irthe tenant survey in mMarthampton Standard and  hoysing arganisatians fram
Septermber 201z and 188 how this ight e delivered  bath ALMO and housing
tenants who came to the within the available associatians which helped
b tenant conferences funding. The Tenarts’ o identsfy haw each

held in December 301 to Paned and Employee wirked in practice and
idertify the Narthamptan Facus Graup will want v thig rhight weoric in
standand ard in May 2013 the HOP to recormmend Morthampton.

What is an ALMO and how would this option work?

ALMO is short for Arms Length Management Organisation.

if the Council does decide to adopt thisoption, marewark and consultation with tenants and
employess would be required before an ALMO could be setup in Morthampton, From the
experience af ather councils, and there are around 5o ALMOYS cumenthy dedivering housing
services ta council tenants, twould operate something like this:

Council and tenants manigor
O anic sndpebmace g
hanagement w— Staff
Agreement
—

The ALMC Board waould work together
inthe best interest of tenants to

improve housing services in linewith the
recammendations from the Review

The Council wioukd: set the overall budget,
set the rents and service charges annually
in line with Government guidance; agres
the specific responsibilities of the ALMO,

The Council wiould set up, maorkitor and have

overall contral af the ALMO. The Coundil

winukd delegata the day to day respansibility

for delivering the howsing services througha

Management Agresment with the ALMO Board

The ALMO would:

= pperateoutside of or at arms length from,
thaather services which the Council is still

responsible for and monitarthe ALMO's performance
» be responsible for achieving housing senvice each year through the Management
perfarrnance standards and targets Agreement,

ALMO's elsewhere have shown that
widening the experience of those who
take the decisions about housing service
delivery has led to service improvement
and services which are more responsive to
tenants needs and pricrities,

» bemanaged by a Board of Directors made up
of Councillars for Councll nominees), tenants
and independent exparts whowiould give their
time on a woluntary basis and not be paid,
and there could possibly be some emplayee
representatives too

63

325



Appendix 5 ITA Newsletter 3 October 2013 Page 3

An Objective Way to
Assess the Housing
Options -

It is important to the credibility of the Review that each housing option has been 48
properly assessed without simphy relying on instinct or prejudice. An initial list of Your pockel gut

176 ideas from the Tenants Panel, the Employee Foous Group and the Council was Housing Options Revien
reduced to 46 objactive criteria aver several mionths through joint discussion and by
wiorking with the HOP, These 46 criteria were used to score the § housing options,
These criteria are grouped inta & key themes which have emerged from the Review
as being the most important to tenants, employees and the Council, These are:

o g e

mgkaa’s Tewsie

to the

1. Protection of tepants key 4. Setting the highest More opportunity
rights and entitiemants quality and performance fortenants and
a5 set out in their Council standards for all council emiployess to
securetenancy agreement  homes and levels of work together

2. Minimising tenants' service delivery that are Lo scrEtinges and
costs so that future affordable and sustainable 1o shape service The final scoring system was
rent increases are setin fram the available income  gelivery agreed around 46 criteria.
line with Government 5. Delivering the 7. Considering the impact The Terants' Panel and the
guidelines and the investment in homes and on staff in the housing Employes Focus Group
housing management neighbourhoods across service to protect their have separately assessed or
services do achieve value the Borough inways terms and conditions of weighted these criteriato
for money which safeguard existing employment, inciuding reflect their impartance.

1. Delivering the Jjobs and impact positively pensions This has allowed each of
Morthamptaon Standard an the localeconomy 8. Assessing the the 5 housing opticns ta be
toinclude work to homes, &, Achieving openness implications for the ranked on an objective basis
the neighbaurhacd, and and accountabifity Council in respect of by both the Tenants Panel
Lo improve owerall quality for tenants and the each housing aption. and the Employee Focus
of life Council, and creating Group.

From 6 to 5 Housing Options For both the Tenants' Panel
& hiousing options were set out at the startof the Reviswintwogroups  and the Employee Focus
based anound who would awn the housing for rent: the Council o Group:

another Registered Provider or hausing association

Option A - the continuation of the current service without change
wias taken out of the Review when it became clear from the Tenant
Survey that tenants wanted change through service improvement.

Option § - transfer to a mutual co-operative
housirig assocation did score second highest
due to the opportunity for both to have
influence and ireolvernent indecision making
How did the s Housing Options at every leve! in the organisation.

Score in the Review? Option 5 - transfer to a group structure
wolld offer the advantage of greater
financialviability; howeyer independence
and the ability ta make decisions without

Separate soring by the Tenants Paned and the Employee Focus Group
led to the same ranking of the 5 housing aptions

Ranking of Description Option reference to the parent crganisation were
the Option No. walued mare highly
1 Council owmership with an ALMOC Option z Optian 1- was ranked as the lowest by bath
5 Tmrrs{erm a Murtual Housing Ontion 4 the Tenants Panel £ ‘F_I'I'lpllj'l,EE.FEIEL!S'GI'CIUD.
Association (HA) Some members af the Tenants' Panel would
3 Transfer ta a new Stand - Alane HA Cption 3 :T&r:ffdwant'-“-;d t:'I::Iﬂ'PUGI"'TU EFDI'E mare highly.
s T chicd score heghhly an same af the Crikera
4 ggiﬁr:atgrﬁggumapigr:ﬂure withalosal  options but it scored wiss well around the themes of
5 Council mwmership with a service review  Option ARSIy, arECEEIon, AFRE s tian

af ermployes and tenant rights.

if you would like this Newsletter on ‘-;, Audio CD Freephone oBc

or produced as a == "Text to Speech’ document or from a Mobile 0303 oo

64
326



Appendix 5 ITA Newsletter 3 October 2013 Page 4

;!mi

A a P ST
Tuesday 5 November Wednesday 6 November rmpssTig Ot Ay
from s.45am - 1.30pn from sa5pm - 8.30pm F B0 jj0 FOoL
. Fet Bfre t i et loTIATE Vi
Aorthempton. goy ue

-1 : If ary tenant cannot get out ta one of the ITA drap-ins,
ITA d!.np lns and mEEtInQS please contact us by phare, email ar inwriting.
Dates, times & venues - Call in between e zre happy to anarge 2 home visit to bring you up to

The Hisusing Dptions Review Team bas arranged a third Tenant Conference “nH[

these times to talk to the ITA R
Marnday 28 October
Liburd Raams Higitan Read Huiters Close Kingsthorpe Grove Rozad
Corner o Whiltan Hirior Roed, JoHurers Close, o Kingsthorpe Grows,  Ardbury Rosd, Blacktharm, Mhiy B3]
Road | Holdenby Road.  Kingsthome NNzBiL  Kagsthorpe, NNzETH  Hingsthorpe, NNz SFE Gpm - F.pepm
Kmgathiorpe, KMa 758 12 oo - 1pm 1.30QM - 2 3opm Fpm- QP
oL PO - T A
Axlbury Road Peniycress Place  Goldorest Court Eden Clase Mkt STreer
Aribury Road, Blacktham, 26 Peney Cress Place, Of Frentice Court, Eden Close, LakeVigw,  Brunswick Mace, off Exeter Mace, NW14BG
MM B EcronBrook, NN1SDZ Gokings, NN3EX MMz ENS B - 7. 30pm
10,3008 - M. 30am 12 MOon - 1pm 1.30prM - 2 30pm ypim - gpm
Lame George Mutt Court  Parsons Maade 5t James Community  Hinton Road
AL TG bermy George NulLCmit  rext o Parsars Centre Committes Hinton Ried, Kingsthorpe, NNz SIL
Lare, Briar Hll, MM B3L  FariZotton, N4 BIF  Meade, West Hunsbury,  Rgom, GRM - 7. Japm
W, AT - TG T T - NP NhgoPs Srjarmes. Rioad, NS 513
1.3Gpm - 2. 30pm 4.00 pm - 5.30pM
ST RAmABUS Elizaberh Walk Marker Soreet Spancer Haven Eastfield Resslants ASS0CIA000 Mestmng
150 Barmabos House 36 Elizabeth Walk, Off  Brurswick Place, off H1 Sperioer Hanven The |ubilee Hat, SUARans Choreh Mayfeld Road
Lowser Harging Streed 31 Edmumds Road, Exeter Flace, NN1 4BG Spencer, NNg 70E MG 080
Spring Boroughs, WA A 555 30pm- 2.30pm 3pm- apm ITA to attend at 7.30pm
0. J0AM - T jeam 12 noon - 1P
e Dirive Cardigan Close Eastfield Chose Montagies Crescent  Southfields Residents Assoclation mesting
Nere Crive, Kings Heath,  Cardigan Cliose, e Eastfield Ciose, first besft off Haebsmooe. Sab Purdy Sauthfislds Community Centre Farm Hill
WHE MG Dallingeon. NANE7DH  Duston, NS BT Wy, Lodige Farm, Road Southfetes, NNi 505
0. 30am - M. 3eam 12 noon - 1pm 1.30pm - 230pm MAg RS ITA to attend at ypm
Ipm - apm
Jaimes Lewis Court Elesnore House Stitchman Howse Ladge fve: Blackbearry Lane
Jarnes Lewis Court, Cherry 3 Buttarmere CJose. 55 Stitchman House, 4 Lodge dve, nextta 19 Blackbarry Lane, Briar Hi, Mk 200U
Orchand, NN3 27H Eaztfielc, NN 3BG Eyfietd Acad, 51 james.  Colingtres Mg o] G- 2.50pm
0. JRAM - T geam 13 n@en - 1pm N 5HG 3P - gpm
T30 - 3 FOpm
Bouverie House Hardy Dirive Bunting Road Leicester Street MBC Tenant Conference, Saints Rughy Ground,
7o Bouverie Road, 25 Hardy Drive, 1o Bunting Raad, off Barack A4, jopp Asriva fromig.15pm for registration £ light refreshments
Hardingstone, NNgGEC  Hardingetone Wiy Kngathorps Haliow, Main Post Office), MMy for ipm seare.
0. FDAT - T, panm X Kngsthorpe, N GEE 3RS Baok your place with NBC on 0joo 330 Foog or
12 een - 1pm 130QM - L I0pm i - gpm el optionsrevew@nor thamptengov.uk
| Tussday s Movewber |
One 5top Shop, Self Serve Area Brookmide Residents Council mecting
Guildhail Foyer NN 10E Billirg Brock Hall, Billing Brock Road
12.30pM -4.30pm ITA attends from 6.30pm - 7.30pm
Ot 5Top Shop, Self Serve Area 5t David s Resident Association maeting
Cailehail Feyer N1 IDE Mirggetharpe Childress Cantre, St Dindics Road, MMz GNS
-4 ITA attends from 5.30pm - 7.

Fhursday 38 Movermbes
Kings Heath Residents

s Assaciation
Mene [rive Community Room, Nene Crive, Kz G
ITA Lo amens fram Bpm

65
327



Appendix 6 ITA Community Room Poster

ALK
(0URHOME YOUR FUTURE &

PS5 Consultamts

Considering the options for Council Housing in Northampton 7755

Temant adyise

The Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA)
will attend a meeting for tenants in sheltered housing to talk
about

Northampton Borough Council’s Housings Options
Review
On Thursday 19 September

From 2pm to 3pm
In

STITCHMAN HOUSE DROP-IN
55 Stitchman House
Byfield Rd
5T JAMES
MNN5 5HG

This is your opportunity to find out more about what the Council's housing
options review will cover and to ask your guestions of the ITA, The ITA's role is
to give independent and impartial advice and information to tenants on the
review that the Council is currently doing into the future of council housing in
Morthampton. This review will be completed by December 2013,

If you can’t attend the meeting and want to talk to the |TA, please phone, email
or, write to the ITA, or go on line for more information. Contact details are
shown below.

Thank you

PS Consultants, Morthampton ITA

ITA contact details:

Telephone: 0800 054 2087 {free from a landline), 0303 003 8200 {local rate calls from mohiles)

Email: enguiries@psconsultants.org.uk  Website: northampton. psconsultants.org. uk

Freepost (na stamp required): Freepost Plus RRZC-CIVA-HCXE, PS Consultants, 12 Berry Square,
Whitehall Lane, Blackrod, Bolton BLG 50U

328

66




Appendix 7 ITA Resident Association Poster

bt i
AHOME Y0URFUTURE &

P!-t

Ccmmdermg the options for Cou r'1c|| Hc:uamg in Northampton vt

Terent Adhvier

The Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA)

will attend a meeting for tenants to talk about

Northampton Borough Council’s Housings Options

Review
On Thursday 14 November
at

St David’s Resident Association meeting
Kingsthorpe Children’s Centre
5t David's Road
NN2 6NS
(ITA attends from 6.30pm - 7.30pm)

This is your opportunity to find out more about what the Council's housing
options review will cover and to ask your questions of the [TA. The [TA's role is
to give independent and impartial advice and information to tenants on the
review that the Council is currently doing into the future of council housing in
Northampton.

If you can't attend the meeting and want to talk to the ITA, please phone, email

or, write to the ITA, or go on line for more information. Contact details are
shown below.

Thank you

PS Consultants, the Northampton ITA

ITA contact details:

Telephone: 0800 054 2087 {free from a landline), 0303 003 8200 {local rate calls from mohbiles)

Email: enguiries@psconsuliants.org.uk  Website: www.northampton.psconsultants. ong. uk

Freepost (no stamp required): Freepost Plus RRZC-CIVA-HCXE, PS Consultants, 12 Berry Square,
Whitehall Lane, Blackrod, Bolton BLE 50U

329



89

SuisnoH JgN JO sealy pue yaeasinQ V1| Ul pash SSNUIA JO Uo1IeIo]

8 Xipuaddy

330



69

191 E2 0 €5 52 s3uan3 [ejoL
SSL 821 £33 892 SET [saapuany |eroL

€ 0 €107 A pT Aepsany € 2102 930 €T AepsinyL N T13AVA NOLSIM [
L € 19G0120 8Z Aepuo 0 €10¢ daS 60 Aepuoiy € €107 1dv 7 Aepsaupam T 10T AON TZ Aepsaupam M3HL L
0 0 €T0C AeIA 60 AepsinyL Nr3IHL 8T
9€ L 12G0oPQ T€ Aepsiny]] 7z [e10z4dv Sz Aepsinyl L 210 AON 6¢ AepsinyL 0SSV SLN3AIS3Y A131415V3 8T
[43 4 J1aquianoN § Aepsan| L €107 das 6T Aepsiny) € 2102 AON 6T Aepuoy 1118 9
[43 [43 210z 930 €T AepsinyL SNIANVLS 4
1 0 €10C AeI TO Aepsaupam T 2102 120 0T Aepsaupam SNIANVLS 9z
VN 1aquiadaQ TT Aepsaupam 0SSV SLN3AISTY,SINVIIS 33
[ T 130010 0€ Aepsaupam 1 €107 AeN £0 Aepsan) SINVILS S€
0z 0T JaquianoN T Aepsiny] | 0T €10z AB 60 Aepsiny) 0SSV LN3QIS3¥ S.AIAVA LS ST
33 0 199030 T€ Aepsiny) € €10 daS ZT Aepsiny| [43 €10C AeI TO Aepsaupam 4 2107 AON 9 Aepuoiy 1s LE
T T €107 4dv €2 Aepsan] ATIAIVA ONIYS 8¢
€ T 12G0opQ T€ Aepsiny]] 0 €707 daS 2T AepsinyL 0 €107 4dv 0€ Aepsan). z 2102 AON 6T AepuoN N3dS 1€
0 0 €107 dv 7 Aepsaupam N3dS 3
6 6 13quanON 7 Aepuoiy 0SSV LN3AIS3¥ SA13I4HLNOS z
9 0 €10 AN pT Aepsany 9 2102 230 €0 AepuoiN SA1314HLNOS 4
8 8 €T0C AeI T2 Aepsany EN] S
(3 € 126010 6¢ AepsanL 9 €107 das 0T Aepsany 6 €107 4dV 67 Aepuoiy 0T 2107 AON 8¢ Aepsaupam ANN3d 8T
0€ 1T 139010 0€ Aepsaupam 2 €107 d3s TT Aepsaupam L €107 4dv € Aepsan). 8 2102 AON £z Aepsany 3aV3IN SNOSYVd I
8 8 2102 930 €T AepsinyL Y3IA04 TIVHAIND ‘V3¥V 3AYIS 4135 dOHS dOLS INO 6€
3 S 13qWaNON T Aespany]| 6 2102 920 90 AepsinyL Y3IA04 TIVHAIND ‘V3¥V IAYIS 4735 dOHS dOLS INO 6€
0€ 9 13GUWaAON 7T Aepsan | 2 €70¢ das /T Aepsany 6 €10 ABI OF AepsinyL I 2102 230 0 Aepsany ¥3A04 TIVHATND ‘V3YY IAYIS 4135 dOHS dOLS INO 6€
8 0 13GWBAON ¥ Aepuoly T €107 das 9T Aepuoiy 0 €107 1dv 0€ Aepsan] 9 210 NON 0T Aepsan JAIYA ININ €1
4 VN JaquianoN 8z Aepsiny | 0T €10z Ae OF AepsinyL ST 2102 AON 62 AepsinyL 0SSV SLN3IAISIY HLYIH SONIN €1
61 0 139G LUBAON 7 ABPUOIA L €10 daS 9T Aepuoiy S €10z 1dv ¢z Aepuoy L 710 AON 6T Aepuoiy 3INOVLNOW 34
0z 8 €107 8nv £ Aepsaupam [43 €10¢ AeIA TO Aepsaupam W3d o
€1 S 10 T€ SINY1'R 62 SaNnL 0 €107 das zT Aepsiny) 2 €107 AeIN T0 Aepsaupam 4 2102 AON 7z AepsinyL 1S LINYYN or
[43 0 1aquianoN § Aepsan| 0 €107 das 6T Aepsiny) S €107 4dv Sz AepsinyL L 2102 AON 62 AepsinyL 3NNIAY 39001 8y
1T 0 19GWIBAON 9 ABPSaUPIM € €107 das 8T Aepsaupam T €102 AeI 70 Aepsiny) L 2107 AON 72 Aepsiny) 131 33
0 0 €10C ABIA 20 Aepsiny L IdYOHLSONIN v
6 0 134010 87 Aepuon T €10 das 60 Aepuoy 0 €10 1dv O€ Aepsany L 210 AON Oc Aepsany IAO0YD IdYOHLSONDI 9T
0 0 €107 1dv 0€ Aepsan] HLV3H SONIX a
8 L Jaquianon § Aepsany 0 €107 das 8T Aepsaupam 0 €10¢ AeI 70 Aepsiny) T 2107 NON 9 Aepuoiy SIM3IT SINVT 6T
8 € 19G0320 8Z Aepuo 0 €10¢ daS 60 Aepuoiy € €107 dv 7 Aepsaupam 4 10T NON TZ Aepsaupam SYILNNH T
€1 T 10 0 P2 78 8C UON T €70¢ daS 60 Aepuoiy S €102 4dV vz Aepsaupam 9 2102 AON T Aepsaupam Qavo¥ NOLNIH €
[3 T 13quanoN 9 Aepsaupam 8 €70¢ das 6T AepsinyL ST [eT0z4dv Sz Aepsinyl L 210¢ AON 6¢ AepsinyL IAIYA AQYVH Ly
[ T 1390320 6¢ Aepsany S €107 das 0T Aepsany 2 €107 1dv 67 Aepuoy 0 2107 920 v0 Aepsany aios 14
1T 0 139010 0€ Aepsaupam 2 €107 das TT Aepsaupam 6 €107 4dv €7 Aepsan). 8 2102 AON £ Aepsany LINN 394039 St
9 9 2102 AON £ Aepsany 0SSV SLN3AIS3Y 3¥dV13A 8 SYVIY 43
oy o7  |€T0z Rew 0 Aepsany yv4 [43
3 4 €107 AeN £0 Aepsan) 0 2107 920 v0 Aepsany yvd 43
[43 130010 6 Aepsaupam €10 aunf  Aepsaupam €107 924 9 Aepsaupam [43 2102 20 60 Aepsany NOILY¥3034 SLNVNIL NOLdINVHLYON vE
€1 € 13quWanON 9 Aepsaupam 0T  [et0z Aew £T Aepiy 1HX3 vE
L1 9 13quIanON G Aepsan| TT  |€10Z AeN 9T AepsinyL IHX3 vE
€1 2 12GopQ T€ Aepsiny]] T €707 das 2T AepsinyL € €10 ABIA 20 AepsinyL S 210 AON zz AepsinyL vzina v
0 0T Jaquanon g Aepsani| oz [er0z das /T Aepsany 0 2107 AON 8¢ Aepsaupam 3SNOH 3¥ONO3I13 8
9 €10 aunf g Aepsiny 9 2102 920 90 AepsinyL 0SSV SLN3AIST¥ MIIADIVT 9
13 S 1990120 6¢ Aepsany S €10 das 0T Aepsany L €10z 1dv ¢z Aepuoy 8 2107 AON 9 Aepuoiy N3a3 9
0 0 €10 1dV 67 Aepuo 3 67
1T 0 J3quanoN  Aepuoly 11 €107 das 9T Aepuoy 4 €107 4dv 7z Aepuoiy 9 210 NON 6T Aepuoiy [EETINZ] 4
0 0 €107 1dv 7z Aepuoy NoLsna w
6 0 13quaAON 7 Aepuoi 2 €107 das 9T Aepuoy 0 €107 4dv O€ Aepsan) S 2102 AON 0 Aepsany NO0Y ALINNIWIAIOD 3SOTD NYDIQHYD vT
9T € J13qWIAON 9 Aepsaupam € €70¢ da5 8T Aepsaupam S €107 AeIN TO Aepsaupam S 2102 AON O Aepsany NO0Y ALINNIWIAIOD VOY ONILNNE 14
3 8 12qaNON T Aepsan| 8 €10 A pT Aepsany 6 2102220 1T Aepsany TIONNOD SLNAAISTY IAISHO0YE 6
T 1 €107 4dv Sz AepsinyL TYLNID ALINNIAWOD TIIH ¥V 1¥8 24
0z € 13quWanoN 9 Aepsaupam 0 €107 das 6T Aepsiny) or  [etozdy sz Aepsinyy L 2102 AON 62 AepsinyL NO0Y ALINNWINOD QVOY 31¥3AN0E 9
0 0 €102 AN pT Aepsany TYLNID ALINNINWOD NYOHLIDV1E T
[73 € AON G S3n1 8 10 0 PAM 0T €10¢ daS TT Aepsaupam S €107 4dV €¢ Aepsan] 2 2102 AON £ Aepsany NO0Y ALINNWINOD ANV AYIENVTE w
[3 4 €107 4dV 67 Aepuoiy FYLNID ALINNIAIWOD 3ONITIAE rz
8T 9 10 6 '8 8Z SaNL 8 UO| 9 €107 das 0T Aepsany 2 €107 4dv 67 Aepuoiy 4 2102 920 70 Aepsany 14V ot
0 €107 1dv € Aepsan] V| LT

‘ON alva ‘ON alva "ON alva "ON alva INNIA 434

lej0L. ¥ 3SVHd €3SVHd Z3SVHd T3SVHd dVIN

yaeasino Ajlunwwo) yl| ‘aseyd Aq pue juans Aq asuepuany

6 Xipuaddy

331



AU

Appendix 10 ITA Report on Phase 1 Outreach Programme

Report to Northampton Borough Council Housing Options Review (HOR)
Team and Northampton Tenant Panel

Summary of the Northampton ITA Phase 1 HOR Consultation with tenants
carried out by PS Consultants, the

Northampton Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) between November and
December 2012

7 February 2013

1. Purpose of the Report

This is to describe and to summarise the outcome of the first stage of the
consultation on the Housing Options Review (HOR) with NBC tenants across
Northampton which was carried out by PS Consultants, the Northampton
Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) during November and December 2012.

2. Introduction

PS Consultants was appointed as the Northampton (ITA) by tenant representatives
in August 2012 following a competitive tender process organised by the Council. PS
Consultants is a consultancy which specialises in working with tenants and residents
to engage them in housing and regeneration related initiatives, and has a significant
experience in acting as the ITA in a wide range of projects.

The role of the ITA is twofold: firstly to advise, train and support the tenants on the
Northampton Tenants Panel to take an active part in the HOR; secondly to ensure
that all NBC tenants and leaseholders have access to impartial information and
advice throughout the development of the HOR to help them understand the scope
and potential implications of the Review and to express their views about it, and, in
due course, the option that is eventually recommended as the way forward for the
future of council homes in Northampton.

The ITA anticipates up to three main stages in the Boroughwide consultation with
NBC'’s tenants. At each stage the ITA will provide information, help to develop
involvement and understanding and answer tenants’ questions about the HOR. At
each stage we will summarise and feedback to the Northampton Tenants Panel and
the Council what tenants have said to the ITA. This will help to facilitate a two way
flow of information. In this way the opinions of tenants not actively involved with the
Northampton Tenants Panel, but who have taken part in the area based consultation
programme, can have their views taken into consideration during the HOR process.

70
332



3. The Stage 1 HOR Consultation

PS Consultants has carried out the first stage of the tenant consultation across
Northampton to essentially set the scene by telling tenants how the Council is
carrying out the Housing Options Review (HOR),what the Review will consider, the
process and timetable. In stages 2 and 3 of the ITA consultation as the HOR
develops its findings, conclusions and recommendations, the ITA will explain what
these will mean for NBC tenants and invite tenants across the Borough to have their
say.

4. How the Phase 1 ITA Consultation was carried out
The first phase of the HOR consultation was carried out by:

¢ Producing for all NBC tenant and leaseholder households the ITA Newsletter 1,
as first of up to three ITA Newsletters. In this we introduced the ITA team,
explained the role of the ITA, why the Council is carrying out the HOR, what the
housing options are that it will consider, and how to contact the ITA for more
information and/or to ask any questions. The times, dates and venues of the
ITA outreach programme was advertised in the ITA Newsletter 1;

e Arranging 28 informal tenant drop-ins and meetings to talk to tenants across
Northampton in the Community rooms linked to the council’s sheltered housing.
The Chair of the NTP, Rob Edwards also attended some of these drop-ins to
talk to tenants and to hear directly tenants’ views. Through these drop-ins we
met with 130 tenants;

¢ Attending a meeting of the Northampton Tenants Federation (NTF) and
subsequently through the NTF we contacted all, 20 Residents Associations and
the Brookside Resident Council across Northampton, to ask if we could attend
one of their meetings. As a result the ITA attended 7 different local Resident
Association (we have twice attended at Standens Barn RA) and 1 Resident
Council meeting. These evening meetings are open to all residents in each
local area. We said we would explain the HOR to all residents who attend the
meetings but we asked each group if they could make the ITA’s attendance
known to the NBC tenants living in their area as far as practical. As a result we
estimate that the ITA has spoken to around 74 tenants through these area
based residents meetings although overall attendance was over 150 residents;

e Posters were produced to advertise each of these ITA drop-ins in the
community rooms. These were displayed in the community rooms and were
also given out by the supported housing staff as a reminder to tenants living in
the Council’s sheltered accommodation of the ITA drop-ins. Several of the
Resident Associations also asked for posters which they put up locally or and
the Brookside Residents’ Council distributed these to every household in their
area to advertise the ITA attendance at their meeting;

e Being available to meet with tenants informally in the One Stop Shop area of
the Guildhall foyer on 3 occasions in December and attending one of the
Council’'s Housing surgeries outside of Weston Favell library. In total we spoke
to 31 NBC tenants;

71
333



Taking part in and speaking with tenants to raise awareness of the ITA’s role
and the outreach aspect of our work at the two Tenant Conferences arranged
by the Council on 3 December 2012 which were attended by some 180 tenants.
Here the tenants attending the conferences were involved with housing staff in
discussing the initial findings from the Council’s housing stock condition survey
and the tenants’ survey, and helping to shape what NBC tenants aspirations for
the future of their homes, neighbourhoods and the housing service might be.
This will enable the Council take these ideas forward into the next stage of the
HOR;

Talking individually to tenants through the ITA telephone advice line, text,
email, and freepost services, and through the interactive on line Tenant Forum
on the ITA website where tenants can talk on line to each other as well as ask
questions of the ITA. Around 40 tenants have contacted the ITA using these
opportunities, some more than once;

The ITA web site was set up to contain all of this information and 3 ITA Fact
Sheets to give tenants more background information relating to the HOR.
These Fact sheets were available at the ITA drop-ins and meetings and at the
tenant conferences. The ITA web site will be developed as the HOR
progresses.

As a result of the outreach activities carried out by the ITA we have met or spoken

with,

or been in contact with around 275 NBC tenants during the Phase 1 HOR

Consultation and spoke to many more of the 180 tenants at the Conferences.

5. The Feedback Received During the Phase 1 HOR Consultation

The bulk of the Phase 1 ITA consultation was completed before the Council had
received and discussed with the NTP and the HOP the results of both the housing
stock condition survey and the tenant satisfaction survey. This will be picked up in
the second stage of the ITA outreach work in spring 2013.

Some tenants have treated the drop-ins as just that, but most have regarded them
as an open meeting and discussion. This has allowed the ITA to explain:

What the HOR is about?

What options are being considered?

Why the Review is being carried out?

What timescales it will consider i.e. up to the next 30 years?

How tenants will be directly involved in it through the NTP, the 5 tenants on
the Housing Options Panel (HOP), the tenant conferences, and through the
ITA Borough wide tenant consultation?

Where the Chair of the NTP attended he introduced himself, described how
the Council had advertised and the set up the NTP, the role of the NTP; that
other tenants can still get involved in the NTP; and he offered that tenants
could speak to him directly if they want to by phone. Rob assisted the ITA by
speaking as an NBC tenant about the importance of a full and comprehensive
HOR being carried out in an open and objective manner;

What type of information will the Review consider?

72
334



How much money needs to be spend to improve council homes and estates,
and what standard should be aimed for in the future?

How far has the Review progressed to date?

The next steps and timetable for the Review being completed?

Promote awareness of and invite tenants to attend the Tenant Conferences.
Provide reassurance that whatever the preferred option is that tenants’ rights
in their secure tenancy agreement will be protected; that rent increases will be
similar across all of the options to be considered; that entitlement to housing
benefit will not be affected by the outcome of the Review;

Should transfer be the preferred option that a further detailed consultation
would take place with all NBC tenants beyond July 2013, and that tenants
named on the tenancy agreement would be entitled to a vote to determine the
future ownership and management of their homes;

Answer tenants questions arising from the Review, and explain that the ITA
will summarise the main points around what tenants said to the ITA during the
Phase 1 consultation

Ask tenants to read the information that will be available from the Council and
the ITA over the next 6 months as the Review progresses and to attend future
ITA drop-ins.

The main issues and concerns raised to date during the Phase 1 ITA tenant
consultation have included:

Further discussion of the HOR'’s purpose, why it is being carried out and what
its recommendations might mean for NBC tenants in the future; some
concerns were expressed as to whether the Council will listen to what tenants
say and concern that the Council already made its decision so why spend this
money on consulting tenants? Reassurance was given that the Council does
want to find out tenants views and that no decision has been made?

The type of information and evidence that the HOR will consider: the stock
condition survey and the tenants survey were both explained; why this
information would be relevant to the HOR; how the Council is trying to identify
with tenants what their aspirations for the future condition of their homes,
neighbourhood and the housing service should be; what this might cost; and
whether and how the Council might try to achieve more than the
Government’s basic minimum DHS quality standard;

Clarification around questions relating to tenants’ rights and entitlements
relating to issues around: security of tenure, tenants right to buy; future rent
increases and whether these would vary across the options; the impact of
Government changes to welfare benefits on tenants;

Local concerns and issues were raised in some areas relating to: the
condition of tenants’ homes and the neighbourhood around: the quality of the
environmental contract work and that some hedges and bushes on some
estates eg Montague Crescent were not being cut back; delays in DHS work
being carried out or when planned DHS work would be carried out, and that
the HOR would not delay it;

73
335



e Some tenants raised individual issues around problems arising from
dissatisfaction with improvement works and/or repairs that had been carried
out in their home, or in some cases not carried out. The Sheltered Housing
Co-ordinators or the Gateway staff in attendance undertook to deal with these
individual matters;

¢ How the HOR relates to the Sheltered Housing Review: what the Sheltered
Housing Review would mean for tenants living in blocks that were not
designated as sheltered and with a tenant population of a mixed age range.
Again, given that the Sheltered Housing Review had only just been
completed, the Sheltered Housing Co-ordinators helped to explain its
outcomes and the implications for individual tenants who raised specific
concerns;

¢ What would be involved if either an ALMO or a housing transfer option was
recommended by the Review? What would happen next? How would this
affect security of tenure?

e Some of the questions put to the ITA by tenants using the Freephone, email
and on line Tenant Forum services have been to ask specific issues relating
to their own individual circumstances, their tenancy agreement, detailed
aspects of council housing policy, and the questioning of recent Council
decisions or their implications for the Review. These have either been
answered by the ITA or the ITA has referred these enquiries directly to the
council for a reply.

4. Summary and Conclusions

The overall purpose of the Phase 1 ITA consultation has been one of raising
awareness and understanding of the scope, purpose, content and potential
implications of the HOR. The information has generally been well received although
there is some concern about the potential future implications of the outcome of the
Review. We would have liked more tenants to get involved, but at this early stage in
the process, we consider it to be a good start to the wider engagement of NBC
tenants in the HOR consultation. We would hope to build upon the level of
involvement in subsequent stages of the consultation, as more information goes out
to tenants from both the Council and the ITA, and by extending the geographic
coverage of the ITA drop-ins and by holding them at more varied times of the day
and week.

Christine Bailey,
PS Consultants,
Northampton ITA
7 February 2013

74
336



Appendix 11 ITA Report on Phase 2 Outreach Programme

Report to Northampton Borough Council Housing Options Review (HOR)
Team and Northampton Tenant Panel

Summary of the Phase 2 HOR Consultation with Tenants

Carried out by PS Consultants, Northampton Independent Tenant Adviser

AU

(ITA) during April — May 2013

10 July 2013
1. Purpose of the Report

This is to summarise the second phase of tenant consultation on the Housing
Options Review (HOR) carried out across the Borough by PS Consultants, the
Northampton Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) during April and May 2013. The
purpose of each of the 3 stages of the HOR consultation is for the ITA to: provide
information; develop involvement and understanding; and answer tenants’ questions
about the scope, progress and potential implications of the HOR.

This phase 2 consultation summary provides feedback to the Northampton Tenant
Panel and the Council on what tenants have said to the ITA to facilitate a two way
flow of information during the HOR process. In this way the opinions of tenants not
actively involved with the Northampton Tenants Panel, but who have taken part in
the outreach consultation programme, can considered within the Review.

2. How the Phase 2 ITA Consultation was Carried Out

The second phase of the HOR consultation followed a similar method to that used
successfully in Stage 1. Following discussion with the Northampton Tenant Panel a
wider selection of community venues were included in this consultation programme
to be as accessible as possible to draw more tenants into the Review.

The ITA carried out the consultation by:

¢ Using the ITA Newsletter 2 to update all NBC tenant and leaseholder
households. In it we: reminded tenants of the ITA’s role; explained the progress
made so far during the Review; set out in detail the 6 housing options under
consideration; invited tenants to attend the Council’'s second Tenant
Conference; advertised the ITA telephone and on-line advice services to get
more information and/or to ask any questions; and we published the times,
dates and venues of the ITA outreach programme;

¢ Contacting the 19 Residents Associations and the Brookside Resident Council
across Northampton, to ask if we could attend one of their meetings. These
evening meetings are open to all residents in the area. We asked each
Association if they could make the ITA’s attendance known to the NBC tenants
living in their area as far as practical.

75
337



e Producing posters to advertise each of the 42 informal ITA drop-in meetings
and ITA attendance at 6 area based residents meetings. The Brookside
Residents’ Council also advertised the attendance of the ITA in their local
newsletter which was distributed over 1,800 households;

¢ Inviting any member of the Panel to join the ITA at any convenient drop-in so
that they could hear the views and issues which tenants raised with the ITA and
to join in the discussion.

e Taking part in both sessions of the Tenant Conference arranged by the
Council’s Housing department on 16 and 17 May 2013 to discuss tenants’
expectations from the Council’s housing service (a key element of the HOR).

o Talking individually to tenants through the ITA telephone advice line, text,
email, and freepost services, and through the interactive on line Tenant Forum
on the ITA website where tenants can talk on line to each other as well as ask
questions of the ITA. These advice services have been operating throughout
the HOR, but are often used most after the distribution of an ITA newsletter
which prompts tenants to make use of these services;

e Updating the ITA web site. This contains the ITA newsletters; the ITA outreach
programme and a map of the venues; a series of ITA Fact Sheets to give
tenants more information about the 6 housing options being considered under
the Review; copies of the presentations given by the ITA to the Northampton
Tenants Panel; and by

e \Writing to other community support agencies, in particular the Children’s
Centres and others suggested by some Panel members to raise their
awareness that the HOR is underway, to ask them to make the ITA newsletter
2 available for their clients to read and to offer that the ITA hosts a drop-in in
their premises for any of their clients who are NBC tenants. An example is the
ITA drop-in held at Ecton Brook Children’s Centre.

As a result the ITA:

o Talked to 142 tenants in the 42 drop-ins which were held in the community
rooms linked to the council’s sheltered housing across Northampton, in the
Guildhall foyer and in community centres/other community venues located
close to areas of NBC housing;

e Attended 6 local Resident Association and 1 Resident Council meeting. We
spoke to all 110 residents who attended these meetings though we are not sure
how many of these were NBC tenants. This has certainly helped to raise
awareness and understanding of what the Review is about at a local level;

e Updated the 208 tenants who attended the Tenant Conference about the HOR.
We also answered individual questions from 21 of these tenants at the ITA
advice desk in the Conference Exhibition.

e 29 tenants have contacted the ITA using the telephone and on line advice
services, some more than once;

76
338



As a result of the outreach activities in Phase 2 carried out by the ITA we have met
or spoken with, or had contact with 373 NBC tenants and in addition, by attending
the local area residents’ meetings we have spoken to a further 110 residents (some
of whom are NBC tenants) during the Phase 2 HOR Consultation.

5. The Feedback Received During the Phase 2 HOR Consultation
The bulk of the Phase 2 ITA consultation focussed upon:

e An update on what the HOR is about; who is involved in these discussions;
the work done to date; what still needs to be done; when and how a decision
will be made;

e The evidence provided by the stock condition and tenants’ surveys both
carried out in 2012 and the information still required to complete the Review
eg new guidance expected from Government; quality and performance
standards for the housing management service and financial information on
the costs of providing the housing service now and in the future;

e A discussion about each of the 6 housing options; why these are being
considered; what each might mean for tenants; and the difference between,
and implications of, retention and transfer for tenants, the Council and the
Council’s housing staff team;

e The factors which will be considered in trying to make an objective
comparison between what each of the 6 housing options might offer to
tenants, the Council and staff in the housing service;

e An outline of the timetable for completion of this work and how the findings
from the Review will be considered by the Northampton Tenant Panel, the
HOP and recommendations made for the Cabinet and full Council to consider;

¢ A reminder to expect further opportunities to be involved in the HOR, a third
ITA outreach drop-in programme in autumn 2013, and to use the ITA advice
services for any questions or concerns in the meantime.

Some tenants have treated the drop-ins as just that. Most tenants using the
community rooms have regarded them as a meeting and an open discussion. This
has allowed the ITA to explain in detail why the 6 housing options are being
considered and what each might mean for tenants (including the potential
implications should either the ALMO or one of the housing transfer options be
chosen as the preferred outcome of the Review). This has given the tenants who
have been involved a good understanding of the issues being considered by the
Review and the reassurance that tenants’ needs and priorities will be central to the
HOR decision making process.

There was some discussion at the meetings about the Council listening to tenants’
aspirations for the future condition of their homes, neighbourhood and the housing
service; what this might cost; and whether a higher standard than the Government’s
basic minimum DHS quality standard could be achieved. Some concern was
expressed that the quality of the works carried out in the DHS programme to date;
that the tenant’s views and wishes are being overlooked in the discussion about the

77
339



DHS improvements to their home and the need for more rigorous
inspection/enforcement of contractor performance and quality standards by the
Council.

At every meeting we clarified questions relating to tenants’ rights and entitlements
particularly relating to: security of tenure, tenants’ right to buy; future rent increases
and whether these would vary across the options; entitlement to housing benefit; the
impact of Government changes to welfare benefits on tenants and on the housing
management service;

Local concerns and issues were raised in some areas relating to: the current
condition of tenants’ homes and the neighbourhood around; we were given some
suggestions from tenants for environmental improvements through dropped kerbs to
improve access between their home and vehicles for disabled or frail tenants and for
dealing with maintenance of a neglected corner on Goldcrest Court (which we have
passed on); delays in DHS work being carried out or when planned DHS work would
be carried out, and reassurance that the HOR would not delay it.

Some tenants raised individual issues around problems arising from dissatisfaction
with improvement works and/or repairs that had been carried out in their home, or in
some cases not yet carried out. The Sheltered Housing Co-ordinators in attendance
at some of these meetings undertook to deal with these individual matters or the ITA
has referred these issues through the HOR team to the Council’s housing
management team to respond directly to the tenant.

Some of the questions put to the ITA by tenants using the telephone, email and on
line Tenant Forum services have been to ask specific issues relating to their own
individual circumstances, their tenancy agreement, detailed aspects of council
housing policy, and the questioning of recent Council decisions or their implications
for the Review. These have either been answered by the ITA or we have referred
these enquiries directly to the Council for a reply.

4. Summary and Conclusions

The overall purpose of the Phase 2 ITA consultation has been one of raising
awareness and understanding of the scope, purpose, content and potential
implications of the HOR. The evidence is that the information has generally been
well received. For the tenants who have taken part in the outreach programme their
level of understanding about the issues which the Review is considering, the 6
options under consideration and the process has increased and is clear.

We would have liked more tenants to get involved, but at this mid-way stage in the
Review process, we consider the response and feedback we are getting from
tenants to be balanced and proportionate.

Naturally there some tenants who are concerned about the potential future
implications of ‘change’ should an option which does involve either change to the
management of the housing service and/or the transfer of ownership (and
management) of council housing be proposed as the recommended outcome of the
Review.

78
340



As the ITA we hope to build further upon the awareness and the level of active
involvement of NBC tenants in the HOR process during the last but crucial stage of
the consultation in autumn 2013. Both the Council and the ITA will offer more
information and opportunities for tenants to take part in the HOR. As the ITA we will
make suggestions to and ask the Northampton Tenant Panel and the Council for
their ideas about how we might widen tenant engagement in the last of the Housing
Options Review.

Christine Bailey,
PS Consultants,
Northampton ITA
10 July 2013

79
341



Appendix 12 ITA Report on Phase 3 Outreach Programme

Report to Northampton Borough Council Housing Options Review (HOR)
Team and Northampton Tenant Panel

Summary of the Phase 3 HOR Consultation with Tenants

Carried out by PS Consultants, Northampton Independent Tenant Adviser

AULIIMNG

(ITA) during August — September 2013

25 October 2013
1. Purpose of the Report

This is to summarise the third phase of tenant consultation on the Housing Options
Review (HOR) carried out across the Borough by PS Consultants, the Northampton
Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) during August and September 2013. This was an
extra round of outreach agreed following the request from PEMBA Residents’
Association for the ITA to give their members an update on the Review’s progress
for two reasons: on the original timetable the Review would have been due for
completion and because of concern about confusion amongst tenants living in
sheltered housing with the Council’s own Sheltered Housing Review.

This additional stage of the HOR consultation was only advertised by the ITA posters
being sent by the Council to all sheltered tenants to invite them to attend an ITA
drop-in in one of the Council’s 28 Community Rooms closest to their home. The aim
was to update tenants on the revised timetable for the conclusion of the boroughwide
Housing Options Review and to provide information and answer tenants’ questions
about the scope, progress and potential implications of the HOR. It was also an
opportunity to remind tenants living in the sheltered accommodation of the ITA
information services available by phone, text, online and by freepost if they had any
questions or concerns and were unable to attend one of the informal drop-in
meetings.

As a result the ITA:

e Talked to 114 tenants in the 28 drop-ins in the community rooms linked to the
council’s sheltered housing across Northampton,

e 21 tenants contacted the ITA using the telephone advice services mainly to
apologise if they could not attend the drop-in meeting or to tell us about their
concerns, mainly in relation to the Sheltered Housing Review or around issues
with their home — repairs that were needed or in respect of the Decent Homes
Standard work. As the ITA we have either advised in general terms, or asked
tenants to contact the Council directly or we have referred some of these
individual enquiries directly to the Council for a reply

2. The Content of the Phase 3 ITA Drop-in Meetings

80
342



The bulk of the Phase 3 ITA consultation focussed upon:

e A reminder of what the HOR is about; who is involved in these discussions;
the work done to date; what still needs to be done; when and how a decision
will be made;

e The evidence provided by the stock condition and tenants’ surveys both
carried out in 2012, the development of the proposed Northampton Standard,
an overview of the financial position, the agreement of the scoring criteria and
how the Tenant’s Panel and the Council’s housing service employees
involved through the Employee Focus Group will evaluate the 5 alternative
housing options to reach recommendations for the Housing Options Panel to
consider.

e A discussion about: why these 5 housing options are being considered; what
each might mean for tenants; the difference between, and implications of,
retention and transfer for tenants, the Council and the Council’s housing staff
team; and why the retention with no service review has been taken out of the
Review at this stage as no longer relevant;

¢ An outline of the timetable for completion of this work and how the findings
from the Review will be considered by the Northampton Tenant Panel, the
HOP and recommendations made for the Cabinet and full Council to consider;

¢ A reminder to expect a last round of ITA outreach drop-in programme in
autumn 2013, and to use the ITA advice services for any questions or
concerns in the meantime.

Some tenants have attended more than one ITA drop-in so are comfortable with their
format and have regarded them as an open discussion. This has allowed the ITA to
explain in detail and it has given these tenants a good understanding of the issues
being considered by the Review. We have offered reassurance that tenants’ needs
and priorities will be central to the HOR decision making process.

There was some discussion at the meetings about the Council needing to listen
more to tenants on other housing issues. The timing of the third phase of ITA drop-
ins had cut across letters being sent to sheltered tenants by the Council’s
Independent Living staff team, so some tenants were confused as to whether the ITA
drop-ins were instead of the promised individual home visits. Some concern was
inevitably expressed about repairs that had not yet been carried out, the timing and
scope of the works in the DHS programme to date; rents and the impact of the
recent Government changes to welfare benefits on older or disabled tenants.

At every meeting we clarified questions relating to tenants’ rights and entitlements
particularly around: security of tenure, tenants’ right to buy; future rent increases and
whether these would vary across the options; entitlement to housing benefit; the
impact of Government changes to welfare benefits on tenants and on the housing
management service.

81
343



3. Summary and Conclusions

The overall purpose of the Phase 3 ITA consultation has been to remind tenants of
the scope, the revised timetable for completion of the Review, and to offer
reassurance about the potential impact once a recommendation is made.

As always we would have liked more tenants to get involved, but at this stage in the
Review process, we consider the response and feedback we are getting from
tenants to be balanced and proportionate and we have tenants who regularly attend
the ITA drop-ins in their area.

Naturally there some tenants are concerned about the potential future implications of
‘change’ should an option which does involve either change to the management of
the housing service and/or the transfer of ownership (and management) of council
housing be proposed as the recommended outcome of the Review but at this stage
we were able to say that from current Government guidance about housing transfer,
the 3 transfer options do not seem to be viable financially.

We promised a fourth and final programme of ITA drop-ins when we expected to
have the outcome of the assessment of the 5 options and possibly the proposed
recommendation from the HOP for Council to consider.

AS a result of the ITA outreach programme we have clearly got a core of sheltered
housing tenants who have followed the progress of the Council’s Housing Options
Review and who want to be told about its recommendations.

Christine Bailey,
PS Consultants,
Northampton ITA
25 October 2013

82
344



Appendix 13 ITA Report on Phase 4 Outreach Programme

Report to Northampton Borough Council Housing Options Review (HOR)
Team and Northampton Tenant Panel

Summary of the Final Phase 4 HOR Consultation with Tenants

Carried out by PS Consultants, Northampton Independent Tenant Adviser

AU

COMMUNITIES (ITA) from 28 October — 11 December 2013

Interim Report prepared 18 November 2013
1. Purpose of the Interim Report

This is to summarise the attendance and feedback received so far from the last
phase of tenant consultation on the Housing Options Review (HOR) which PS
Consultants, the Northampton Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) has carried out
mainly in the Council’'s 28 Community Rooms and by meeting with 6 of the 20 area
based Resident Associations across Northampton. This last phase of outreach offers
an additional 42 opportunities for tenants and leaseholders to meet with the ITA,
including 4 evening drop-in meetings in the Community Rooms in areas of more
mixed council housing. This Interim Report adds to the verbal update to the Housing
Options Panel at its meeting on 7 November 2013. This phase of outreach will be
completed on 11 December 2013.

The ITA HOR consultation timetable was advertised in full in the ITA Newsletter 3
which the Council posted to all its tenants and leaseholders across the Borough. The
Council also posted a copy of the ITA poster to all sheltered tenants to invite them to
attend an ITA drop-in in the Community Room closest to their home.

This last phase of ITA outreach gave the ITA the opportunity to explain to tenants
and leaseholders the recommendation from the HOR to manage the housing service
at ‘arm’s length’ from the Council, by setting up an ALMO or an Arm’s Length
Management Organisation. This is a difficult concept for many tenants to grasp: that
the Council would be the landlord or the owner of the homes, but that it would
delegate the day to day management to the ALMO, which the Council would set up
and own.

As the ITA we have been explaining:
e How this recommendation was reached by both the Tenants’ Panel and the
Employee Focus Group.
What an ALMO would mean.
How an ALMO might operate from experience elsewhere.
What difference it might make.
The possible next steps if the Council agree with this recommendation in
December 2013.

In addition the ITA information services are available by phone, text, online and by
freepost so we have provided information to answer individual questions. We have
advertised in the ITA and Council’s newsletter the offer of home visits by the ITA for
tenants who cannot attend a drop-in give another opportunity for direct contact to
explain the ALMO proposal and to reply to individual questions or concerns.

83
345



Appendix 13 ITA Report on Phase 4 Outreach Programme

As a result the ITA:

e Talked to 128 tenants in the 32 drop-ins in the 28 community rooms or one of

the 4 Residents’ Association meetings held to date;

Spoke to 140 tenants who contacted the ITA using either the Council’s or the
ITA telephone advice services;

e 5 home visits which the ITA has carried out to date in the week beginning

Monday 11 November from a list of 12 requests received from the Council.

2. The Content of the Phase 4 ITA Drop-in Meetings

The content of the Phase 4 ITA consultation has focussed upon:

A brief reminder of the 5 options currently in the Review

An explanation of how the scoring was carried out; the 8 groups of scoring
criteria used; discussion of the issues that were important for tenants and the
housing service employees who did the scoring; how each of the 5 housing
options were ranked through the scoring

Discussion of what an ALMO is; how it would differ from the Council directly
managing the housing service; how ALMO’s have worked elsewhere; how an
ALMO might be set up in Northampton if the Council agrees to the proposal

Discussion of the next steps in developing the ideas for the ALMO, including
how the ALMO Board might be set up; who would be on the Board; how roles
and responsibilities might be set out between the Council and the ALMO; and
the information that tenants would need to keep them informed of progress,
the issues arising and the opportunity to be considered as a tenant on the
ALMO Board

The evidence used to inform the Review process: the stock condition and
tenants’ surveys both carried out in 2012, the development of the proposed
Northampton Standard; what works would be included; the financial position
and its impact on the 5 HOR options.

Offered reassurance about tenants’ rights & entitlements not changing
through the ALMO; that the Council still sets the rents in line with government
guidance; that entitlement to claim benefits does not change if an ALMO
manages council homes; and that tenants’ needs and priorities will be central
to the objectives of the ALMO.

Some tenants have attended more than one ITA drop-in so are comfortable with their
format and have regarded them as an open discussion. This has allowed the ITA to
explain in detail and build up knowledge and understanding. It has given these
tenants a good understanding of the issues being considered by the Review.

84
346



Appendix 13 ITA Report on Phase 4 Outreach Programme

From the issues tenants have raised with the ITA during the drop-ins, there is no
evidence of any real concern about the ALMO. In the main tenants have said that if
this will improve the housing service, deliver better value for money and raise
performance and quality standards, then it should be given the time and resources to
be properly set up and the opportunity to see what difference the ALMO can make.

The concerns raised with the ITA were inevitably expressed about repairs that had
not yet been carried out; the timing, scope, the quality of the workmanship and
problems around the snagging not being carried out to the satisfaction of the tenant
under the DHS programme; poor communication between the Council and tenants in
the planning and the agreement of the work required and in confirming the timescale
for their implementation; and the need for money to be spent on environmental
works to footpaths and to deal with access issues for some tenants at the same time
as the work to the home is being carried out.

Some tenants asked about how the ALMO would be funded. Has the decision
already been made? Where would the money come from? How the ALMO Board
would be set up? How quickly would it happen? Will the DHS work still be delivered?
When would the Northampton work start and where?

At every meeting we answered questions relating to tenants’ rights and entitlements
particularly around: security of tenure, tenants’ right to buy; future rent increases;
entitlement to housing benefit; the impact of Government changes to welfare benefits
on tenants and on the housing management service.

3. Summary and Conclusions

The overall purpose of the last phase of ITA consultation about the HOR has been to
explain the ALMO recommendation, the timetable for the council to make its
decision, and to offer reassurance about the potential impact of this option once a
recommendation is made.

As always we would have liked more tenants to get involved. All tenants and
leaseholders have received information through the council and ITA newsletters;
have had the opportunity to attend the Tenant Conferences and/or talk to the ITA
through various means. We have no evidence of any adverse response from tenants
to the proposed ALMO recommendation. We consider the response and feedback
we are getting from tenants to be balanced and proportionate. There seems to be an
appetite to try the ALMO given the council is still the landlord, and that the decision
can be reversed if the ALMO does not prove to be successful.

As a result of the ITA outreach programme we have clearly got a core of sheltered
housing tenants who have followed the progress of the Council’s Housing Options
Review and who understand its recommendation and the likely next steps.

Christine Bailey,
PS Consultants,
Northampton ITA
18 November 2013

85
347



Housing Options Panel

Key Doc 4

Housing Stock Options Review Report

Version: Final

Version Date: November 2013

Tenant Members

Steve Whitehead
Katherine Bennett
Norman Adams
Phil Humphris
Tony Mallard

YOUR

Housing Options Panel
Councillor Members

Clir David Mackintosh

Clir Mary Markham

Clir Lee Mason

CliIr Sally Beardsworth

Clir Sivaramen Subbarayan
Clir Terry Wire

Reviewing the future

Employee Members

Lee Clark
Hannah Evans
Lee Martin
Jackie Taylor

Jonathan Swann

of Northampton's housing

348




Foreword

Key Documents are documents that will be referenced throughout a series of reports. This
series comprises; this Housing Options Panel Report, Employee Focus Group Report, Tenants’
Panel Report, Independent Tenant Adviser Report, and the Northampton Borough Council
Report on the Housing Options Review.

Key Documents associated with this report are detailed below. All Key Documents, appendices
and background documents, not published with this report, associated with the review are
available for viewing on the Council's website or by contacting the Housing Options Review
Team tel: 0300 330 7004

349



Contents

HOUSING OPLIONS PANEL........oouiiiieieieeee ettt e ebeste st e nee e eneenens 1
Housing Stock Options REVIEW REPOIT.........ccviiiiiieieeceeee ettt 1
SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .......coo i iiiiiimrereeremeeeeesssmseeeessssmn e s e s smne e e s e mneeeeas 5
1.1 Summary of key points and recommendations from the Housing Options Panel........ 5
SECTION 2: INTRODUCTION........coiiiiiiieeeereme e e eesemee s e e ssmme e s e s smn e s s s mne e s s smme e e e smneeeean 7
2.1 The Housing Options Panel - Purpose of the Panel............ccocoveveieieiniineneciecieeeee 7
2.2 Membership of the Pane€l ... 7
2.3  Review Mission Statement..........coociiiiiiiie e 9
SECTION 3: THE PROCESS ........oiiiiiceriirireesesmee s e e ssmse e s e me e e e s mn e e e e smme e eesssmneeeeas 9
3.1 How the Group operated / WOIKEd...........ooeeieiiiieieiceeee e 9
3.2 The HOUSING OPLIONS ......ciiiriiiiiiieieie ettt e 9
3.3 Subjects covered through the REVIEW ...........cccoviiiiiiiiniiic e 11
SECTION 4: EFG, TP and ITA REPORTS to the HOP...........ccccciiiniiirenee e 12
4.1 Reporting t0 the HOP ..ot 12
4.2  Employee FOCUS Group REPOI.......ccoiieieiiiiecieeeeeese et 12
4.3  Tenants Panel REPOI........oo ittt et 14
4.4  Independent Tenants’ AdVISEr REPOIT .........coiouiiieiiiicecce e et 16
SECTION 5: CONCLUSIONS........coiiiiiieeeeeemee s e e me e e e s ssmne e e e s mne e s e s smme e e e e s smme e e e enmnneeaan 17
5.1 HOP Panel Considerations..........coccoeveieiririnirieiein ettt 17
5.2 HOP PANEI VOIE ...t et 18
5.3  HOP Panel AcKnowledgements. ... 19
SECTION 6: RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET .......cooiciieeeeceeeeeesme e e s smee e smmne e 19
6.1  HOP Panel Recommendations ..........cccoeiriiiriiininieninieenee e 19
3

350



Key Document Number Key Document Name

TP Final Report
EFG Final Report
ITA Final Report

HOP Terms of Reference

2 N W N

6 Scoring Framework
21 Nov 13 Conference Feedback

351



SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Summary of key points and recommendations from the Housing Options Panel

The Housing Options Panel (HOP) worked alongside two other key stakeholder engagement
groups, the Tenants Panel (TP) and the Employee Focus Group (EFG) to recommend a
preferred option to Cabinet and Council on the future ownership, funding and management of its

Council Housing Stock.

The HOP oversaw what it considers to be a very robust, detailed and evidence based process,
receiving a variety of information and evidence, and whilst considering the views and
information from the TP and EFG, made its decisions based on the factual information

presented.

The HOP considered five options from an initial ten and covered a variety of subjects as well as

receiving the same formal presentations as the TP and EFG.

Three reports were presented to the HOP;

e Employee Focus Group Housing Stock Options Review Report

e The Report of the Northampton Tenants’ Panel

e Report of PS Consultants (Independent Tenant Adviser)
The first two reports detailed the groups’ own process and key issues, the options criteria and
finally the groups’ conclusions and recommendations. The report from the ITA summarised its

role, their work programme and their observation on the Options appraisal process.

The TP and EFG groups both recommended the ALMO option and both groups reached the

same conclusion on the ranking order for the remaining 4 options.

It is strongly recommended that the reports detailed above are read alongside this report to fully
appreciate the reasons for the recommendations selected by both the EFG and TP. The ITA
report should also be considered alongside these reports when considering the robustness of

the process that has been undertaken by the Council, in carrying out this review.

352



After discussing in detail these reports and considering other information such as wider tenant
views received from the conferences held in November 2013, the HOP members voted
unanimously to support the EFG and TP recommendations to select the ALMO Option.
Following consideration of all of the evidence and information received to date, the HOP

recommends to Cabinet that;

1. The ALMO Option is approved for implementation

2. That any substantial change to the future of the delivery/management and ownership
of Housing services should be preceded by a robust Options Appraisal process
(except in the event of a risk of serious detriment to tenants and/or tenant services)

3. The ALMO should be created as a true Arms Length managed organisation to
ensure the ALMO has sufficient autonomy to make decisions for the benefit of tenant
services and improvement

4. The implementation phase for the option chosen should continue to include a
comprehensive programme of consultation and engagement with the key
stakeholders to ensure that they are well informed and remain at the heart of the
process. This should specifically include the continued involvement of the
Northampton Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group, working both separately
and jointly

5. The Council considers adopting the consultation and engagement approach used
within this review across other service areas within the Council

6. The Council considers adopting a process for employees from all services to be
actively involved in further policy development and continuous improvement activity

to improve internal processes and systems.

353



SECTION 2: INTRODUCTION

2.1 The Housing Options Panel - Purpose of the Panel

The Housing Options Review (HOR) process was initiated to look into all the potential options for
the future ownership, funding and management of its Council Housing Stock, to examine which
option could most appropriately deliver the improvements needed to council homes, estates and
housing services.

2.2 Membership of the Panel

The Housing Options Panel (HOP) was set up to work alongside two other key stakeholder
engagement groups. These were the Tenants’ Panel (TP), a borough-wide open panel for any
tenant to participate actively in the Review and an Employee Focus Group (EFG) made up from
employees who volunteered to take part from across the service. The Tenants’ Panel and
Employee Focus Group selected five members from their groups, following a presentation of a
personal statement as to how and why they should be chosen to represent their respective
panels. In addition to the five tenant and five employee representatives, five senior cross-party

Councillors made up the full HOP membership.

Membership of the Panel is as follows;

Name Designation of Representative
David Mackintosh Councillor — Conservative
Leader of the Council, Chair of Cabinet
Hannah Evans Employee
Jackie Taylor Employee
Jonathan Swann Employee
Kat Bennett Tenant
Lee Clark Employee
Lee Martin Employee
Lee Mason Councillor - Deputy Leader Labour
Mary Markham Councillor — Conservative
Deputy Chair of Cabinet
7

354



Cabinet Member for Housing

Norman Adams

Tenant

Phil Humphris

Tenant

Sally Beardsworth

Councillor — Leader of the Liberal Democrats

Sivaramen Subbarayan

Councillor — Labour

Shadow Cabinet Member for Environment

Steve Whitehead Tenant
Terry Wire Councillor — Leader of the Labour Group
Tony Mallard Tenant

In addition to the above members, the Independent Tenants’ Adviser (PS Consultants)

(ITA) was present at every HOP meeting to offer impartial advice and information and support

the tenant HOP representatives.

The HOP first met in November 2012 and one of the first decisions it made was to agree its

Terms of Reference (key document 7) and agree that its purpose within the review was to

oversee the Housing Options Review process being undertaken by the Council

by:

e Meeting regularly to receive reports on the issues from Council officers and advisors and

to undertake visits and/or receive reports on experiences elsewhere in relation to all

potential outcomes;

e Reviewing the programme plan for the HOR process;

e Agreeing to and contributing to the outcomes of the communications and involvement

strategy;

e Monitoring progress of completion of tasks and activity identified on the agreed

programme plan;

e Ensuring the HOR process can be considered “independent” and that views of all

interested parties are incorporated and to undertake the process in a way that is

informed, transparent and inclusive;

e Remaining open-minded to all the options under detailed examination in order to

demonstrably show to the stakeholders that the HOP is undertaking its work in a fair

manner; and

o Recommending a preferred option to the Council’s Cabinet.

355




2.3 Review Mission Statement

The HOP also agreed what they wanted to achieve though the Housing Options review process
at its first meeting. The following Mission Statement was developed and endorsed by the Panel
on 23 November 2012;
To seek to identify the most tenant focussed option for the future management and ownership of
the Council’'s housing which:
e Secures tenants’ rights
e Minimises tenants’ costs
e Meets the quality of standards of home and environmental improvement which tenants
wish to see
e Is sustainable in the long-term
o Appraises the potential contribution the various landlord options could have towards
meeting the need for additional affordable homes and the regeneration of estates
e Takes into account the impact on the Council

e Takes into account the impact on the Employees.

SECTION 3: THE PROCESS

3.1 How the Group operated / worked

The HOP was designated to oversee the HOR process. Members of the HOP received the
same information and presentations as the TP and EFG. The HOP members were asked to
remain impartial and open minded through the process and consider information and views from
the TP and EFG. The HOP made decisions throughout the process, based on factual
information, removing subjectivity and where the views of the panel were not unanimous;
decisions were made by accepting the majority view. Similarly, the final decision on the
recommendation it makes within this report, to the Council’s Cabinet, has followed this same

approach.

3.2 The Housing Options

At the start of the review process, the Housing Options Review Team presented a
comprehensive list of potential options for the TP, EFG and HOP to consider taking forward

throughout the review. The HOP were satisfied with the initial list presented and the ITA

9

356



subsequently endorsed the initial list as ‘the most comprehensive and rational ones that could
have been chosen’ and that ‘no realistic options had been omitted’. (key document 3 - Report of
PS Consultants October 2013).

The ten options identified at the start of the review were as follows:
¢ Retention with no change to the operation of the service
e Retention with a major service review
e Retention with an ALMO
e Transfer to a stand-alone association
e Transfer to a mutual association
e Transfer to become a subsidiary of an existing association
o Transfer to be absorbed by an existing association without any Northampton status
e Transfer to a Community Gateway organisation
e Private Finance Initiative (PFI)

e Contracting out the Housing Service

In autumn 2012, the HOP received a recommendation from the TP and EFG independently on
how the ten options could be reduced. The HOP discussed the issues raised by the EFG and

TP and subsequently decided to reduce the options to six, removing the following:

Option removed Reason

Transfer - absorbed by an existing housing No governance or ownership. Judged as not

association without any Northampton status | likely to be supported by tenants

Transfer - to a Community Gateway Mutual model offered more in terms of tenant
organisation involvement in governance
PFI Hostility already experienced to PFI scheme.

Also unlikely to attract funding due to end of
Central Government financial support for

housing PFlI

Contracting out the Housing Service Marginalised tenant involvement and

removes direct council control

In early summer 2013, the HOP made a further decision to reduce the options further, by

removing the ‘Retention with no change to the operation of the service'. This decision was made

due to the Tenant Survey showing significant weaknesses in service delivery, which would be

unacceptable if allowed to continue. Also, in parallel to the Review, improvements identified as
10

357



part of the review had already started to be implemented. The development and introduction of
tenant-led Service Improvement Panels (SIPs) was considered by the HOP as the beginning of
a major service review, thereby leaving the retention with no change option as no longer

possible.

3.3 Subjects covered through the Review

The HOP received a variety of information and evidence gathered throughout the review to
create debate and support the decisions made by the HOP. This included presentations,
reports, discussions, workshops and consideration of TP and EFG recommendations. The HOP
also received feedback from stakeholders via the ITA outreach programmes and phone support
line. In addition to this, feedback was presented from views obtained through formal review

consultation activity such as newsletters, conferences and the Tenants’ Survey.

The subjects covered in HOP sessions were as follows:
e The options for the future of the housing stock
o Working towards the criteria for the review
e Key findings from the Stock Condition Survey and how this was to be taken forward
o Development of the proposals for a new Northampton Standard — service and
performance aspects
o Tenants’ rights and how these were affected by the options
e Scoring criteria development, scoring framework and examples of weightings
e How the options may have affected employees, including employee rights
e Process of offer document approval and ballot
e Financial presentations, to include implications of the Government Guidance
e Receiving EFG, TP and IT presentations and reports on the Review, including their

scoring outcomes and recommendations

The sessions closely followed the content of the TP and EFG, with all formal presentations
being made to the HOP to ensure that Councillor HOP members had the benefit of the same
knowledge as tenant and employee members, prior to any discussions and decisions held

within the HOP meetings.

11

358



SECTION 4: EFG, TP and ITA REPORTS to the HOP

4.1 Reporting to the HOP

The HOP received reports and presentations detailing the recommendations of which option
had been chosen and reasons for the selection from each of the following groups in October
2013:

e The Employee Focus Group (Key Document 2)

e The Tenants’ Panel (Key Document 1)

In addition to the above two reports, the HOP also received a report and presentation from the
ITA (Key Document 3), which provided an overview of the process and gave their views on the
way the Council had conducted the Housing Options Review in terms of its;

e Balance

e Comprehensiveness

e Competence

e The Role of the ITA

Below is a brief overview of each of the reports, including each group’s role within the Review
process and the outcomes and recommendations each group wishes to make to the HOP. It is
strongly recommended that the full reports are read alongside this report to fully appreciate the
reasons for the recommendations selected by both the EFG and TP. The ITA report should also
be considered alongside these reports when considering the robustness of the process that has

been undertaken by the Council, in carrying out this review.
4.2 Employee Focus Group Report

The EFG presented their report to the HOP by providing details of the 12 members of the Group
and their role within the Housing Service and confirmed its purpose, which was to ensure the
Review process considered the things that mattered the most to employees and make their
views known to the HOP. The EFG met 22 times, with a further 11 joint meetings with the TP;

this meant that each EFG member gave approximately 240 hours to the process.

The EFG highlighted that they had received and considered evidence and information across a
wide subject area concerning the review process and its implications. The Group had a detailed
understanding to enable them to review and make decisions on a number of key issues

including:

12

359



e The Stock Condition Survey

e The Tenant Survey

e The development of the Northampton Standard
e Financial issues

e The Government’s draft consultation paper

o The development of the options criteria

e The development of the scoring process for each of the options

The EFG, together with the TP, also received visits from Authorities that had completed their
options process and were now either an ALMO or had completed a Stock Transfer. The visiting

organisations presented and responded to questions from the EFG and TP.

All of the sessions held and the information gathered from the visits enabled the EFG to select
criteria that were important to both employees and tenants for inclusion within the evaluation
framework. The EFG and TP jointly selected 46 criteria to compare the options across eight

themes. The detailed criteria for comparing the options is detailed in Key Document 16.

The report clearly documented that the EFG felt that the review process had been conducted in
a fair and transparent way and they confirmed that EFG members had not been led or

influenced, and had made their recommendations based on factual information.

The scoring outcome determined unanimously that their recommended option was for an
ALMO, as it scored strongly over all eight criteria groups. The detailed scoring outcome for the
EFG is contained in key document 2 -The Employee Focus Group Housing Stock Options

Review Report. In summary, the scores for the options from the EFG were as follows;

Rank Score

1. Option 2 - ALMO 3905

2 Gption 4~ Tanster —Mutual 3681
3. Option 3 - Transfer — Stand-Alone 3582

4. Option 5 — Transfer — Group Structure 3202

5. Option 1 — Retention with Service Review 3116

The EFG’s recommendation for the creation of an ALMO was supplemented by additional
points. The EFG requested that the ALMO should be fully supported with a high degree of
autonomy to support the ALMO to run at true arms length. It was also recommended that a

Shadow Board should be set up to run alongside the existing service for a period of time before
13

360



the ALMO inception date. Many members of the EFG had expressed an interest in continuing to
be involved in the implementation stage of the process following the decision made on the

review, by Full Council in December 2013.

4.3 Tenants’ Panel Report

A representative from the TP presented the TP report detailing their views on the process, their
scoring outcome and the final recommendation for the HOP. The HOP was advised that the
remit of the TP was to ensure the review considered the things that mattered most to tenants
and make their views known to the HOP. The TP reported that it was formed from 50 tenants
who had been encouraged to join the TP through various mechanisms;

e Open tenant information sessions held in August 2012

e Tenant Open Day in July 2012

¢ Review Newsletters sent to all 12,000 homes

e |psos MORI Survey held in Autumn 2012

e Tenant Conferences held in December 2012 and May 2013

The TP remained open to all tenants until August 2013. The TP made a decision to close the
Panel to new members as it was felt to be unfair to expect new tenants to gain sufficient
understanding of all the issues to allow them to fully take part in the scoring process due to be
held in September 2013.

The TP report highlighted the commitment given by those tenants taking part in the Review.
Overall, 56 tenants had been involved, with attendance averaging 30 regular attendees at
meetings. The TP met 44 times, either at ITA-led sessions or Council-led sessions, with an
additional 11 joint meetings with the EFG, meaning as a whole, the TP have collectively given

5,535 hours to the Review, averaging 15.4 hours per person, per month.

Tenants reported that they were supported throughout the Review by the ITA, who delivered
development sessions on topic areas prior to the Council covering the same topic. This enabled
tenants to be empowered with the background knowledge to actively take part in discussions
and decision making. The Group were required to have a detailed understanding to enable
them to review and make decisions on a number of key issues, including:

e The Stock Condition Survey

e The Tenant Survey

e The development of the Northampton Standard

e Financial issues
14

361



e The Government’s draft consultation paper
e The development of the options criteria

e The development of the scoring process for each of the options

As already mentioned above, the TP also received visits from Authorities that had completed
their options process and the TP reported that the visits were useful in allowing questions to be
answered ‘first hand’. The visiting organisations presented and responded to questions from the

EFG and TP regarding their own experiences.

The TP had concerns regarding their representativeness when compared to the profile of
council tenants across the borough, however the report acknowledged that the panel had been
open borough-wide and had necessarily had to rely upon volunteers. Although the panel was
not representative in terms of tenants under 49 years and women, the panel did have
representatives from varying ethnic backgrounds, tenants with disability, sensory impairment

and health support needs.

Thirty-one TP members completed the scoring exercise. Twenty scored the ALMO option the
highest, with the remaining eleven members scoring transfer to a Mutual Housing Association
the highest. The ALMO scored strongly over all eight criteria groups. The detailed scoring
outcome for the TP is contained within key document 1 - The Report of the Northampton

Tenants’ Panel. In summary, the scores for the options from the TP were as follows;

Rank Score

1. Option 2 - ALMO 13159
_2E)|cmon_4 Transfer— Mutual _12?79_ o

3. Option 3 — Transfer — Stand-Alone 12491

4. Option 5 — Transfer — Group Structure 11173

5. Option 1 — Retention with Service Review 10294

The TP therefore recommended to the HOP that the ALMO option should be pursued. In
addition to this recommendation, the TP raised further points for the HOP and the Cabinet to

take into account when making their decisions.

The TP stressed that they were keen to continue their work alongside employees and would like
to hold discussions around employees being represented on the ALMO board. The TP would
like the ALMO to be able to work at a genuine arms length from the Council.

15

362



The TP strongly recommended holding a ballot of all tenants. Regardless of whether a ballot
was supported, they wished to see comprehensive and meaningful tenant consultation

regarding the option, in the future.

The Panel believed that they should have a central role in working with the Council to establish
the ALMO and once in operation, it saw the Panel offering regular tenant oversight of the policy
and strategic role of the ALMO.

44 Independent Tenants’ Adviser Report

The ITA presented a report to the HOP on their role as ITA and on their views on how the

Council had conducted the Housing Options Review process

The HOP were advised of the process to appoint the ITA. Seven TP members, supported and
trained by NBC officers, became the selection panel to appoint their Independent Tenants’
Adviser in August 2012. The tenants defined the ITA’s role, which was to support tenant
representatives in the TP and on the HOP, providing impartial and accurate advice and
guidance on all options available. The ITA also provided advice and information to all council
tenants on the issues raised in the Review and helped ensure the information produced by the

Council for distribution to tenants was comprehensive and fair in its treatment of the issues.

The ITA reported that it had been involved in a total of 67 meetings and prepared and presented

information covering a range of topics.

The report highlighted that the ITA outreach programme work included the design and
preparation of 3 ITA newsletters, operated a 24/7 ITA information advice service, included an
online tenant forum and made contact with 19 area based Resident Associations and 1
Resident’s Council. The ITA stated that they were astonished with the quality of work
undertaken and commitment given by the TP members, advising that it was the only Panel they
had known which had produced and presented its own report. In addition, they had known of
very few EFGs that had been given equal status with a TP and who had also been responsible

for producing a separate report and they saw this as a very positive step.

One of the ITA’s tasks was to help ensure that material the tenants received was fair and
balanced. They reported that they had seen all material prior to publication and all of their
comments had been accepted and incorporated, without question. The ITA also reported that

they did not have to challenge the accuracy of any material produced by the Council.
16

363



The ITA determined that a rigorous and comprehensive approach had been undertaken in
developing the Options Criteria, and that the decisions taken to adopt the chosen set of criteria
came directly from the work done by the TP and EFG. It was also noted that the evaluation
criteria were much broader and more comprehensive than others used in options reviews
carried out elsewhere due to the fact that the financial criteria had not been designed to

determine the outcome of the appraisal in Northampton.

When appraising the representativeness of the TP, the ITA believed that it had been functionally
representative of tenant opinion. It was never defined as a representative group, but as a group
of tenants who had been empowered through knowledge to have an informed tenant

perspective on the options.

The ITA concluded that the review supported and drew on work done by the TP and that of the
EFG in the development and evaluation of the options. The ITA stated that they viewed the
evaluation framework developed in Northampton was the best that they had seen and that this,

along with many other aspects of the review, was exemplary.

SECTION 5: CONCLUSIONS

5.1 HOP Panel Considerations

The HOP acknowledges the recommendations contained within the EFG and TP reports and
confirms that it has considered in detail the scoring and basis for the recommendations made by

both groups.

The HOP agrees that the review has been an extremely robust, detailed and evidence based
process. The HOP also welcomes the report from the ITA, which has endorsed the process and

acknowledges the extensive contribution made by tenants taking part in the review.

All tenants have had the opportunity to be involved in the process and have been consulted with
throughout. There is a belief that through this process, tenants now feel more involved and
empowered to be part of a decision making process and their views and opinions have been

listened to.
The HOP confirms that before reaching their own decision on which option it wishes to

recommend to Cabinet it has;
17

364



e Taken into account the evidence and many other aspects raised within the HOP
sessions delivered throughout the review

e Fully considered the views, recommendations and the reasons for them contained within
the TP and EFG reports

e Considered the feedback received from the Tenants’ Conferences, particularly those
held in November 2013, held to present the EFG and TP preferred option. The
conferences have provided the HOP with wider tenant views regarding the Housing
Options Review process and the TP and EFG preferred option (key document 21)

e Considered the tenant feedback received from the ITA outreach programme.

5.2 HOP Panel Vote

After considering all of the information and evidence presented to date, the HOP has
unanimously voted (13 out of 13 members- 2 members absent) to support the EFG and TP
recommendations to select the ALMO Option. The HOP believes that the ALMO option most
appropriately meets all of the requirements set out in the Review Mission Statement detailed

within section 2.3 above, based on the evidence presented throughout the review.

HOP members also discussed the further recommendations and issues raised within the EFG
and TP reports.The EFG and TP reports highlighted the need to ensure continued tenant and
employee involvement in the implementation of the chosen option and in improvement activity
more widely and this was supported by the HOP. The TP report also recommended having a
tenant ballot; however the recommendation of the ALMO option was not conditional on the

holding of a tenant ballot.

HOP members debated the benefits and issues relating to the holding of a ballot. The majority
of HOP members felt that a ballot would be costly and the money could be better spent on
improving services and homes. The timescales involved in holding a ballot would also delay the
implementation of the improvements that tenants and employees had identified through the
review. A vote was held and 12 HOP members voted against recommending that the Council
should hold a ballot, in the event that the ALMO option is adopted by Full Council.

The detailed recommendations of the HOP are outlined below.

18

365



5.3 HOP Panel Acknowledgements

The HOP wishes to acknowledge the extensive work undertaken by the TP members and the
EFG and thank them for their commitment and contribution. The HOP also wishes to thank the
Council’s Housing Options Review Team and the ITA for their support throughout the review

process.

SECTION 6: RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET

6.1 HOP Panel Recommendations

Following consideration of all of the evidence and information received to date, the HOP

recommends to Cabinet that;

1. The ALMO Option is approved for implementation

2. That any substantial change to the future of the delivery/management and ownership
of Housing services should be preceded by a robust Options Appraisal process
(except in the event of a risk of serious detriment to tenants and/or tenant services)

3. The ALMO should be created as a true Arms Length managed organisation to
ensure the ALMO has sufficient autonomy to make decisions for the benefit of tenant
services and improvement

4. The implementation phase for the option chosen should continue to include a
comprehensive programme of consultation and engagement with the key
stakeholders to ensure that they are well informed and remain at the heart of the
process. This should specifically include the continued involvement of the
Northampton Tenants’ Panel and Employee Focus Group, working both separately
and jointly

5. The Council considers adopting the consultation and engagement approach used
within this review across other service areas within the Council

6. The Council considers adopting a process for employees from all services to be
actively involved in further policy development and continuous improvement activity

to improve internal processes and systems.

19

366



Agenda Item 10

Appendices = t_“ =
| §03

NORTHAMPTON
BOROUGH COUNCIL

COUNCIL
9 DECEMBER 2013

Agenda Status: Public Directorate: LGSS

Report TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT 2013-14
Title

1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform the Council of performance in relation to its
treasury management activities, including its borrowing and investment strategy,
for the period 1 April to 30 September 2013.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Council endorse the treasury management activities and performance for
the period 1 April to 30 September 2013.

3. Issues and Choices

31 Report Background
3.1.1 See Cabinet report attached

3.1.2 Members are advised that Appendix B of the Cabinet report has been updated
since being presented to Cabinet on 13 November to correct the counterparty
for the 95 day call account (£17m invested) from Bank of Scotland to NatWest
Bank. The opportunity has also been taken to tidy up the counterparty names
in the appendix, to ensure consistency in presentation.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

367



4.1.1 See Cabinet report attached
4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 See Cabinet report attached

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 See Cabinet report attached

4.4 Equality

4.4.1 See Cabinet report attached

4.5 Other Implications

4.5.1 See Cabinet report attached

5. Background Papers

5.1None
Glenn Hammons

Chief Finance Officer (LGSS)
0300 330 7000

368



Appendices R“ - ""a Item No.

10 ?{eﬂ 3
NORTHAMPTON
BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET REPORT

Report Title TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT 2013-14

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date: 13 November 2013

Key Decision: NO

Listed on Forward Plan: YES

Within Policy: YES

Policy Document: NO

Directorate: LGSS

Accountable Cabinet Member: Alan Bottwood

Ward(s) Not Applicable

1. Purpose

a) To inform the Cabinet of the Council’s performance in relation to its treasury
management activities, including its borrowing and investment strategy, for the
period 1 April to 30 September 2013.

2. Recommendations

a) That Cabinet recommend to Council that they endorse the Council’s treasury
management activities and performance for the period 1 April to 30 September
2013.

369



3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral
Guidance Notes (“the Treasury Management Code of Practice”).
The Treasury Management Code of Practice and the associated guidance
notes for local authorities include recommendations on reporting
requirements, including the requirement for an annual mid year report on
treasury activities. The table below shows how the specific reporting
requirements of the Treasury Management Code of Practice have been
incorporated into this report.
Reporting Requirement Reference
Activities undertaken 3.22-3.2.20
Appendices
B,C,D,EF
Variations (if any) from agreed policies and practices 3.2.21
Interim performance report 3.2.22-3.2.25
Appendix G
Regular monitoring 3.2.26-3.2.31
Appendix H,1,J
Monitoring of treasury management indicators for local | 3.2.28
authorities Appendix H
The following topics are also covered in this report
Topic Reference
Economic environment and interest rates 3.2.1
Appendix A
Monitoring of prudential indicators for local authorities | 3.2.28
Appendix |
Monitoring of debt financing budget 3.2.29-3.2.31
Appendix J

37



3.21

3.2.2

3.2.3

324

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

3.2 Issues and Choices
Economic Environment and Interest Rates

An analysis of the economic position as at the end of September 2013,
including the latest interest rate forecasts, is attached at Appendix A. This
information has been provided by Capita Asset Services - Treasury Solutions
(CAS Treasury Solutions), the Council’s treasury management advisors.

Activities undertaken
Investments
Appendix B shows the Council’s investment balances at 30 September 2013.

Cashflow balances available for investment come from working capital,
amounts in provisions and reserves, and funds, such as capital grants,
received in advance of expenditure. The Council’s overall investment figure as
at 30 September 2013 was £66.7m; average balances for the six-month
period to 30 September were £67.4m. The lowest and highest balances during
the period were £46.1m and £82.7m respectively.

Since the start of the current financial year, 11 new fixed term deposits have
been entered into ranging in value between £1m and £5m, at rates between
0.47% and 1.10%, and for periods between 181 and 364 days. The average
value of new fixed term investments was £2.2m, and the weighted average
interest rate achieved for fixed term deposits was 0.79%. The average
investment period was 265 days.

Fixed term deposits make up an average of 44% of the Council’s investment
portfolio, the remainder being balances held in instant access deposit
accounts, call accounts and money market funds.

Deposit accounts, call accounts and money market funds have been used
extensively during the first half of the year, in order to maintain liquidity and
security of funds. The average balance held in deposit accounts, including
notice accounts was £19m, around 29% of the Council’'s average investment
portfolio. The average balance held in instant access money market funds was
also £19m, around 28% of the Council’s average investment portfolio.

Appendix C shows the maturity profile of the Council’s investments at 30
September 2013 (remaining duration). £21m of investments are currently held
as liquid investments (money market funds and deposit accounts) or are due
to mature within the next month. Almost half of the maturing portfolio, £33m,
falls in the 3 to 6 month period. All investments will come to maturity within the
next twelve months as the few quality counterparties available to the Council
for investments over 364 days, under the Council’'s counterparty limits, are not
offering competitive rates.

CAS Treasury Solutions has advised that the Council’s historic risk of default
on its investment portfolio as at 30 September 2013 is 0.022%. This is a proxy

3713



for the average % risk for each investment based on over 30 years of data
provided by Fitch, Moody's and S&P. It provides a calculation of the possibility
of average default against the historical default rates, adjusted for the time
period within each year according to the maturity of the investment. The
Council’s risk level is very low - falling into the risk band associated with
investments under one year with counterparties with credit ratings of between
AA and A - and is consistent with the Council’s investment risk management
strategy.

3.2.9 Investment activity is carried out within the Council’s counterparty policies and
criteria, and with a clear strategy of risk management in line with the Council’s
treasury strategy for 2013-14. This ensures that the principle of considering
security, liquidity and yield, in that order (SLY), is consistently applied. Any
variations to agreed policies and practices are reported to Cabinet and Council
(See paragraphs 3.2.21 below).

Borrowing

3.2.10 Appendix D shows outstanding long-term borrowing held on the balance
sheet at 30 September 2013 at amortised cost. The total long-term debt
outstanding, including non-current finance leases, is £218m. Of this amount,
88% is in the form of PWLB borrowing, 11% is money market LOBO loans,
and the remaining 1% consists of the long-term element of an annuity loan
with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and non-current finance
leases.

3.2.11 Following the introduction of the HRA self-financing reforms in March 2012,
the Council operates a two pool approach whereby all long term borrowing is
allocated to either the General Fund or the HRA. As shown at Appendix D,
£193m (89%) of long term debt is attributable to the HRA, with the balance of
£25m (11%) attributable to the General Fund.

3.2.12 No loans have been repaid since April 2013 other than the principal element
(£21Kk) of the HCA annuity payment made in September, and annual amounts
due on some finance leases.

3.2.13 No rescheduling of loans took place in the first half of the year.

3.2.14 The Council’'s policy on borrowing for 2013-14 has been to use internal
borrowing (ie from cash flow balances) to fund its own capital programme
expenditure financed by borrowing, subject to external borrowing rates
remaining at high levels relative to investment rates. The borrowing market is
showing signs of moving upwards, particularly the longer term rates. For
example the 25 and 50 year PWLB fixed maturity rates are currently around
50 to 60 basis points (0.5% to 0.6%) above their lowest level this year (8 April
2013). Treasury officers are keeping a close eye on the rates and whether it is
appropriate to move away from internal borrowing and into long term
borrowing where it would provide value for money over the life of assets to do
SO.

372



3.2.15 The Council has taken out £1.5m of borrowing from the Public Works Loans
Board (PWLB) for the express purpose of making a loan to the Northampton
Town Football Club (NTFC) for the development of its stadium facilities, under
a loan agreement signed 19 September 2013. This is the first tranche of a
£7.5m planned loan to NTFC, all of which is to be funded by PWLB borrowing.
Drawdowns of the loan are linked to set conditions being met and the Council
is likely to drawdown a further £3m this financial year.

3.2.16 Further borrowing from the PWLB to fund loans to local third party
organisations is also likely to take place in the near future. These include
loans to Northampton Saints Rugby Club for stadia expansion, and to the
University of Northampton (UoN) for the creation of a waterside campus. The
UoN project is supported by the South East Midlands Local Enterprise
Partnership (SEMLEP), and an application has been put forward to PWLB to
secure the LEP project rate allocation for this project. Having regard to the
profile of this borrowing it expected that the Council’'s Affordable Borrowing
Limit and prudential indicators for borrowing will need to be increased from
2014-15, and this will be incorporated into the Council’'s Treasury Strategy for
next year. The limits for 2013-14 are considered adequate for the Council’s
borrowing needs.

3.2.17 Appendix E shows the Council’s long-term debt maturity profile of external
debt at cash value as at 30 September 2013. A number of GF and HRA loans
are due for repayment during the next five years, commencing with two GF
LOBO loans totalling £15.6m maturing in 2014-15. Options for the repayment
and replacement (if appropriate) of these loans are under active consideration,
with advice being taken from the Council’'s external treasury management
advisors, CAS Treasury Solutions. The Council will keep its options open until
nearer the maturity dates.

3.2.18 Appendix F shows outstanding balances and applicable rates for short-term
borrowing. The total outstanding at 30 September 2013 was £274k.

3.2.19 The Council has long-standing agreements with two local organisations, Billing
Parish Council and Northampton Volunteering Centre, for the short-term
deposit of funds with the Council. Accounting regulations require that these be
treated in the accounts as short-term borrowing. The interest rate applicable
on these accounts is set quarterly using the Council’'s average investment rate
for the previous quarter, less 0.5% to cover administrative costs. The range of
balances in individual accounts during the period April to September 2013 was
between £65k and £189k, at interest rates between 0.63% (in quarter 1) and
0.51% (in quarter 2).

3.2.20 For consistency with accounting requirements:

e The principal element of the HCA annuity repayment due within 12 months
(£22K) is included as short term borrowing

e Current commitments on finance leases — i.e. amounts due within the
current financial year — are not included in the short term borrowing
balances shown.

373%



Variations (if any) from or to agreed policies and practices

3.2.21 Compliance with agreed policies and practices has been monitored during the
year to date. There have been no reported breaches in the first six months of
this year.

Interim performance report
3.2.22 Investment performance to 30 September 2013 is attached at Appendix G.

3.2.23 The monthly rate of return on investments has dropped steadily as the year
has progressed, from a high of 1.10% in April to 0.80% in September,
averaging 0.94% over the period.

3.2.24 The variance between the Council’s monthly rate of return on investments and
the average 7-day Libid rate (at the time of investment) is used as a measure
of treasury performance, where a positive variance reflects an enhanced level
of performance. As average 7 day Libid has remained fairly constant over the
period, the variance to the 7-day Libid rate has also dropped steadily as the
year has progressed, from a high of 0.73% in April to 0.44% in September,
averaging 0.57% over the period. The monthly target is 0.50%.

3.2.25The drop in performance arises from external market changes impacting
negatively on available interest rates. Primarily, increased money supply as a
result of economic initiatives such as quantitative easing (QE) and the
government’s funding for lending scheme have reduced the need for banks to
attract cash from investors. This has been particularly evident in the
deterioration in enhanced interest rates that are sometimes offered to local
authorities. As an illustration, a 364 day investment with one of the part
nationalised banks on 1 October 2012 attracted a rate of 2.70%, with the
comparable rate at 30 September this year being 0.98%.

Regular monitoring

3.2.26 An investment register is maintained, and updated on a daily basis, showing
current investments and deposit account balances with counterparties used,
investment durations and interest rates achieved.

3.2.27 Monthly reconciliations are completed for outstanding investment principal,
interest received, outstanding borrowing principal and interest paid to ensure
all transactions have been made and recorded accurately.

3.2.28 Prudential and treasury indicators are monitored on a regular basis. Any
variances or breaches of the indicators are reported to Cabinet and Council on
a timely basis. Appendix H contains treasury management indicator
monitoring information at 30 September 2013. Appendix | contains prudential
indicator monitoring information at 30 September 2013. Where appropriate
figures include borrowings arising from finance leases. There have been no
breaches of any indicators during the first half of the financial year.

374



3.2.29 The debt financing and debt management budgets have been monitored
monthly since the start of the year, with any significant variances reported as
part of the corporate financial performance reports. The debt financing budget
forecast as at 30 September 2013 is attached at Appendix J.

3.2.30 The General Fund debt financing budget at the end of September 2013 is
forecast at £233k over budget. This is mainly due to a significant fall in
available investment interest rates in recent months, as outlined in paragraph
3.2.25 above. £208k of the shortfall can be met from the debt financing
earmarked reserve, which was specifically set up to deal with the budgetary
risks of fluctuations in interest rates. The remaining £25k overspend relates to
MRP, where charges arising from the financing of the capital programme in
2012-13 are higher than budgeted. The budget will continue to be closely
monitored over the coming months.

3.2.31 The 2014-15 debt financing budget will be put together with the expectation
that the current historically low interest rate environment will continue into the
near to medium term, such that any forecast deficiencies can be managed
within the budget envelope, but supported by the remaining debt financing
earmarked reserve if interest rates deteriorate still further.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 The Council is required to adopt the latest CIPFA Treasury Management Code
of Practice, and to set and agree the following policy and strategy documents:

a) Treasury Management Policy Statement
b) Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) and TMP Schedules
c) An annual Treasury Strategy incorporating:
(i) The Capital Financing and Borrowing Strategy for the year including:
e The Council's policy on the making of Minimum Revenue
Provision (MRP) for the repayment of debt, as required by the
Local Authorities (Capital Finance &  Accounting)

(Amendments) (England) Regulations 2008.

o The Affordable Borrowing Limit for the year as required by the
Local Government Act 2003.

(ii) The Investment Strategy for the year as required by the CLG Guidance
on Local Government Investments issued in 2010.

d) A mid-year review report and an annual review report of the previous
year.

375



Items (a) to (c) are reported to Cabinet and Council as part of the budget
setting process. The Council’'s Treasury Strategy for 2013-14 was approved
by Council at its meeting on 25 February 2013.

4.1.2 The CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice requires the Council to
place nominate a body (such as an audit or scrutiny committee) responsible
for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy, policies
and practices. The Audit Committee has been nominated for this role, which
includes the review of all treasury management policies and procedures, the
review of all treasury management reports to Cabinet and Council, and for
making recommendations to Council.

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 The resources required for the Council’s debt management and debt financing
budgets are agreed annually through the Council’'s budget setting process.
The debt financing budget position as at 30 September 2013 is shown at
paragraph 3.2.30 and Appendix J.

4.2.2 The risk management of the treasury function is an integral part of day-to-day
treasury activities. It is also specifically covered in the Council's Treasury
Management Practices (TMPs), which are reviewed annually.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 The Council is obliged to carry out its treasury management activities in line
with statutory requirements and associated regulations and professional
guidance. The relevant legislative and regulatory documents are referred to
within the report and listed in the background papers.

4.4 Equality

4.4.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out on the Council’s
Treasury Management Strategy for 2013-14, and the associated Treasury
Management Practices (TMPs) and Schedules to the TMPs.

442 The EIA assessment is that a full impact assessment is not necessary, as no
direct or indirect relevance to equality and diversity duties has been identified.

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Consultation on treasury management matters is undertaken as appropriate
with the Council’s treasury management advisor, CAS Treasury Solutions, and
with the Cabinet Member for Finance.

4.5.2 The Audit Committee has been nominated by Council as the body responsible
for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy, policies
and practices. This role includes the review of all treasury management
policies and procedures, the review of all treasury management reports to
Cabinet and Council, and the making of recommendations to Council. Audit

3768



Committee reviewed the draft treasury management mid-year report and
Appendixes at their meeting on 4 November 2013.
4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.2.3 Management of performance in relation to treasury management activities
supports the Council’s priority of making every pound go further.

4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 No other implications have been identified

5. Background Papers

None
Glenn Hammons

Chief Finance Officer (LGSS)
0300 330 7000

371



APPENDIX A

Economic Update provided by CAS Treasury Solutions
Quarter ending 30 September 2013
1. Economic Background
The quarter ended 30 September saw the following:
* Indicators suggested that the economic recovery accelerated;
* Household spending growth remained robust;
* Inflation fell back towards the 2% target;
* The Bank of England introduced state-contingent forward guidance;
* 10-year gilt yields rose to 3% at their peak and the FTSE 100 fell slightly to 6460;
* The Federal Reserve decided to maintain the monthly rate of its asset purchases.

After strong growth of 0.7% in Q2, it appears that UK GDP is likely to have grown at an even
faster pace in Q3. On the basis of past form, the CIPS/Markit business surveys for July and
August point to quarterly growth of potentially over 1.0% in the third quarter of 2013.
Similarly, the official data have continued to improve. Admittedly, industrial production was
flat in July. But even if it held steady in the rest of the quarter, it would still be 0.9% higher in
Q3 than in Q2. In addition, the service sector expanded by 0.2% m/m and the construction
sector grew by 2.2% m/m in July after growth of 1.8% q/q in Q2.

Consumer spending also continued to rise and may beat the increase seen in Q2. While the
1.1% monthly rise in retail sales in July was almost entirely offset by a 0.9% fall in August,
the unusually warm weather in August is likely to have had a part to play in this. The retail
surveys also painted a positive picture for household spending growth, with the Bank of
England’s Agents’ Scores, BRC and CBI retail sales indicators showing stronger growth in
Q3. And while growth in non-high street spending may have slowed, it probably remained
robust. For example, although annual growth in new car registrations eased from the 24%
rate seen in Q2, it was still a strong 15% in August.

The run of good news on the labour market continued, with the ILO unemployment rate
falling to 7.7% in July from 7.8% in June. Employment rose by 80,000 in the three months to
July, supported by an even bigger rise in full-time employment. This meant that the ratio of
full-time to part-time workers continued to rise after it troughed last summer. The timelier
claimant count measure of the unemployment rate also fell. Indeed, the cumulative fall in
unemployment of 68,900 in July and August — the biggest two month fall since May and June
1997 — brought the claimant count unemployment rate down from 4.4% at the end of Q2 to
4.2% in August. Despite this, the headline (3 month average of the annual) rate of pay
growth fell from 2.2% in June to just 1.1% in July. Excluding bonuses, earnings growth ticked
up slightly to 1.1% yl/y, but this remained well below the rate of CPI inflation at 2.7% in
August, meaning real wages continued to fall.

Meanwhile, the cost of new credit has continued to fall, perhaps in response to the extension
of the Bank of England’s Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS) earlier this year. The quoted
interest rate on a 5-year fixed mortgage at a 75% loan-to-value ratio was 3.34% in August, 7
basis points lower than in June and 77 basis points lower than when the FLS was introduced
in July 2012.

378



Demand in the housing market continued to grow at a fast pace, supported by the FLS and
the Government’'s Help to Buy scheme, which provide equity loans to credit-constrained
borrowers. The RICS housing market survey reported that new buyer enquiries hit their
highest level on record in August. Mortgage approvals for new house purchase rose to their
highest level since February 2008 in August. Consequently, house prices continued to rise,
with the Halifax and Nationwide measures recording 6.2% and 3.5% y/y rises in August,
respectively. ONS data, though, shows that in real terms only London experienced year-on-
year price rises in July. All other regions saw modest falls.

The economic recovery may finally be feeding through to the public finances. Although the
government registered a surprise deficit in July (a month that normally delivers a surplus), in
August net borrowing was ‘just’ £13.2bn, compared to £14.4bn in August 2012.

The new Governor of the Bank of England, Mark Carney, took office in July. Alongside the
August Quarterly Inflation Report, the Bank introduced its new policy of forward guidance in
which the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) pledged not to raise official interest rates, or
reduce the size of the asset purchase facility, until the ILO unemployment rate falls to 7%. At
this point, the MPC would discuss whether or not to alter official policy. This guidance was
subject to three ‘knockouts’ which, if breached, would invalidate the guidance. These are that
the MPC forecasts inflation at or above 2.5% in 18-24 months’ time, inflation expectations
are no longer sufficiently well anchored or financial stability is threatened by the stance of
monetary policy. On the MPC’s current forecasts, the unemployment rate is most likely to
reach 7% in late 2016.

However, financial markets continued to price in increases in Bank Rate by mid-2015, with
overnight index swap rates and gilt yields rising after the announcement of forward guidance.
Members of the MPC subsequently appeared at the Treasury Select Committee and three
gave further speeches to clarify the guidance, but there was little market impact. However,
the Bank of England’s surveys suggest the message may have got through to the public as
the balance of people expecting interest rates to rise over the next 12 months fell from 29%
in May to 24% in August.

Meanwhile, CPI inflation fell from a 2013 peak of 2.9% in June to 2.7% in August. The fall
was primarily the result of a drop in the contribution from petrol prices and a reduction in core
inflation from 2.3% in June to 2% in August. CPI inflation looks likely to have edged down
again in September, perhaps to about 2.5%, reflecting a further fading of both energy prices
and core inflation.

The big news in financial markets was that the Federal Reserve unexpectedly decided not to
taper its asset purchases in September. In announcing its decision to maintain monthly
purchases at $85bn, the Fed explained that it wanted to “await more evidence that [the
economic recovery] will be sustained before adjusting the pace of its purchases.” This came
despite previous hints of tapering from the Fed and the fall in the unemployment rate in both
July and August. It currently stands at 7.3%.

Across the quarter as a whole, advanced economy bond markets sold off, suggesting the
rise in UK gilt yields was not solely down to markets’ scepticism about domestic forward
guidance. Gilt yields tracked US Treasury yields up, with ten-year gilts rising by around 60
basis points to reach 3% in early September for the first time since mid-2011. After the Fed’s
decision not to taper, gilt yields fell back, although not enough to offset the previous rise.
Ten-year gilts finished the quarter at 2.7%. Equity markets stayed relatively flat over the
quarter. While the FTSE 100 rose from 6470 to 6620 over the first few weeks of June, the
index closed the quarter at 6462.

Meanwhile, Eurozone business surveys suggested that the economy continued to expand in

Q3, albeit at a moderate pace. There was also a general election in Germany in which the
incumbent Chancellor, Angela Merkel, performed better than expected by winning 41.5% of

379



the vote. She is now likely to form a coalition, but it remains to be seen what form this will
take.

2. Interest Rate Forecast

The Council’s treasury advisor, CAS Treasury Solutions, has provided the following interest
rate forecast:

Dec-13 | Mar-14 Jun-14 | Sep-14 Dec-14 Mar-15 | Jun-15
Bank rate 0.50% | 0.50% 0.50% | 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% | 0.50%
5yr PWLBrate |2.50% |2.50% 2.60% |2.70% 2.70% 2.80% | 2.80%
10yr PWLB rate | 3.70% | 3.70% 3.70% | 3.80% 3.80% 3.90% | 4.00%
25yr PWLB rate | 4.40% | 4.40% 4.40% | 4.50% 4.50% 4.60% |4.70%
50yr PWLB rate | 4.40% | 4.40% 4.40% | 4.50% 4.60% 4.70% | 4.80%

CAS Treasury Solutions undertook a review of its interest rate forecasts in late September as
a result of an increase in confidence in economic recovery, chiefly in the US, but more
recently, also in the UK and Eurozone. The latest forecast now includes a first increase in
Bank Rate in quarter 3 of 2016 (previously quarter 4).

Summary Outlook
UK economy

After the previous Inflation Report included a somewhat encouraging shift towards optimism
in terms of a marginal upgrading of growth forecasts, the August Inflation Report occurred in
the midst of a welter of economic statistics which have left economists and forecasters
speechless in terms of finding suitable words to describe a major simultaneous shift up in
gear of the economy in all of the three sectors of services, manufacturing / industrial AND
construction! It is therefore not surprising that the Report upgraded growth forecasts for
2013 from 1.2% to 1.4% and for 2014 from 1.7% to 2.5%. However, Bank Governor Mark
Carney put this into perspective by describing this welcome increase as not yet being
“escape velocity” to ensure we return to strong AND sustainable growth, after what has been
the weakest recovery on record after a recession. So very encouraging - yes, but, still a long
way to go! As for inflation, it was forecast to be little changed from the previous Report —
falling back to 2% within two years and staying there during year three.

In addition to the stimulus provided by QE, the Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS), is aimed
at encouraging banks to expand lending to small and medium size enterprises. The FLS
certainly seems to be having a positive effect in terms of encouraging house purchases
(though levels are still far below the pre-crisis level), and causing a significant increase in
house prices — but only in London and the south east. FLS is also due to be bolstered by the
second phase of Help to Buy aimed to support purchasing of second hand properties, which
is now due to start in October.

380




Forward guidance caveats

The Bank of England also issued forward guidance with the Inflation Report which said that
the Bank will not start to consider raising interest rates until the jobless rate (Labour Force
Survey / ILO i.e. not the claimant count measure) has fallen to 7% or below. This would
require the creation of about 750,000 jobs and was forecast to take three years. The UK
unemployment rate currently stands at 2.5 million i.e. 7.7 % on the LFS / ILO measure. The
Bank's guidance is subject to three provisos, mainly around inflation; breaching any of them
would sever the link between interest rates and unemployment levels. This actually makes
forecasting Bank Rate much more complex given the lack of available reliable forecasts by
economists over a three year plus horizon. The Capita Asset Services view is that the
recession since 2007 was notable for how unemployment did NOT rise to the levels that
would normally be expected in a major recession. The latest Inflation Report noted that
productivity has sunk to 2005 levels. We are, therefore, concerned that there has been a
significant level of retention of labour, which will mean that a significant amount of GDP
growth can be accommodated without a major reduction in unemployment.

In summary, our current views are centred around the following: -
UK

* Growth has been on an upward trend — 0.3% in Q1; 0.7% in Q2 and likely to be much
stronger in Q3. The so called double dip recession at the beginning of 2012 was
erased by the latest revision of statistics.

* Business surveys, consumer confidence, consumer borrowing and house prices are
all on the up and may help to create a wide spread feel good factor. However, this is
still a long way away from the UK getting back to sustainable strong growth.

» A fair proportion of UK GDP is dependent on overseas trade; the high correlation of
UK growth to US and EU GDP growth means that the UK economy is still vulnerable
to what happens in overseas markets.

* Consumer expenditure is likely to remain suppressed by inflation being higher than
increases in average earnings i.e. disposable income will continue to be eroded.

* The coalition government is hampered in promoting growth by the need to tackle the
budget deficit. However, the March Budget did contain measures to boost house
building and the supply of mortgages, and brought forward, by one year to April 2014,
the start of a £10,000 tax free allowance for incomes.

» There is little sign of a co-ordinated strategy for the private sector to finance a major
expansion of infrastructure investment to boost UK growth.

» Government inspired measures to increase the supply of credit to small and medium
enterprises (which are key to achieving stronger growth) by banks are not
succeeding.

* Gilt yields remain vulnerable to pressures to rise, especially as they are powerfully
influenced by US treasury yields and American investors have been spooked by
Chairman Bernanke’s comments on tapering QE. The Fed’s reluctance to start
tapering in September has, potentially, only delayed a trend for gilt yields to rise.

381



Eurozone

us

Most Eurozone countries are now starting to see a return to growth after a prolonged
recession. The prospects for growth, at least in the short term, have also improved.
However, for some countries, austerity programmes could prove to be a self defeating
spiral of falling demand, tax receipts, and GDP, leading to a rise, not fall, in debt to
GDP ratios. Debt ratios in excess of 90% will cause market concern as beyond this
level, the costs of servicing such debt becomes oppressive and growth inhibiting.
This could, therefore, lead to an inevitable end game in the over the next few years of
withdrawal from the Eurozone bloc in order to regain national control of a currency,
government debt, monetary policy and, therefore, of setting national interest rates.
The ECB’s pledge to provide unlimited bond buying support for countries that request
an official bailout means that market anxiety about these countries is likely to be
subdued in the near term. However, the poor economic fundamentals and outlook for
some economies could well mean that an eventual storm in financial markets has
only been delayed, not cancelled.

The ECB maintained its central policy rate at 0.5% in this quarter.

Greece: after the agreement to a further major financial support package amounting
to nearly €50bn in December 2012, it now looks almost certain that the country will
need another, smaller, bailout package as progress has not been quick enough in
rectifying the national finances.

Spain: there is also increasing concern over the Spanish economy; the social cost
and pain of a very high level of unemployment of 27%, similar to the level in Greece,
could mean that both countries are approaching the limit of operating austerity
programmes within democratic systems. Spain has, to date, resisted asking for an
official national bailout, although it has received financial support to recapitalise its
four largest banks.

Italy: the general election created a highly unstable political situation where the two
dominant parties initially formed an unlikely coalition due to the blocking power of the
new upstart Five Star anti-austerity party which has 25% of seats and has refused to
enter a coalition agreement with ANY party. There could therefore be volatility in
Spanish and ltalian bond yields over the next year, depending on political and
economic developments.

Germany: the general election in September returned Angela Merkel’s party to power,
but not with an overall majority. It will have to form a coalition, but with a new
makeup, as the previous junior party was wiped out.

Cyprus: the fallout from the bail out in March 2013 has done huge damage to the
Cypriot economy and many commentators consider it is only a matter of time before
another bailout will be needed — or exit from the Euro.

The Eurozone remains particularly vulnerable to investor fears of contagion if one
country gets into major difficulty.

There has been a marked improvement in consumer, investor and business
confidence this year.

Unemployment has continued on a steady, but unspectacular decline to 7.3%, but is
still a long way from the target rate of 6.5% for an increase in the Fed policy rate.

382



* The housing market has turned a corner, both in terms of rising prices and in
increases in the volume of house sales. More householders are, therefore, escaping
from negative equity.

* US equities have reached all-time highs.

* The package of tax increases and cuts in Government expenditure starting in 2013
does not appear to be having a major impact on depressing growth.

* GDP in Q1 was disappointingly downgraded from +2.4% to a sub-par +1.8% before
rising to 2.5% in Q2.

* The shale gas revolution is providing some solid underpinning to the US economy by
enhancing its international competitiveness through cheap costs of fuel.

* There has been a start to the repatriation of manufacturing production from China to
the USA as Chinese labour costs have continued their inexorable rise and new forms
of high tech production have made home based production more viable and flexible.

China

+ Concerns that Chinese growth could be heading downwards have been allayed by
recent stronger statistics. There are still concerns around an unbalanced economy
which is heavily dependent on new investment expenditure, and for a potential bubble
in the property sector to burst, as it did in Japan in the 1990s, with its consequent
impact on the financial health of the banking sector.

« There are also increasing concerns around the potential size, and dubious
creditworthiness, of some bank lending to local government organisations and major
corporates. This primarily occurred during the government promoted expansion of
credit, which was aimed at protecting the overall rate of growth in the economy after
the Lehmans crisis.

Japan

» The initial euphoria generated by “Abenomics”, the huge QE operation instituted by
the Japanese government to buy Japanese debt, has tempered as the follow through
of measures to reform the financial system and introduce other economic reforms,
appears to have stalled.

Forward view

Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing on the UK.
Major volatility in bond yields is likely during the remainder of 2013/14 as investor fears and
confidence ebb and flow between favouring more risky assets i.e. equities, and safer bonds.

Near-term, there is some residual risk of further QE - if there is a dip in strong growth or if the
MPC takes action to do more QE in order to reverse the rapid increase in market rates,
especially in gilt yields and interest rates up to 10 years. This could cause shorter-dated gilt
yields and PWLB rates over the next year or two to significantly undershoot the forecasts in
the table below. The failure in the US, (at the time of writing), over passing a Federal budget
for the new financial year starting on 1 October, and the expected tension over raising the
debt ceiling in mid-October, could also see bond yields temporarily dip until any binding
agreement is reached between the opposing Republican and Democrat sides. Conversely,
the eventual start of tapering by the Fed could cause bond yields to rise.

383



The longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, due to the high volume of gilt
issuance in the UK, and of bond issuance in other major western countries. Increasing
investor confidence in economic recovery is also likely to compound this effect as a
continuation of recovery will further encourage investors to switch back from bonds to
equities.

The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is currently weighted to the
upside after five months of robust good news on the economy. However, only time will tell
just how long this period of strong economic growth will last; it also remains exposed to
vulnerabilities in a number of key areas.

Downside risks currently include:

The conflict in the UK between market expectations of how quickly unemployment will
fall as opposed to the Bank of England’s forecasts

Prolonged political disagreement over the US Federal Budget and raising the debt
ceiling

A return to weak economic growth in the US, UK and China causing major
disappointment to investor and market expectations.

The potential for a significant increase in negative reactions of populaces in Eurozone
countries against austerity programmes, especially in countries with very high
unemployment rates e.g. Greece and Spain, which face huge challenges in
engineering economic growth to correct their budget deficits on a sustainable basis.

The Italian political situation is frail and unstable.

Problems in other Eurozone heavily indebted countries (e.g. Cyprus and Portugal)
which could also generate safe haven flows into UK gilts.

Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth in western economies,
especially the Eurozone and Japan.

Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU and US,
depressing economic recovery in the UK.

Geopolitical risks e.g. Syria, Iran, North Korea, which could trigger safe haven flows
back into bonds.

The potential for upside risks to UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for longer term
PWLB rates include:

A sharp upturn in investor confidence that sustainable robust world economic growth
is firmly expected, causing a surge in the flow of funds out of bonds into equities.

A reversal of Sterling’s safe-haven status on a sustainable improvement in financial
stresses in the Eurozone.

Further downgrading by credit rating agencies of the creditworthiness and credit
rating of UK Government debt, consequent upon repeated failure to achieve fiscal
correction targets and sustained recovery of economic growth which could result in
the ratio of total government debt to GDP to rise to levels that undermine investor
confidence in the UK and UK debt.

384



UK inflation being significantly higher than in the wider EU and US, causing an
increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields.

In the longer term — an earlier than currently expected reversal of QE in the UK; this

could initially be implemented by allowing gilts held by the Bank to mature without
reinvesting in new purchases, followed later by outright sale of gilts currently held.

385



Outstanding Investments at 30th September 2013

Deposit Accounts, Call Accounts & Money Market Funds

Counterparty

Deposit Accounts
HSBC Bank
NatWest Bank

Call Accounts
NatWest Bank 95 day notice

Money Market Funds
Ignis Sterling Liquidity Fund
Insight Liquidity Fund

Total Deposit Accounts, Call Accounts & Money Market Funds

Fixed Term Investments

Counterparty Start Date End Date

Royal Bank of Scotland 01/05/12 01/05/14
Bank of Scotland 12/10/12 11/10/13
Bank of Scotland 04/02/13 03/02/14
Nationwide Building Society 11/04/13 11/10/13
Bank of Scotland 23/04/13 22/04/14
Nordea Bank Finland 30/04/13 31/10/13
Bank of Scotland 22/05/13 21/05/14
DBS Bank 03/06/13 03/12/13
Nationwide Building Society 29/07/13 29/01/14
Bank of Scotland 12/08/13 11/08/14
Standard Chartered Bank 23/08/13 24/02/14
Standard Chartered Bank 19/09/13 19/03/14
NatWest Bank 25/09/13 24/09/14
Bank of Scotland 30/09/13 29/09/14

Total Fixed Term Investments

Total Investments at 30 September 2013

386

APPENDIX B

Appendix B

Balance
(£000)

130
12

17,000

13,190
3,400

33,732

Value Invested
(£000)

1,000
2,500
5,000
2,000
2,000
1,000
3,000
1,000
3,000
5,000
1,000
2,000
2,000
2,500

33,000

66,732



APPENDIX C

Maturity profile of investments (days remaining at 30 Sept 2013)

34,000 -
32,000 -
30,000 -
28,000 -
26,000 -
24,000 -
22,000 -
20,000 -
18,000 -
16,000 -
14,000
12,000 -
10,000

8,000

6,000 -

4,000

2,000 -

Value (£000)

less than 1 1-3 months 3 -6 months 6-12 months more than 12
month* months

Duration remaining

Value
Duration remaining (£000) % of total

less than 1 month* 21,232 32

1 - 3 months 2,000 3

3 - 6 months 33,000 49

6 - 12 months 10,500 16

more than 12 months - -

Total 66,732 100

* Includes instant access deposit accounts and money market funds

387



APPENDIX D

Appendix D

Long Term Borrowing as at 30 September 2013

Public Works Loan Board Fixed Rate Maturity Loans

Money Market LOBO Loans

Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) Annuity Loan

Finance Leases (Non-current)

Total Long Term Debt Outstanding

1% 0%

88%

Figures shown at balance sheet (amortised) value

388

Proportion  Range of Interest

Principal -~ ¢ hept Rates Paid

From To

£'000 % %
191,613 87.96 1.4 3.97
24,788 1138 4.85 7.03
1,148 053 925 9.25
289 013  4.04 8.06

217,838 100

OPublic Works Loan Board Fixed
Rate Maturity Loans
OMoney Market LOBO Loans

BHomes and Communities Agency
(HCA) Annuity Loan
O Finance Leases (Non-current)




Long Term Borrowing as at 30th September 2013

.. Proportion
Principal of Debt
£'000 %
General Fund 24,706 11.34
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 193,132 88.66
Total Long Term Debt Outstanding 217,838 100

APPENDIX D

Range of Interest

Rates Paid
From To
%
3.47 9.25
1.24 4.85

B General Fund

OHousing Revenue Account (HRA)

1%

89%

Figures shown at balance sheet (amortised) value

389



Long Term Debt Maturity Profile as at 30th September 2013

Time Frame

0 to 5 years

6 to 10 years
11 to 15 years
16 to 20 years
21 to 25 years
26 to 30 years
31 to 35 years
36 to 40 years
44 to 45 years
46 to to 50 years
51 to 55 years

Total

Time Frame

Oct 13 - Sept 18
Oct '18 - Sept '23
Oct '23 - Sept '28
Oct '28 - Sept '33
Oct '33 - Sept '38
Oct '38 - Sept '43
Oct '43- Sept '48
Oct '48 - Sept '53
Oct '53 - Sept '58
Oct '58 - Sept '63
Oct '63 - Sept '68

Value of Loans

Proportion of

. Long Term
Maturing Debt
£'000 %

27,764 13%
15,221 7%
40,324 19%
504 0%
- 0%
- 0%
- 0%
- 0%
- 0%
125,000 57%
9,000 4%
217,813 100%

The Council's three LOBO loans mature in 2014-15 (£15.6m) and in 2065/66 (£9m).
Thirteen PWLB Loans mature between 2016 and 2028 (£65m), and the fourteenth and largest loan is due for repayment in 2061-62
The HCA annuity is repaid across the term of the loan, with the final payment due in 2033-34.
Most finance lease borrowings (£276k) mature within the next five years, with the remainder (£12k) maturing within ten years.

£000

120,000

100,000

80,000

60,000

40,000

20,000

Long Term Debt Maturity Profile as at 30th September 2013

APPENDIX E

Oct "13 -

Oct '18 -
Sept'18 Sept'23 Sept'28 Sept'33 Sept'38 Sept'd3 Sept'48

Year

Oct'23- Oct'28- Oct'33- Oct'38-

Oct '43-

Figures shown at cash value rather than amortised cost to reflect commitment at maturity

390

Oct '48 -
Sept'53 Sept'58 Sept'63

Oct '53 -

Oct '58 -

Oct '63 -
Sept '68



Short Term Borrowing as at 30th September 2013

Billing Parish Council 7 Day Notice Account
Northampton Volunteering Centre 7 Day Notice Account
Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) principal due

within one year

Total Debt Outstanding at 30th September 2013

Figures shown at cash value

391

APPENDIX F

Range of Interest

Principal Proportion Rates Paid to
P of Debt 30/09/2013
From To
£'000 % %
65 24 0.51 0.63
189 69 0.51 0.63
20 7 9.25 9.25
274 100

@Billing Parish Council 7 Day Notice
Account

mNorthampton Volunteering Centre 7
Day Notice Account

O Homes and Communities Agency
(HCA) principal due within one year




Investment Performance 2013-14 - to 30 Sept 2013

APPENDIX G

1.20 =4=NBC Monthly Return
1.10 - -@-Base Rate
100 | \ Average 7 day Libid
» Average 7 day Libor
0.90 -
0.80
S
o 0.70
T
14
0.60
0.50 - ~ ~ -~ ~
0.40
0.30 -
0.20
April 2013 May 2013 June 2013 July 2013 Aug 2013 Sept 2013
Month
Temporary Investments - Comparison of Monthly Rate of Return to Base Rate and 7 Day Libid Rate
NBC Monthly Base Rate Average 7 day Average 7 day Mor\ilta}:rllarl;ce(:l;rn )
Month Return Libid Libor v
Libid
% % % % %
April 2013 1.10 0.50 0.37 0.50 0.73
May 2013 0.98 0.50 0.37 0.49 0.61
June 2013 0.95 0.50 0.37 0.49 0.58
July 2013 0.94 0.50 0.37 0.49 0.57
Aug 2013 0.86 0.50 0.36 0.49 0.50
Sept 2013 0.80 0.50 0.36 0.49 0.44
Average to 30/09/13 0.94 0.50 0.37 0.49 0.57

Average LIBID and LIBOR rates supplied by CAS Treasury Solutions originally to 4 decimal places rounded to 2 decimal places above.

The monthly rate of return is the average interest rate the Council achieved on fixed investments and deposit account
balances it held during the month.

The average 7 day Libid/Libor rate is the rate of return the Council would have achieved in the month if the interest rate
applicable on fixed investments held during the month had been the 7 day Libid/Libor rate at the time of investment, and
interest had been calculated daily for deposit accounts using the 7 day Libid/Libor rate for each day.

The monthly return - Libid variance is the difference between the rate achieved during the month and the rate that could
have been achieved at the average 7 day Libid rate as defined above.

392



Appendix H

Treasury Indicators monitoring at 30 September 2013

1a. Upper limits on interest rate exposures - Investments

Upper limits on interest rate exposures - Investments

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
Limit Actual at | Maximum to
o 30/09/2013 | 30/09/2013
% %
Fixed Interest Rate Exposures 100% 49% 57%
Variable Interest Rate Exposures 100% 51% 66%
1b. Upper limits on interest rate exposures - Borrowing
Upper limits on interest rate exposures - Borrowing
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
Limit Actual at | Maximum to
o 30/09/2013 | 30/09/2013
% %
Fixed Interest Rate Exposures 100% 89% 89%
Variable Interest Rate Exposures 100% 11% 12%
1c. Upper limits on interest rate exposures - Net borrowing
Upper limits on interest rate exposures - Net borrowing
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
Limit Actual at | Maximum to
o 30/09/2013 | 30/09/2013
& %
Fixed Interest Rate Exposures 150% 106% 122%
Variable Interest Rate Exposures 150% -6% 3%

Note: In the three indicators above the maximum values may relate to different points
in time and may not therefore add up to 100% in each indicator. It is also possible for
negative indicators to arise in either the actual or maximum indicators

393

ANNEX H



2. Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days

Upper limit on investments for periods longer than 364 days

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
Limit Actual at | Maximum to
£000 30/09/2013 | 30/09/2013
£000 £000
Investments longer than 364 days 17,000 0 1,000
3.  Maturity Structure of Borrowing
Maturity structure of borrowing
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
Lower Limit | Upper Limit | Actual at
% % 30/09/2013
%
Under 12 months 0% 20% 11%
1-2 years 0% 20% 0%
2-5 years 0% 20% 5%
5-10 years 0% 20% 7%
10 -20 years 0% 40% 19%
20-30 years 0% 60% 0%
30-40 years 0% 80% 0%
Over 40 years 0% 100% 57%

Note: The guidance for this indicator requires that LOBO loans are shown as
maturing at the next possible call date rather than at final maturity. The Council's
three LOBO loans are therefore included in the figure maturing in under 12 months.
This presentation differs from that in Annex E, where LOBO loans are included at
their final maturity date. In the current low interest rate environment the likelihood of
the interest rates on these loans being raised and the loans requiring repayment at

the break period is extremely low.

394

ANNEX H



Prudential Indicators Monitoring at 30 September 2013

Affordability

a) Estimate of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

2013-14 2013-14
Estimate Estimate at
% 30/09/2013
%
General Fund 6.02% 6.87%
HRA 33.49% 33.54%

b) Estimate of the incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the council tax

Estimates of incremental impact of new capital investment decisions on the

Council Tax

2013-14
Estimate
£p

General Fund

0.27

APPENDIX |

Appendix |

This indicator is set before the start of the financial year, in the context of the budget setting process, which feeds into the setting of
Council Tax and Housing Rents. As these are set and fixed for the financial year ahead, any capital investment decisions made
during the year cannot impact on the existing Council Tax and Housing rent levels. This means that new capital investment plans

approved during the year must be funded externally or from within existing resources.

c) Estimate of the incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the housing rents

Estimates of incremental impact of new capital investment decisions on average

weekly housing rents

2013-14
Estimate
£.p

Housing Revenue Account

0.06

This indicator is set before the start of the financial year, in the context of the budget setting process, which feeds into the setting of
Council Tax and Housing Rents. As these are set and fixed for the financial year ahead, any capital investment decisions made
during the year cannot impact on the existing Council Tax and Housing rent levels. This means that new capital investment plans

approved during the year must be funded externally or from within existing resources.

Prudence

d) Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR)

Net external debt less than CFR

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

£000 Position at Maximum Net Forecast

30/09/2013 to 30/09/2013 Maximum

£000 £000 £000
Borrowing 216,129 217,545 217,560 217,560
Gross external debt 216,129 217,545 217,560 217,560
2012-13 Closing CFR (Forecast) 216,826 216,615 216,615 216,615
Changes to CFR: 0 0 0 0
2013-14 5,118 5,216 5,216 5,216
2014-15 - (114) (114) (114)
2015-16 - (154) (154) (154)
Adjusted CFR 221,944 221,564 221,564 221,564
Gross external debt greater than adjusted CFR No No No No

395



Capital Expenditure

e) Estimate of capital expenditure

Capital Expenditure

APPENDIX |

2013-14 2013-14
Estimate Estimate at
£000 30/09/2013
£000
General Fund 5,747 19,557
HRA 24,375 27,492
Total 30,122 47,049
f) Estimates of capital financing requirement (CFR)
Capital Financing Requirement (Closing CFR)
2013-14 2013-14
31 March 2014 | 31 March 2014
Estimate Forecast at
£000 30/09/2013
General Fund 35,141 39,642
HRA 186,803 186,803
Total 221,944 226,446
External Debt
g) Authorised limit for external debt
Authorised limit for external debt
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
Limit Actual at Maximum to Forecast
£000 30/09/2013 30/09/2013 Maximum
£000 £000 £000
Borrowing 240,000 217,545 217,560 217,560
Other long-term liabilities 5,000 289 289 289
Total 245,000 217,833 217,848 217,848
h)  Operational boundary for external debt
Operational boundary for external debt
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
Limit Actual at Maximum to Forecast
£000 30/09/2013 30/09/2013 Maximum
£000 £000 £000
Borrowing 245,000 217,545 217,560 217,560
Other long-term liabilities 5,000 289 289 289
Total 250,000 217,833 217,848 217,848
i) HRA Limit on Indebtedness
HRA Limit on Indebtedness
2013-14 2013-14
Limit Forecast
£000 closing HRA
CFR at 30 Sept
2013
£000
Total 208,401 186,803

396




APPENDIX |

i)  Adoption of the CIPFA code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services

The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance
Notes. The adoption is included in the Council’s Constitution, approved by the Council on 14 March 2011, at paragraph 6.10 of the
Financial Regulations

397



Appendix J

Debt Financing Budget Monitoring 2013-14 - To 30 September 2013

Variance to Variance to

Budget Actual Budget Forecast Budget
Debt Financing & Interest £ £ £ £ £
Interest Payable
Interest on Long Term Borrowing 1,275,370 582,905 (692,465) 1,294,719 19,349
Interest on Short Term Borrowing 1,700 465 (1,235) 1,860 160
Interest on Finance Leases 0 2,730 2,730 0 0
Other Miscellaneous Interest 2,550 1,112 (1,438) 2,375 (175)
Amortisation Adjustments 0 0 0 954 954
Total Interest Payable 1,279,620 587,211 (692,409) 1,299,907 20,287
Interest Receivable
Long Term Investment Interest Received 0 (7,960) (7,960) (13,801) (13,801)
Short Term Investment Interest Received (481,300) (242,932) 238,368 (469,055) 12,245
Cash Equivalents Interest Received (331,300) (100,429) 230,871 (243,229) 88,071
Other Miscellaneous Interest 0 0 0 (20,463) (20,463)
Interest on Finance Leases 0 18 18 0 0
Amortisation Adjustments 0 176,663 176,663 147,354 147,354
Total Interest Receivable (812,600) (174,640) 637,960 (599,194) 213,406
Other Debt Financing Transactions
Minimum Revenue Provision 840,060 0 (840,060) 865,275 25,215
Recharges to/from HRA - Interest on cash balances 273,870 0 (273,870) 251,393 (22,477)
HRA interest - (Over)/under funded CFR 61,970 0 (61,970) 58,249 (3,721)
Total Other Debt Financing Transactions 1,175,900 0 (1,175,900) 1,174,917 (983)
Total Debt Financing & Interest 1,642,920 412,571 (1,230,349) 1,875,630 232,710

398



	Agenda
	2 Minutes.
	Mins - 28th November 2013

	6 Member and Public Question Time
	7 Cabinet Member Presentations
	Cabinet Member Report for Housing 09.12.13
	Cabinet Member Report for Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 09.12.13
	Cabinet Member Report for Environment 09.12.13
	Cabinet Member Report for Community Engagement 09.12.13
	Cabinet Member Report for Finance 09.12.13

	9 Housing Options Review
	Cabinet Report-Housing Stock Options Report 25-11-13 V1 8 (4)
	Appendix 1 - Housing Stock Options Appraisal Report V6.5
	Cabinet Appendix 2 - Risk Assessment
	Cabinet Appendix 3 - Community Impact Assessment
	Key Doc 1 - TP Final Report
	Key Doc 2 - EFG Final Report
	Key Doc 3 - ITA Final Report
	Key Doc 4 - HOP Final Report

	10 Treasury Management Mid Year Report 2013-2014
	Council Cabinet Report 2013-14 updated
	Appendix A
	Appendix B.doc
	Appendix C.doc
	Appendix D.doc
	Appendix E.doc
	Appendix F.doc
	Appendix G.doc
	Appendix H.doc
	Appendix I.doc
	Appendix J.doc


